ZOOLOGICAL INSTITUTE RUSSIAN ACADEMY OF SCIENCES

Printed as a manuscript

Natalia Nikolaevna Bezborodkina

CHARACTERISTICS OF GLYCOGENESIS IN HEPATOCYTES DURING CHRONIC LIVER DISEASES

Scientific specialty 1.5.22. Cell biology

THESIS

for Habilitation Degree in Biology

Translation from the Russian

Research Advisor: Dr. habil. in Biology, Professor Boris N. Kudryavtsev

St. Petersburg 2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	5
CHAPTER 1. LITERATURE REVIEW	20
1.1. Liver and its role in the mammalian body	20
1.2. Glycogen and its role in various tissues and cells of mammals	21
1.3. Regulation of the glucostatic function of the liver and glycogen metabolism	23
1.4. Influence of tissue and cell factors on metabolism and content of glycogen in the	
liver	31
1.5. Chronic pathologies associated with impairment of metabolism, content and structure	e
of glycogen in the liver	37
1.5.1. Inborn diseases associated with impaired glycogen metabolism	38
1.5.2. Non-hereditary disorders of glycogen metabolism	39
1.6. Characterisation of hepatocyte population and glycogen metabolism during cirrhotic	
liver regeneration	44
1.7. Structure of glycogen molecules. α - and β -particles and their role in glycogen	
metabolism	47
CHAPTER 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS OF RESEARCH	62
2.1. Objects of research	62
2.1.1. Experimental animals	62
2.1.2. Clinical material	65
2.2. Methods of making preparations	66
2.2.1. Preparations of primary culture of rat hepatocytes for detection of functioning	
mitochondria in living cells	66
2.2.2. Preparation of smears of isolated hepatocytes	67
2.2.3. Histological preparations	67
2.2.4. Fixation and preparation of liver tissue for electron-microscopic study	68
2.3. Cytophotometric methods	68
2.3.1. Determination of hepatocyte dry mass using an interference microscope	68
2.3.2. Methods of quantitative cytochemistry	69

2.3.2.1. Identification and measurement of glycogen and its fractions in isolated rat	
hepatocytes	. 69
2.3.2.2. Determination of DNA content in hepatocyte nuclei	. 71
2.3.2.3. Combined cytochemical method for quantifying several components in the	
same cell	. 71
2.4. Use of confocal microscopy and FRET (AB) method for the study of the structure of	
glycogen molecules	. 73
2.5. Biochemical methods	. 76
2.5.1. Biochemical study of rat and human blood serum	. 76
2.5.2. Determination of glycogen concentration in rat liver	. 77
2.5.3. Determination of activity of the key enzymes of glycogen metabolism in rat and	
human liver	. 77
2.6. Morphometry of rat and human liver histological sections	. 79
2.7. Morphometry of the mitochondrial apparatus of rat hepatocytes	. 80
2.8. Determination of the contribution of proliferation, polyploidization and hypertrophy	
to liver mass increase	. 80
2.9. Statistical processing of the obtained data	. 81
CHAPTER 3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	. 82
3.1. Morphofunctional changes during chronic liver disease	. 82
3.1.1. Structure of the normal and the cirrhotic liver in rats and humans	. 82
3.1.2. State of the mitochondrial apparatus of hepatocytes in the normal and the	
pathological liver of rats	. 87
3.1.3. Characterisation of tissue-specific functions of rat and human liver during	
cirrhosis	. 90
3.1.4. Polyploidy and hypertrophy of rat and human hepatocytes in the norm and during	
chronic liver diseases	. 93
3.2. Characterisation of glycogenesis in the normal and the pathological liver of humans,	
rats and mice at different stages of the food cycle	. 98
3.2.1. Prolonged starvation. Blood glucose concentration, glycogen content and the activ	vity
of key enzymes of its metabolism in the normal and the cirrhotic rat liver after 48 h of	
starvation	. 98

3.2.2. Absorption period. Blood glucose concentration, glycogen content and activity of
the key enzymes of its metabolism in the normal and the cirrhotic rat liver after glucose
administration to starved animals
3.2.3. Blood glucose concentration, glycogen content in hepatocytes and activity of the key
enzymes of its metabolism in the normal and the pathologically altered liver of humans,
rats and mice in the postabsorptive period after overnight fasting 122
3.2.4. Comorbidity of liver cirrhosis and diabetes. Influence on glycogen content in
hepatocytes 128
3.3. Spatial structure of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes in the normal and the cirrhotic
liver of rats and humans
3.3.1. Cytofluorimetric method for studying glycogen structure in individual
hepatocytes
3.3.2. Structure of glycogen molecules in rat and human hepatocytes in the normal and the
cirrhotic liver at different stages of the food cycle
3.3.3. Analysis of the structure of glycogen molecules in rat and human hepatocytes using
FRET method 150
3.4. Morphofunctional state of the cirrhotic liver in rats and humans after different
treatments
CONCLUSION
SUMMARY OF RESULTS
ABBREVIATIONS
REFERENCES
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Dedicated to the memory of Dr. Margarita V. Kudryavtseva

INTRODUCTION

Rationale of the study

Chronic hepatitides of various aetiology are widespread liver diseases of humans and animals. Chronic hepatitis (CH) gradually progresses to its final and most dangerous stage, liver cirrhosis (LC). Liver cirrhosis is one of the leading causes of mortality in many countries (Sun et al., 2019; Zhai et al., 2021a), a serious public health hazard and a significant economic problem (Mokdad et al., 2014; Scaglione et al., 2015; Sepanlou et al., 2020). The treatment of LC is a challenge, and no definitive solution has yet been found. Liver transplantation is currently considered the only way to radically cure this disease. However, the lack of suitable donors, the risk of rejection and the need for lifelong immunosuppression mean that liver transplantation cannot be considered a routine operation. Moreover, due to high costs, liver transplantation is unaffordable for many patients who badly need it (Jadlowiec et al., 2016).

The development of cirrhosis leads to profound changes in the liver architectonics, which have been described in detail in various works (Podymova, 1999; Malhi, Gores, 2008; Zhou et al., 2014; Torbenson, Washington, 2020). An overwhelming majority of LC studies has been conducted on experimental animals. Although no quantitative comparison of human LC with experimental LC models has been performed, many authors noted the similarity of this disease in humans and animals (Bresler et al., 1969; Verin, 1984; Michalopoulos, 1990; Chen, Hwang, 1994; Canturk, 1999; Kus, 2004; Planaguma, 2005).

Liver cirrhosis is accompanied not only by considerable changes in the microscopic structure of the liver but also by a significant impairment of its numerous functions, including glucostatic one. Glucostatic function, that is, the maintenance of a constant level of glucose in the blood, is one of the main functions of the liver. Its important mechanism is the ability of cells of the liver parenchyma (hepatocytes) to synthesise glycogen from glucose supplied from by blood or formed by gluconeogenesis from non-carbohydrate substances and to break it down according to the requirements of the organism.

Being a reserve substance, glycogen is found in almost all human and animal cells. It was discovered by Claude Bernard in 1857. Despite intensive studies of glycogen metabolism,

for which four Nobel Prizes have been awarded (Carl and Gerty Cori in 1947; Luis Federico Leloir in 1970; Earl Sutherland in 1971; Edmond Krebs and Edwin Fischer in 1992), the spatial structure of this branched polymer of glucose remains poorly understood. A fully-formed glycogen molecule, also called a β -particle (Takeuchi et al., 1978; Devos et al., 1983; Rybicka, 1996; Sullivan et al., 2014; Deng et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2022), is thought to be about 42 nm in diameter and to contain ~55,000 glucose residues connected by α -(1 \rightarrow 4) and α -(1 \rightarrow 6) glycosidic bonds. It consists of 12 concentric tiers of glucose residues, a self-glycosylating protein called glycogenin, which is located in the particle centre, and numerous proteins involved in the formation and degradation of the particle (Shearer, Graham, 2004; Roach et al., 2012). The four external tiers of the β -particle (macroglycogen, MG) contain ~95 % of all glucose residues, while the eight internal tiers form the so-called bone or proglycogen (PG) and contain about 5 % of all glucose residues (Melendez-Hevia et al., 1993; Rybicka, 1996; Melendez et al., 1999; Shearer, Graham, 2002). Proglycogen is believed to be a stable intermediate form of glycogen on the pathway to a complete β -particle (Lomako et al., 1991; 1993; Alonso et al., 1995).

Information about the mechanisms of formation of β -particles, their spatial structure and its changes in the norm and under pathological conditions is limited. Unfortunately, the spatial structure of this huge and complex molecule cannot be described with sufficient accuracy and completeness with the help of any known chemical or molecular biological methods (Brewer, Gentry, 2019; Brust et al., 2020). Almost all available methods are applicable to glycogen isolated from tissues, which poses a risk of disturbing its original structure. In addition, the methods currently in use can only provide information about the structure of glycogen molecules in a static state. Most of the data on the spatial structure of glycogen molecules are based either on theoretical concepts and mathematical calculations or on the results of determinations of the size of α - and β -particles obtained with the help of electron microscopy or ion-exclusion chromatography (Gunja-Smith et al., 1970; Goldsmith et al., 1982; Melendez-Hevia et al., 1993; Melendez et al., 1997; Sullivan et al., 2014; Rousset et al., 2022). Therefore, the development of a method for the study of the spatial structure of glycogen molecules and its dynamics directly in cells is urgently needed.

Glycogen is a readily available source of energy for various metabolic processes in many tissues and organs. Its content in the liver is a sensitive indicator not only of the state of the energy reserves in hepatocytes but also of the carbohydrate metabolism in the entire organism. In the norm, the total glycogen content in liver cells fluctuates within rather narrow limits and is regulated by the ratio of its synthesis and breakdown (Devos et al., 1983; Rybicka, 1996; Sullivan et al., 2010). An excess or, on the contrary, a significant decrease of glycogen content in hepatocytes can cause severe liver diseases, which are accompanied by the disruption of the structure of glycogen molecules (Kudryavtseva, 1987; Rosenfeld, Popova, 1989; Ganesh et al., 2001; Tagliabracci et al., 2007; Mayatepek et al., 2010; Tagliabracci et al., 2011).

It is known that cirrhosis is often combined with other diseases (Olevskaya et al., 2018), with about 40 % of cirrhotic patients having comorbid status (Jepsen et al., 2008). One the most common comorbid conditions is Diabetes mellitus (DM) type 2 (Hickman et al., 2007; Garcia-Compean et al., 2009). The presence of DM in cirrhotic patients has been shown to markedly reduce their life expectancy (Tolman et al., 2007; Garcia-Compean et al., 2015; Kumar, 2018). However, the effect of comorbidity of DM and LC on the metabolism and glycogen content in hepatocytes is unstudied.

This means that an assessment of the metabolism, the content and the structure of glycogen in hepatocytes is important for determining the functional state of the liver, the prognosis of LC and the search for new approaches to its treatment.

Extent of prior research on the topic

Few data on the glycogen content in the cirrhotic liver are currently available. It has been shown that it is lower than in the normal liver (Owen et al., 1981; Krähenbühl et al., 1991; Krähenbühl et al., 1996, 2003). However, no definite conclusion about the glycogen level in the cirrhotic liver can be made based on the results of these studies because they were obtained with the use of indirect methods. The reliability of these methods strongly depends on the accuracy of measurements of the volume of the fibrous tissue and the parenchyma in the material under study.

Information about the glycogen content in the liver of patients with DM type 2 is also scarce and contradictory. Although it has been shown that the glycogen content in the diabetic liver is low (Whitton, Hems, 1975; Golden et al., 1979), the question remains open. The uncertainty is due to the fact that the information on the low glycogen content in the diabetic liver has mainly been obtained from animals with diabetes induced for a relatively short time (short-term diabetes), whereas in humans this disease develops over many months or even years (long-term diabetes). Long-term development of diabetes can cause adaptive changes in the tissues as a response to hypoinsulinaemia and hyperglucagonaemia (Friedmann et al., 1963) and affect the glycogen content in liver cells.

It has been shown in numerous studies that glycogen consists of two fractions. One of them can be easily extracted with trichloroacetic acid (TCA). The extraction of the other fraction requires the treatment of tissues with strong alkali, which is explained by its binding to proteins (Prins, Jeanlos, 1948; Shearer, Graham, 2004; James et al., 2008). The presence of two glycogen fractions in cells was also confirmed in situ with the use of cytochemical methods (Kugler, Wilkinson, 1961; Kudryavtseva et al., 1974). It has been established that the content of TCA-soluble and TCA-insoluble fractions of glycogen in tissues varies under different physiological and pathological conditions (Kudryavtseva et al., 1992; Adamo, Graham, 1998; Graham et al., 2001; Battram et al., 2004; Shearer, Graham, 2004; Shearer et al., 2005; Wilson, 2009; Granlund et al., 2011). Our results indicate that the changes in the content of these fractions reflect not only their important role in glycogen metabolism but also considerable rearrangements in the structure of its molecules. Data on the content of glycogen fractions in cells can provide valuable information about the dynamics of the number of glucose residues, the degree of filling of the tiers, the number of proteins involved in the attachment and detachment of glucose residues, and other characteristics of glycogen molecules under normal and pathological conditions (Bezborodkina et al., 2018).

An acute shortage of donor livers for transplantation to patients with terminal cirrhosis has stimulated the search for alternative approaches to the treatment of this disease such as artificial biological and non-biological constructions, transplantation of mature hepatocytes and human stem cells as well as xenogeneic organs and cells (Burra et al., 2004; Buzhor et al., 2014; Heydari et al., 2020; Mirdamadi et al., 2020). Potentially, these methods seem promising for LC therapy. However, they are still at the experimental stage and cannot be widely used in clinical practice. Therefore, the research aimed at enhancing the regenerative potential of the pathological liver itself is being actively conducted.

There is much evidence that the liver with cirrhotic changes can revert back to an almost normal state (Sarkisov, Rubetskoy, 1965; Powell et al., 1970; Solopaev, 1980; Dufour et al., 1997; Kaplan et al., 1997; Lau et al., 1999; Benyon, Iredale, 2000; Wanless, 2001; Kweon et al., 2001; Hammel et al., 2001). Studies on LC reversibility usually focus on morphological changes in the liver rather than the recovery of its functions. At the same time,

it is the restoration of the functional capacity of the pathological liver that is the key indicator of the reversibility of LC. This means that the analysis of the content and structure of glycogen, an important source of energy for various metabolic processes in hepatocytes, is of particular importance for assessing the recovery potential of the liver.

Based on the above, the **aim of the present study was to determine the role of cellular and macromolecular mechanisms of glycogenesis regulation in hepatocytes of the normal and the pathological liver of rats and humans.** To achieve this aim, the following tasks were set:

1. To determine the levels of glycogen in hepatocytes and the activity of key enzymes of glycogenesis and glycogenolysis in the normal and the pathological liver of rats and humans at different stages of the food cycle.

2. To establish the effect of hepatocyte size and ploidy on their glycogen content in the normal and the cirrhotic liver of rats and humans.

3. To evaluate the effect of comorbidity of liver cirrhosis and diabetes mellitus type 2 on glycogen content of human hepatocytes.

4. To develop a cytofluorimetric method for the study of the spatial structure of glycogen molecules (β -particles) in individual hepatocytes.

5. To determine the structure of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes of the normal and the cirrhotic rat liver at different stages of the food cycle.

6. To determine the structure of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes of the normal and the pathological liver of rats and humans.

7. To evaluate the degree of recovery of structure and function of the cirrhotic liver of rats and humans after different treatments.

Scientific novelty

We established the role of polyploidy and hypertrophy of hepatocytes in the regulation of glycogenesis in the normal and the cirrhotic liver of rats and humans. We also showed the effect of LC and 2 DM type comorbidity on glycogen content in human hepatocytes. An original quantitative method for the study of the spatial structure of glycogen molecules in individual cells of liver parenchyma was developed. The contribution of the number and size of glycogen molecules to its content in the hepatocytes in the normal and the cirrhotic liver of rats and humans was determined. The dynamics of the spatial structure of glycogen molecules in the hepatocytes of the normal and the cirrhotic rat liver during glycogenesis was studied. The spatial structure of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes of the normal and the cirrhotic liver of rats and humans was described, and then assessed in rat and human hepatocytes during liver cirrhosis rehabilitation.

Theoretical and practical significance

The results of this study demonstrate that despite profound structural reorganisations in the cirrhotic liver, the glycogen content in the cells of its parenchyma is proportional to the gene dose, as in the normal liver. The ability of hepatocytes to store glycogen in the normal liver depends on the size and mass (weight) of the cells, while in the cirrhotic liver no such dependence is observed. On the one hand, our data indicate that normal regulation of transcription and translation processes is retained in the pathologically altered liver. On the other hand, they demonstrate a significant disturbance of the post-translation mechanisms during cirrhosis. This disturbance results in a significant increase in glycogen concentration and in changes in its structure and metabolism in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic liver. The increase of glycogen content in cells during progression of chronic hepatitis is an indicator of the severity of liver damage and is associated primarily with a decreased activity of glycogen phosphorylase a and glucose-6-phosphatase. Our data suggest that glycogen content of hepatocytes is increased in DM type 2. However, the comorbidity of LC and DM does not result in either additive or synergistic effects.

We developed an original method for the study of the spatial structure of glycogen molecules in individual hepatocytes. The method makes it possible to determine the number of glucose residues and the distance between them on the external tiers of glycogen molecules. Using this method, we found that glycogen molecules in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic liver are smaller than in the normal liver. However, their number in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic rat and human liver was several times higher than in the norm.

Treatment of LC after the removal of the damaging agent markedly reduces the glycogen content in hepatocytes and normalises the spatial structure of its molecules.

Methods and materials of the research

To achieve the tasks of the study, we employed a broad array of modern methods of cell biology such as: confocal laser microscopy, cytochemical methods, absorption and fluorescence cytophotometry, micro-interferometry, electron microscopy, and image analysis. The material used in the study was represented by puncture biopsies of the liver of patients with chronic hepatitis, liver cirrhosis and diabetes mellitus type 2. White mongrel rats, Wistar rats, C57BL/6N mice and transgenic homozygous OE-NPY^{DβH} mice were used as experimental models. Statistical data were processed using the standard Sigma Plot for Windows 11.0 software package (Systat Software Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

Structure and volume of the thesis

The thesis is expounded on 265 pages of typewritten text and consists of introduction, literature review, description of materials and methods of the research, results and their discussion, conclusion and list of references containing 741 sources. The work is illustrated with 92 figures and 19 tables.

Personal contribution of the author consists in the independent determination of the aim, tasks and research plan of the thesis; collection of material. The author independently carried out the vast majority of the experiments (a few experiments were carried out jointly with colleagues and students). Interpretation, statistical processing and final evaluation of the obtained experimental data, collection and analysis of scientific literature, as well as the writing the text of the thesis were carried out by the author independently. In publications on the topic of the thesis N.N. Bezborodkina is either the first author or her contribution to the preparation of publications is prevalent.

Validity and approbation of the results

The validity of the results of this study is ensured by the abundance of experimental and clinical material, a careful experimental design and a detailed analysis of literature data. The results presented in the thesis were obtained with the use of modern, extensively tested and informative methods, certified equipment and high-quality reagents from reliable manufacturers and suppliers. They have been published in leading international and Russian peer-reviewed journals.

The data were analysed with the help of a complex of statistical methods. The results were processed with the use of suitable specialised programmes.

The results of the study were presented and discussed at more than 30 Russian and international scientific events, including: XIII International Congress of Pharmacologists (Munich, Germany, 1998); VI and VII Congresses of the European Society for Analytical Cell Pathology (Heidelberg, Germany, 1999; Caen, France, 2001); II Pharmacological Congress (Budapest, Hungary, 1999); XI International Congress of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry (York, England, 2000); XIII and XIV Heidelberg Symposium on Cytometry (Heidelberg, Germany, 2000, 2001); All-Russian Conference with international participation "Problems of morphology: theoretical and clinical aspects" (Sochi, 2002); Conference "Cell and tissue engineering of plants and animals" (Moscow, 2002); 21st Annual Conference of the German Society for Cytometry (DGfZ) (Bonn, Germany, 2011); II All-Russian Scientific Conference of Young Scientists "Problems of biomedical science of the third millennium" (St. Petersburg, 2012); XXVII and XXVIII Congresses of the International Society for the Advancement of Cytometry (ISAC) (Leipzig, Germany, 2012; San Diego, California, USA, 2013); 23rd Conference of the Asia-Pacific Association for the Study of the Liver (APASL) (Singapore, Singapore, 2013); III and IV Conferences of Young Scientists of the Institute of Cytology, Russian Academy of Sciences (St. Petersburg, 2012, 2014); XVII All-Russian Symposium "Structure and Functions of the Cell Nucleus" (St. Petersburg, 2014); VI International Scientific and Practical Conference "Current Problems of Biology, Nanotechnology and Medicine" (Rostov-on-Don, 2015); 30th Annual Congress on Clinical Cytometry (Denver, Colorado, USA, 2015); International Congress on Microscopy (Kottayam, Kerala, India, 2015); 38th and 41st Congresses of the Federation of European Biochemical Societies (FEBS) (St. Petersburg, 2013; Virtual, 2021); Conference dedicated to the 95th Anniversary of Academician K. Zufarov (Tashkent, Uzbekistan, 2021).

The list of publications on the topic of the thesis numbers 16 articles in peer-reviewed scientific journals included in the international reference databases and citation systems defined by the State Commission for Academic Degrees and Titles of the Russian Federation, 3 monographs in Russian, a chapter in an international collective monograph.

List of Publications

The main results on the topic of the thesis are presented in the following articles published in peer-reviewed journals included in the List of the State Commission for Academic Degrees and Titles of the Russian Federation (VAK) and equivalent foreign journals:

- Okovityi S.V., Arkad'eva A.V., Bezborodkina N.N., Sakuta G.A., Yaroslavtsev M.Yu., Shulenin S.N., Kudryavtsev B.N. New protective effect of simvastatin in rats with experimental steatohepatitis / S.V. Okovityi, A.V. Arkad'eva, N.N. Bezborodkina, G.A. Sakuta, M.Yu. Yaroslavtsev, S.N. Shulenin, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Experimental and clinical pharmacology. — 2007. — Vol. 70(3). — P. 43–45. (In Russian).
- Bezborodkina N.N., Okovity S.V., Kudryavtseva M.V., Kirik O.V., Zarubina I.V., Kudryavtsev B.N. Morphometry of hepatocyte mitochondrial apparatus in normal and cirrhotic rat liver / N.N. Bezborodkina, S.V. Okovity, M.V. Kudryavtseva, O.V. Kirik, I.V. Zarubina, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 2008. — Vol. 50(3). — P. 228–236. (In Russian).
- Bezborodkina N.N., Vahtina A.A., Baidyuk E.V., Yakupova G.S., Kudryavtsev B.N. Interrelation between the glycogen content in hepatocytes and their size in normal and cirrhotic rat liver / N.N. Bezborodkina, A.A. Vahtina, E.V. Baidyuk, G.S. Yakupova, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 2009. — Vol. 51(5). — P. 417–427. (In Russian).
- Bezborodkina N.N., Kirshina E.I., Mushinskaya E.V., Kudryavtsev B.N. Application of Schiff's reagents with various spectral characteristics to determine the content of labile and stable glycogen fractions in isolated hepatocytes / N.N. Bezborodkina, E.I. Kirshina, E.V. Mushinskaya, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 2009. — Vol. 51(12). — P. 1025–1035. (In Russian).
- Baidyuk E.V., Shiryaeva A.P., Bezborodkina N.N., Sakuta G.A. Morphology and function of cultured hepatocytes isolated from rats with experimental toxic hepatitis / E.V. Baidyuk, A.P. Shiryaeva, N.N. Bezborodkina, G.A. Sakuta // Cell and Tissue Biology. — 2009. — Vol. 3, Issue 6. — P. 565–572.
- Bezborodkina N.N., Shtein G.I., Sivova E.V., Chestnova A.Yu., Kudryavtsev B.N. Analysis of structure of glycogen in rat hepatocytes using cytochemical and FRET methods / N.N. Bezborodkina, G.I. Shtein, E.V. Sivova, A.Yu. Chestnova, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Cell and Tissue Biology. — 2011. — Vol. 5, Issue 5. — P. 417–427.
- Bezborodkina Natalia N., Okovity Sergey V., Chestnova Anna Yu., Kudryavtsev Boris
 N. Hepatocytes of cirrhotic rat liver accumulate glycogen more slowly than normal

ones / Natalia N. Bezborodkina, Sergey V. Okovity, Anna Yu. Chestnova, Boris N. Kudryavtsev // Hepatol. Int. — 2013. — Vol. 7. — P. 1084–1090.

- Bezborodkina N.N., Chestnova A.Yu., Okovity S.V., Kudryavtsev B.N. Activity of glycogen synthase and glycogen phosphorylase in normal and cirrhotic rat liver during glycogen synthesis from glucose or fructose / N.N. Bezborodkina, A.Yu. Chestnova, S.V. Okovity, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Exp. Toxicol. Pathol. — 2014. — Vol. 66, Issue 2-3, — P. 147–154.
- Chestnova A.Yu., Bezborodkina N.N., Matyukhina N.M., Kudryavtsev B.N. Dynamics of proglycogen and macroglycogen in hepatocytes of normal and cirrhotic rat liver at various stages of glycogenesis. / A.Yu. Chestnova, N.N. Bezborodkina, N.M. Matyukhina, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Cell and Tissue Biology. — 2015. — Vol. 9, Issue 2. — P. 133–140.
- Bezborodkina N.N., Chestnova A.Yu., Vorobev M.L., Kudryavtsev B.N. Glycogen content in hepatocytes is related with their size in normal rat liver but not in cirrhotic one / N.N. Bezborodkina, A.Yu. Chestnova, M.L. Vorobev, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Cytometry Part A. 2016. Vol. 89, Issue 4. P. 357–364.
- Bezborodkina N.N., Chestnova A.Yu., Vorobev M.L., Kudryavtsev B.N. Spatial structure of glycogen molecules in cells / N.N. Bezborodkina, A.Yu. Chestnova, M.L. Vorobev, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Biochemistry (Moscow). — 2018. — Vol. 83, Issue 5, — P. 467–482.
- Ailanen Liisa, Bezborodkina Natalia N., Virtanen Laura, Ruohonen Suvi T., Malova Anastasia V., Okovityi Sergey V., Chistyakova Elizaveta Y., Savontaus Eriika. Metformin normalizes the structural changes in glycogen preceding prediabetes in mice overexpressing neuropeptide Y in noradrenergic neurons / Liisa Ailanen, Natalia N. Bezborodkina, Laura Virtanen, Suvi T. Ruohonen, Anastasia V. Malova, Sergey V. Okovityi, Elizaveta Y. Chistyakova, Eriika Savontaus // Pharmacol. Res. Perspect. — 2018. — Vol. 6, Issue 2. — e00389.
- Bezborodkina Natalia N., Stepanov Andrey V., Vorobev Mikhail L., Chestnova Anna Yu., Stein Grigory I., Kudryavtsev Boris N. Cytochemical analysis of spatial structure of glycogen molecules in rat hepatocytes / Natalia N. Bezborodkina, Andrey V. Stepanov, Mikhail L. Vorobev, Anna Yu. Chestnova, Grigory I. Stein, Boris N. Kudryavtsev // Journal of Molecular Structure. — 2021. — Vol. 1228. — 129770.

- Bezborodkina Natalia N., Okovityi Sergey V., Kudryavtsev Boris N. Postprandial glycogen content is increased in the hepatocytes of human and rat cirrhotic liver / Natalia N. Bezborodkina, Sergey V. Okovityi, Boris N. Kudryavtsev // Cells. 2021. Vol. 10, Issue 5. 976.
- Prikhodko V.A., Bezborodkina N.N., Okovityi S.V. Pharmacotherapy for Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: Emerging Targets and Drug Candidates / V.A. Prikhodko, N.N. Bezborodkina, S.V. Okovityi // Biomedicines. — 2022. — Vol. 10. — 274.
- 16. Bezborodkina N.N., Stepanov A.V., Vorobev M.L., Stein G.I., Okovityi S.V., Kudryavtsev B.N. Dynamics of the glycogen β-particle number in rat hepatocytes during glucose refeeding / N.N. Bezborodkina, A.V. Stepanov, M.L. Vorobev, G.I. Stein, S.V. Okovityi, B.N. Kudryavtsev // International Journal of Molecular Sciences. — 2022. — Vol. 23. — 9263.

In other periodicals:

Kudryavtseva M.V., Emelyanov A.V., Sakuta G.A., Bezborodkina N.N., Kudryavtsev B.N. Glycogen-forming function of hepatocytes in the rat regenerating cirrhotic liver after a partial hepatectomy / M.V. Kudryavtseva, A.V. Emelyanov, G.A. Sakuta, N.N. Bezborodkina, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tissue and Cell. — 1998. — Vol. 30, Issue 2. — P. 1–7.

Kudryavtseva M.V., Bezborodkina N.N., Kudryavtsev B.N. Restoration of the glycogen-forming function of hepatocytes in rats with liver cirrhosis is facilitated by a high-carbohydrate diet / M.V. Kudryavtseva, N.N. Bezborodkina, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Brit. J. Nutrition. — 1999. — Vol. 81, Issue 6. — P. 473–480.

Kudryavtseva M.V., Bezborodkina N.N., Sek E.N., Shapiro I.Ya., Baranovsky A.Yu., Kudryavtsev B.N. Effect of the preparation "Vilon" on the cirrhotically altered rat liver. Liver regeneration and glycogen-forming function of hepatocytes / M.V. Kudryavtseva, N.N. Bezborodkina, E.N. Sek, I.Ya. Shapiro, A.Yu. Baranovsky, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 2000. — Vol. 42(8). — P. 757–763. (In Russian).

Kudryavtseva M.V., Bezborodkina N.N., Kudryavtsev B.N. Glycogen-forming function of hepatocytes in cirrhotically altered rat liver after treatment the chorionic gonadotropin / M.V. Kudryavtseva, N.N. Bezborodkina, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Exp. Toxic. Pathol. — 2001. — Vol. 53, Issue 1. — P. 57–63.

Bezborodkina N., Kudryavtseva M., Kudryavtsev B. Analysis of the activity of key glycogen metabolism enzymes after a partial hepatectomy of normal and cirrhotic rat liver / N. Bezborodkina, M. Kudryavtseva, B. Kudryavtsev // Proc. Georgian Acad. Sci., Biol. Ser. A. — 2002. — Vol. 28(S). — P. 1–5.

Kudryavtseva M.V., Bezborodkina N.N., Okovity S.V., Ivanova O.V., Kudryavtsev B.N. Peculiarities of bemithyl effect on hepatocytes glycogen metabolism in pathologically altered human liver / M.V. Kudryavtseva, N.N. Bezborodkina, S.V. Okovity, O.V. Ivanova, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 2002. — Vol. 44(7) — P. 668–675. (In Russian).

Kudryavtseva M.V., Bezborodkina N.N., Okovity S.V., Nilova V.K., Ivanikova N.V., Kudryavtsev B.N. Cytofluorimetric study of effects of bemithyl on carbohydrate metabolism of cirrhotically altered liver / M.V. Kudryavtseva, N.N. Bezborodkina, S.V. Okovity, V. K. Nilova, N.V. Ivanikova, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 2002. — Vol. 44. — P. 166–174. (In Russian).

Okovity, S.V. Hepatoprotectors / S.V. Okovity, N.N. Bezborodkina, S.G. Uleychik, S.N. Shulenin. — M.: GEOTAR-Media, 2010. — 112 p. (In Russian). [ISBN 978-5-9704-1455-2]

Bezborodkina Natalia N., Chestnova Anna Yu., Kudryavtsev Boris N. Glycogen metabolism during chronic liver diseases / Natalia N. Bezborodkina, Anna Yu. Chestnova, Boris N. Kudryavtsev — In: P.L. Weiss, B.D. Faulkner (Eds). Glycogen: Structure, Functions in the Body and Role in Disease. — New York: NOVA Publishers, 2013. — P. 47–79. [ISBN 978-1-62948-395-5]

Okovity, S.V. Hepatoprotectors: a guide for doctors. 2nd ed., revised and additional / S.V. Okovity, V.A. Prikhodko, N.N. Bezborodkina, B.N. Kudryavtsev. — M.: GEOTAR-Media, 2022. — 240 p. (In Russian). [ISBN 978-5-9704-6689-6]

Main scientific results

1. The development of liver cirrhosis in humans is accompanied by more significant impairment of liver functions and a greater loss of hepatocytes (>50%) than in rats (~28%). Polyploidisation and hypertrophy of cells during cirrhosis in rats almost completely compensate for the loss of hepatocytes, while in humans these processes only partially compensate for the loss of cells (Bezborodkina et al., 2021 - pp. 5-7 (personal contribution of the author 90 %)).

2. Glycogenesis in the hepatocyte population of the cirrhotic liver is characterised by a lower rate (by 22%) than in the normal liver. The glycogen content in the normal liver cells directly depends on their size, whereas during cirrhosis there is no such relationship. Nevertheless, during glycogenesis, the glycogen content in the hepatocytes in the normal and the cirrhotic liver remains proportional to the level of cell ploidy (Bezborodkina et al., 2013 — pp. 1084, 1089 (personal contribution of the author 90 %); Bezborodkina et al., 2016 — pp. 357, 361, 363 (personal contribution of the author 90 %)).

3. An original microfluorometric method was developed that makes it possible to determine the content of the labile (macroglycogen) and the stable (proglycogen) fraction of glycogen in one and the same cell and to obtain information on the structure of glycogen in individual cells, the order of its synthesis and degradation in the liver. The method is based on the use of PAS reaction with Schiff's reagents of different colours and FRET (Förster Resonance Energy Transfer) technique (Bezborodkina et al., 2009 — pp. 1027–1030, 1035 (personal contribution of the author 90 %); Bezborodkina et al., 2011 — pp. 420, 422–423 (personal contribution of the author 80 %); Chestnova et al., 2015 — pp. 135, 138–139 (personal contribution of the author 80 %)).

4. Glycogen content in hepatocytes of transgenic homozygous OE-NPYD β H mice with prediabetic phenotype corresponds to the normal values, being 28.53±0.97 and 30.87±0.98 standard units, respectively. However, the structure of glycogen molecules is significantly different from that of mice of wild type (WT) phenotype: 0.62±0.02 standard units and 1.63±0.02 standard units, respectively, p<0.001. Glycogen synthesis and accumulation in hepatocytes of OE-NPYD β H mice occurs predominantly via an indirect pathway, by gluconeogenesis, while in the liver of WT mice the direct pathway is used (Ailanen et al., 2018, pp. 6, 7 (personal contribution of the author 70 %)).

5. An increase in the content of glycogen in hepatocytes is accompanied by changes in the spatial structure of its molecules, which are expressed in a greater number of chains and tiers filled with glucose residues, as well as in an increase in the number of proteins bound to glucose residues on the surface of the molecules. At the same time, the outer layer of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes is never completely filled with glucose residues and always contains residues bound to proteins (Bezborodkina et al., 2021 - p. 6 (personal contribution of the author 80 %)).

6. Glycogen macromolecules (β -particles) are continuously synthesised and degraded in hepatocytes. Hepatocytes of starved rats contain 1.6 x 108 glycogen particles. Refeeding rats with glucose results in a rapid increase in the number of particles in the cytoplasm of hepatocytes. However, the main contribution to the increase in cellular glycogen content is the increase in the number of glucose residues in its molecules. Refeeding of rats with glucose for two hours leads to an approximately twofold increase in the size of glycogen molecules (Bezborodkina et al., 2022 — p. 7 (personal contribution of the author 90 %)).

The main theses for defence:

1. Mononucleate and binucleate hepatocytes of different ploidy in the normal and the cirrhotic liver do not differ in the rate of glycogen accumulation. In the normal liver, the degree of glycogen accumulation by hepatocytes depends on the cell size, while in the cirrhotic liver there is no such dependence.

2. Glycogen content in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic rat and human liver is significantly higher than in hepatocytes of the normal liver. The main causes of hepatocyte glycogenosis during cirrhosis are an impaired glycogenolysis and an increased gluconeogenesis.

3. An original microfluorometric method for the study of glycogen content and spatial structure of its molecules (β -particles) in individual hepatocytes was developed. It was shown that in hepatocytes of the normal rat liver the change in the content of total glycogen at the early stages of glycogenesis is caused by the synthesis of new molecules (β -particles), while at the later stages it is caused by the addition of glucose residues to the particles already present in the cells. In hepatocytes of the cirrhotic rat liver, the change in glycogen content during glycogenesis is due to the filling of the external tiers of β -particles. The increase in glycogen content in human hepatocytes during the development of liver cirrhosis is mainly due to the *de novo* formation of β -particles.

4. As cirrhosis progresses, the distance between chains of glucose residues on the external tiers of glycogen molecules increases in rat hepatocytes and decreases in human hepatocytes.

5. The distance between the external tiers of glycogen molecules decreases as they are being filled with glucose residues, which supports the hypothesis that the size of glycogen molecules is self-regulating.

6. Glycogen molecules in rat and human hepatocytes in the normal and the cirrhotic liver are smaller than in the normal liver, while their number is several times greater than in the normal liver.

7. The use of various treatments of cirrhosis does not lead to a complete restoration of the original lobular structure of the liver even after a long period of observation. However, treatment of cirrhosis after the removal of the damaging agent markedly reduces the glycogen content in hepatocytes and normalises the spatial structure of its molecules. Cirrhosis treatments leads to an increase in the number of glucose residues on the external tiers of glycogen molecules.

CHAPTER 1. LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1. Liver and its role in the mammalian body

The liver is the largest gland of mammals; its relative weight varies from 1.5% to 6% in different mammalian species (Prothero, 1982). The absolute weight of this organ varies greatly, for example, in the blue whale (*Balaenoptera musculus*) it reaches more than 1 tonne, in an adult human it is 1.2–1.8 kg, in rats and mice it is 8–10 g and 2–3 g, respectively, and in one of the smallest mammals, the pygmy shrew (*Sorex minutus*), it is only 0.18–0.31 g (Ivanter et al., 1985; Schmidt-Nielsen, 1987; Rogers, Dintzis, 2018).

The cell population of the liver consists of parenchymal and non-parenchymal elements. The latter are represented by sinusoidal (endotheliocytes and Kupffer cells) and perisinusoidal (Ito cells and Pit cells) cells. The main and the most numerous parenchymal cells of the mammalian liver are hepatocytes. They account for 60–80% of the total number of cells and 85–90% of the liver weight (Bioulac-Sage et al., 1999; Xu, Zhang, 2018). According to different estimates, the average number of hepatocytes in human liver is $100-250\times10^9$ cells (Bioulac-Sage et al., 1999; Arias et al., 2020), while in rats 1 g of liver contains from 1.96×10^8 (Knox, 1976) to 2.62×10^8 hepatocytes (Baidyuk, 2013).

The liver occupies a strategic position in the body. It performs up to 500 different metabolic functions, participating in the metabolism of proteins, lipids, vitamins, in bile secretion, detoxification, and pigment and mineral metabolism. It plays a central role in carbohydrate metabolism, maintaining a constant blood glucose concentration and regulating the accumulation and distribution of glucose in peripheral tissues. Some other organs can also store glucose in the form of glycogen, but only the liver can break it down and provide free glucose to the circulatory system (Kuntz, Kuntz, 2008; Chiang, 2014) (Fig. 1.1).

Metabolic pathways in the liver are under strict neurohumoral control (Reinke, Asher, 2016). The liver is innervated by the branches of the vagus nerve and the hepatic (sympathetic) plexus, while the hormones of the epiphysis, the adenohypophysis, the adrenal, the pancreatic and the thyroid gland are involved in the regulation of metabolic processes (Charni-Natan et al., 2019). The source of energy for the extremely energy-intensive tissue-specific functions of the liver is the aerobic oxidation of carbohydrates, fats and proteins derived from food or stored in various tissues (Rui, 2014). The main reserve substances in animals are glycogen and

triacylglycerides (fats). The complete oxidation of the latter produces significantly more energy in the form of ATP than oxidation of glycogen. However, glycogen has two advantages. It can be quickly mobilised for the metabolic needs of the organism and, what is even more important, can be the source of energy even under anoxic conditions.



Figure 1.1 — Main metabolic functions of the liver.

1.2. Glycogen and its role in various tissues and cells of mammals

Glycogen is an easily accessible and universal source of energy for metabolic processes in living beings with various levels of organisation, from primitive heterotrophic prokaryotes (archaea and bacteria) to higher eukaryotes such as mammals (Ball et al., 2011). Glycogen or, as it was formerly called, animal starch, was first obtained and described by the French physiologist Claude Bernard. He found that when ethanol and an excess of glacial acetic acid were applied to the homogenate of fresh liver tissue glycogen was precipitated as a white substance, while its complete hydrolysis resulted in the formation of glucose (Bernard, 1857). Later it has been shown that glycogen is found in almost all the tissues but is present in the highest concentration in the liver, where it makes up 5–7 % of the total weight. The total glycogen content in the liver is approximately 0.4 g in the rat and 70–100 g in humans (Wasserman, 2009; Zois, Harris, 2016). Glycogen is also present in significant amounts in skeletal muscles. Although its concentration in them is much lower than in the liver, the total amount is higher (Zois, Harris, 2016). For example, the total amount of glycogen in skeletal muscles in humans reaches 400–500 g (Wasserman, 2009; Jensen et al., 2011).

Glucose is stored in cells as a polymer because of the low osmolarity of this form. The glycogen reserve in the hepatocyte roughly corresponds to a glucose concentration of 0.4 M, but the actual concentration of insoluble glycogen in the cell is only 0.01 μ M. Should the cytosol contain 0.4 M of glucose in its monomeric form, which has a high osmolarity, water movement into the cell might have caused cell lysis. Furthermore, at an intracellular glucose concentration of 0.4 M and a glucose concentration of 5 mM in mammalian blood, the change of free energy corresponding to the transport of glucose into the cell against an ~80-fold concentration gradient would have been prohibitive (Nelson, Cox, 2012).

Owing to its ability to be easily broken down to glucose and rapidly stored in cells, glycogen plays an extremely important role in human and animal life.

Firstly, during the late stages of mammalian embryogenesis, a lot of glycogen is accumulated in the organs of the foetus, especially in the liver, and is then used within the first hours after birth for the energy needs of the newborn (Doljanski, 1960; Kalhan, 2017). For human and animal embryos glucose is an energy source of paramount importance (Kalhan, Parimi, 2000; Dowling, McAuliffe, 2013). Its plasma concentration is maintained at a constant level by transport across the placenta from the mother's body (Mota-Rojas et al., 2011). Birth and the following several days are a critical stage in the life of mammals, and the accumulation of a large amount of glycogen in the liver before birth is one of the most important adaptive mechanisms (Hers, 1981; Arshavsky, 1982; Gruppuso, Brautigan, 1989).

Secondly, glycogen plays an important role in muscle contraction. Muscles of various functional purposes constitute up to 40–45% of the body weight of mammals (Frontera, Ochala, 2015), while the glycogen content in them reaches 0.5–2% of the muscle wet weight (Rosenfeld, Popova, 1989).

Thirdly, it is vitally necessary for the body to maintain blood glucose concentrations within a narrow physiological range required for the normal functioning of the nervous tissue, blood cells and testes. In fed state and in the postabsorptive period, the brain operates almost exclusively on glucose, the rate of its utilisation being estimated at 117–142 g/day (Nuttall et al., 2008). Another reason why the level of glucose in the blood should be strictly regulated is its toxicity. Modifications of proteins caused by their glycosylation (Degenhardt et al., 1998), glucose-induced oxidative cell damage (Huebschmann et al., 2006), and other glucose-

mediated harmful effects are particularly clearly manifested in people with severe forms of diabetes (Cleary et al., 2006).

1.3. Regulation of the glucostatic function of the liver and glycogen metabolism

Five phases of glucose homeostasis can be identified depending on the nutritional status of the organism (Ruderman et al., 1976) (Table 1.1). In absorptive **phase I** the level of glucose and insulin in the blood increases, while that of glucagon decreases. As a result, glucose formed in the intestine during carbohydrate digestion is absorbed: 55% by the liver, 25% by insulin-independent tissues (brain, nerves, blood cells, renal medulla and epithelium of testes) and 15% by insulin-dependent tissues (adipose tissue, skeletal muscles) (Tepperman, Tepperman, 1989). In postabsorptive **phase II**, glucose, insulin, and glucagon levels return to the baseline. The liver starts to produce glucose, which is to be used mainly by the brain, kidneys, red blood cells, adipose tissue, and skeletal muscle. A typical postabsorptive state in humans is the state of the body after a night's sleep. If no food is ingested for a day or more, the state of starvation (**phases III–V**) sets in. At all stages of starvation, due to depletion of glycogen stores, the only source of glucose is gluconeogenesis in the liver and kidneys (Ercan et al., 1994) (Table 2.1)

	Phase I	Phase II	Phase III	Phase IV	Phase V
Source of glucose	Exogenous carbohydrates	Glycogenesis in the liver Glycogen	Gluconeogenesis in the liver Glycogen	Gluconeogenesis in liver and kidneys	Gluconeogenesis in liver and kidneys
Tissues/ organs using glucose	ALL (liver takes up about 50% of glucose after a meal)	ALL (to a lesser extent: liver, muscle and adipose tissue)	ALL (to a lesser extent: liver, muscle, adipose tissue)	Brain, red blood cells, kidneys, muscle (small amounts)	Red blood cells, kidneys, brain (to a lesser extent)
Main source of energy for the brain	Glucose	Glucose	Glucose	Glucose Ketone bodies	Ketone Bodies GLUCOSE
Timing of the start	3-4 h after a meal	6-12 h after a meal	Starvation for 1 day	Starvation for up to 24 days	Starvation for more than 1 month

Table 1.1 — Phases of glucose homeostasis.

Thus, blood glucose level at different stages of the food cycle represents a balance between the intensity of glucose consumption by the peripheral tissues and the ratio of the rates of glycogen synthesis and breakdown in the liver.

Glycogen can be synthesised directly (glycogenesis) from blood glucose entering the cells and indirectly (gluconeogenesis) from non-carbohydrates. Degradation of glycogen (glycogenolysis) in the organism occurs by hydrolysis or phosphorolysis. Glycogen can be used in the course of aerobic or anaerobic glycolysis for the needs of the tissue itself or for glucose production as well as, via the pentose phosphate pathway, for the formation of NADPH-H and pentose phosphates necessary for the synthesis of fatty and nucleic acids (Fig. 1.2).

In most mammalian organs and tissues only some units of reactions associated with glycogen metabolism take place. For example, in skeletal muscles (Przybylski et al., 2006), the heart (Chandramouli et al., 2015), the brain (Rojas, Schwartz, 2014) and red blood cells (Moses et al., 1972) glycogen metabolism is directed towards glycolysis, whereas in the kidney cortex (Segura, Ruilope, 2013) and the small intestine (Mithieux, Gautier-Stein, 2014) the direction is towards glycogen synthesis via gluconeogenesis. The only mammalian organ with the complete set of glycogen metabolism is the liver. At the same time, the liver usually does not utilise the glucose formed during glycogenesis for its own needs but produces it for consumption by other organs.



Figure 1.2 — General scheme of glycogen metabolism (Zois, Harris, 2016).

The basic scheme of reactions of glycogenesis and glycogenolysis has been described in detail (Bender, Mayes, 2015; Zois, Harris, 2016). This scheme is very similar in different tissues differing only in some slight details.

Glycogen synthesis begins with the attachment of UDP-glucose to glycogenin, a protein primer; the acceptor of the transferred glucose residue is glycogenin itself (Lomako et al., 2004; Chaikuad et al., 2011). In humans this protein is encoded by two genes, GYG1 and GYG2. The former is expressed in all the tissues, while expression of the latter is restricted to the liver, the heart and the pancreas (Henrissat, Davies, 2000). In contrast, rodents have only one glycogenin-encoding gene, GYG1 (Zhai et al., 2001).

Further formation of a complete glycogen molecule occurs with the participation of glycogen synthase (GS), branching enzyme (BE) and other enzymes after the self-glycosylation of glycogenin is completed. It has been suggested that glycogen is never completely broken down in cells and that its synthesis can begin immediately, on pre-existing glycogenin (Calder, Geddes, 1992). Glucose residues are transferred by GS to the non-reducing end of the oligosaccharide formed on the glycogenin and are linked together by α -1

 \rightarrow 4 glycosidic bonds (Figure 1.3). As a result, a polysaccharide chain is formed, while the glycogenin remains inside the glycogen molecule.



Figure 1.3 — Pathways of glycogenesis and glycogenolysis in the liver (by Bender, Mayes, 2015).

Mammals possess two GS-encoding genes: GYS1 is expressed in skeletal muscles and in most cells capable of glycogen synthesis, while GYS2 is expressed only in the liver (Qian et al., 2014). GS can be in an inactive phosphorylated state (b-form or I-form) and in an active non-phosphorylated state (a-form or D-form). Glucose-6-phosphate (G6P) can overcome the inactivation of the enzyme associated with phosphorylation and fully restore its activity. Owing to this property, it is possible to determine GS activity in the presence and in the absence of G6P and to estimate the degree of phosphorylation of this enzyme (Aiston et al., 2003). An additional mechanism of GS activity regulation is associated with changes in its intracellular localisation. It has been shown that incubation of hepatocytes isolated from the liver of starving rats with glucose not only activates GS but also promotes its transition from a diffuse distribution in the cytoplasm to concentration in the cell periphery (Jurczak et al., 2008). This fact is in good agreement with the data that glycogen synthesis starts near the cell membrane of the hepatocytes; as glycogen accumulates, it moves from the cell periphery to the inner parts of the cell (Fernandez-Novell et al., 2002).

GS catalyses the transfer of glucoside residues only to a linear section of the chain. Once the number of linearly arranged glucose residues reaches 11, the chain begins to branch with the participation of the branching enzyme (BE). It forms α -1,6-glucoside bonds and results in the formation of numerous terminal monomers. Owing to this branching structure, glycogen molecules are compact and the rate of glycogen synthesis and degradation is significantly increased (Fig. 1.4, *a*).



Figure 1.4 — (a) Mechanism of action of the branching enzyme. Branches are formed by the transfer of approximately seven terminal glucose residues from the linear section of a chain to the C6-OH group of the glucose residue of another chain. A new branching point is formed at a distance of at least 4 residues from any other existing branching point. (b) Mechanism of action of the debranching enzyme (Takusagawa F., 2010).

As already mentioned, glycogen degradation in cells can proceed along the phosphorolytic and along the hydrolytic pathway. The latter is effected by glucosidases. The best known glucosidase is α -amylase of the pancreas and the salivary glands, which cleaves α -1,4-glycosidic bonds. Glycogen can also be hydrolysed in lysosomes. This pathway has attracted scientific attention because of Pompe disease, associated with a mutation in the gene

of the lysosomal α -glycosidase (Hirschhorn, Reuser, 2000) and manifested in the accumulations of huge amounts of glycogen in lysosomes and vesicular structures (Fukuda et al., 2006).

Phosphorolysis of glycogen begins with the formation of glucose-1-phosphate. This reaction is catalysed by glycogen phosphorylase (GP), the key enzyme of glycogenolysis (Fig. 1.3). Its molecular structure, though complex, is now understood fairly well. It is known that the biological activity is characteristics of the dimer of GP. The transition of GP from the inactive to the active state occurs due to the addition of AMP and is accompanied by a change in the quaternary structure of the enzyme (Rath et al., 2000; Pautsch et al., 2008). During inactivation, GP, as well as GS, moves from the soluble fraction to the so-called "particle fraction" (Green et al., 2004).

GP can only cleave linear chains (α -1,4-bonds) of glycogen. As soon as approximately 4 glucose residues remain before the α -1,6 branching site, its action stops and the debranching enzyme (DBE) starts to work. The latter enzyme, which possesses transferase and 1,6-glucosidase activity, straightens the chain of glucose residues at the branching sites (Fig. 1.4, *b*). The catalytic units of DBE can act independently one from the other, which suggests the presence of multiple active centres, including those for glycogen binding (Zhai et al., 2016). Although DBE was discovered almost 50 years ago, its three-dimensional structure and the molecular basis of its function are poorly understood.

Eventually, through the combined action of DBE and GP, glycogen is cleaved to G1F, which is transformed into G6P under the impact of phosphoglucomutase. It is G6P that is involved in many metabolic pathways or converted into free glucose entering the blood.

To maintain a constant physiological blood glucose concentration, liver glycogen is used mainly between meals. It is believed that about 70–75% of glucose is formed by glycogenolysis in the postabsorptive period in humans (Kruszynska, 1999). During prolonged starvation, glycogen stores in the liver are depleted down to a few per cent of the initial level (Rothman et al., 1991). Under these conditions, glucose is supplied to tissues almost entirely by gluconeogenesis, which proceeds in the liver and, to a lesser extent, in the renal cortex, adrenal glands, and the small intestine (Mithieux et al., 2004; Watford, 2005). The sources of glucose synthesised *de novo* by the liver through gluconeogenesis are lactate, pyruvate, glycerol and some amino acids.



Figure 1.5 — A scheme of gluconeogenesis and glycolysis in the liver. The key gluconeogenic enzymes are enclosed in double boxes. ATP required for gluconeogenesis is derived from oxidation of fatty acids (by Bender, Mayes, 2015).

Almost all reactions of gluconeogenesis are reversals of glycolysis reactions and are catalysed by the corresponding glycolytic enzymes. However, since some of these reactions are irreversible, gluconeogenesis also involves some 'bypass' reactions of its own. One of the main steps of gluconeogenesis is the terminal reaction catalysed by glucose-6-phosphatase (G6Pase) (Fig. 1.5).

This enzyme occupies a strategic position in the regulation of blood glucose level. It is known that hepatic G6Phase has a molecular mass of 60–70 kDa (Reczek, Villee, 1982), consists of 5 basic polypeptides (Burchell, 1982) and is present (in mammals) in the microsomal fraction (De Duve et al., 1951). It has been shown that G6Phase is also found in kidneys, the intestine, the pancreas, adrenal glands, testes and the spleen, but its activity in these organs is low as compared to the liver (Burchell, Hume, 1995; Rajas et al., 1999; Croset et al., 2001).

In cells, G6Pase is localised predominantly on the inner side of the RER membranes, while its substrate is located in the cytosol (Waddell, Burchell, 1991). It was shown with the use monoclonal antibodies that G6P is transported across the membrane by a specific translocase T1, while glucose and Pi released during the substrate hydrolysis are transported to the cytosol by translocase T2 and translocase T3, respectively (Fig. 1.6) (Rodwell et al., 2015).



Figure 1.6 — Hydrolysis of G6P. The catalytic site of glucose-6-phosphatase faces the lumen of the rough endoplasmic reticulum (RER). GLUT 2 — glucose transporter (by Rodwell et al., 2015).

G6P is formed at the first stage of glycolysis, one of the most important as well as the most ancient metabolic processes in living organisms, under the action of hexokinase (Fig. 1.5). Many mammals, including humans, have four isoforms of hexokinase (Lowes et al., 1998; Coerver et al., 1998; Ehsani-Zonouz et al., 2001), but only hexokinase IV or glucokinase (GK) has a low affinity for glucose (Km about 20 mmol/l), is not inhibited by G6F, and functions efficiently at glucose concentrations above 1 mg/ml (Cornish-Bowden, Cardenas, 1991). Its share in the total hexokinase activity differs in different mammalian species: e.g., it

is 84–91 % in the liver of rats, mice, and hamsters (Ureta et al., 1971; Reyes, Cardenas, 1984) and only 40% in the human liver (Lowes et al., 1998).

In hepatocytes, GK forms a complex with the regulatory protein GKRP, which acts as a competitive inhibitor of glucose (Arden et al., 2005) and is the most important post-transcriptional regulator (Roncero et al., 2009). The loss of GCKR reduces both the amount of GK and its activity (Grimsby et al., 2000).

It has been shown that the absence of GK in the human liver leads to the development of mild diabetes (Malecki, Klupa, 2005). However, physiologically low GK activity in the liver does not lead to diabetes in ruminants, cats and birds. This is probably due to a different diet and also to the fact that these groups of animals obtain the energy in such a way that excess glucose can be removed from the circulation without an obligatory participation of GK (Ureta, 1982; Aschenbach et al., 2010; Polakof et al., 2011; Verbrugghe et al., 2012).

Most data on glucostatic function, metabolism and glycogen content have been obtained without taking into account the characteristics of the tissue structure of the liver and the structure of its cell population. As a rule, the studies were conducted on tissue homogenates, or separate cells and organelles, or isolated enzymes, or else by determining the concentration of metabolites in the inflowing and outflowing blood, etc. Meanwhile, the liver is an organ with a highly organised metabolism, a distinct histological structure and a cell population in which each cell type has a strict localisation and performs a specific function.

1.4. Influence of tissue and cell factors on metabolism and content of glycogen in the liver

All metabolic pathways associated with glycogen accumulation and degradation are confined to hepatocytes. As a cell type, they arise from progenitor cells (hepatoblasts) in the early embryonic period: in humans approximately on the 18th day and in rats, on 10th–11th day of prenatal development (Zhao, Duncan, 2005; Shin, Monga, 2013) (Fig. 1.7).



Figure 1.7 — A scheme of liver morphogenesis. Hepatoblasts, which are bipotential stem cells, differentiate into hepatocytes or cholangiocytes (biliary epithelial cells). In the course of morphogenesis, these cells mature, acquire additional characteristics such as polarity and become capable of performing the key functions of the liver.

The embryonic liver grows fast due to the high proliferative activity of hepatocytes (Zavarzin, 1967), but their mitotic activity rapidly decreases after birth. In adult rats, the number of hepatocytes in the DNA synthesis phase make up as little as a fraction of one percent (Stöcker et al., 1972). As the proliferative activity of hepatocytes declines, they undergo polyploidization, which is particularly intense during the first 3–4 weeks after birth, when the young rats switch from suckling to independent feeding on carbohydrate-rich food (James et al., 1979; Brodsky, Uryvaeva, 1981; Bogdanova et al., 1990). It is believed that polyploidization is carried out by alternation of acytokinetic mitoses and bimitoses; as a result, the liver of adult rats contains mononuclear and binuclear hepatocytes of different ploidy classes: 2c, $2c \times 2$, 4c, $4c \times 2$ and 8c (Brodsky, Uryvaeva, 1977; Donne et al., 2020) (Fig. 1.8).



Figure 1.8 — Formation of hepatocytes of different ploidy in rat liver (Okovity et al., 2022).

In the liver of adult rats, mononuclear tetraploid hepatocytes are the most numerous, accounting for ~80% of the population of parenchymal cells (Bogdanova et al., 1990; Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 2005). Hepatocytes of higher ploidy are rare, arising during aging or in case of liver pathologies. In contrast, in adult humans 80–90% of hepatocytes of the normal liver are represented by mononuclear diploid cells. It is only after the age of fifty that the number of polyploid hepatocytes in humans becomes noticeable, however, even at the age of 90, almost 60% of the hepatocytes are mononuclear diploid cells (Kudryavtsev et al., 1982; Watanabe et al., 1984; Kudryavtsev et al., 1993).

In addition to cell factors, glucose and glycogen metabolism in hepatocytes depends on the characteristic structure of the liver parenchyma, which is due to its unique blood supply (Jungermann, 1987). The liver simultaneously receives arterial and venous blood from, respectively, the hepatic artery and the portal vein (Fig. 1.9).



Figure 1.9 — Microscopic structure of the liver (a scheme) (Okovity et al., 2022).

The hepatic lobule is traditionally considered to be the basic morphofunctional unit of the liver. There are several views on its structure reflecting different aspects of its organisation and function (Sasse et al., 1992; Romert et al., 1993; Teutsch, 2005). According to the classical view, a lobule is shaped as a hexagonal prisms. Portal tracts with the branches of the portal vein, the hepatic artery, the bile ducts, the lymphatic vessels and the nerve fibres are located at the corners of their bases. In the centre of the lobule the central vein is located, through which blood flows to the vessels carrying blood to the inferior vena cava and, further, to the right ventricle of the heart (Fig. 1.9, 1.10, *a*). Trabeculae consisting of about 20 hepatocytes are located around the central vein (Fig. 1.10). In many animal species, the radial direction of the trabeculae in the lobules is often obscured by the anastomoses between them.



Figure 1.10 — Liver microstructure, oxygen gradient and metabolic zonation. a - Classic liver lobule. Branches of the portal vein (blue dot), hepatic artery (red dot), bile duct (green dot). The acinus and its three zones. 1 - periportal zone; 2 - intermediate zone; 3 - perivenous zone. b - Liver sinusoid and oxygen gradient. c - Functional activity of the hepatic acinus depending on oxygen zonation (after Kietzmann, 2017; Lee-Montiel et al., 2017).

The term "acinus" is often used to describe the structure of the liver. The acinus is formed by segments of two adjacent classical lobules (Fig. 1.10, a). The blood supply of the acinus, unlike that of the lobules, is from the centre to the periphery (Rappaport, 1981). Three zones are distinguished in the acinus: the periportal zone, supplied with blood with a high oxygen content, the intermediate zone and the perivenous zone. The latter is adjacent to the central vein and receives blood which has a low oxygen concentration but is enriched with the end products of cell metabolism (Kietzmann, 2017) (Fig. 1.10, a). Zones 1, 2 and 3 of the hepatic acinus correspond to the portal, the intermediate and the central zone of the classical lobule.

Oxygen pressure in the periportal zone exceeds that in the central zone 3.1–3.5-fold (Kietzmann, 2017; Lee-Montiel et al., 2017) (Fig. 1.10, *b*). Periportal hepatocytes, being more

"aerobic", have a larger mitochondrial volume (20% v/v) and the area of the cristae (33 000 μ m²) as compared to the cells in the pericentral zone, whose mitochondrial volume is 12% v/v and the total area of the cristae, 23 000 μ m² (Arias et al., 2020). As a consequence, periportal hepatocytes have a higher respiration rate and oxidative phosphorylation (Sell, 2001).

The concentration gradient of oxygen, substrates and hormones between different zones of the liver lobule obviously influences glucose and glycogen metabolism in the hepatocytes located in these zones (Fig. 1.10, *c*). Periportal cells have a higher capacity for glucose synthesis by gluconeogenesis. Accordingly, they have higher activities of G6Pase (Teutsch et al., 1999), fructose-1,6-biphosphatase (Schmidt et al., 1978) and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (Wimmer et al., 1990). An intensive glycolysis in perivenous hepatocytes is manifested, in particular, in a high level and activity of GK (Toyoda et al., 1995).

It is believed that periportal glycogen is synthesised mainly from gluconeogenic precursors, while perivenous glycogen is synthesised directly from glucose (Jungermann, Katz, 1989; Jungermann, Kietzmann, 1997). It remains unclear in which zone of the lobule glycogen synthesis begins after food intake and at what rate it proceeds in different zones. It has been shown, however, that periportal hepatocytes accumulate glycogen faster after starved rats have been fed on a mixture of glucose and fructose (Kudryavtseva et al., 1992). It is also known that in the postabsorptive period the glycogen content in hepatocytes of the portal zone of the normal human and rat liver is higher than in the cells of the central zone (Kudryavtseva et al., 1996; Kudryavtseva et al., 2001b).

Hepatocytes differ greatly in glycogen content. These differences seem to be associated mostly with the different activity of the enzymes and different concentration of the substrates of glycogen metabolism in individual cells. However, the heterogeneity of the hepatocytes in respect of ploidy level, size and proliferative activity can also make a significant contribution and influence their functional activity. An *in situ* study showed that during DNA synthesis in rat hepatocytes the level of glycogen in the cells of different ploidy decreases by about 26% as compared to the cells in G_{0+1} -phase of the cell cycle. As hepatocytes pass through the S-phase of the cell cycle, their glycogen content gradually decreases (Shalakhmetova et al., 1981). It has also been established that the glycogen content in mononuclear and binuclear hepatocytes of different ploidy during postnatal ontogenesis (Kudryavtseva et al., 1979; Shalakhmetova et al., 1981) and in regenerating rat liver (Maytesyan, 1983) corresponds to their degree of ploidy. However, the dependence of glycogen content in hepatocytes on their ploidy level has
been investigated only for one mammalian species, the rat. No such data are available on other species, including humans. In addition, it is unclear whether this pattern depends on the nutritional status of the organism and whether it persists at different phases of glucose homeostasis.

The role of the size of hepatocytes on their function is much less clear than that of their proliferative activity and ploidy. Cell size is a fundamental parameter that has a significant impact on the general plan of cell structure and function (Jorgensen, Tyers, 2004). However, most studies dealing with the influence of the size of the cells on their functional activity focus on ion-dependent changes of the function.

It has been shown that swelling and dehydration of hepatocytes elicit changes in oxygen consumption, glucose production, gluconeogenesis and glycolysis rates, and the activity of key enzymes of carbohydrate metabolism in these cells (Hallgren et al., 2003; Krumschnabel et al., 2003). In general, cell hydration stimulates anabolic processes and proliferation, while dehydration leads to increased catabolism and increases sensitivity to apoptosis (Schliess, Häussinger, 2003). Rapid changes in the size of hepatocytes caused by swelling or dehydration have a small amplitude (about 35%) and are unaccompanied by changes in the number of organelles and various structures in the cells (Espelt et al., 2008). In contrast, the variability of hepatocyte weight (size) in mammalian liver is quite large. For instance, the dry weight and protein content in individual hepatocytes of equal ploidy can differ several times over (Zavadskaya et al., 1989; Bogdanova et al., 1990). It has been suggested that the amount of glycogen that can be accumulated in hepatocytes strongly depends on their size: the larger the cell, the greater the amount of glycogen can be deposited in its cytoplasm (Newsholm, Start, 1975). However, there are still no data to support or refute this hypothesis.

1.5. Chronic pathologies associated with impairment of metabolism, content and structure of glycogen in the liver

The key role of the liver in the mammalian carbohydrate metabolism, of which glycogen metabolism is an important part, suggests that diseases of this organ associated with impaired glycogen metabolism can have serious consequences for the organism. Numerous liver diseases in humans and animals associated with defects in glycogen metabolism are currently known. They can be conventionally divided into inborn and acquired ones.

1.5.1. Inborn diseases associated with impaired glycogen metabolism

Glycogen storage diseases (GSD) or glycogenoses are a group of genetic diseases. They are characterised by a deficiency of one of the enzymes associated with the synthesis or degradation of glycogen (Figure 1.11).

The principle of classification of GSD is based on the deficiency of an enzyme of glycogen metabolism and the type of tissue where it is absent. A total of twelve different GSD are currently known (Chandramouli et al., 2015; Curtino, Aon, 2019). These diseases are mainly manifested in episodes of hypoglycaemia and hepatomegaly, but their characteristic features are very variable.



Figure 1.11 — Glycogen biogenesis and inborn defects of its metabolism causing glycogenoses in humans (Curtino, Aon, 2019).

GSD of types I, m, K and n make up about 80% of all GSD of the liver (Ozen, 2007; Curtino, Aon, 2019). The best known of these are von Gierke's disease (type I) and Cori's disease (type m). The former is caused by the deficiency of G6Pase. The liver of patients with GSD type 1 is characterised by swollen hepatocytes; their cytoplasm stains weakly for glycogen but their nuclei containing large amounts thereof. Cori's disease results in the loss of amylo-1,6-glycosidase and causes excessive accumulation of poorly branched glycogen, which adversely affects hepatocyte function. GSD type m accounts for about 24% of all cases of GSD (Ozen, 2007).

1.5.2. Non-hereditary disorders of glycogen metabolism

In comparison with the low (0.002–0.005%) prevalence of hereditary hepatic disorders, the prevalence of acquired liver diseases, which are associated with severe abnormalities in glucose and glycogen metabolism, is very high. They are a significant health hazard and, in many countries, a threat to economy. For instance, in China liver diseases affect more than 300 million inhabitants (Wang et al., 2019). Among the diseases with a high prevalence rate, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) should be mentioned. About 20–25% of NAFLD cases are classified as non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, which often leads to the development of fibrosis, liver cirrhosis (LC) and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (Prikhodko et al., 2022).

However, the most severe liver diseases are chronic hepatitis (CH) of various aetiology and diabetes mellitus (DM). They have a global distribution and pose a great hazard to human health.

Chronic hepatitides, whose terminal stage is LC, are widespread diseases of humans and animals. They are mainly caused by excessive alcohol consumption and abuse of medications, as well as by infection, via blood, by various viruses from the family *Hepadnaviridae* (B, C, D, E etc.) (Mauss et al., 2015). There are approximately 2.3 billion carriers of these viruses worldwide (Jefferies et al., 2018). Alcoholic and "drug" hepatitis are thought to be the cause of LC in more than a half of CH patients, while hepatitides of viral aetiology account for 10–24% of LC cases (Sherlock, Dooley, 2002). LC is a severe, irreversible and often lethal disease. Its annual mortality rate is ~1.16 million (Asrani et al., 2014). It is believed that compensated LC often goes undetected for a long time, with up to 1% of the population possibly having "histological" cirrhosis (Schuppan, Afdhal, 2008).

Liver cirrhosis is associated with hepatocyte death, nodular transformation of the parenchyma and the formation of fibrous septa connecting the system of portal vessels with the system of hepatic veins. Its main diagnostic features are considered to be fibrosis of most the parenchyma, pronounced regeneration of hepatic tissue, unusually small portal tracts and an excessive number of central veins in the lobules as well as the impairment of the lobular structure of the organ (Schuppan, Adfhal, 2008; Okovity et al., 2010). It should be noted that

though the diseases of the liver may have a widely different aetiology, the main stages of its pathogenesis are similar (Table 1.2) (Okovity et al., 2022).

]	Diseases	Main pathogenetic mechanism		
Viral hepatitides	Acute and chronic HBV	Hepatocyte cytolysis is associated with T- killer activity (in the presence of HBsorAg and HBAg)		
1	Acute and chronic HCV	Direct cytotoxic effect of the virus;		
	Acute and chronic HDV	immune cytolysis		
Autoimmune hepatitis	Primary biliary cirrhosis	Autoantibody-dependent cytotoxicity: immune-mediated necrosis of hepatocytes or cholangiocytes		
Drug and alcohol- induced liver impairments	Fatty liver dystrophy without necrosis Acute hepatitis, steatohepatitis	Blockade of enzymes involved in the synthesis of lipoproteins, phospholipids, etc. Increased lipid peroxidation of hepatocyte membranes with accumulation of highly active forms and compounds of oxygen; blockade of enzymes involved in the detoxification function of the liver (cytochrome P-450 and other microsomal enzymes).		
Wilson-Konovalov dis	sease, haemochromatosis	Increased lipid peroxidation, activation of fibrogenesis		
Liver cirrhosis		Corresponds to the etiological factor; activation of fibrogenesis; autoantibody- dependent cytotoxicity; disruption of microsomal oxidation system		

Table 1.2 — Main pathogenetic mechanisms of acute and chronic liver diseases.

Continuous cell death during the development of the pathological process in the liver stimulates a regenerative response. Its main cellular mechanisms are proliferation, polyploidization and hypertrophy of hepatocytes (Fig. 1.12) (Goss, 1966; Bogdanova et al., 1990; Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 2005).



Figure 1.12 — Cellular mechanisms of liver regeneration (Okovity et al., 2022).

The leading role in the reparative growth of the liver affected by damaging agents of various aetiology is played by the processes associated with DNA synthesis: proliferation and polyploidization of hepatocytes. These processes lead to an increase in the number of cells and/or the number of genomes in the cells. The proliferative response of the hepatic parenchyma during chronic exposure to hepatotoxins is characterised by a lower probability of hepatocytes completing the cell cycle. Incomplete cell divisions in the parenchyma result in an increased ratio of the cells with polyploid nuclei. As a consequence, the average ploidy of hepatocytes increases significantly (Zavadskaya, 1989; Kudryavtsev et al., 1993). Under conditions of a chronic poisoning of rats by the hepatotropic poison CCl₄ hepatic, about 50% of the reparative growth of the liver is due to the proliferation of hepatocytes, 30%, to polyploidization of cells and 20%, to hypertrophy of their cytoplasm (Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 1996).

In humans, too, liver damage is accompanied by an increased proliferative activity of hepatocytes and their increased ploidy level. An increased ploidy of hepatocytes has been shown in case of CH and LC of various aetiology, fatty hepatosis, extrahepatic cholestasis and other human diseases of the liver (Koike et al., 1982; Kartashova, 1985; Fang et al., 1994, Melchiorri et al., 1994). However, polyploidization of hepatocytes of pathological human liver has its own characteristic features: in contrast to the liver of rats and mice, the ratio of $2c \times 2$ hepatocytes in the cirrhotic human liver increases with the progressing severity of the liver

41

impairment. At the same time, the ploidy of hepatocytes never increases as much as it does in rodents (Kudryavtsev et al., 1982; 1993).

Excessive growth of the fibrous tissue and the impairment of microcirculation and the lobular structure of the liver parenchyma reach the peak at the final stage of CH and LC. These processes lead to a decreased supply of hepatocytes with oxygen and substances necessary for their activity, causing disorders of numerous tissue-specific functions of the liver, including glucose and glycogen metabolism (Sherlock, Dooley, 2002).

The data on glycogen content in the liver of LC patients are contradictory (Owen et al., 1981; Kudryavtseva, 1987; Krähenbühl et al., 2003; Kudryavtseva et al., 1992). On the one hand, it has been shown that glycogen content in hepatocytes of patients with CH and LC after overnight fasting is several times higher than in normal hepatocytes and increases further with the increasing severity of the liver impairment (Kudryavtseva, 1987; Kudryavtseva et al., 1992). It has also been shown that the distribution of glycogen in the portal and the central zone of cirrhotic liver lobules differs from the norm and depends, in humans, on viral or alcoholic aetiology of the disease (Kudryavtseva et al., 2001b). On the other hand, glycogen content in the cirrhotic liver was found to be lower than in the normal one (Krähenbühl et al., 1991, 2003).

An increased level of glycogen in hepatocytes may be associated with changes in the activity of GS and GP, the key enzymes of glycogenesis and glycogenolysis. Some studies have shown a decrease in GS activity in experimental LC (Giardina et al., 1994; Krähenbühl et al., 1996). However, most data indicate that GS activity in the cirrhotic rat and human liver does not differ from the norm or is slightly lower (Krähenbühl et al., 1991; Kudryavtseva et al., 1992; Krähenbühl et al., 2003). Data on the rate of glycogenolysis in the cirrhotic liver are also scarce and contradictory. In some studies glycogen degradation was found to be faster in the cirrhotic liver than in the normal one (Krähenbühl et al., 1991), while in some other studies it found to be, on the contrary, slower (Petersen et al., 1999). These contradictions may be due to the fact that the material used in these studies was obtained from the liver of organisms with a different nutritional status.

Chronic liver impairment leads to significant changes not only in the glycogen metabolism in this organ but also in the carbohydrate metabolism in general. Several features of carbohydrate metabolism in cirrhotic patients such as tissue glucose intolerance (Mion et al., 1996), decreased GK activity in the liver (Aiston et al., 2001; Wu et al., 2005) and cell

resistance to insulin (Holstein et al., 2002; Garcia-Compean et al., 2009) are also characteristic of another common and dangerous disease, diabetes mellitus (DM). This disease is a major medical, economic and social problem in many countries. According to WHO, in 2021 the incidence of DM was more than 537 million people, which is about 10% of the world population aged 20–79 years, and it may reach 643 million by 2030 (Ogurtsova et al., 2017; IDF Diabetes Atlas 2021). Currently, DM ranks fourth in the list of lethal diseases, with diabetes type 2 being the most common (90–95% of cases). While genetic factors play a certain role, especially in case of DM type 1, the lifestyle, in particular, the diet and the level of physical activity, is much more important for the development of this disease (Xu et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2022).

Hyperglycaemia and an impaired hormonal status, which are characteristic of DM patients, are accompanied by disruptions of glycogen metabolism in the liver. However, there are few data on glycogen content in hepatocytes of DM patients, and the available information is contradictory. Using ¹⁴C-labelled precursors, it has been shown that glycogen synthesis is impaired in rats with experimental DM (Friedmann et al., 1970; Whitton, Hems, 1975). An increased contribution of the indirect pathway of glycogen synthesis (C₃-precursors \rightarrow G6P \rightarrow glycogen) as compared to the direct pathway (glucose \rightarrow G6P \rightarrow glycogen) was found in the liver of rats with DM (Giaccari, Rosetti, 1992). At the same time, studies on mice with hereditary and streptozotocin-induced diabetes did not reveal any differences in the glycogen content in the "diabetic" liver as compared to the control (Stearns, Benzo, 1977; Roesler et al., 1990).

Glycogen concentration was lower in the liver of patients with DM type 2 before meals than in the control (227±6 and 275±10 mmol/l of liver respectively, p < 0.001), while the total glycogen synthesis rate was lower after meals (Krssak et al., 2004). Similar data were obtained by Magnusson et al. (1992), who found that 4 h after a meal, the glycogen concentration was 131±20 mmol/L of liver in patients with DM and 282±60 mmol/L of liver in the control (p < 0.05).

The data on the activity of the key enzymes of glycogenesis and glycogenolysis in DM are also contradictory. On the one hand, it has been found that DM is accompanied by an increase in GS activity (Akatsuka et al., 1983; Niewoehner, Nuttall, 1986) and a decrease in GP activity (Gannon, Nuttall, 1990; Magnusson et al., 1992; Hundal et al., 2000). On the other hand, in the liver of db/db mice with hereditary DM, GS levels were not different from the

norm, while the total GP activity and the activity of GP*a* were increased; at the same time, some changes in the kinetic properties of these enzymes in mice with DM were found (Roesler et al., 1990). In addition, a lower GS activity in the liver of starved rats with DM as compared to the control rats were recorded (Golden et al., 1979).

1.6. Characterisation of hepatocyte population and glycogen metabolism during cirrhotic liver regeneration

The liver has a unique ability to regenerate after damage (Liozner, 1960; Taki-Eldin et al., 2012; Gilgenkrantz, Collin de l'Hortet, 2018). In experiments on rodents, complete liver weight recovery occurred within approximately one week after removal of 2/3 of the normal liver (Nadalin et al., 2004; Kele et al., 2012; Forbes, Newsome, 2016). However, the extent of parenchyma loss is much greater in the cirrhotic liver. In the course of the development of experimental cirrhosis, the weight of dead hepatocytes approximately corresponds to five times the weight of the liver in the beginning of the experiment (Peters, 1962; Brodsky, Uryvaeva, 1981; Macdonald et al., 1986).

Despite a high regenerative potential of the liver, its continuous exposure to various damaging agents leads to a situation when the rate of hepatocyte death becomes higher than the rate of the population recruitment. As a result, the remaining hepatocytes cannot carry out numerous specialised functions of the liver, and the disease eventually ends in the liver failure, which is often lethal.

In modern regenerative medicine, two main approaches are used to treat chronic liver damage: cell therapy and tissue or organ engineering. Clinical trials have shown that transplantation of hepatocytes obtained from various sources through the portal vein is a safe and effective procedure, however, it results only in short-term partial correction of metabolic disorders (Fox et al., 1998). The second approach is associated with the development of artificial liver tissues and their engraftment to patients. Implantable constructs of the liver tissue or the entire organ are among therapeutic approaches used in tissue engineering (Kholodenko et al., 2016; Camp et al., 2017; Stevens et al., 2017; Gilgenkrantz, Collin de l'Hortet, 2018). Though these methods seem promising, their practical outcome for the therapy of cirrhosis is still unclear.

It is broadly believed that there is currently no complete cure for LC and that the available treatments are ineffective in prevention of the liver failure. Liver transplantation is thought to be the only lifesaving option. The first human liver transplantation was performed in 1963 by the American surgeon Thomas Starzl. Since then, the number of such operations has been steadily increasing. For instance, 584 liver transplantations were performed in Russia in 2019. The success is considerable (~85% of patients survive for 1 year and about 70% live for 5 years or more), but there is a significant gap between supply and demand. In Russia, the average waiting time for transplantation is ~3.6 years, which means that at least 15% of patients die while waiting for surgery (Chistiakov, 2012; Hannoun, 2016). Besides the shortage of donor organs, liver transplantation is aggravated by other serious problems such as high costs, postoperative graft rejection and the need for long-term immune suppression (Duan et al., 2013). Therefore, it is imperative to continue the search for effective options of LC treatment besides transplantation. Whatever these approaches may be, it should be taken into account that the reversal of cirrhotic changes in the liver is only possible if the causes of the changes are also addressed. In addition, these approaches should be based on the fundamental knowledge of the cellular mechanisms of regeneration in the liver, since the course of liver diseases and their outcome largely depend on these mechanisms.

Although many scientists believe that after a certain point cirrhotic changes in the liver lead inevitably to the final lethal stage, several authors suggested that LC may in fact be reversible (Solopaev, 1963; Sarkisov, 1970). This optimistic viewpoint is based on the assumption that if the cause of the disease is eliminated, cirrhotic changes in the liver become reversible or at least may be normalised. This assumption is based on three premises. Firstly, it is the extremely high capacity of the mammalian liver to regenerate by compensatory hypertrophy. Even after several repeated partial resections of the liver, with the total weight of the removed tissue exceeding the initial one by 3–3.5 times, this organ can restore its preoperative weight quite quickly and completely (Monoszon, 1968; Bobyleva, Ladygina, 1975). Secondly, it is the enormous compensatory potential of the liver, which confirmed by experimental and clinical observations (Davydovsky, 1969; Sarkisov et al., 1983; Callea et al., 1991). Thirdly, it is the possibility of "reversing" the pathological changes, evidenced by experimental and clinical data that the liver can restore its morphological and functional parameters after cessation of the damaging effect. Excessive growth of connective tissue becomes reversible under certain conditions (Solopaev, 1963; Sarkisov, 1970). Dystrophic and

necrotic changes in the cirrhotic liver were also shown to be reversible, disappearing after the elimination of the pathogenic factor by means of intensive proliferation of hepatocytes (Kolpashchikova, Alymov, 1970; Sarkisov, 1974). In the case of experimental LC, a certain normalisation of the organ structure and function was observed after the elimination of hepatotoxic influence (Tarao et al., 1993; Mera et al., 1994; Szende et al., 1994).

The analysis of hepatocyte population kinetics 6 months after the cessation of the damaging effect showed that the average level of hepatocyte ploidy decreased, though remained 25% higher than in the control, while the protein content in rats that had had cirrhosis was comparable to the norm. Calculations show that post-cirrhotic regeneration of the liver is occurs almost exclusively by means of hepatocyte proliferation. At the same time, the structure and composition of the parenchyma cell population is not restored completely (Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 1996). It is also noteworthy that some functional indices of GP and GS, are restored faster and more completely after cessation of exposure of rats to CCl₄ (Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 1996).

Experimental data and clinical observations have shown that the reversibility of structural and pathological changes in the cirrhotic liver largely depends on the degree of the damage; in case of an advanced pathological process, normalisation of these changes is apparently impossible (Okazaki, Maruyama, 1985; Sarkisov et al., 1995). On the other hand, a poor reversibility of the cirrhotic changes may be due to inefficient regeneration of the pathological organ. Therefore, it can be assumed that the enhancement of the regeneration may promote a more complete restoration of the structure and function of the liver.

Reparative regeneration of the pathological liver is primarily aimed at the normalisation of stromal-parenchyma relationships and can proceed both by increasing the volume of the functioning parenchyma and by resorption of excessive collagen. Insufficiency of reparative regeneration may be a prerequisite for the pathological process in the organ becoming chronic (DuBois, 1990; LaBrecque, 1994). Therefore, it is important not only to find ways to stimulate regenerative activity but also to reveal objective indicators of the degree of restoration of the structure and function of pathologically altered liver after therapeutic impact.

Unfortunately, most studies of the regenerative potential and the degree of reversibility of pathological changes in the damaged liver focus on the dynamics of structural changes in the parenchyma. The characteristics of tissue-specific functional activity of the organ have hardly been studied, except for some indirect clinical indicators. At the same time, since it is hepatocytes that are responsible for the main functions of the liver, only studies made directly on these cells can provide a sound assessment of the completeness of the recovery of this organ after damage.

To sum up, the available data indicate that the structure and function of the liver does not completely revert back to normal even a long time after the elimination of the pathogenic impact, though the tissue structure and the cellular composition of the parenchyma can improve significantly. Therefore, further search for methods and conditions ensuring a successful therapy of the cirrhotic liver and a deep understanding of the mechanisms of maintenance of tissue-specific functions in the pathologically changed organ are extremely important research directions. In particular, this concerns the most important function of the liver: the synthesis and degradation of glycogen in the cells of its parenchyma.

1.7. Structure of glycogen molecules. α- and β-particles and their role in glycogen metabolism

Glycogen content in hepatocytes is determined not only by the rates of its synthesis and degradation but also by the number and size of its molecules (β -particles) in the cells. At the same time, the mechanisms of formation and degradation of glycogen molecules, the dynamics of their composition and number in normal and pathological conditions as well as the role of structural changes in glycogen molecules in the regulation of glycogenesis and glycogenolysis remain largely unknown.

In various types of mammalian cells, glycogen is usually diffusely distributed in the cytoplasm, often localised near SER and near mitochondria (Nielsen et al., 2010) and sometimes may apparently be present in the nuclei (Bennett et al., 2008; Levene, Goldin, 2010). Its amount in the cytoplasm of hepatocytes varies from 0.5 to 19%, depending on the satiety of the organism (Reith et al., 1973). In hepatocytes, glycogen is represented by two types of granules: β -particles (molecules) and α -particles consisting of several dozens of β -particles (Devos et al., 1983; Sullivan et al., 2014; Deng et al., 2016) (Fig. 1.13).



Figure 1.13 — Schematic representation of the three levels of glycogen structure (Li, Hu, 2020).

Glycogen is also present in skeletal muscles and some other tissues in the form of individual β -particles lying freely in the cytoplasm; their molecular weight is ~10⁷ Da (Wanson, Drochmans, 1968). As for α -particles, which are a complex of 20–40 covalently bound β -particles appearing on electron micrograms as "rosettes" of various sizes, they are characteristic only of hepatocytes (Fig. 1.14). The diameter of α -particles can reach 200–300 nm (Devos et al., 1983; Sullivan et al., 2010).



Figure 1.14 - Electronograms of glycogen particles isolated from the marine gastropod mollusc *Crepidula fornicata* (*a*), rat liver (*b*) and mouse liver (*c*). Molluscan glycogen mostly consists of β -particles with a diameter of about 20 nm, while rat liver glycogen mostly consists of α -particles (average diameter ~100 nm) *a*, *b* - Sullivan et al., 2010; *c* - Li, Hu, 2020.

The presence or absence of α -particles in the tissue may determine the order of glycogen degradation. It is thought that in the liver, where there are many α -particles, glycogen degradation follows a certain order, whereas in adipose tissue, where glycogen is mostly present in the form of β -particles, this process is random (Devos, Hers, 1980). It is assumed that two populations of glycogen particles exist in hepatocytes. The first population is represented by predominantly growing particles associated with GS. They are present in the cell when glycogen are low, and their number is limited. The second population consists of particles that have reached their maximum possible size; in principle, their number is unlimited (Devos et al., 1983).

The nature of the bonds holding β -particles together during the formation of α -particles is unclear. It was shown that they are not hydrogen or ionic bonds (Orrell, Bueding, 1964). Nakamura believed that β -particles were linked together by α -1,4-glycan chains (Nakamura, 1977). Treatment of glycogen with 2-mercaptoethanol or protease did not change the size and shape of the particles, which means that proteins do not seem to be responsible for holding β particles together, either (Hata et al., 1984). A study of the dependence of the average size of glycogen β -particles treated with dimethyl sulfoxide on the concentration of LiBr showed that the formation of α -particles did not involve hydrogen bonds or protein-protein interactions (Sullivan et al., 2010). It has recently been suggested that α -particles are formed and kept stable with the help of non-glycosylated glycogenin (Fig. 1.15) (Tan et al., 2018).



Figure 1.15 — Hypothetical model of assembly of α -particles. Glycogenin (primer) is present in the core of all β -particles (black colour). Non-glycosylated glycogenin dimers (red) non-covalently bind the terminal α -(1 \rightarrow 4) glucose on the surface of the β -particle, thus connecting the neighbouring β -particles and making α -particles stable (Tan et al., 2018).

The total glycogen content in the liver cells, i.e. the number of α - and β -particles, fluctuates within certain limits and depends on the physiological state of the organism (Devos et al., 1983; Rybicka, 1996; Sullivan et al., 2010). The data on the size distribution of glycogen particles in the liver of mice during its synthesis, degradation and during starvation obtained by exclusion chromatography were used to suggest the "recycling" model of glycogen metabolism (Sullivan et al., 2014).

Food intake increases the level of blood glucose, and it becomes necessary to synthesise a large amount of glycogen. According to the authors of the model, the formation at this time (early and late synthesis stages) of β -particles, which are smaller than α -particles, increases the surface/volume ratio, increasing the affinity of GP*a* to glycogen and facilitating the incorporation of glucose into glycogen (Fig. 1.16). During glycogen synthesis, the α -particles remaining from the previous diurnal cycle dissociate into individual β -particles. If this were not the case, those α -particles that did not degrade during one diurnal cycle would continue to grow during the next synthesis phase, and their average size would become progressively larger with each day. However, this is not observed (Sullivan et al., 2014).

In the postabsorptive period, after glycogen synthesis is complete, glucose is slowly slow released into the blood. This process is controlled by means of the aggregation of β -particles into larger α -particles (Fig. 1.16). Glycogen degradation (early and late breakdown stages) mostly affects relatively small β -particles, while larger α -particles are affected to a lesser extent (Sullivan et al., 2014). This conclusion is supported by the fact that GP is more active in glycogen with smaller molecular weight (Stetten, Stetten, 1958).



Figure 1.16 — Changes in glycogen structure in the liver of mice within 24 hours and during starvation (Bezborodkina et al., 2018).

The data on the incorporation of labelled glucose into glycogen also indicate that the metabolic rate of larger particles is lower than that of small particles. Degradation of α -particles at the stage of "early synthesis" is accompanied by the appearance of β -particles. This fact suggests that the surface area of glycogen molecules plays an important role in controlling their degradation (Geddes, Stratton, 1977).

It is interesting that in a fasting organism glycogen particles are small and have a low dispersion in size (Fig. 1.17). This circumstance possibly plays an energy-saving role. The *de novo* formation of glycogen molecules after food intake would require much greater energy expenditure and more time than the preservation of small "elementary" glycogen molecules, to which a large number of new glucose residues can be rapidly attached (Sullivan et al., 2014).



Figure 1.17 — Size distribution of glycogen particles in the liver of mice after 16 h of fasting. The dotted line separates glycogen peaks from contamination peaks (Sullivan et al., 2014).

The characteristics of α -particles may differ not only in the normal state but also in case of various diseases. For example, the ability to form α -particles in hepatocytes is lower in diabetic mice than in the control animals. At the same time, α -particles of diabetic mice are more resistant to degradation (Gilbert, Sullivan, 2014). It was also found that the glycogen of healthy mice has a higher proportion of large particles with a greater number of tightly bound β -particles than the glycogen of diabetic mice (Sullivan et al., 2011).

More than 160 years have passed since the discovery of glycogen in 1857. During this time, conisiderable progress has been made in the study of its metabolism (Roach, 2002; Jensen, Richter, 2012; Zois, Harris, 2016; Petersen et al., 2017). In particular, the structure of the polysaccharide part of glycogen molecules has been described in detail. The description was based on the results of chemical analyses determining the chain length of glucose residues,

the chain branching pattern and the molecular weight distribution of glycogen isolated from tissues of different organisms (Gunja-Smith et al., 1970; Goldsmith et al. 1982; Geddes, 1985; Melendez-Hevia et al., 1993; Melendez et al., 1997) as well as the electron microscopic data on the size of β -particles (Wanson, Drochmans, 1968).

The molecular structure of glycogen is based on D-glucose residues linked by α -(1 \rightarrow 4) glycosidic bonds in a chain branching as a result of the formation of α -(1 \rightarrow 6) bonds. Analyses of glycogen isolated from various mammalian tissues have shown that the chain length of glucose residues varies little, making up, on average, ~13 residues (Melendez-Hevia et al., 1993; Melendez et al., 1997).

To date, there are two main structural models of glycogen: Meyer-Bernfeld model (Meyer, Bernfeld, 1940) and Whelan model (Whelan, 1971). According to Meyer and Bernfeld, the chains of glucose residues grow evenly, and the non-reducing ends of all the chains are located on the surface of the molecule. In Whelan model, too, the total number of A-chains (unbranched chains) is approximately the same as that of B-chains (branched chains), but only A-chains are located on the surface of the molecule. Whelan also allowed for the presence of "hidden" A-chains in the glycogen molecule. Later, it was confirmed that the number of unbranched and branched chains in the glycogen molecule was approximately the same, but no "hidden" A-chains inside the molecule were found (Goldsmith et al., 1982). According to Whelan, each B-chain is joined by two other chains and, as branching progresses, the number of the chains increases exponentially (Fig. 1.18) (Bezborodkina et al., 2018).



Figure 1.18 — Glycogen structure according to Whelan model. The complete glycogen molecule (β -particle) is spherical, with 12 concentric tiers of glucose residues. A self-glycosylating protein glycogenin (Gn) is in the centre of the particle (Bezborodkina et al., 2018).

All unbranched chains are located on the outer tier^{*)} of the β -particle (Goldsmith et al., 1982; Roach et al., 2012). As a result, the number of chains on tier **n** is twice larger than the number of chains on tier **n** – **1**, while the number of outer A-chains on the tier furthest from the centre of the particle is equal to the sum of all B-chains located inside the particle ($2^n = \Sigma 2^{n-1}$). In this case, one would expect GP to remove half of the glucose residues contained in the A-chains in the outer tier of the β -particle during each breakdown cycle. It turned out, however, that GP removes less than 50% of the glucose residues of the outer tier, leaving a stub of 4 glucose residues, which is apparently too small for enzyme action (Walker, Whelan, 1960). Nevertheless, the structure of the glycogen molecule allows GP to rapidly introduce into metabolic turnover about a third ($50\% \times 9/13 = 34.6\%$) of all glucose residues in the molecule even without the participation of the debranching enzyme (Shearer, Graham, 2002; Graham et al., 2010).

Mathematical modelling of the β -particle structure makes it possible to predict its maximum size, beyond which its further growth is impossible. If a glycogen molecule contained not 12 but 13 tiers, the density of glucose residues on the surface of the molecule would be so high as to cause steric hindrance to the functioning of catalytic sites of GS and GP (Goldsmith et al., 1982; Melendez-Hevia et al., 1993). A similar idea was also suggested in one of the earlier studies (Madsen, Cori, 1958). It has been concluded that the size of the glycogen molecule is regulated by the characteristics of its own structure.

Thus, the 12-tier structure of the β -particle appears to be optimal for the following reasons: the maximum amount of glucose is stored in the least possible volume; a large number of non-reducing ends on the outer tier allows GP to break glycogen down at a high rate even without the participation of the branching enzyme, providing the cells with the required "fuel" as quickly as possible.

Theoretically, the structure of glycogen molecules can be described using only three parameters: the degree of branching (r), the number of tiers (t), and the number of glucose residues in each chain (g_c) (Table 1.3) (Bezborodkina et al., 2018).

^{*)} A tier is a spherical space occupied by chains of glucose residues formed by sequential branching of B-chains and located equidistantly from the particle centre. The 1st tier corresponds to the space occupied by the primer chain formed by self-glycosylation of glycogenin; the 2nd tier corresponds to the space occupied by two chains of residues formed by branching of the primer chain; the 3rd tier comprises 4 chains formed by branching of two chains of glucose residues on the previous (2nd) tier, etc.

Tier	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
Number of residues glucose/tier	13	26	52	104	208	416	832	1664	3328	6656	13312	26624
Number of chains/tier	1	3	7	15	31	63	127	255	511	1023	2047	4095
Total number of glucose residues	13	39	91	195	403	819	1651	3315	6643	13299	26611	53235

Table 1.3 — Distribution of glucose residues in β -particle of glycogen.

The values of these parameters in calculations of the structure of glycogen molecules are: r = 2 (Melendez et al., 1997), $t_{max} = 12$ (Melendez et al., 1998) and $g_c = 13$ (Melendez-Hevia et al., 1993). These values are very similar in organisms at different evolutionary levels, from bacteria to humans (Melendez-Hevia et al., 1993; Melendez et al., 1997). This similarity indicates, on the one hand, that glycogen structure is an ancient phenomenon, which has been "polished" by evolution for hundreds of millions of years, and, on the other hand, that the theoretical ideas about the glycogen structure underlying these calculations are fairly reliable.

Based on the available data, we can conclude that a fully formed glycogen molecule (β -particle) has the following structural parameters:

- 42-44 nm in diameter (Wanson and Drochmans, 1968);

- molecular weight ~ 10^7 Da (Wanson, Drochmans, 1968; Geddes, 1986); total number of glucose residues ~ 55000 ($10^7/180 - Mr$ glucose);

- ratio of the number of A-chains to the number of B-chains ~ 1:1 (Marshall, 1974);

- consists of 12 tiers of glucose residues (Melendez et al., 1997; Goldsmith et al., 1982; Melendez-Hevia et al., 1993) connected by α -1-4- and α -1-6- glycosidic bonds. The latter are uniformly distributed within the particle and account for 7–10% of all glycosidic bonds in the molecule (Shearer, Graham, 2002); the distance between tiers is ~ 1.9 nm (Goldsmith et al., 1982; Shearer, Graham, 2004);

- contains ~ 4095 chains of glucose residues (at the 12th tier, ~2048 A-chains), each consisting of 13 glucose residues (Gunja-Smith et al., 1970; Melendez-Hevia et al., 1993; Melendez et al., 1997). Each of the inner B-chains has two branching points located at least 4 residues apart (Goldsmith et al., 1982; Whelan, 1971).

Since glycogen does not have a crystalline structure, it cannot be studied by X-ray analysis. Nevertheless, it is known that polymeric glucose can, in principle, form helical structures. A heptamer of glucose can form a left-handed helix with 6.5 glucose residues per turn and a rise of 2.4 Å per residue (Goldsmith et al., 1982), while a cyclic polymer of 26 glucose residues can form a double helix (Gessler et al., 1999). Theoretically, the outer A-chains in the β -particle of glycogen should contain 13 glucose residues, but in reality this is unlikely because of the constant and rapid turnover of glycogen. For example, the average length of the outer chains in glycogen from human liver is 7.7 glucose residues (Mercier, Whelan, 1970). Therefore, it cannot be ruled out that helical structures may be present in large glycogen molecules with a strong chain branching.

It has been suggested that the β -particle can be consider as a fractal owing to repeatability, self-control and self-similarity of glycogen structure at each level of its formation (Melendez et al., 1999). The fractal structure makes possible a rapid synthesis and degradation of the molecule and provides a simple mechanism for the regulation of metabolic flows (Melendez-Hevia et al., 1994). An important consequence of the fractal structure of glycogen is the stability of its molecule. The spherical shape promotes the maximum potential energy at the surface, in the form of glucose residues, maximises the number of hydrogen bonds on the surface and, as a result, enhances still further the stability of the molecule (Melendez et al., 1999).

Traditionally, glycogen is referred to as a polysaccharide or glycan. However, in addition to glucose residues, glycogen contains numerous proteins involved in its metabolism, including proteins performing regulatory and scaffolding functions (Fig. 1.19).



Figure 1.19 — Proteins of β -particle: enzymes of glycogen metabolism (purple) — glycogenin (GN), glycogen synthase (GS), glycogen phosphorylase (GP) and debranching enzyme (DBE); protein kinases (red) — phosphorylase kinase (PK) and AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK); phosphatases (green) — catalytic subunit type 1 (PP1c) and laforin (LF); PP1-glycogen associated subunits (blue) — R_{GL}, G_L and PTG; Stbd1 protein associated with cell membrane. Phosphorylase kinase, Stbd1 and R_{GL} are associated with the membrane (Roach et al., 2012).

Under normal conditions, the pool of proteins comprising the β -particle can account for up to 80 % of its total weight (Shearer, Graham, 2004). Glycogen particles contain glycogenin and low molecular weight proteins participating in its glycosylation, GS and GP, DBE, various kinases and phosphatases, and actin (Roach, 2002; Shearer, Graham, 2004; Roach et al., 2012). Laforin (phosphatase) and malin (ubiquitin ligase E3) are also associated with glycogen molecules. They form a functional complex and play an important role in the pathogenesis of the neurodegenerative Lafora disease (Garyaly et al., 2014). A newly discovered Stbd1 protein (genetonin 1) is required for the attachment of glycogen to intracellular membranes (Jiang et al., 2011) and its transport into lysosomes (Sun et al., 2016). Proteomic analysis of glycogen from mouse and rat liver confirmed that most of the proteins mentioned above were present in β -particles (Stapleton et al., 2010). The absence of BE was a curious fact. The reason probably is that it interacts with the glycogen molecule without forming a strong bond and can be easily separated from it (Caudwell, Cohen, 1980).

Enzymes work at the surface of the β -particle, that is, at its outermost tier. It contains about a half of the glucose residues contained in the molecule, and about one third of them are available for the action of GP without the involvement of DBE. This feature of the glycogen molecule organisation allows a rapid provision of energy to the cells. Experiments with the introduction of ¹⁴C-glucose have shown that the outermost tier is always more radioactive than

56

the inner tiers of the particle, indicating that the surface of this polysaccharide is the first to be involved in the turnover (Stetten, Stetten, 1954).

Unfortunately, there are almost no data on the number, interactions and dynamics of different proteins on the surface of the β -particle. It is assumed that up to 40–50 dimers of GP may be located on the surface of a fully formed particle (Madsen, Cori, 1958). They can break glycogen down very fast due to the presence of numerous non-reducing ends in its molecule (Goldsmith et al., 1982). Traditionally, one glycogen molecule is thought to contain one GS molecule (Roach et al., 2001), but there is evidence that the β -particle can be associated with several GS molecules (Prats et al., 2009). The number of GS molecules probably increases with the growth of the particle.

Glycogen is supposed to store the maximum amount of glucose in the smallest volume (Melendez-Hevia et al., 1993), but its polymeric structure imposes certain geometric constraints on the enzymes involved in glucose incorporation and release. Mathematical modelling has shown that the normal structure of glycogen particles during their growth and degradation can be maintained under the following conditions: (1) GS should operate preferentially on inner chains, attacking non-reducing ends; (2) the movement of GS from the point of attack should be much faster than that of GP. Otherwise, the growth of glycogen particles will lead to excessive and incorrect branching of glucose residues (Figure 1.20) (DiNuzzo, 2013).



Figure 1.20 - Effect of glycogen synthase (GS) affinity to inner chains on the structural homogeneity of the glycogen molecule. (*a*) Without steric constraints on GS, the glycogen molecule becomes heterogeneous. (*b*) If GS operates predominantly on inner chains, the structure of the glycogen molecule becomes homogeneous. Both forms contain the same number of glucose residues (DiNuzzo, 2013).

The fact that different enzymes of glycogen synthesis and degradation have a different accessibility to glucose residues results in a faster turnover of the outer regions of the glycogen molecule as compared to the inner ones. The spatial constraints on GS and GP activity are thought to be optimal for the formation of large amounts of glucose within a short time and a rapid replenishment of glycogen stores. At the same time, as shown by isotope labelling, the attachment and detachment of glucose residues follow the last-in-first-out principle (Stetten, Stetten, 1954; Devos, Hers, 1979; Elsner et al., 2002).

It was established using chemical methods that two fractions of glycogen were present in tissues: lyoglycogen and desmoglycogen. The former is easily soluble in trichloroacetic acid (TCA), while the latter is insoluble (or poorly soluble) in TCA but can be extracted by treating the tissues with strong alkali^{*)} (Willstatter, Rhodewald, 1934; Bloom et al., 1951; Weisberg, Rodbard, 1958). The presence of two glycogen fractions in tissues in situ was demonstrated in histo- and cytochemical work using PAS (Periodic Acid-Schiff) reaction (Kugler, Wilkinson, 1961; Kudryavtseva et al., 1974). Desmoglycogen, unlike lyoglycogen, was thought to be bound to proteins (Prins, Jeanlos, 1948). Later, however, it has been suggested that desmoglycogen is an artefact (Kits Van Heijningen, Kemp, 1955). A similar conclusion was reached by Rosenfeld and Popova (1989), who showed that glycogen could be almost completely isolated the liver by multiple repeated extractions with TCA, without resorting to the use of alkali. The authors suggested that it would be more correct to speak of "easily" and "poorly" extractable glycogen fraction (Rosenfeld, Popova, 1989). However, the aim of these works was not to study the structure of glycogen molecules but to extract the maximum amount of glycogen from tissues. Besides, the conclusion about "easily" and "poorly" extractable glycogen confirms rather than disproves the hypothesis about the existence of two glycogen fractions and indicates that glycogen may be bound or not bound to proteins.

An important milestone in the development of ideas about the spatial structure of glycogen molecules was the discovery of two forms of glycogen differing in the ratio of proteins and polysaccharides. One form was a "classical" macromolecular glycogen containing $\sim 0.35\%$ of glycogenin, while the other form (p400) was represented by glycogen in which

^{*)} Note: in the works of different authors, glycogen fraction soluble in TCA has been referred to as lyoglycogen, easily accessible fraction and macroglycogen, while the fraction extractable only by KOH has been referred to as desmoglycogen, poorly accessible fraction or proglycogen. The indicators used to assess the content or concentration of fractions in tissues after treatment with TCA or KOH were also different: the amount of glucose extracted, the molecular weight of the extracted product, or the intensity of staining. However, despite the differences in terminology and methods of determining glycogen fractions in tissues, it has always been emphasised that different sensitivity of the fractions to TCA is based on differences in the interactions of glucose residues with proteins.

glycogenin content reached ~10% (37 kDa/400 kDa), owing to which this form was not precipitated by TCA (Lomako et al., 1991). Since the p400 fraction was converted into macromolecular glycogen *in vitro*, it was named proglycogen (PG). It has a low molecular weight (~ 4×10^5 Da) and is a stable intermediate form on the pathway of formation of macroglycogen (MG), whose molecular weight is ~ 10^7 Da (Lomako et al., 1991) (Figure 1.21).



Figure 1.21 – Model of biogenesis of proglycogen and macroglycogen (Bezborodkina et al., 2018).

The strong difference in the molecular weight of MG and PG suggested that only the four outer tiers (9–12th) of its molecule, which represent MG, participate in glycogen metabolism, while the eight inner tiers (1–8th), i.e. PG, are uninvolved (Melendez et al., 1997). This difference in the metabolism of the outer and the inner tiers appeared a plausible mechanism, since the content of the "fuel" in the eight inner tiers makes up ~ 5% of the total amount of glucose residues in a complete glycogen molecule.

The ratio of PG and MG varies greatly depending on the tissue type. In skeletal muscles and heart, PG makes up most of the glycogen, while in the liver its content is small (Lomako et al., 1993). Therefore, the dynamics and physiological role of PG and MG in these tissues has received considerable attention. Theoretically, during the resynthesis of glycogen in cells its reserves can be replenished in two ways:

1) by forming new glycogen granules;

2) by increasing the size of the already available glycogen granules, i.e. by increasing the number of tiers in β -particles and the degree to which the tiers are filled with glucose residues (Fig. 1.22).



Figure 1.22 — Model of glycogen accumulation in hepatocytes (Bezborodkina et al., 2018).

The first pathway assumes that the number of β -particles in the tissue remains constant, they only become larger. In this case, the synthesis of new glycogenin molecules is unnecessary for increasing the glycogen content in the cells. This pathway should eventually lead to a decrease in the ratio of PG and an increase in the ratio of MG. The second pathway implies the formation of new glycogen granules. It should be accompanied by an increasing ratio of PG and a slow accumulation or an unchanged ratio of MG. This pathway obviously requires additional synthesis of glycogenin (Bezborodkina et al., 2018).

Since glycogenin is the basis of the entire polysaccharide structure of the glycogen molecule, it can be assumed that its content will determine the number of glycogen particles and the dynamics of its total content in cells. Indeed, several studies have shown that the level of glycogenin mRNA increases 2–3 times after prolonged muscle exertion and during the first hours of the recovery (Kraniou et al., 2000; Shearer et al., 2005). During a five-hour muscle recovery period, its amount increases by 70% (Arkinstall et al., 2004; Shearer et al., 2005). These data suggest that glycogenin degrades during exercise and is synthesised during rest. However, in another study, no changes in glycogenin content in the muscles during prolonged exercise and subsequent recovery were found (Marchand et al., 2007).

It has been shown that during the first 0–30 min of the recovery phase of human and rat skeletal muscle fibres, glycogen is mainly formed owing to PG, while MG synthesis starts only after several hours, when glycogen concentration reaches a rather high level (Adamo, Graham, 1998; Wilson, 2009; Granlund et al., 2011). It appears that the rate of glycogen degradation is

60

also the highest for PG, while MG catabolism begins to predominate only after the rate of glycogenolysis decreases (Graham et al., 2001). There is evidence that in the early stages of muscle recovery from exercise, glycogen synthesis proceeds through the formation of new molecules. When their number reaches a critical threshold, they begin to increase in size and the contribution of MG to the replenishment of glycogen stores becomes noticeable (Graham et al., 2001; Shearer et al., 2005).

However, the authors of another study arrived at an opposite conclusion (James et al., 2008). Investigating the dynamics of TCA-soluble and TCA-resistant glycogen in skeletal muscles of rats during starvation and at different stages after refeeding, they concluded that the greatest contribution to the change in the content of total glycogen was made by the TCA-soluble fraction, i.e. MG. The level of TCA-resistant glycogen (i.e. PG) remained stable or increased only slightly under these conditions (James et al., 2008).

To sum up, our current knowledge about the spatial structure of glycogen molecules is mainly based on the results of chemical analysis, the data on the size of α - and β -particles obtained by electron microscopy or exclusion chromatography and on theoretical ideas. A general idea about the structure of the β -particle was obtained with the help of mathematical description and modelling of the glycogen molecule, the determination of its approximate dimensions, the length of the chains and the branching patterns of glucose residues, the identification of proteins within the particle, the establishment of the order of attachment and detachment of glucose residues. However, while providing valuable information on the structure of glycogen molecules, all the methods mentioned above have fundamental drawbacks. Classical chemical methods and exclusion chromatography analyse glycogen isolated from tissues, and there is always a danger of artefacts due to disruption of the original structure of huge glycogen molecules (Devos et al., 1983; Roach, 2002). Electron microscopy makes it possible to study α - and β -particles of glycogen directly in cells and tissues and to obtain information on their geometrical parameters but not to "look inside" the particles. However, the main setback of the modern views about the spatial structure of the glycogen molecule is their static character. They cannot provide information about the dynamics of glycogen under various normal and pathological conditions. This means that the search for methods of studying the structure of glycogen molecules directly in tissues and/or individual cells is a promising research direction.

CHAPTER 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS OF RESEARCH

2.1. Objects of research

2.1.1. Experimental animals

Our studies were mainly made on 350 white breedless male rats weighing 120–180 g at the start and 250–300 g in the end of the experiment. In addition, 50 Wistar male rats weighing 180–200 g and 12 male mice (lines C57BL/6N and OE-NPY^{DbH}) weighing \sim 35 g were also used in the experiments.

Rats were obtained from the "Rappolovo" animal breeding station (Leningrad Region, Russia), while mice were provided by the Institute of Biomedicine of the University of Turku (Turku, Finland). All animals were kept under standard light regime conditions: 12-h light/dark cycle. Experimental animals had *ad libitum* access to water and standard food for rats (Laboratorkorm, Moscow, Russia; GOST 2874-82) or mice (SDS, Essex, UK).

Obtaining experimental liver cirrhosis (LC). White breedless rats were divided into two groups in the beginning of the experiment. Rats of one group were exposed to chronic inhalation of carbon tetrachloride vapour (CCl₄) with a concentration of 0.05 g/l in a closed chamber for 20 min 3 times a week for 6 months (the experimental group). Rats of the other group were unexposed for the same time and served as the control (the control group). In order to exclude the effect of acute exposure to CCl₄ on the liver, all further experiments were performed one week after the cessation of the treatment (Kudryavtseva et al., 1999).

Obtaining material for the study of hepatocyte populations of the normal and the cirrhotic liver at different stages of the food cycle. To study prolonged fasting and absorptive period of the food cycle, 27 rats from the control group and 27 rats from the experimental group were starved for 48 h (water *ad libitum*) and then orally administered a 30% glucose solution at a rate of 4 g/kg mass. Immediately after the end of starvation and 10, 20, 30, 45, 60, 75, 90 and 120 min after glucose administration, the animals were decapitated. The material (blood and liver pieces) obtained from each animal was used for cytophotometric and biochemical studies.

To study the postabsorptive period of the food cycle, rats from the control and the experimental group were decapitated after overnight starvation. The obtained material (blood

and liver pieces) was used for histological, cytophotometric, electron-microscopic and biochemical studies.

Different methods LC treatment in rats:

1) To determine the level of spontaneous regeneration of the cirrhotic liver, rats were unexposed to any additional treatment for 6 months after the end of the hepatotropic exposure to CCl_4 (WM group);

2) During the 1st, the 2nd, the 4th and the 6th month, along with the exposure to CCl_4 three times a week, the rats were injected 2-ethylthiobenzimidazole hydrobromide (bemithyl) at a rate of 12 mg/kg body mass (BM group) (Kudryavtseva et al., 2002b; Kudryavtseva et al., 2003);

3) After the cessation of the toxic effect of CCl_4 the rats underwent partial hepatectomy according to Higgins and Anderson (1931) under ether anaesthesia with extirpation of 2/3 of the liver (PH group) (Kudryavtseva et al., 1998);

4) During 3 months after the last session of CCl_4 treatment the rats were daily given, in addition to the standard food, an aqueous solution of a mixture of fructose (150 g/l) and glucose (50 g/l) in the ratio 1:1 (CD group) (Kudryavtseva et al., 1999);

5) After cessation of the 6-month exposure to CCl_4 the rats were daily (once a day) given intramuscular injections: during 3 days, of human chorionic gonadotropin 170–200 units/animal together with 1% ATP solution at a concentration of 10mg/kg mass (Solopaeva et al., 1967), and during the next 20 days, collalysine (GIPKh, St. Petersburg) at the rate of 5 KU/animal (HCG group) (Kudryavtseva et al., 2001a);

6) Every day for 5 days after the cessation of the toxic exposure, the rats were intraperitoneally injected dipeptide Lys-Glu (preparation "Vilon", St. Petersburg Institute of Bioregulation and Gerontology, Russian Federation patent no. 2080120, 1997) at a concentration of 1.7 mg/kg mass (Vilon group) (Kudryavtseva et al., 2000);

Material from each animal for histological, cytophotometric and biochemical studies after the last session of CCl₄ poisoning was obtained after: 7 days (BM group); 2 weeks and 1 month (Vilon group); 1, 3 and 6 months (in PH, CD, HCG, WM groups).

Same-aged rats, not poisoned with CCl_4 and not receiving any treatment, were used as the control for all other groups. The material was taken from the control rats at the same time intervals as from the rats of the experimental group.

The general scheme of the experiment for white breedless rats is presented in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1 — Schematic of experimental procedures for white breedless rats.

Obtaining experimental toxic hepatitis in Wistar rats. For 4 weeks, the rats were daily injected intragastrically a 50% solution of CCl_4 in vaseline oil at a rate of 0.2 ml/kg and received 5% ethanol as drink (Beinert, Albracht, 1982; Ischenko, Michurina, 2005; Okovity et al., 2007). One week after the last CCl_4 injection the rats were killed using thiopental anaesthesia. Same-aged rats unexposed to the hepatotropic effects were used as a control. The livers of animals of the control and the experimental group were used to obtain the primary culture of hepatocytes (Baidyuk et al., 2009).

Methods of therapy of prediabetes type 2 in mice. Transgenic homozygous male OE-NPY^{DbH} mice (Ruohonen et al., 2008; Vähätalo et al., 2015) with the metabolic phenotype of hepatosteatosis and prediabetic state (Vähätalo et al., 2015; Ailanen et al., 2017) were used to investigate the therapeutic effects of metformin. Male C57BL/6N mice (wild type, WT) served as controls. From the age of 17 weeks, the mice received metformin (Enzo Life Sciences LTD, Exeter, UK) with drinking water at a rate of 300 mg/kg/day or water without metformin for 4 weeks. Drinking bottles were changed twice weekly and water consumption was measured to confirm drug intake (Ailanen et al., 2018). At an age of 20 weeks, the mice were subjected to the glucose-tolerance test by intraperitoneal injection of glucose at a concentration of 1 g/kg body mass (Vähätalo et al., 2015) and then were sedated using CO₂. Their liver was extracted and used for cytophotometric studies.

All experimental procedures were performed in accordance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10498.html), the Directive of the Council of European Communities (https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/cc3a8ccb-5a30-4b6e-8da8-b13348caeb0c/), and ARRIVE (https://www.nc3rs.org.uk/) and ICLAS (https://iclas.org/) guidelines.

2.1.2. Clinical material

We used the material of liver puncture biopsies from 114 patients treated in the Clinic for Internal Medicine no. 2 of the St. Petersburg State Medical Academy named after I.I. Mechnikov. Biopsies were obtained on an empty stomach (after overnight fasting) at the same time (from 10:00 to 12:00) by Mangini method. Patients in the control group had no clinical, morphological, immunochemical and biochemical signs of the liver damage. Patients with chronic viral hepatitis (CVH) and liver cirrhosis (LC) received basic treatment including enterosorbents, B and K vitamins and detoxification solutions. Nine patients with CVH and nine patients with LC were additionally treated with 2-ethylthiobenzimidazole hydrobromide (bemithyl) in addition to the basic treatment. The drug (0.25 g) was administered twice a day after meals in three short courses of five days, with breaks of two days between the course (Kudryavtseva et al., 2002a). The distribution of patients across groups is presented in Table 2.1.

no.	Diagnosis	Total number of patients (male/female)	Average age, years	Average duration of the disease, years
1	Conditional norm (control group)	29 (20/9)	44.0±3.6	-
2	Chronic hepatitis	35 (22/13)	42.1±4.9	5.7±1.2
3	Liver cirrhosis	33 (28/5)	49.9±5.1	6.8±1.3
4	Diabetes mellitus type 2	12 (12/0)	54.5±4.0	-
5	Diabetes mellitus type 2 and liver cirrhosis	5 (5/0)	49.6±7.5	-

Table 2.1 — Characteristics of the patients who participated in the study.

Biochemical blood analysis was performed for all the patients. It included determination of the concentration of glucose and total bilirubin (TB) and the activity of alanine aminotransferase (AlAT), aspartate aminotransferase (AsAT) and alkaline phosphatase (ALP). The puncture biopsy material was used for histological, cytophotometric and biochemical analysis. The study was conducted in accordance with the 1989 Helsinki Declaration of the World Medical Association (https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/1760318). All patients consented to participation in the study, including the publication of its results.

2.2. Methods of making preparations

2.2.1. Preparations of primary culture of rat hepatocytes for detection of functioning mitochondria in living cells

Isolated rat hepatocytes were obtained according to the modified Seglen method (Seglen, 1976). For this purpose, the liver was perfused *in situ* through the portal vein for 5 min with a buffer (pH 7.4) heated to 37°C containing 8.3 g/L NaCl, 0.5 g/L KCl, 2.4 g/L HEPES, 2 g/L glucose and 5.5 ml/L 1 M NaOH with the help of a micropump. The liver was then extracted and placed in a sterile Petri dish in the same buffer solution. Further manipulations were performed under sterile conditions in a laminar box (Baidyuk et al., 2009). The obtained monolayer of hepatocytes was incubated on coverslips with a layer of 0.1% gelatine for 1 day in Eagle medium with rhodamine 123 (10 μ g/ml) (Sigma, USA) for 30 min in an atmosphere with 5% CO₂ at 37°C (Johnson et al., 1980). The incubation medium was

then drained, the coverslips were covered with pure Needle medium and incubated for 5 min under the same conditions. This procedure was repeated twice. To preserve the viability of hepatocytes during microscopic analysis, the coverslips were placed on a slide with a previously prepared sealed chamber filled with a heated culture medium. Fluorescence of hepatocytes was excited by 480 nm light, and their mitochondria were qualitatively analysed using a Leica TCS SL confocal microscope (Leica Microsystems Inc., Germany) (Baidyuk et al., 2009).

2.2.2. Preparation of smears of isolated hepatocytes

Smears of isolated hepatocytes made on standard slides were used for cytophotometry. For this purpose, pieces of rat liver (~2 mm³) and human liver biopsies (~1 mm³) were placed for 10 min in phosphate buffer I (pH 8.0) (475 mL 0.066 M Na₂HPO₄ x 2H₂O, 25 mL 0.067 M KH₂PO₄, 500 mL 0.15 M sucrose), then transferred for 15 min into 0.067 M K, Na-phosphate buffer II (pH 7.4). After that, the liver pieces were taken with tweezers and gently shaken in a drop of buffer, and the resulting cell suspension was smeared on the surface of the slide using a quartz glass with a ground edge. Immediately afterwards, smears of isolated hepatocytes on slides were fixed at room temperature with 100% methanol, air-dried for 3–5 min and stored in a dark place (Kudryavtseva et al., 1983; Bezborodkina et al., 2021b).

To study the kinetics of hepatocytes staining with Schiff's reagents, smears of isolated hepatocytes from the liver of fed rats of the control group were prepared on coverslips according to the method described above.

2.2.3. Histological preparations

Pieces of rat liver (~4 mm³) and human liver biopsies (~2 mm³) were fixed in 10% neutral formalin for at least 48 h at 20–22 °C and embedded in paraffin blocks. Histological sections ~5 μ m thick were cut using a Reichert microtome (Austria).

To detect connective tissue, the preparations were stained with van Gieson picrofuchsin (Biovitrum, Russia) or with picrosirius, a 0.01% solution of sirius red F3BA (Bio-Optica Milano SPA, Italy) in saturated aqueous solution of picric acid, for 1 hour. After staining, the preparations were rinsed in 30% acetic acid, dehydrated in an ascending ethanol series and

embedded in Canadian balsam. Rat liver sections were additionally stained with Mayer's hematoxylin-eosin (Chestnova et al., 2015; Bezborodkina et al., 2021b).

Images of sections stained with hematoxylin-eosin, hematoxylin-picrofuchsin and picrosirius were obtained using an Axiovert 200M microscope (Carl Zeiss, Germany) $(10\times/0.30, 20\times/0.50$ objectives) equipped with a Leica DFC420C digital camera (Leica Microsystems Inc., Germany).

2.2.4. Fixation and preparation of liver tissue for electron-microscopic study

Liver samples were fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde solution prepared in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) at 4°C for 24 h. Subsequent (pre)fixation of the liver tissue was performed in a 1% OsO₄ solution on the same buffer at room temperature for 2 h. The pieces were then dehydrated in an ascending ethanol series: 30-40-50-60-70-80-90-96-100%. Simultaneously with dehydration of the samples, they were contrasted with uranyl acetate (Bezborodkina et al., 2008). For this purpose, uranyl acetate was added to the alcohols starting from 70% to achieve a concentration of 0.5–1.0% (Komarov, 1987). After dehydration in ethanol, the samples were embedded in araldite according to Glouert (Glouert, Glouert, 1958). Ultrathin sections prepared with an ultratome LKB III (Sweden) were placed on copper grids and additionally contrasted with lead nitrate.

Photographs were taken on GEM-100 CX electron microscope (Japan) at a magnification of 8000x or 20000x.

2.3. Cytophotometric methods

2.3.1. Determination of hepatocyte dry mass using an interference microscope

Dry mass (DM) of rat and human hepatocytes was measured on unstained methanolfixed preparations embedded in glycerol according to a previously described method (Brodsky, 1966; Beneke, 1969). Measurements were made with the help of a MBIN-4 interference microscope (LOMO, Russia) in monochromatic light using an interference light filter $\lambda_{max} =$ 550 nm and an objective 40×/0.65. DM was calculated according to the formula (Brodsky, 1966; Beneke, 1969):

$$\mathbf{M} = \frac{\delta \times \mathbf{S}}{100 \times \alpha} \tag{1}$$

where: **M** - dry mass of the cell, pg; δ – path-length difference, cm; **S** - cell area, cm², α - specific refractive index increment, cm³/g; its value for proteins in glycerol is 0.00095 cm³/g (Pellegrino et al., 1963).

When measuring the DM of hepatocytes, the path-length difference for the cell and the medium was first determined (Fig. 2.2).



Figure 2.2 — Unstained hepatocytes, interference microscope: a — adjusted to dark field; b — adjusted to dark object. $40 \times /0.65$ objective.

The optical path difference was determined according to the formula:

$$\delta = \frac{\varphi_1 - \varphi_2}{\kappa} \times \lambda \tag{2}$$

where: δ – path-length difference, cm; φ_1 , φ_2 - counts on the Senarmont compensator scale, degrees; λ - wavelength of light, 550 nm; **K** = 180°.

Then, the cell area (in μ m²) was measured using the ImageJ programme (NIH, USA). Depending on the task, 100–450 cells were measured on each preparation (Bezborodkina et al., 2016).

2.3.2. Methods of quantitative cytochemistry

2.3.2.1. Identification and measurement of glycogen and its fractions in isolated rat hepatocytes

Glycogen content in hepatocytes was measured with the help of the fluorescent PAS reaction (Kudryavtseva et al., 1974). First, smears of isolated hepatocytes were placed in 0.8% KIO₄ solution prepared with 0.23% HNO₃ for 1.5 h. The preparations were then washed in running water for 15 min and in one change of distilled water. Fluorescent stain auramine OO

(Reanal, Hungary) was used to detect glycogen in hepatocytes using Schiff's reagent. Preparations were stained with Schiff's reagents (0.3% solution of auramine-SO₂ [Au-SO₂] + 0.2 ml of thionyl chloride (SOCl₂)/100 ml of stain solution) at room temperature for 90 min. After staining, the preparations were washed with three changes of distilled water and three changes of sulphurous water (5 g K₂S₂O₅, 950 ml water, 50 ml 1 N HCl) for 3 min each time to remove non-specifically bound stain. The preparations were then washed in running water for 20 min, rinsed with distilled water, dehydrated in ethanol series (5 min each time in two changes of 70°, 96° and 100° ethanol), air dried and stored in the dark. Before measurements, preparations were embedded in non-fluorescent vaseline oil (Kudryavtseva et al., 1999).

Images of cells stained with Au-SO₂ (Figure 2.3) were obtained using an Axioskop fluorescence microscope (Carl Zeiss, Germany) equipped with a DFC360FX digital camera (Leica Microsystems Inc., Germany).



Figure 2.3 — Detection of glycogen in hepatocytes using auramine-SO₂.

To excite the fluorescence of preparations stained with $Au-SO_2$ and to record their fluorescence, Filter Set 10 (Carl Zeiss, Germany) was used. The Plan-NEOFLUAR $20\times/0.50$ objective was used for measurements. Fluorescence intensity of cells stained with $Au-SO_2$ was evaluated using ImageJ programme (NIH, USA) (Bezborodkina et al., 2021).

2.3.2.2. Determination of DNA content in hepatocyte nuclei

DNA in hepatocyte nuclei was detected on smears using fluorescent Feulgen reaction with Schiff's reagent Au-SO₂ (Kudryavtsev, Rozanov, 1974). The preparations were hydrolysed in 6 N HCl at 20–22°C for 8 min. After hydrolysis, the preparations were rinsed thrice in distilled water and stained with 0.3% Au-SO₂ solution containing 0.2 ml of SOCl₂/100 ml in the dark at 4°C for 1.5 h. Then the preparations were rinsed thrice in distilled water cooled to 4°C, passed through sulphur water cooled to 4°C (3 changes, 3 min each), washed in running water for 20 min, rinsed with distilled water and dehydrated in an ascending ethanol series (70°, 96°, 100°) (2 changes of ethanol of each concentration, 5 min each). The preparations were then air dried and stored in the dark. Immediately before measuring the DNA content in cells, the preparations were embedded in non-fluorescent vaseline oil (Bezborodkina et al., 2016).

Images of Au-SO₂-stained hepatocyte nuclei were obtained using an Axioskop microscope (Carl Zeiss, Germany) (Plan-NEOFLUAR $40 \times /0.75$ objective) equipped with a DFC360FX digital camera (Leica Microsystems Inc., Germany). Filter Set 10 (Carl Zeiss, Germany) was used to excite the fluorescence of Au-SO₂ and record it. Fluorescence intensity of Au-SO₂-stained nuclei was determined using ImageJ programme (NIH, USA).

Rat peripheral blood lymphocytes stained with $Au-SO_2$ after Feulgen were used as a diploid (2c) standard for determining the ploidy of hepatocytes. The average ploidy of hepatocytes N(c) was calculated according to the formula (Delone et al., 1987):

$$\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{c}) = \sum \mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{i}} \times \mathbf{2}^{\mathbf{i}} \tag{3}$$

where: \mathbf{n}_{i} - relative number of hepatocytes of i-th ploidy class ($\mathbf{i} = 1$ - diploid class, $\mathbf{i} = 2$ - tetraploid class, etc.) (Bezborodkina et al., 2016).

2.3.2.3. Combined cytochemical method for quantifying several components in the same cell

In order to obtain quantitative data on several parameters such as dry mass, glycogen content and ploidy degree in the same cell, we used a combined cytochemical method (Kudryavtsev et al., 1979). This method makes it possible to identify and measure one parameter after another in such a way that the unmeasured components remain unaffected. The

accuracy of determination of the content of each component is almost the same as during separate determination of the components.

The combined cytochemical method requires the use of several measuring devices. To determine the location of one and the same cell repeatedly, a coordinate grid with the size of squares of about 1 mm² was cut on the slides using a diamond glass cutter. An Axioskop microscope (Carl Zeiss, Germany) (Plan-NEOFLUAR 20×/0.50 objective) equipped with a DFC360FX digital camera (Leica Microsystems Inc., Germany) was used to obtain images of selected areas of the preparation (about 100). Intact hepatocytes lying separately were selected on the images, and each was assigned a number according to its location on the slide (Fig. 2.4). From 100 to 500 cells were marked on each preparation, depending on the study task (Bezborodkina et al., 2016).



Figure 2.4 — An example of using the combined method: a — isolated hepatocytes with assigned numbers, phase interference contrast, b — the same hepatocytes stained with fluorescent PAS reaction for glycogen, c — the same hepatocytes whose nuclei were stained with fluorescent Feulgen reaction for DNA. Axioskop microscope (Carl Zeiss, Germany), DFC360FX digital camera (Leica Microsystems Inc., Germany). Plan-NEOFLUAR 20×/0.50 objective lens.

First, DM of each of the marked cells was measured (see Section 2.3.1). After that, the coverslip was taken off, glycerol was removed by passing the preparation through an ascending ethanol series, and the glycogen content in hepatocytes was determined (see Section 2.3.2.1). Next, the coverslip was taken off and vaseline oil was removed using xylene and ethanol of increasing concentration. Staining for glycogen was then removed by treating the preparations with 0.025% sodium borohydride (NaBH₄) for 20 min. As a result of this treatment, aldehyde groups (-CHO) formed during oxidation of glucose residues in glycogen by KIO₄ converted to primary alcohol groups (-CH₂OH), lost their ability to stain Au-SO₂ and did not affect either the DNA content in the cells or the accuracy of its measurement (Fig. 2.5). Finally, after the NaBH₄ treatment and staining after Feulgen, the DNA content of hepatocyte
nuclei was measured (see section 2.3.2.2). The DNA content in the cell was used to estimate the degree of its ploidy. The number of nuclei in a cell indicated whether it was mononucleate, binucleate or multinucleate (Bezborodkina et al., 2016).



Figure 2.5 — Histograms of hepatocyte distribution in the normal rat liver based on their DNA content: a — hepatocytes stained after Feulgen, b — hepatocytes stained with the use of PAS reaction for glycogen, treated with 0.025% sodium borohydride and stained after Feulgen. Hepatocytes with DNA content 4c (D.I. = 2) are shown, because they are the dominant class of cells in the rat liver.

2.4. Use of confocal microscopy and FRET (AB) method for the study of the structure of glycogen molecules

Registration of E_{FRET} in several areas of a hepatocyte (usually 3–4 areas) (Fig. 2.6) was performed with a laser scanning confocal microscope Leica TCS SP5 (Leica Microsystems Inc., Germany) using the FRET AB (acceptor bleaching) programme (Zal, Gascoigne, 2004; Piston, Kremers, 2007). Auramine (Au) was used as the donor (Don) and ethidium bromide (EtBr) was used as the acceptor (Ac). During bleaching, the luminescence intensity of Ac decreased by ~50%.



Figure 2.6 — Hepatocyte: a — with marked areas; b — after acceptor bleaching in marked areas; c — increase in fluorescence of donor (Don) after acceptor (Ac) bleaching. Leica TCS SP5 laser scanning confocal microscope (Leica Microsystems Inc., Germany). HCX PL APO 40×/1.25 Oil objective.

Two lasers were used in the determination of E_{FRET} : 405 nm (Don excitation) and 514 nm (Ac bleaching). The power of the 514 nm laser was 30% of the maximum. An HCX PL APO 40×/1.25 Oil lens was used in the measurements. Immersol 518F was used as immersion and non-fluorescent vaseline oil was used as the embedding medium. At least 25 cells were measured on each preparation (Bezborodkina et al., 2011).

The distance between Don (Au) and Ac (EtBr) in glycogen molecules was calculated using the formula:

$$\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{R}_0 \times \sqrt[6]{\frac{1 - \mathbf{E}_{\text{FRET}}}{\mathbf{E}_{\text{FRET}}}} \tag{4}$$

where: \mathbf{E}_{FRET} is the FRET efficiency value; \mathbf{R}_0 is the critical distance at which $\mathbf{E}_{FRET} = 0.5$.

 E_{FRET} is known to depend on the physical properties of Don and As, namely, the degree of overlap between their excitation and fluorescence spectra, their polarisation, the quantum yield of the donor etc., and most importantly, the distance between them (Piston, Kremers, 2007; Fessenden, 2009):

$$\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{FRET}} = \frac{1}{\left(1 + \left(\frac{\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{R}_0}\right)^6\right)} \tag{5}$$

where: \mathbf{E}_{FRET} is FRET efficiency; **r** is the distance between Don and Ac; \mathbf{R}_0 is the critical distance at which $\mathbf{E}_{FRET} = 0.5$.

Figure 2.7 shows absorption and fluorescence spectra of cells stained with EtBr-SO₂ or Au-SO₂ during PAS reaction. Fluorescence spectra were obtained using a Leica TCS SP5 microscope (Leica Microsystems Inc., Germany). The absorption spectra of Au and EtBr are given according to the literature data (Gadella, 1999). It is important to note that the fluorescence spectrum of hepatocytes stained with Au-SO₂ ($\lambda_{max} \approx 526$ nm) and the absorption spectrum of hepatocytes stained with EtBr-SO₂ ($\lambda_{max} \approx 540$ nm) overlap.



Figure 2.7 - Absorption spectra of Au (1) and EtBr (3) and fluorescence spectra of Au (2) and EtBr (4).

Our calculations with the use of PhotochemCAD software (www.photochemcad.com) showed that \mathbf{R}_0 value for the Au-EtBr pair used in our work is 3.2 nm. In the calculations, Au quantum yield value was taken to be 0.3 (Vieira Ferreira et al., 2004) and EtBr extinction coefficient was taken to be 5680 M⁻¹ cm⁻¹ (Lee et al., 2001). Since the radius of the 12-tier β -particle of glycogen is about 21 nm (Rybicka, 1996; Melendez et al., 1999), it can be assumed that the Förster interaction involves Don (Au) molecules bound to glucose residues of the 7th and the 8th internal tiers of the β -particle (Fig. 2.8) (Bezborodkina et al., 2011).



Figure 2.8 — Schematic representation of a glycogen molecule. Numbers indicate tiers between which energy transfer is possible. The distance between each tier in the β -particle of glycogen with a diameter of ~ 42 nm is ~ 1.9 nm.

2.5. Biochemical methods

2.5.1. Biochemical study of rat and human blood serum

Rat and human blood samples obtained during the postabsorptive period of the food cycle were centrifuged at 3500 rpm for 10 min at 4°C. The glucose concentration, total bilirubin and total protein, alanine aminotransferase (AIAT), aspartate aminotransferase (AsAT) and alkaline phosphatase (ALP) activities were determined in the serum using automated biochemical analysers SMA-12/16 (Technicon Instruments Co., USA) and Abbot-spectrum (Abbot Laboratories, USA).

LP products were determined by the oxidation rate with lipohydroperoxides of divalent iron, which reacts with ammonium thiocyanate to form a compound determined by spectrophotometry at a wavelength of 480 nm. The concentration of diene conjugates (DC) was estimated according to Romanova and Stalnaya (1977) and that malonic dialdehyde (MDA), according to Uchigama and Michera (1978). Reduced glutathione was determined after Seldak and Linday (1968). Superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity was determined by inhibition of nitroblue tetrazolium reduction in the presence of NADH and phenazine methasulphate (Dubinina, 1983). The activity of catalase was determined by the rate of hydrogen peroxide decomposition. The activity of all the above enzymes was related to the protein content in the samples determined using the Lowry method (Lowry, 1951).

2.5.2. Determination of glycogen concentration in rat liver

Liver pieces were dissolved in 30% KOH in a boiling water bath for 60 min, centrifuged at 1000g for 30 min, then washed sequentially with 70, 80 and 96% ethanol and centrifuged again. The resulting glycogen precipitate was hydrolysed with 2n H₂SO₄ on a boiling water bath for 2.5 h. The hydrolysate was neutralised with 5n NaOH to pH 7.8–8.0 and the amount of glucose formed in it was determined by glucose oxidase method using standard kits. Glycogen concentration was expressed in μ M glucose units per g of raw liver mass (Lo et al., 1970; Bezborodkina et al., 2014; Bezborodkina et al., 2021b).

2.5.3. Determination of activity of the key enzymes of glycogen metabolism in rat and human liver

Rat livers and biopsy samples of patients were homogenised in 50mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.4) containing 5mM EDTA, 200mM sucrose, 0.01M β -mercaptoethanol and 0.2M FMSF on ice (1:10). The homogenate was centrifuged at 1000g, 4°C, for 10 min. The resulting supernatant was centrifuged at 14000g, 4°C, for 10 min. The newly obtained supernatant was used to determine the activity of cytoplasmic enzymes. For determination of G6Pase activity, the supernatant was additionally centrifuged at 106000g, 4°C, for 60 min to isolate the microsomal fraction (Berteloot et al., 1991).

<u>Glycogen synthase (GS) activity</u> was measured based on the amount of $[U-^{14}C]$ -glucose incorporated into glycogen using UDP- $[U-^{14}C]$ -glucose (300 mCi/mM, Amersham, USA) as a substrate (Vardanis, 1992). We added 40 µl of the sample to 75 µl of 10 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.5) containing 0.17 mM EDTA, 100 mM NaF, 2.5 mM MgSO₄, 10% glycogen and 0.25 mM UDP-glucose (40000 imp/min). The mixture was incubated in 7.2 mM glucose-6phosphate at 30°C for 10 min to determine the activity of the D-form of GS, and in 0.17 mM glucose-6-phosphate to determine the activity of the I-form. The reaction was arrested by application of 0.5 ml of 96% ethanol to 1.5 cm² filters (Whatman 3 mm) containing 50 µl of the reaction mixture. The filters were then washed off the non-included label in two changes of 66% ethanol for 30 min each time and in one change of acetone for 5 min. The dried filters were placed in vials containing ZS-7 scintillator, and the number of impulses was recorded using a counter (Beckman, Indianapolis, USA) (Bezborodkina et al., 2014).

<u>Glycogen phosphorylase (GP) activity</u> was determined using the inverse reaction of glycogen synthesis *in vitro*. The amount of $[U^{-14}C]$ -glucose incorporated into glycogen was measured using $[U^{-14}C]$ -glucose-1-phosphate (286 mCi/mM, Amersham, USA) as a substrate (Vardanis, 1992). The reaction was carried out in 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 6.7) containing 100 mM NaF, 10% glycogen, and 10 mM glucose-1-phosphate (35000 imp/min). When *a*-form of the enzyme was detected, 0.5 mM caffeine was added to the reaction mixture; *b*-form was activated by adding 10 mM AMP. Incubation was carried out at 37°C for 5 min after addition of 35 µl of the sample. The subsequent operations for impulse counting were performed as described above (Bezborodkina et al., 2014).

<u>*Glucose-6-phosphatase (G6Pase) activity*</u> was determined in resuspended precipitate of the microsomal fraction using [U-¹⁴C]-glucose-6-phosphatase (49mCi/mM, Sigma-Aldrish, USA) as a substrate. For this purpose, 20 μ l of the microsomal suspension and 80 μ l of the reaction mixture (pH 6.5) containing 50mM cacodylic acid, 2mM EDTA and 10mM glucose-6-phosphate (30000 imp/min) were incubated for 20 min at 30°C. After incubation, 50 μ l of the mixture was loaded into a 1.2 cm high column with Dowex-1 anion exchange resin (x8, in acetate form) and washed with two 0.5 ml portions of water. Effluents were collected in vials and used for impulse counting (Bezborodkina et al., 2013).

<u>*Glucokinase (GK) activity*</u> was measured in a mixture containing 30mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 50mM glucose, 30mM MgCl₂, 50mM ATP, 1mM NADPH and glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (2U/ml). The rate of NADPH reduction was recorded every 15 sec for 3 min at 340 nm wavelength after adding 1 ml of the reaction mixture and 20 μ l of the homogenate (Ueda et al., 1974) to the cuvette of a Specol 11 spectrophotometer (Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany) (Bezborodkina et al., 2013).

<u>Phosphofructokinase (PFK) activity</u> was determined in 75mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7,5) containing 3mM MgCl₂, 15mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, 30mM fructose-6-phosphate, 15mM ATP, 1.5mM NADH, 10U/ml aldolase, 8U/ml triosophosphate isomerase and 4U/ml glycerophosphate dehydrogenase. The reaction rate was determined every minute for 5 min based on the decrease rate of NADH after its addition to a Specol 11 spectrophotometer cuvette (Carl Zeiss,

Jena, Germany) containing 1.6 ml of the mixture and 0.1 ml of the sample (Uyeda, 1979) (Bezborodkina et al., 2013).

To determine <u>fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase (F1,6BPase) activity</u>, 50mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.5) containing 2mM MgCl₂, 40mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, 0.15mM fructose-1,6-bisphosphate, 0.3 mM NADPH, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.7 U/ml glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase and 1 U/ml glucose phosphate isomerase. A cuvette containing 1 ml of incubation mixture and 20 μ l of the sample was pre-incubated at 37°C for 5 min. After that, NADPH content was measured every minute for 5 min (Tejwani et al., 1976) (Bezborodkina et al., 2013).

<u>Total protein</u> was determined according to Bradford (Bradford, 1976) using Coomassie brilliant blue G-250. Protein concentration was calculated using a standard calibration curve. The data obtained by photometry of different amounts of BSA ($\lambda = 595$ nm) were used to construct the calibration curve.

2.6. Morphometry of rat and human liver histological sections

Relative volume of the connective tissue and the liver parenchyma was determined on histological sections stained with hematoxylin-picrofuchsin or picrosirius using a "VideoTest" image analyser equipped with a $10 \times /0.30$ objective lens and an interference light filter $\lambda_{max} = 500$ nm. For each animal and patient, 20–30 fields of view were analysed. The ratio of the connective tissue was calculated according to the formula:

$$\mathbf{Q} = \frac{\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{c.t.}}}{\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{f.w.}} - \mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{r.}}} \tag{6}$$

where: **Q** — ratio of the connective tissue to the cut area; $\mathbf{S}_{f.w.}$ — area of the field of view of the microscope (μm^2); $\mathbf{S}_{c.t.}$ — area of the connective tissue (μm^2); $\mathbf{S}_{r.}$ — area of lumen of vessels and ruptures in tissues (μm^2).

The number of hepatocytes in the liver was determined using the formula:

$$N = P \times R \times \frac{f}{M} \tag{7}$$

where: N – number of hepatocytes in the liver; P – wet weight of liver mass, g; R – ratio of the liver parenchyma; f – transition coefficient from wet weight of liver mass to dry mass; M – average dry mass of one hepatocyte, g. The coefficient f was taken to be 0.27 (Bezborodkina et al., 2016; Bezborodkina et al., 2021b).

2.7. Morphometry of the mitochondrial apparatus of rat hepatocytes

Using the "VideoTest" image analyser, the perimeters of mitochondria and the length of their cristae were measured on electronograms with a magnification of 20000x. The concentration of mitochondrial inner membranes (MIMC) was calculated using the formula:

$$MIMC = (\mathbf{p} + 2\mathbf{l}) \times \mathbf{n} \tag{8}$$

where: \mathbf{p} – average perimeter of mitochondria; \mathbf{l} – average length of cristae in one mitochondrion; \mathbf{n} – number of mitochondria per unit area.

Electron microphotographs taken at 8000x magnification were used to determine the number of mitochondria and their volume per unit area of the cell.

Five rats from the control group and five rats from the experimental group were used for electron-microscopic study. For each animal, 20 hepatocytes were analysed (Bezborodkina et al., 2008).

2.8. Determination of the contribution of proliferation, polyploidization and hypertrophy to liver mass increase

Relative contribution of proliferation (Q_1) , polyploidization (Q_2) and hypertrophy (Q_3) of hepatocytes during the normal and the reparative growth of rat and human liver was calculated using the following formulae (Bogdanova et al., 1990):

$$\mathbf{Q}_{1} = \frac{\mathbf{M} \times (\mathbf{P}_{1}/\mathbf{P}_{2}) - 1}{\mathbf{M} - 1} \tag{9}$$

$$\mathbf{Q}_2 = \frac{\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{m}_1 \times (\mathbf{g}_2 - \mathbf{g}_1)}{(\mathbf{M} - 1) \times \mathbf{P}_2} \tag{10}$$

$$\mathbf{Q}_3 = \frac{\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{g}_2 \times (\mathbf{m}_2 - \mathbf{m}_1)}{(\mathbf{M} - 1) \times \mathbf{P}_2} \tag{11}$$

where: \mathbf{M} — repetition factor of liver parenchyma mass change during the study period (6 months). Based on the data on the value of mitotic index, duration of mitosis in hepatocytes and the level of parenchyma necrotisation during repeated exposure to CCl₄, it was calculated that the loss of parenchyma mass during 6 months of exposure exceeds the initial mass approximately 5-fold. In case of physiological regeneration the loss of parenchyma mass due to cell death during the same period is equal to its initial mass (Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 1996); \mathbf{P}_1 and \mathbf{P}_2 — dry mass of hepatocyte before the beginning of poisoning of rats with CCl₄ and at the end of the experiment, respectively; \mathbf{m}_1 and \mathbf{m}_2 — average dry mass calculated per diploid

hepatocyte before the beginning of poisoning of rats with CCl_4 and at the end of the experiment, respectively; g_1 and g_2 — average ploidy of hepatocytes divided by 2.

2.9. Statistical processing of the obtained data

Statistical processing of the results was performed on a personal computer using the standard software package Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corporation, USA) and SigmaPlot v. 9.0, v. 11.0 (Systat Software Inc., USA). Data in charts and graphs were presented as the mean value and its error ($X \pm Sx$). Reliability of differences between values was assessed using Student's t-criterion. Correlation analysis with determination of correlation coefficients (r) was performed to assess the dependence between the parameters. Linear regression was calculated using the formula:

$$\overline{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{a} + \mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{x}$$
(12)
Where: \mathbf{a} — free term
$$a = \frac{\sum y \cdot \sum x^2 - \sum x \cdot \sum yx}{n \cdot \sum x^2 - (\sum x)^2}$$

b — regression coefficient

$$b = \frac{n \cdot \sum xy - \sum x \cdot \sum y}{n \cdot \sum x^2 - (\sum x)^2}$$

n — cell count.

Pearson's table of critical correlation values was used to assess the validity of the results.

CHAPTER 3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1. Morphofunctional changes during chronic liver disease

3.1.1. Structure of the normal and the cirrhotic liver in rats and humans

Chronic hepatitis (CH) is a common inflammatory disease of the human liver. It can be caused by various toxins, long-term alcohol abuse, autoimmune diseases, genetic factors, and a number of metabolic disorders. One of the most frequent causes of CH are infections caused by hepatotropic viruses A (RNA-containing virus), B, C, D, G (DNA-containing viruses) and others. According to WHO data for 2019, carriers of hepatitis B and hepatitis C (HBV and HCV) made up more than 350 (296 and 58, respectively) million people worldwide (World Health Organisation, 2021). Chronic hepatitis is a continuous process of inflammation, destruction and regeneration of the liver parenchyma that lasts for more than 6 months and causes liver fibrosis. Tissue fibrosis is common in liver pathologies. During long-term liver damage, Ito cells, fibroblasts, and extracellular matrix gradually replace damaged hepatocytes, leading to the development of the final irreversible stage of CH, liver cirrhosis (LC). In turn, LC usually ends in liver failure and/or hepatocellular carcinoma (Kalaitzakis et al., 2011; Ganne-Carrié, Nahon, 2019).

Liver cirrhosis is characterised by nodular transformation of the parenchyma and the formation of fibrous septa connecting the portal system with the hepatic vein system. The main diagnostic features of LC, in addition to fibrosis of much of the parenchyma, are considered to be pronounced regeneration of hepatic tissue, unusually small portal tracts and excessive number of central veins in lobules, as well as intensive deposition of lipofuscin in pericentral hepatocytes (Schuppan, Afdhal, 2008).

Analysis of histological liver sections of rats showed that the structure of liver parenchyma of control animals was typical for the normal organ: it had radially located trabeculae of hepatocytes around central vessels, a small amount of connective tissue, and well-defined borders of portal vessels and bile ducts (Fig. 3.1, a, b). Liver sections of cirrhotic rats showed diffuse leukocytic inflitrations indicating activation of inflammatory processes and signs of fibrotisation (Fig. 3.1, c). Strands of connective tissue grow into the parenchyma,

violating the lobular structure of the organ. Picrosirius staining revealed connective tissue fibres along the sinusoids (Fig. 3.1, d) (Bezborodkina et al., 2013b, 2014, 2021).



Figure 3.1 — Rat liver sections: a, b – normal; c, d, e, f – cirrhotic. a, c, e - hematoxylin-eosin staining; b, d - picrosirius staining, f – van Gieson staining. Note: bold arrows indicate foci of inflammation (c, e), thin arrows indicate connective tissue bands along the sinusoids (d, f).

The morphological picture of liver damage during CCl_4 exposure has been described in considerable detail (Zimmerman, 1978; Onori, 2000). As a result of CCl_4 intoxication, centrilobular necrosis of hepatocytes leads to the replacement of necrotic zones by the connective tissue and stimulation of cell proliferation in regeneration nodules. In this case, connective tissue is formed not only at the central veins, but also along the course of the entire

venous channel. Inflammatory reaction in portal fields is also accompanied by connective tissue outgrowth along the course of portal vessels. Proliferation of hepatocytes stimulated by their death leads to the appearance of multi-row beams and then to disorderly clusters of hepatic cells.

It is believed that LC in rats caused by prolonged repeated exposure to CCl_4 is similar to cirrhotic liver damage in humans (Kohno et al., 1991; Skobeleva, 1994; Datsko et al., 2020). Microscopic analysis of human liver sections indicates that in the norm the structure of human liver parenchyma, similarly to that in the rat, is characterised by radially located trabeculae of hepatocytes around central veins, well-defined portal vessels and bile ducts (Fig. 3.2, *a*). During development of cirrhosis, the lobular structure of the human liver parenchyma, as in the rat, is impaired. The so-called "false lobules" are formed, in which cellular and nuclear polymorphism is sharply expressed, mass death of hepatocytes is observed in the parenchyma, and the proportion of the connective tissue increases (Fig. 3.2, *b*) (Kudryavtseva et al., 2002a; Okovity et al., 2010; Bezborodkina et al., 2021b).



Figure 3.2 — Human liver sections: a - normal, b - cirrhotic. Haematoxylin-picrofuchsin staining. Notes: 1) FL - false liver lobe; 2) foci of necrosis are marked by bold arrows, thin arrows - connective tissue layers (b).

Fibroplasia dramatically changes the ratio of parenchymal and non-parenchymal elements in favour of the latter. The mutually exclusive dynamics of the connective tissue and the parenchyma content during LC development is a characteristic feature of this pathology (James et al., 1986; Reichen et al., 1987).

Morphometry of the normal and the cirrhotic rat liver has established that during LC the proportion of the connective tissue increases 7.7-fold (Table 3.1). At the same time, the mass

of rat liver during LC development increases from 9.72 ± 0.37 g to 11.56 ± 0.55 g (p < 0.05). Therefore, despite the fact that the proportion of the parenchyma during cirrhosis in our experiments decreased by 8.8% (Table 3.1), its absolute mass did not differ from the mass of the parenchyma of control animals (Bezborodkina et al., 2021b). A slight increase or stability of the mass of the rat liver in case of its pathologies has also been noted by other authors (Xu et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2015; Rasineni et al., 2021).

Table 3.1 — Some morphometric parameters of the normal rat liver and the cirrhotic rat liver (LC) ($X\pm S_x$, n = 5).

Parameter	Control	LC
Liver weight, g	9.72±0.37	11.56±0.55 ¹
Relative liver weight, %	3.00±0.06	4.33±0.09 ²
Proportion of parenchyma, %	88.0±1.1	79.2±1.3 ²
Proportion of the connective tissue, %	0.84±0.07	7.31±0.27 ²
Number of hepatocytes in 1 g of liver	2.52±0.15×10 ⁸	$1.81\pm0.21\times10^{81}$

^{1,2} Significantly different from the value in the control ($^{1} p < 0.05$, $^{2} p < 0.001$).

The results presented in Table 3.2 show that, in contrast to the cirrhotic rat liver, the proportion of the liver parenchyma in the cirrhotic human liver decreases as compared to the norm by 40.4%, while the proportion of the connective tissue increases almost 20-fold. In contrast in rats, the mutually exclusive dynamics of the connective tissue and the parenchyma during LC development in humans can be traced very clearly (Bezborodkina et al., 2021b).

Table 3.2 — Some morphometric parameters of the normal liver and the cirrhotic liver (LC) in humas $(X\pm S_x)$.

Parameter	Control $(n = 10)$	LC (n = 13)
Proportion of parenchyma, %	90.6±0.9	54.0 ± 2.5^2
Proportion of the connective tissue, %	1.79±0.08	36.5 ± 3.3^2
Number of hepatocytes in 1 g of liver	$4.81 \pm 0.27 \times 10^8$	2.32±0.29×10 ^{8 2}

n - number of patients in the group; ^{1,2}significantly different from the value in the control (${}^{1}p < 0.05$, ${}^{2}p < 0.001$).

The reasons for such a strong fibrotisation of the liver parenchyma and a more intensive death of hepatocytes during cirrhosis development in humans as compared with rats are unclear. Apparently, they are associated not only and not so much with the nature of agents causing liver damage, nor with the difference in the methods of obtaining experimental LC. In explaining the reasons for the considerable differences in the degree of pathological changes between the human and the rat liver, we should first of all pay attention to the fundamental difference between these mammalian species, their size, and thus a different metabolic rate. The body mass of adult rats used in our experiments was ~ 0.3 kg, while the human body mass was ~70 kg. The specific metabolic rate of a rat with a body mass of 0.3 kg is 94.6 kcal/kg/24 h, whereas that of an adult human with a body mass of ~70 kg is 24.2 kcal/kg/24 h (Schmidt-Nielsen, 1987), i.e. the metabolic rate in the rat is almost 4 times higher. This significant difference means that the rate of various processes, including proliferative ones, is much higher in rats than in humans. It has been shown that in the normal human liver the ratio of hepatocytes in the S-phase of the cell cycle is 0.02–0.05% (Leevy, 1967; Takehara, 1975), while in rats it is 0.2-1.5% (Ryabinina, Benyush, 1973). Another indicator of proliferative activity, the mitotic index, varies in the normal human liver between 0.0001-0.0007% (Kudryavtsev et al., 1991), whereas in the normal rat liver it is 0.005-0.1% (Ryabinina, Benyush, 1973; Mangnall et al., 2003). Small connective-tissue cells (fibroblasts, macrophages, etc.) have a higher proliferative activity than hepatocytes. Therefore, it can be assumed that the rate of replacement of dying hepatocytes by these cells during the development of LC in humans will be much higher than in rats. It is probably due to this fact that the proportion of fibrous tissue in the human cirrhotic liver is much higher than in the rat cirrhotic liver.

In any case, the increased ratio of the connective tissue negatively affects the vital activity of hepatocytes, which is expressed, first of all, in the impairment of metabolic processes between cells. In addition, an increased fibrosis of the liver leads to the disruption of the normal functioning of the hepatic lobule due to the formation of septa connecting the centrilobular zone with the periportal zone by vascular shunts. Finally, the connective tissue growth promotes the formation of the basal membrane and the transformation of sinusoids into stiff capillaries. All these processes result in a significant rearrangement of the lobular structure of the liver (Fig. 3.1, *c*, *d*, *e*, *f*, Fig. 3.2, *b*) and a lower supply of hepatocytes with oxygen, nutrients and energy sources (Bezborodkina et al., 2021b; Okovity et al., 2022).

3.1.2. State of the mitochondrial apparatus of hepatocytes in the normal and the pathological liver of rats

In hepatocytes, as in many other cell types, ATP is a universal source of energy. Approximately 90% of the oxygen consumed by mammalian cells is used by mitochondria to produce ATP by oxidative phosphorylation (Javadov et al., 2018). The rate of oxidative processes in cells is closely related to the number and structure of mitochondria. The liver is one of the most mitochondria-rich rich organs. One hepatocyte is known to contain about 2000 mitochondria (David, 1977), which have unique properties as they integrate the metabolism of carbohydrates, lipids and proteins into a single centre (Degli Esposti et al., 2012).

Electron-microscopic study of mitochondria in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic rat liver revealed changes in the shape and an increased in the size of these organelles (Fig. 3.3).



Figure 3.3 — Mitochondria of rat hepatocytes of control (a, c) and experimental group (b, d). a, b - 8000x, c, d - 20000x. Note: Mt - mitochondria. Arrows mark glycogen granules.

However, these changes could have been the result of treatments applied to tissues in preparation to electron-microscopic studies. Therefore, we investigated the morphology of

mitochondria in the primary culture of hepatocytes isolated from the livers of control rats and rats with toxic hepatitis. It was found that an intragastric administration of CCl_4 for a month and the replacement of drinking water with 5% ethanol led to fibrosis and fatty degeneration of the liver, accompanied by inflammation and disruption of its lobular structure (Okovity et al., 2007). Visual analysis of hepatocytes stained with rhodamine 123 showed that mitochondria in the cells of the control and the experimental animals were slightly different. Basically, these differences were expressed in the fact that many mitochondria had a more elongated shape and a more uniform distribution in the cytoplasm of the control hepatocytes as compared with those of experimental animals (Fig. 3.4) (Baidyuk et al., 2009).

Morphometry of the mitochondrial apparatus in the hepatocytes showed that mitochondrial volume density (MVD) in the control rats was $19.5\pm0.7\%$, which agrees well with the data of other authors (David, 1977; Anatskaya, 1999; Das et al., 2012). At the same time, MVD in the liver parenchyma of the entire liver of the control rats was 1.667 ± 0.136 arbitrary units (Fig. 3.5, *b*) (Bezborodkina et al., 2008).



Figure 3.4 — Mitochondria of live hepatocytes stained with rhodamine 123. a - hepatocytes of intact rats, b - hepatocytes of rats after exposure to CCl₄ and ethanol.

CCl₄-induced cirrhosis does not lead to a change in the number of mitochondria in the parenchyma (Fig. 3.5, *a*) but causes an increase in MVD: on average, up to $25.0\pm1.0\%$ per hepatocyte (p < 0.01). A similar value of MVD was found in rat hepatocytes after prolonged ethanol exposure (Das et al., 2012). The results presented in Fig. 3.5, *b* indicate that MVD in

the entire parenchyma of the cirrhotic liver exceeds the control value by 37.4% (p < 0.01) (Bezborodkina et al., 2008).

The increase of MVD in cells can be associated both with an increased oxidative metabolism in mitochondria and with their swelling, which is accompanied by a decrease in ATP production (Kaasik et al., 2007; Javadov et al., 2018). Therefore, to identify the nature of the increase in MVD in hepatocytes during LC, we performed morphometry of the inner membranes of mitochondria, where specific proteins catalysing oxidative reactions in the respiratory chain are situated. These proteins are required for oxidative phosphorylation, through which most ATP is synthesised in the cell.



Figure 3.5 — Some morphometric indices of mitochondria in hepatocytes of normal rats (control) and rats with liver cirrhosis (LC) (X \pm S_x, n = 5).

The concentration of mitochondrial inner membranes per unit area of hepatocyte cytoplasm during LC decreased by 30.7% (Fig. 3.5, *c*), while the total length of inner membranes per one mitochondrion decreased almost twofold (Fig. 3.5, *d*) (Bezborodkina et al., 2008).

Thus, the data obtained indicate that the respiration rate and the level of ATP production in mitochondria of the hepatocytes are significantly reduced during LC as compared with the norm. They also indicate that the concentration of inner membranes of mitochondria reflects the levels of respiration and ATP formation in hepatocytes more adequately than MVD.

An increase in the size of mitochondria in hepatocytes and a decrease in the number of their cristae in case of liver diseases have been noted by many authors (Krähenbühl, Reichen, 1992; Krähenbühl et al., 2000; Welt et al., 2004; Shami et al., 2021). Studies of the activity of the mitochondria respiratory chain enzymes such as NADH dehydrogenase (I-complex), succinate dehydrogenase (II-complex), cytochrome oxidase (IV-complex) and ATP synthase (V-complex) in case of chronic liver diseases has shown that the function these organoids is impaired (Fernandez-Checa et al., 1993; Liu et al., 1996; Krähenbühl et al., 2000; Huang et al., 2003; Yang et al., 2004).

Based on the above considerations, we can conclude that chronic liver diseases such as non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, alcoholic and viral hepatitis, primary hepatocarcinoma, thioacetamide- and CCl₄-induced liver cirrhosis etc., while strongly different in their pathophysiology, cause the same kind of defect of the mitochondrial apparatus of hepatocytes. Its consequence is a decrease in the respiration rate of mitochondria. Decreased respiration rate, in turn, leads to a significant drop of the rate of oxidative phosphorylation, a decreased ATP production and an increased concentration of reactive oxygen species (Harvey et al., 1999; Fukumura et al., 2003; Middleton, Vergis, 2021). The fall in ATP production affects the ATP-dependent sodium pump leading to swelling and death of the cells (Chapa-Dubocq et al., 2018).

3.1.3. Characterisation of tissue-specific functions of rat and human liver during cirrhosis

It is well known that the efficiency of hepatocyte performance is closely related to the rate of ATP formation. Since the rate of oxidative phosphorylation and ATP concentration in hepatocytes during CCl₄-cirrhosis decrease noticeably, it can be expected that the lack of energy-rich molecules will inevitably affect the intensity of tissue-specific liver functions. Their level is usually assessed based on the activity of the corresponding enzymes in its tissue or the concentration of the marker products of metabolism in the blood serum.

The data presented in Figure 3.6 indicate that the concentration of total bilirubin in the serum of rats of the experimental group and in patients with cirrhosis increases while that of the total protein decreases as compared to the norm. Changes in these indices during cirrhosis indicate the disturbance of pigment metabolism in the liver and a decrease in its protein synthetic function. The duration of hexenalum sleep, which reflects the ability of the microsomal oxidation system in hepatocytes to metabolise various xenobiotics, including hexenalum, is increased in rats with LC more than 5-fold (p < 0.001) as compared to the norm. The data obtained indicate a decreased efficiency of the microsomal oxidation system in hepatocytes in the pathological liver (Kudryavtseva et al., 2003; Okovity et al., 2006; Bezborodkina et al., 2014).



Figure 3.6 — Some serum biochemical parameters in the normal liver (Control) and the cirrhotic liver (Cirrhosis) of rats and humans.

Thus, we can conclude that the development of LC is accompanied by a slump of the protein synthesis and the detoxifying function of the liver. Similar results were obtained by other authors (Krähenbühl, Reichen, 1992; Welt et al., 2004; Young et al., 2006; Nishikawa et al., 2014; Wilson et al., 2014; Ju et al., 2016; Kietzmann, 2019). It has been shown that hypoxia during cirrhosis leads to the deterioration of several liver functions, including the barrier function and the protein synthesis (Skulachev, 1999; Harvey et al., 1999; Schuppan, Afdhal, 2008).

Hypoxia accompanies chronic liver impairments of any aetiology, increasing the production of free radicals and reactive oxygen species (ROS) by mitochondria (Poyton et al., 2009; Wilson et al., 2014; Ju et al., 2016; Prieto, Monsalve, 2017). Enhanced ROS production is a common characteristic of a sustained inflammatory response to liver damage. ROS cause

chain reactions with the accumulation of lipid radicals, resulting in changes in the properties of cell membranes and the formation of various LP products.

Data on the state of pro- and antioxidant systems in rats and humans indicate similar changes during cirrhosis development, but in humans they are more pronounced (Fig. 3.6, b) (Okovitiy et al., 2006; Bezborodkina et al., 2008; Bezborodkina et al., 2014; Bezborodkina et al., 2021b).

Concentrations of malonic dialdehyde and diene conjugates in the blood serum of cirrhotic rats increased as compared to the norm approximately 2.1-fold (p < 0.05) and 1.5-fold (p < 0.001), respectively, the corresponding values in the blood serum of cirrhotic human patients being 2.4-fold (p < 0.01) and 1.8-fold (p < 0.001), respectively. The increase in the concentration of LP products during the long-term pathological process is associated primarily with the depletion of the antioxidant system reserves. The results of this study indicate a marked decrease in the activity of the antioxidant system during LC. The activity of catalase in human blood serum during LC decreases as compared to the norm 2.5-fold (p < 0.001), while the concentration of reduced glutathione decreases 1.5-fold (p < 0.05). Rat serum catalase activity is decreased during LC 1.5-fold as compared to the norm (p < 0.05). A comparison of rats and humans by indicators such as total protein, MDA, superoxide dismutase and DC showed that the response of the liver to damage during pathophysiological conditions was comparable (Fig. 3.6, b). At the same time, the data in this figure suggest that the cirrhotic liver of humans is less capable of neutralising bilirubin, free radicals and peroxides. As a consequence, the human liver seems to be more vulnerable to the impact of damaging agents than the rat liver (Kudryavtseva et al., 2003; Okovitiy et al., 2006; Bezborodkina et al., 2008; Bezborodkina et al., 2014; Bezborodkina et al., 2021b).

When the capacity of the antioxidant system of the liver becomes insufficient to counteract the continuous flow of ROS, the membrane structures of cells are damaged (Ohyashiki et al., 1995; Skulachev, 1999), the function of hepatocytes deteriorates and they finally die by cytolysis. Cytolysis in the liver is usually indicated by an increase of the levels of indicator enzymes such as alanine aminotransferase (AlAT) and aspartate aminotransferase (AsAT) in the serum (Siegel et al., 2000). Our data (Fig. 3.6, *a*) indicate that the activity of AlAT and AsAT in rats with CCl_4 -cirrhosis is increased as compared to the norm by the factor of 2.0 (p < 0.001) and 1.4 (p < 0.01), respectively. In patients with chronic hepatitis and cirrhosis, the levels of AlAT and AsAT increased as compared to the norm by the factor of 4.8

(p < 0.001) and 2.0 (p < 0.001), 4.7 (p < 0.001) and 2.5 (p < 0.001), respectively (Fig. 3.6, *a*) (Kudryavtseva et al., 2003; Bezborodkina et al., 2014; Bezborodkina et al., 2021b). Comparison of AlAT and AsAT levels in the rat and the human liver showed that LC in humans is accompanied by a significantly more pronounced release of these enzymes into the blood than in rats. An intensive cytolysis of hepatocytes in the cirrhotic liver of humans is confirmed by a greater loss of hepatocytes during cirrhosis formation (Table 3.2).

The available data on the number of hepatocytes in the rat liver obtained using various methods indicate that their number varies from 1.29×10^8 to 2.64×10^8 cells/g of wet liver weight (Iype et al., 1965; Marcos et al., 2006; Sohlenius-Sternbeck, 2006; Baidyuk, 2013). According to our data, the number of hepatocytes in 1 g of the normal rat liver is 2.52×10^8 cells (Table 3.1). Chronic poisoning with CCl₄ for 6 months leads to a decrease in the number of hepatocytes to 1.81×10^8 cells/g liver (Table 3.2). The number of hepatocytes in 1 g of the 3.2).

Data on the absolute number of hepatocytes in the normal and the cirrhotic liver of rats and humans show the number of hepatocytes in 1 g of liver decreases as cirrhosis develops: by 28.2% in rats and by 51.8% in humans (Table 3.1, Table 3.2) (Bezborodkina et al., 2021b). Taking into account that the liver mass in humans during cirrhosis decreases by 10–18% as compared to the norm (Apisarnthanarak et al., 2014; Simon et al., 2020), the total loss of hepatocytes during LC development in humans makes up about 45%.

Thus, our data indicate that the development of LC in humans is accompanied by deeper structural and functional changes than in rats, resulting, in particular, in a greater loss of hepatocytes, which progresses in the course of the pathological process.

3.1.4. Polyploidy and hypertrophy of rat and human hepatocytes in the norm and during chronic liver diseases

Continuous cell death during LC development stimulates liver regeneration. Its main cellular mechanisms are proliferation, polyploidisation and hypertrophy of hepatocytes (Bogdanova et al., 1990; Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 1996; Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 2005). The leading role in the reparative growth of the liver under acute or chronic action of agents of different aetiology is played by DNA-synthetic processes: proliferation and polyploidisation of

hepatocytes. They result in an increase in the number of hepatocytes in the liver and/or the number of genomes in the cells (Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 1996; Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 2005).

The proliferative response of the liver parenchyma to chronic exposure to hepatotoxins is characterised by a decrease in the probability of hepatocytes completing the cell cycle. As a result of incomplete cell divisions, binucleate cells and cells with polyploid nuclei appear in the parenchyma.

Cytophotometric analysis of hepatocyte distribution by ploidy classes in rats with CCl_4 cirrhosis of the liver showed that the composition of the cell population of the liver parenchyma in this group of animals significantly differs from the norm (Table 3.3) (Bezborodkina et al., 2016).

Table 3.3 — Distribution of rat hepatocytes by ploidy classes in the cell populations of the normal (control) and the cirrhotic liver (LC) ($X\pm S_x$, n = 5).

Group of	Proportion of hepatocytes of different ploidy classes, %						
rats	2c	2c×2	4c	4c×2	8c	8c×2	Average cell ploidy, c
Control	0.63±0.24	3.62±0.48	81.84±3.14	9.38±2.90	3.53±1.79		4.46±0.15
LC	$2.86{\pm}0.91^{1}$	2.13±1.45	68.51 ± 3.95^{1}	12.68±2.94	12.37 ± 2.82^{1}	1.45±0.62	5.12 ± 0.17^{1}

¹Significantly different from the value in the control at p < 0.05.

The parenchyma of the cirrhotic rat liver is characterised by a decrease in the ratio of binucleate hepatocytes with diploid nuclei ($2c \times 2$ -cells) and an increase in the relative number of cells with a high ploidy. The ratio of mononucleate octaploid (8c) hepatocytes increases 3.5-fold (p < 0.05) compared to intact rats of the same age. In addition, binucleate hepatocytes with two octaploid nuclei ($8c \times 2$ -cells) are observed during LC; no such cells were found in the normal liver. Some cells in the cirrhotic liver reach a ploidy of 16c and even 32c ($16c \times 2$). As a result, the average ploidy level of hepatocytes of rats of the experimental group increases by 14.8% (p < 0.01) as compared to the norm (Table 3.3).

In contrast to rats, in humans the modal class of hepatocytes is represented by mononucleate diploid (2c) cells. The average ploidy of hepatocytes of the normal human liver was $2.21\pm0.05c$, while in patients with chronic hepatitis it increased by 13.1% and 15.8%,

respectively. In the normal and the pathological liver parenchyma, mononucleate cells with diploid nuclei predominated (Table 3.4).

	Prop	Average cell				
	2c	2c×2	4c	4c×2	8c	ploidy, c
Control (n = 7)	89.57±2.28	4.70±1.47	5.73±1.38	-	-	2.21±0.05
CH (n = 5)	76.90 ± 4.83^{1}	15.46±2.96 ¹	6.82±1.65	-	0.82±0.36	2.50±0.11 ¹
LC (n = 7)	75.19 ± 5.23^{1}	16.22 ± 3.81^{1}	7.07±1.89	1.07±0.58	0.45±0.17	2.56 ± 0.17^{1}

Table 3.4 — Distribution of human hepatocytes by ploidy classes in the normal liver, in the liver of patients with chronic hepatitis (CH) and in the cirrhotic liver (LC) $(X\pm S_x)$.

¹Significantly different from the value in the control at p < 0.05.

Increased polyploidisation of hepatocytes in response to pathological effects is characteristic of mammals and is accompanied by changes in the ratio of cell ploidy classes (Maurer et al., 1973; Zavadskaya, 1989; Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 1996; 2005). In particular, it has been found that the relative number of 2c- and 2c×2-hepatocytes decreases in the liver of rats and mice after chronic exposure to CCl₄ and cells with high ploidy, absent in the normal organ, appear (Factor, Uryvaeva, 1980; Brodsky, Uryvaeva, 1981). As a result, the ploidy of hepatocytes increases significantly (Zavadskaya, 1989; Kudryavtsev et al., 1993; Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 1996; 2005).

An increased proliferative activity and ploidy level of hepatocytes in the damaged liver is also characteristic of humans. For example, CH and LC of various aetiology, fatty hepatosis, extrahepatic cholestasis are also accompanied by a marked increase in the ploidy of hepatocytes (Koike et al., 1982; Fang et al., 1994; Melchiorri et al., 1994). At the same time, it should be noted that polyploidisation of hepatocytes during chronic liver damage in humans is never as great as in rats and mice. In addition, in contrast to rats and mice, the ratio of $2c \times 2$ hepatocytes in humans is markedly increased in case of chronic liver pathologies (Table 3.4), which is in agreement with the earlier data (Kudryavtsev et al., 1993).

An important feature of the cell population of the liver parenchyma during cirrhosis is a 2.2-fold (p < 0.05) increase in the ratio of mononucleate diploid (2c) hepatocytes in rats and the maintenance of a high percentage of these cells (about 75%) in humans (Table 3.3, Table 3.4). Enhanced proliferation of 2c-hepatocytes in the cirrhotic rat liver and a high proportion

(more than 80%) of these cells in the cirrhotic human liver have been previously observed by other authors (Kudryavtsev et al., 1993; Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 2005). This fact seems to be related to the higher ability of 2c-hepatocytes, compared to polyploid cells, to enter the mitotic cycle (Uryvaeva, Marshak, 1969; Watanabe et al., 1970). Earlier it was suggested that reparative regeneration of the liver mainly occurs due to proliferation of mononucleate diploid hepatocytes, while polyploidisation of cells during reparative liver growth plays a noticeable role only in some patients (Kudryavtsev et al., 1993).

In the process of physiological regeneration, the number of hepatocytes formed in intact rat liver after 6 months exceeds their initial level about 1.8-fold, the corresponding value for reparative regeneration being 3.1-fold. Calculations based on the values of the thymidinelabelled nuclei index and the mitotic activity of hepatocytes available in the literature demonstrate even greater differences between these regeneration methods. The loss of parenchyma after 6 months of experimental LC development is five times the weight of the liver in the initial state (Sarkisov et al., 1975; Brodsky, Uryvaeva, 1981; Macdonald et al., 1986), while the loss of parenchyma in intact liver during the same period is equal only to the initial weight of the organ (Ryabinina, Benyush, 1973; Ottensen et al., 1980). Thus, each hepatocyte during 6 months of chronic exposure to CCl_4 performs approximately 2–2.5 times more divisions than in the intact liver in the course of physiological regeneration. Nevertheless, despite the high proliferative activity of hepatocytes in the course of LC development, the number of cells in the damaged liver of rats and humans was eventually much lower than in the intact liver (Table 3.1, Table 3.2), which indicates that cell death prevails over the increase in cell number.

Along with proliferation and polyploidisation, an important role in the normal and reparative growth of the liver is played by the hypertrophy of hepatocytes (Shalakhmetova et al., 1981; Arefieva et al., 1993; Arosio et al., 1993; Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 2005). It can have two causes: 1) an increase in cell ploidy, which usually leads to a proportional increase in cell volume and mass (James et al., 1979; Brodsky, Uryvaeva, 1981; Shalakhmetova et al., 1981; Gaub et al., 1981; Zavadskaya et al., 1983) and 2) an increase in the cytoplasm volume, which is accompanied by a decrease in the nucleoplasmic ratio but is not associated with an increase in cell ploidy. The hypertrophy of the cell cytoplasm is believed to be based on the intensification of intracellular regeneration processes (Sarkisov et al., 1975). These processes

lead to an increase in the number and size of various cellular structures and organelles and, ultimately, to an increase in the volume and mass of the cells.

Cell hypertrophy caused by an increase in the cytoplasmic volume is considered as a special form of regeneration that increases the number of specific structures inside cells and compensates the impaired functions (Ryabinina, Benyush, 1973). The analysis of cell hypertrophy is important for understanding the mechanisms of normal and reparative growth of an organ. The hypertrophy of a cell unrelated to its ploidy can be accurately assessed, e.g., by determining its ploidy level and mass.

Cell mass is usually determined by cytophotometry based on the total protein content after staining with appropriate dyes or by measuring the dry mass (DM) of unstained cells using an interference microscope (Brodsky, 1966). Unlike cytophotometric methods with dyes, interferometry makes it possible to obtain data on the DM, of which approximately 80% is due to the protein content (Giese, 1959), in absolute units, picograms (10^{-12} g) , and to calculate the absolute number of cells in an organ without resorting to complex and labour-intensive techniques.

Measurement showed that DM of one hepatocyte in the control rats averaged 943 ± 21 pg, while that in the cirrhotic rats, 1184 ± 56 pg, i.e. DM increased by 25.6% during cirrhosis (p < 0.001). An increase of DM of rat hepatocytes and protein content in them during the development of cirrhosis was also noted by other authors (Tongiani et al., 1976; Zavadskaya et al., 1983).

The results of interferometry showed that in the normal human liver DM of hepatocytes was on average 546.0±29.6 pg, while during LC it increases by 23.7% as compared to the norm (p < 0.05), reaching 675.4±41.3 pg (Bezborodkina et al., 2021b). It has been previously found that DM of hepatocytes is 431.4±22.1 pg in the normal human liver and 640.0±49.2 pg in the cirrhotic human liver (Zavadskaya et al., 1983). Lower values of DM of hepatocytes in the normal human liver obtained by Zavadskaya et al. seem to be due to the fact that DM measurements were performed on biopsied material from young people with an average age of patients in our study was 44 years.

Thus, the loss of hepatocytes during the pathological process in the rat liver is fully compensated by an increase in the ploidy of cells and the hypertrophy of their cytoplasm. Compared with rats, the development of cirrhosis in humans causes deeper disturbances of liver architectonics, and there is no complete compensation for the loss of hepatocytes and liver parenchyma (Bezborodkina et al., 2021b).

It should be noted that even a complete restoration of the parenchyma volume and the number of hepatocytes in the cirrhotic liver does not guarantee the restoration of its function. The reason is a strong transformation of the liver architectonics, as a result of which hepatocytes perform their multiple functions under conditions of hypoxia, acute shortage of energy sources and necessary substrates. Therefore, an assessment of the key liver functions and an understanding of the mechanisms regulating these functions under pathological conditions is one of the primary tasks for prognosis and therapy of LC.

3.2. Characterisation of glycogenesis in the normal and the pathological liver of humans, rats and mice at different stages of the food cycle

It is obvious that carbohydrate metabolism and, in particular, glycogen and glucose metabolism in the liver, which is closely involved in food processing, is very different at different stages of digestion. Therefore, in order to determine the functional capabilities of the cirrhotic liver, to identify deviations from the norm and to explain their causes, it was necessary to compare glucose and glycogen metabolism in the normal and the pathological liver during the food cycle and to reveal the cellular mechanisms of its regulation.

3.2.1. Prolonged starvation. Blood glucose concentration, glycogen content and the activity of key enzymes of its metabolism in the normal and the cirrhotic rat liver after 48 h of starvation

Starving rats rapidly loose body and liver weight. According to our data, after 24 h of starvation the body weight of animals decreased by 12.5% and the liver weight, by 17.9%, the corresponding values after 48 h being 20.8% and 27.7%, respectively (Fig. 3.7).



Figure 3.7 - Change in body weight, liver weight and relative liver weight of rats during starvation, $X\pm S_x$. Notes: 1) differences from the value before the start of starvation (0 h) at significance level: a - p < 0.01, b - p < 0.001; 2) differences from the previous value at significance level: c - p < 0.01, d - p < 0.001.

However, after 48 h these parameters change much more slowly than at the beginning of starvation. Similar data were obtained by Soberon and Sanchez (1961), who found that rats starving for 48 h lost 20–25% of the liver weight. In addition to a decrease in liver weight, starvation also results in a significant decrease of the hepatocyte volume and protein content (Belloni et al., 1988).

During prolonged starvation, carbohydrate metabolism changes profoundly, with the liver glycogen reserves being severely depleted (Bois-Joyeux et al., 1990; Jungermann, 1992). The results presented in Table 4.5 indicate that the glycogen content in the normal liver of rats after 48 h of starvation is very low. These results are in agreement with the literature data (Giardina et al., 1994; Minassian et al., 1999).

99

Т	Table 3.5 —	Some indice	s of glucose	and glycoger	n metabolism	in blood ar	nd liver	of rats	after
48 h of s	starvation in	the norm an	d during LC	$L(X\pm S_x, n=3)$).				

Indicator	Control	LC
Glucose concentration in serum, mmol/L	3.24±0.28	3.16±0.14
Glycogen concentration in liver, μ mol glucosyl units/g raw weight of liver	15.4±0.2	10.4 ± 0.5^2
Glycogen content in hepatocytes, arbitrary units	2.09±0.06	1.87 ± 0.02^{1}
Glucose-6-phosphatase activity, nmol-min ⁻¹ -mg protein ⁻¹	44.2±0.6	43.4±1.3
Glucokinase activity, nmol-min ⁻¹ -mg protein ⁻¹	11.2±0.2	1.9 ± 0.1^2
Glycogen synthase activity, -G6P/+G6P	0.19±0.01	0.20±0.01
Activity of glycogen phosphorylase a , nmol-min ⁻¹ -mg protein ⁻¹	99.0±2.4	44.1 ± 1.6^2
Total glycogen phosphorylase activity, nmol-min ⁻¹ -mg protein ⁻¹	162.4±3.1	158.9±1.5

^{1,2} Significantly different from the value in the control ($^{1} p < 0.05$, $^{2} p < 0.001$).

However, in the liver of cirrhotic rats, the glycogen content after 48 h of starvation was even lower than in the control animals (Bezborodkina et al., 2013a; Bezborodkina et al., 2014; Bezborodkina et al., 2016). Despite the fact that glycogen concentration in the liver decreased sharply after 48 h starvation, most of the cells in its parenchyma did contain glycogen. Analysis of the histogram presented in Figure 4.8, a showed that after 48 h of starvation glycogen was present in about 70% of hepatocytes of the normal rat liver, and in some of the hepatocytes its content was very high. In contrast to the control animals, in cirrhotic rats glycogen was present in only a half of the hepatocyte population, though in some of them glycogen content reached the same level as in fed control rats (Fig. 3.8, b).



Figure 3.8 — Histograms of glycogen content distribution in hepatocytes of the mononucleate 4c-cell class in the control (*a*) and the cirrhotic (*b*) rat liver after 48 h of starvation.

Glycogen content in hepatocytes is regulated by the activity of enzymes of its synthesis and breakdown, and blood glucose concentration *per se* plays an important role for them. The data presented in Table 3.5 demonstrate that glucose concentration in peripheral blood of the control and the cirrhotic rats is at a similarly low level after 48 h of starvation (Bezborodkina et al., 2014). Similar data for rats starved for 40–48 h were obtained in other studies (Mlekusch et al., 1981; Calder, Geddes, 1992). Nevertheless, the normal level of glucose in the blood of cirrhotic rats does not imply that the processes associated with its production are undisturbed. Several studies have shown that after overnight fasting, glucose production by the cirrhotic liver is 20–40% lower than the norm (Reichle et al., 1978; Owen et al., 1981; Merli et al., 1986; Johansson et al., 1994). However, other studies have found that glucose production during LC is normal, being maintained by increased glucagon concentrations (Keller et al., 1982; Shmueli et al., 1993; Petrides et al., 1994). An analysis of the activity of the key enzymes of glycogen metabolism might elucidate the conflicting information on glucose production by the cirrhotic liver.

The study of G6Pase, the key enzyme responsible for glucose production by the liver, revealed no differences in its activity in starved cirrhotic rats from the control values (Table 3.5). Our data indicate that after 48 h of starvation glucose production by the cirrhotic rat liver is within the normal range. Since glycogen stores in the liver after 48 h of starvation are very low (Table 4.5) (Bezborodkina et al., 2014; Bezborodkina et al., 2016), it is obvious that glucose production during LC is almost completely carried out by gluconeogenesis (Bezborodkina et al., 2013a).

It has been shown that glucose controls the activity and amount of GK in the liver (Brocklehurst et al., 2004). During starvation, the activity of this enzyme decreases, while in the fed state it increases in accordance with the increase in the blood glucose concentration (Taketa et al., 1976). Since the K_m of GK for glucose is about 20 mM (Lowes et al., 1998), the rate of glucose phosphorylation under physiological conditions depends only on its intracellular concentration. It is natural to expect that a low blood glucose concentration during starvation would inhibit GK activity and promote the channelling of the substrate flux in the liver to glucose production.

Determination of GK activity in the normal liver of starved rats showed that when blood glucose concentration is reduced, GK activity is also low (Table 3.5) (Bezborodkina et al., 2013a). This result confirms the data of many authors that after 48 h of starvation GK activity

in the normal rat liver makes up 40–50% of the "fed" level (Vinuela et al., 1963; Perez et al., 1964; Bois-Joyeux et al., 1990; Minassian et al., 1999). As the duration of starvation increases, the activity of this enzyme decreases further (Minassian et al., 1999) down to its complete loss (Vinuela et al., 1963; Panserat et al., 2014). Though in our experiment the glucose concentration in the blood of control and experimental rats after 48 h of starvation was at the same level, GK activity in the cirrhotic liver was only 16% (p < 0.001) of the control values (Table 3.5) (Bezborodkina et al., 2013a).

Tissue intolerance to glucose is one of the characteristic manifestations of LC (Mion et al., 1996), which links it to diabetes. GK activity is markedly reduced in these diseases (Rossetti et al., 1993; Caro et al., 1995; Aiston et al., 2001; Wu et al., 2005). Impaired insulin secretion and/or insensitivity of cells to insulin is considered to be the main mechanism for the development of tissue glucose intolerance. Since GK activity in the liver is regulated by insulin-mediated expression levels of the enzyme (Iynedjian, 1993) and its intracellular compartmentalisation (Agius, 1994), an impaired secretion of this hormone or its binding by cells may lead to the dramatic decrease in GK activity during LC.

Determination of GS activity in cirrhotic rats after 48 h of starvation showed that it did not differ from that in the normal liver (Table 3.5) (Bezborodkina et al., 2014). In contrast to our data, it has been shown using the thioacetamide LC model that after 24 h of starvation GS activity in the cirrhotic rat liver was reduced as compared to the norm (Giardina et al., 1994). Similar data were obtained for rats with biliary LC induced by bile duct ligation. In this case, the decrease in the total and the active forms of GS correlated with the decrease in the number of hepatocytes in the liver (Krähenbühl et al., 1996). On the other hand, it was found that during CCl₄-induced cirrhosis in rats the level of the active form of GS did not differ from the norm (Krähenbühl et al., 1991).

According to our data, GP*a* activity in the cirrhotic rat liver after 48 h of fasting was lower than normal by more than 50% (p < 0.001) (Table 3.5) (Bezborodkina et al., 2014). Since GP activation is carried out by a cAMP-dependent mechanism (Rath et al., 2000; Roach, 2002) and since the level of cAMP production falls during LC (Francavilla et al., 1978; Vysotskaya et al., 1998), it can be assumed that the GP levels in the cirrhotic liver are affected by the decrease in adenylate cyclase activity and cAMP concentration (Bezborodkina et al., 2014). Thus, carbohydrate metabolism in cirrhotic rats starved for 48 h differs significantly from that starved control rats. According to our data, the main differences are an approximately 6-fold decrease in GK activity and an almost twofold decrease in GP*a* activity.

3.2.2. Absorption period. Blood glucose concentration, glycogen content and activity of the key enzymes of its metabolism in the normal and the cirrhotic rat liver after glucose administration to starved animals

Food intake after starvation causes significant metabolic changes in various organs, including the liver. The absorptive period of the food cycle is characterised by the deposition of glycogen and the predominant use of glucose for the body's energy needs. The duration of the absorptive period after carbohydrate ingestion is thought to be about 2 hours (Niewoehner et al., 1984). During this time, glucose is almost completely absorbed from the intestine and its concentration in the plasma increases.

According to our data, oral administration of 30% glucose to starved rats leads to a rapid increase in its concentration in the peripheral blood in both the control and the experimental groups. However, after 2 h glucose concentration in cirrhotic rats was 14.2% (p < 0.05) lower than in the control animals (Fig. 3.9) (Bezborodkina et al., 2014). Glucose reached the maximum concentration, ~9 μ M/l, in the blood of control rats 90 min after *per os* administration. Earlier it has been shown that administration of 50% glucose to starving rats causes an increase in blood glucose concentration up to 9 μ M/ml in 10 min and up to 12 μ M/ml in 20 min (Niewoehner et al., 1984).



Figure 3.9 — Glucose concentration in blood serum of control (Control) and experimental (Cirrhosis) rats at different time intervals after glucose administration to starved animals. Significantly different from the value in the control: * p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05. For each point n=3.

Glucose concentration in the blood after a meal is determined mainly by the rate of absorption in the intestine and subsequent utilisation by various tissues. For example, the brain utilises 45–60% of glucose, red blood cells, 5–10%, kidneys, 10–15%, and skeletal muscles, 15–20% (Dimitriadis et al., 2021). However, blood glucose concentration depends not only on glucose utilisation but also on its production by the liver and adrenal glands. Therefore, the reduced blood glucose concentration in cirrhotic rats after refeeding with glucose may be due to different reasons. It may be associated with a slower glucose entry from the intestine into the blood, a higher rate of its utilisation by various tissues (primarily skeletal muscles), as well as a lower glucose production, mainly by the liver and adrenal glands (Bezborodkina et al., 2014).

It is generally accepted that glucose intolerance of various tissues is a characteristic feature of many patients with LC (Muller et al., 1992; Riggio et al., 1997; Kruszynska, 1999; Schneiter et al., 1999). In such a situation, one cannot expect a high rate of absorption and utilisation of glucose from food. On the other hand, absorption and transport of sugars and other substances in the intestine are impaired during LC (Beloborodova, 1978; Stratton et al., 2003) and the morphology of this organ is altered (Onori et al., 2000). Therefore, structural and functional disorders observed in the intestine during LC may be one of the reasons behind a weaker increase in blood glucose concentration in rats with CCl₄-cirrhosis as compared to the norm.

Glucose administration stimulated glycogen synthesis in the liver of both control and experimental rats (Fig. 3.10). Nevertheless, during the absorption period glycogen

accumulation in hepatocytes was slower in the cirrhotic liver than in the normal one (Bezborodkina et al., 2013b).



Figure 3.10 — Dynamics of glycogen accumulation in hepatocytes in the normal liver (Control) and the cirrhotic liver (Cirrhosis) of rats at different time intervals after glucose administration to starved animals. Notes: 1) vertical sections — error of the mean; 2) mean values during LC differ from normal values at the significance level * p < 0.001; *** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.05.

The reasons of the lower rate of glycogen accumulation and lower glycogen content in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic liver in the absorptive period are unclear. They may be associated with the metabolism (activity of enzymes in the liver directly or indirectly involved in its synthesis and degradation) or with the number of hepatocytes and their characteristics (ploidy, size, proliferative activity, etc.).

Undoubtedly, glycogen content in hepatocytes is strongly influenced by the level of activity of the enzymes catalysing equilibrium and non-equilibrium reactions of glucose production, glycolysis, gluconeogenesis, glycogenogenesis and glycogenolysis. Glucose administration causes a weaker rise in GK activity in the cirrhotic rat liver as compared to the normal one: from 1.5 to 5.2 nmol-min⁻¹ -mg protein⁻¹ *vs* from 11.2 to \sim 20.0 nmol-min⁻¹ -mg protein⁻¹, respectively (Fig. 3.11) (Bezborodkina et al., 2013a). As a result, the ratio of GK activity in the liver of the experimental and the control rats (LC/C) was only ¹/₄, indicating an extremely low GK phosphorylation activity during cirrhosis (Fig. 3.12).



Figure 3.11 — Glucokinase (GK) and glucose-6-phosphatase (G6Pase) activity in the liver of the control and the experimental rats at different time intervals after glucose administration to starved animals.



Figure 3.12 — Activity ratios of glucose and glycogen metabolism enzymes in the normal and the cirrhotic rat liver during the absorptive period after glucose administration to animals starved for 48 h.

It is assumed that when GK activity is weak, the liver may use other metabolic pathways that can partially or completely compensate for the insufficient phosphorylation activity of GK in LC. Indeed, the activity of other hexokinases capable of phosphorylating

106

glucose has been found to be increased in the cirrhotic human liver (Lowes et al., 1998; Taketa et al., 1976, 1988). In addition, in some cases, glucose phosphorylation in the liver involves G6Pase. For example, in experimental diabetes or prolonged starvation, when GK activity is very low, an intense phosphorylation of glucose due to the transferase activity of G6Pase is observed (Nordlie, Arion, 1964; Alvares, Nordlie, 1977; Nordlie et al., 1979). Therefore, an increased activity of hexokinases with a high affinity for glucose and the transformation of the hydrolase function of G6Pase into the transferase function can be considered as an adaptive response to the extremely weak phosphorylation capacity of GK during cirrhosis.

In the normal liver, about 85% of the G6P formed during glucose phosphorylation is used almost equally for glycogen synthesis and for glycolysis (O'Doherty et al., 1996). In the cirrhotic liver, due to a low GK activity, almost all G6P is metabolised via glycolysis or the pentose phosphate pathway (shunt).

It has been shown that the loss of liver parenchyma during 6 months of experimental cirrhosis development is equal to five times the initial liver mass (Peters, 1962; Sarkisov et al., 1975; Brodsky, Uryvaeva, 1981; Smejkalova et al., 1985; Macdonald et al., 1986). In intact liver, the loss of liver parenchyma during the same time corresponds only to its initial mass (Ryabinina, Benyush, 1973; Ottensen et al., 1980). According to our data (Table 3.1), 1 g of the normal liver of adult rats contains ~ 2.5×10^8 hepatocytes (Bezborodkina et al., 2021b). Consequently, the loss of hepatocytes resulting from chronic exposure of rats to CCl₄ for 6 months would be about 10×10^8 cells/g liver. This means that approximately the same number of hepatocytes must be generated by compensatory reparative regeneration in order to maintain the multiple functions of the cirrhotic liver at an adequate level. The replenishment of such a significant number of hepatocytes in the course of cirrhosis development requires vast amounts of energy and plastic materials, which are mainly derived by glycolysis and the pentose phosphate pathway. Our data on the high rate of glycolysis during LC in rats (Fig. 3.12) (Bezborodkina et al., 2013a) confirm the results of other authors obtained from cirrhotic patients (Taketa et al., 1976, 1988; Nishikawa et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2018). The available data suggest that regenerative processes in the cirrhotic liver are provided with energy and necessary intermediate products due to a high rate of glycolysis and the pentose phosphate pathway.

Intense catabolic processes during LC in skeletal muscle, liver, and adipose tissue (Marchesini et al., 1981; Weber et al., 1992; Kalafateli et al., 2015; Gangitano et al., 2022)

cause an increase in blood concentrations of amino acids, glycerol, and lactate, which are during destruction of cells and cellular structures. Increased concentration of these catabolic products is a powerful stimulus for the increase of the rate of gluconeogenesis in the liver. It is worth noting that in addition to the transformation of non-carbohydrate substances into glucose, the function of gluconeogenesis is to remove lactate from cells and tissues functioning under conditions of oxygen deficiency, thus protecting them from acidosis.

Determination of the activity of the key enzymes of gluconeogenesis, G6Pase and F1,6BPase, in the liver of rats of the control and the experimental group in the absorptive period yielded unexpected and paradoxical results. On the one hand, we found that F1,6BPase activity during LC was increased approximately 2.4-fold (p < 0.001) as compared to the norm (Bezborodkina et al., 2013a). This result confirms the data of many authors that the rate of gluconeogenesis is markedly increased during LC (Newsholme, 1976; Owen et al., 1983; Krähenbühl, Reichen, 1993; Bugianesi et al., 1998; Petersen et al., 1999; Changani et al., 2001). On the other hand, during the absorptive period G6Pase activity in the cirrhotic rat liver was, on average, about one third (p < 0.01) lower than in the liver of the control rats (Fig. 3.11, Fig. 3.12) (Bezborodkina et al., 2013a).

There are two points of view on G6Pase activity in the liver during the absorptive period. According to one, glucose production in the normal liver decreases after food intake (Newgard et al., 1984; Minassian et al., 1999; van Dijk et al., 2001; Moore et al., 2012). According to the other, it does not decrease and even increases (Rossetti et al., 1993; Massillon et al., 1995; Rognstad, 1996; Rossetti, 1996).

Our data (Fig. 3.12) indicate that both an intensive gluconeogenesis and a high glucose production are maintained in the normal liver during the absorptive period (Bezborodkina et al., 2013a). These results are supported by the findings that intensive gluconeogenesis and glucose production occur for at least 2 h after glucose administration to starved rats, even though exogenous glucose is absorbed by the liver and gluconeogenic substrates are used for glycogen synthesis (Niewoehner et al., 1984; Niewoehner, Nuttall, 1988). The contradictory data on G6Pase activity and the level of glucose production during the absorptive period may be due to differences in the time intervals studied by the authors. For example, the conclusion about the inhibition of G6Pase during refeeding was made on the basis of the analysis of the dependence between the enzyme activity and the liver glycogen content plotted at only three points: 90, 180 and 360 min after the beginning of refeeding (Minassian et al., 1999). In other
words, the authors investigated the end of the absorptive period and the beginning of the postabsorptive period, whereas we investigated the absorptive period only (0-2 h).

The reasons for such a low G6Pase activity in cirrhotic rats during the entire absorptive period (Fig. 3.11) (Bezborodkina et al., 2013a) cannot be explained only by a 9% decrease of the liver parenchyma (Table 3.1) (Bezborodkina et al., 2021b). One of the reasons for the decrease of the G6Pase activity is the disruption of RER membranes after the damaging impact of LP products (Benedetti et al., 1980; de Groot et al., 1985; Ohyashiki et al., 1995). In this regard, a decreased activity of SOD, catalase, and, accordingly, an increased concentration of LP products in blood and in the cirrhotic liver (Fig. 3.6) is an evidence in favour of the hypothesis that the enhancement of LP processes is one of the main mechanisms behind the low G6Pase activity in the cirrhotic liver.

Changes in the activities of GK, PFK, F1,6BPase, and G6Pase lead to a decrease or increase in the concentration of G6P in the liver, indirectly affecting glycogen levels in the liver cells. However, it is GS and GP that directly affect the glycogen content in hepatocytes, because these enzymes are closely involved in its synthesis and degradation by attaching or removing glucose residues in glycogen molecules.

The results presented in Figure 3.13 demonstrate a rapid increase in GS activity in the liver of the control and the experimental group of rats after glucose administration, confirming the information that the activity of this enzyme is stimulated after feeding (Niewoehner and Nuttall, 1988; Niewoehner et al., 1984; Ercan et al., 1994). As a consequence, the ratio of GS activities in the liver of the control and the experimental group of rats during the absorptive period was close to 1.0 (Fig. 3.12). Nevertheless, the enzyme activity during the absorptive period was 6.2% lower in the experimental group (p < 0.01) than in the control group (Bezborodkina et al., 2014).



Figure 3.13 — Activity of glycogen synthase (GS) and glycogen phosphorylase a (GPa) in the normal liver and the cirrhotic liver (LC) of rats in the absorptive period at different time intervals after administration of glucose to starved animals.

In contrast to GS, whose activity rapidly increased after glucose administration and then reached a plateau, the activity of GP*a* underwent more complex changes during the absorptive period. In rats of the control group, glucose administration caused a rapid drop in GP*a* activity, but it began to increase 1 h after the start of refeeding, reaching the initial level by the end of the absorptive period (Fig. 3.13) (Bezborodkina et al., 2014).

Since the absolute activity of GP is much higher than that of GS, the former plays a leading role in the control of glycogen metabolism in the liver (Roach, 2002; Ferrer et al., 2003). GP*a* is a strong inhibitor of GS phosphorylase and therefore a reduction in its activity was considered a necessary condition for the initiation of glycogen synthesis in the liver (Hers, 1990). The results presented in Figure 3.13 indicate that a decrease in GP*a* activity in the normal liver at the beginning of the absorptive period activates GS and leads to rapid glycogen synthesis in hepatocytes (Figure 3.10) (Bezborodkina et al., 2014). Our data demonstrate the reciprocal interaction between GS and GP, which has been shown earlier in other studies (Minassian et al., 1999; Aiston et al., 2003). However, this pattern of enzyme interaction only persists for a short time interval. Sixty minutes after the start of refeeding, when the glycogen content in hepatocytes becomes sufficiently high (Fig. 3.10), GP activity begins to increase, reaching the initial "starvation" level by the end of the absorptive period (Fig. 3.13) (Bezborodkina et al., 2014). As a result, in the second half of the absorptive period, both GS

110

and GP become very active (Fig. 3.13), i.e. glycogen synthesis and degradation in the normal liver occur simultaneously. Thus, the increase in glycogen content may be an important factor stimulating glycogen turnover in the liver and preventing its uncontrolled accumulation (Bezborodkina et al., 2014). The presence of glycogen turnover in the liver is confirmed by the direct correlation between the rate of glycogenolysis and the concentration of glycogen in the liver (Magnusson et al., 1994).

In contrast to the control group, the initiation of glycogen synthesis and its further accumulation in the liver of the cirrhotic rats occurred against the background of a low GP*a* activity throughout the absorptive period (Fig. 3.12, Fig. 3.13) (Bezborodkina et al., 2014).

As mentioned above, glycogen can be synthesised by direct and indirect pathways. In the latter case, the substrate for GS is G6P synthesised from gluconeogenic C₃-precursors (Newgard et al., 1983; Katz, McGarry, 1984; Kuwajima et al., 1986; Napoli et al., 1992). In the normal liver, the contribution of the direct and the indirect pathway to glycogen synthesis varies depending on the stage of the food cycle, the amount and composition of food, the animal species, and a number of other factors. It is thought that in case of *ad libitum* feeding, the ratio of the direct and indirect pathway is approximately 50/50 (Soares et al., 2009); however, during the absorptive period, the contribution of the direct pathway can increase up to 77% (Magnusson et al., 1989).

A weak phosphorylation activity of GK (hexokinase IV) during LC (Fig. 3.11, Fig. 3.12) can be compensated by the activity of other hexokinases, primarily I and II (Taketa et al., 1976, 1988; Lowes et al., 1998). At the same time, a high activity of these isoenzymes in the liver does not necessarily entail an increased GS activity and an intensive glycogenogenesis. This paradox is associated with the presence of two pools of G6P in hepatocytes (Seoane et al., 1996; Gomis et al., 2002). One of them is formed with the participation of GK and in the normal liver activates the hepatic type of GS (GYS2), stimulating glycogen synthesis in hepatocytes. Another pool of G6P is formed by the activity of hexokinase (**not** glucokinase!) and stimulates GYS1 (muscle-type GS) but not GYS2 (Meijer, 2002). Therefore, an increased glucose phosphorylation in the cirrhotic liver due to an increase in hexokinase activity does not increase hepatic GYS2 activity and, consequently, does not stimulate glycogen synthesis in hepatocytes.

Analysis of GK and GS dynamics in the absorptive period showed that the correlation coefficients between the activity of these enzymes in the control group were 0.93 (p < 0.001)

and in the experimental group, 0.95 (p < 0.001). This result suggests that the direct pathway of glycogen synthesis (GK \rightarrow G6P \rightarrow GS \rightarrow glycogen) also functions in the cirrhotic liver, but its contribution to glycogen accumulation in hepatocytes is small as compared with gluconeogenesis. According to our data, the contribution of the direct pathway to glycogen synthesis in the cirrhotic rat liver is about 25% and that of the indirect pathway, about 75%.

Almost all liver glycogen is concentrated in the cells of the liver parenchyma. Therefore, the characteristics of glycogenesis in the normal and the cirrhotic liver are largely determined by the number and properties of hepatocytes. At the same time, the influence of cell and tissue factors on the glycogen content and its dynamics in hepatocytes at different stages of the food cycle has been studied insufficiently. In particular, the role of the cell size and ploidy in the process of glycogenesis is unclear. It is also unknown how different subpopulations of hepatocytes influence the rate of glycogen accumulation in the liver during feeding. Using the methods of quantitative cytochemistry, we studied in detail the influence of these cellular factors on glycogenesis in hepatocyte populations in the normal and the pathological liver of rats and humans.

An analysis of the histograms presented in Figure 3.14, *a* and Figure 3.14, *b* showed that glycogenesis in the hepatocyte population of the cirrhotic liver is characterised by a considerable asynchrony. In the normal liver the coefficients of variation of hepatocyte distribution by glycogen content vary in the range of 20–30%, while in the cirrhotic they vary in the range of 40–55%. These data indicate that different cells in the liver parenchyma synthesise glycogen at different rates, with the differences in the ability of cells to accumulate glycogen increasing with the increased duration of the absorptive period.



Figure 3.14 — Histograms of distribution of glycogen content in hepatocytes in the class of mononuclear 4c cells in the control (a) and the cirrhotic (b) rat liver 10 and 60 min after glucose administration to fasted animals.

The presence of polyploid cells in the parenchyma of the mammalian liver is a characteristic feature of this organ. In some species, polyploidy may affect almost the entire population of hepatocytes, reaching high levels (Brodsky, Uryvaeva, 1981). It has been found that the number of polyploid cells increases in case of damage and various diseases of this organ (Kohno et al., 1991; Kudryavtsev et al., 1993: Tarao et al., 1993, 1994; Melchiorri et al., 1994). Therefore, the effect of ploidy levels on glycogen content in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic liver is a fundamental question. It has been shown that in the postabsorptive period of the food cycle, the glycogen content in the hepatocytes of the normal liver increases in proportion to the ploidy level of the cells (Kudryavtsev et al., 1979, 1980; Shalakhmetova et al., 1981; Mayetsyan, 1983). In this work, we investigated the relationship between the glycogen content in hepatocytes and their ploidy level during the absorptive period, in the course of intensive glycogenesis, in the normal and in the cirrhotic liver.

113

Our data confirmed that the rate of glycogen accumulation by hepatocytes of the cirrhotic liver is lower than of the normal hepatocytes (Table 3.6) (Bezborodkina et al., 2009a; Bezborodkina et al., 2016). Glycogen content in the normal liver cells 10 min after glucose administration to starved rats was 23% higher than in the cells of the cirrhotic liver, and after 60 min it was by 69% higher (Table 3.6).

Table 3.6 — Glycogen content (arbitrary units) in mononucleate and binucleate hepatocytes of different ploidy classes in the normal and the cirrhotic (LC) rat liver after 48 h of starvation (0 min) and 10 and 60 min after glucose administration to starved animals ($X\pm S_x$, n = 3).

Time, Ploidy classes, c						
min	2c	2c×2	4c	4c×2	8c	8c×2
Norm						
0	4.7± 0.3 (10)	9.9±0.2 (46)	9.6±0.1 (637)	19.3± 0.3 (116)	18.2 ± 0.4 (44)	-
10	8.8 ± 0.5^{3} (12)	16.3 ± 0.6^{3} (54)	17.2 ± 0.1^{3} (740)	$\begin{array}{c} 32.9 \pm 0.8^{3} \\ (168) \end{array}$	34.3 ± 0.9^3 (64)	-
60	17.3 ± 1.8^{3} (6)	$ \begin{array}{r} 33.2 \pm 0.8^{3} \\ (50) \end{array} $	$33.5 \pm 0.2^{3} \\ (1078)$	$ \begin{array}{c} 65.9 \pm 0.8^{3} \\ (183) \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 63.8 \pm 1.7^3 \\ (39) \end{array} $	-
LC						
0	3.7± 0.8 (16)	7.2 ± 0.8 (27)	7.6± 0.2 (903)	14.9±0.6 (185)	14.4 ± 0.6 (138)	27.1±10.8 (8)
10	6.8±2.2 (12)	13.4 ± 3.9 (34)	$ \begin{array}{c} 13.2 \pm 0.7^{3} \\ (599) \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 27.1 \pm 3.2^{3} \\ (183) \end{array}$	26.4 ± 3.1^{3} (86)	$54.9 \pm 6.1^{1} \\ (14)$
60	10.4 ± 1.0^{3} (43)	$\begin{array}{c} 21.0 \pm 2.0^{3} \\ (47) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 22.3 \pm 0.8^{3} \\ (593) \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} 44.1 \pm 4.7^{3} \\ (67) \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 41.5 \pm 3.1^{3} \\ (93) \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c} 76.2 \pm 9.1^2 \\ (10) \end{array}$

Notes: 1) results for each time point are a weighted average of data obtained for 3 rats; 2) number of cells measured is in parentheses; 3) glycogen content in hepatocytes differs from the corresponding value in starved animals at the significance level $^{1} - p < 0.05$, $^{2} - p < 0.01$, $^{3} - p < 0.001$.

Although hepatocytes in the normal liver accumulate more glycogen at different stages of refeeding than in the cirrhotic liver, the glycogen content in mononucleate and binucleate hepatocytes of different ploidy classes in both the normal and the cirrhotic liver matched the gene dosage, i.e. it was the same per genome (Figure 3.15) (Bezborodkina et al., 2009a; Bezborodkina et al., 2016).



Figure 3.15 — Dynamics of glycogen content in hepatocytes of different ploidy classes in control (*a*) and cirrhotic liver (*b*) during refeeding of rats with glucose. Note: vertical sections — error of the mean.

Thus, the conclusion that the glycogen content in hepatocytes is proportional to the level of cell ploidy during glycogenesis (Fig. 3.16) (Bezborodkina et al., 2016) fully coincides with an earlier conclusion derived from the study of this pattern in a relatively stable postabsorptive period of the food cycle (Kudryavtsev et al., 1979, 1980; Shalakhmetova et al., 1981; Maytesyan, 1983). Consequently, the general principles of regulation of transcription and translation in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic liver are unaffected by the pathological process, although the absolute level of these processes may differ in the normal and the pathologically altered organ.



Figure 3.16 - Dependence of glycogen content in hepatocytes of the control (a) and the cirrhotic (b) rat liver on cell ploidy during starvation (0 min), as well as 10 and 60 min after glucose administration to starved animals. Note: vertical sections are the error of the mean.

The size of cells is another fundamental parameter that significantly affects their structure and function (Jorgensen, Tyers, 2004). Most of studies on the relationship between the cell size and the cell function are devoted to the influence of ion-dependent fluctuations of

the cell volume on metabolism. Changes of the cell volume due to hydration or dehydration have been shown to have a strong influence on various metabolic pathways, including protein synthesis and degradation, lipogenesis, glycolysis, and urea synthesis (Waldegger, Lang, 1998). However, rapid oscillations of the hepatocyte size caused by swelling or dehydration have a small amplitude and are not accompanied by any changes in the number of organelles or other structures in the cells (Espelt et al., 2008). In contrast, the interval of static changes of the hepatocyte size in the mammalian liver is incomparably higher than the cell volume fluctuations caused by hyper- and hypo-osmotic conditions.

Interferometry determination of the dry mass (DM) of hepatocytes^{*)} in the normal (Bezborodkina et al., 2022) and the cirrhotic liver showed that this parameter could change 10-fold during the absorptive period (Bezborodkina et al., 2016). The differences in the DM of cells are partly due to the differences in their ploidy, but DM of hepatocytes differed greatly even within one ploidy class. For example, in starved rats, the DM of mononucleate 4c cells varied from 400 to 798 pg (Bezborodkina et al., 2016). The reasons behind this variability are not entirely clear. It is known, however, that hepatocytes perform numerous tissue-specific functions, some of which are related to protein synthesis and secretion. It is also known that cells have circadian, circahoralian and other rhythms of synthesis of proteins and their excretion into the blood plasma (Brodsky, 1992; Brodsky, 2014). At the same time, the variability of cells by protein content, inclusion of labelled amino acids and protein excretion at the maximum and the minimum of the circahoralian rhythm can be as high as 2–4-fold (Novikova, Borovkov, 1987). Based on this information, we can assume that the changes in the DM of hepatocytes in our experiments were mainly associated with fluctuations in protein synthesis and excretion from cells.

Cell size is thought to have a significant effect on the metabolism and glycogen content of hepatocytes. It is believed that there is a relationship between the size of hepatocytes and glycogen content in them: larger hepatocytes have a higher glycogen content (Newsholme, Start, 1975). We tested this hypothesis and found, as can be seen in Figs. 3.17, *a*; 3.18, *a*; 3.19, *a*; 3.20, *a*; 3.21, *a*, that the glycogen content in hepatocytes in the normal rat and human liver did correlate with their size (Bezborodkina et al., 2009a; Bezborodkina et al., 2016). This dependence was observed in each cell ploidy class.

^{*)} About 85% of dry mass of hepatocytes is due to the protein content (Brodsky, 1966)

The dependence of glycogen content on the hepatocyte size is clearly observed in the rat liver both during starvation and during intensive glycogen synthesis. It is particularly graphic in the class of mononucleate tetraploid hepatocytes (Fig. 3.20, a). Our data indicate that there are three subpopulations of hepatocytes differing in glycogen content in the normal liver (Fig. 3.20, a). These subpopulations might be associated with the portal, the intermediate and the zone of the lobule (Bezborodkina et al., 2009a; Bezborodkina et al., 2016).



Figure 3.17 — Dependence of glycogen content on dry mass of hepatocytes (DMH) of different ploidy classes of the normal (*a*) and the cirrhotic (*b*) liver in starved rats (0-th min). Note: each point on the graph corresponds to one cell.



Figure 3.18 — Dependence of glycogen content on dry mass of hepatocytes (DMH) of different ploidy classes of the normal (a) and the cirrhotic (b) liver 10 min after glucose administration to starved rats. Note: each point on the graph corresponds to one cell.



Figure 3.19 — Dependence of glycogen content on dry mass of hepatocytes (DMH) of different ploidy classes of the normal (a) and the cirrhotic (b) liver 60 min after glucose administration to starved rats. Note: each point on the graph corresponds to one cell.



Figure 3.20 — Tetraploid hepatocytes of the control (*a*) and the cirrhotic (*b*) rat liver at different stages of refeeding. Relationship between glycogen content and their dry mass (DMH). Notes: 1) each point on the graph corresponds to one cell; 2) three subpopulations of cells in the control rat liver are shown in black, grey and white.



Figure 3.21 — Dependence of glycogen content on dry weight of hepatocytes of different ploidy classes in the control human liver (a), the liver of humans with chronic hepatitis (b) and the liver of humans with cirrhosis (c). Note: each point on the graph corresponds to one cell.

In contrast to the normal liver, there is no dependence of glycogen content in hepatocytes on their size in the cirrhotic liver of rats and humans (Fig. 3.17, b; 3.18, b; 3.19, b; 3.20, b; 3.21, c). Based on this, we can assume that the lack of dependence between hepatocyte size and glycogen content in the cirrhotic liver is mainly due to the disruption of its lobular structure, which leads to a sharp increase in the heterogeneity of the hepatocyte microenvironment (Bezborodkina et al., 2016).

Thus, we have shown that during the absorptive period of the food cycle the intensity of glycogen accumulation in the cirrhotic liver is lower than in the normal liver and that it differs considerably in different cells of the hepatocyte population. In addition, we found a direct correlation between the size of hepatocytes and their glycogen content in the normal liver. No such correlation was found in the cirrhotic liver.

3.2.3. Blood glucose concentration, glycogen content in hepatocytes and activity of the key enzymes of its metabolism in the normal and the pathologically altered liver of humans, rats and mice in the postabsorptive period after overnight fasting

Most data on the content and metabolism of glycogen in the normal and pathologically altered liver have been obtained for the postabsorptive period, the duration of which is 10–12 hours. For instance, in humans a typical postabsorptive period is the state of the organism after an overnight fasting.

Several studies have been devoted to the analysis of glycogen content in the pathologically altered human and rat liver during the postabsorptive period of the food cycle. Nevertheless, the available data do not provide an unambiguous answer to the question about the level of glycogen in the damaged organ. In particular, using a model of experimental LC in rats (CCl_4 + phenobarbital), it was shown that the glycogen content per hepatocyte in the cirrhotic rat liver was reduced by about 36% as compared to the norm (Krähenbühl et al., 1991). Since GS and GP*a* activity did not change, the authors concluded that the fall in the glycogen content in the cirrhotic liver was due to "intrinsic" causes. In another work, using a model of long-term cholestasis in rats, it was found that the glycogen content per millilitre of hepatocytes was reduced by approximately 61% (Krähenbühl et al., 1996). The authors attributed the decrease of the glycogen reserves to the decrease in the rate of glycogen synthesis due to a low GS activity. Finally, using the model of the those in the control animals (Giardina et al., 1994).

The available data on glycogen content in the cirrhotic human liver are also ambiguous. The study of liver biopsy material from 28 alcoholic LC patients showed that the glycogen content was 25.8 ± 3.5 mg/g of crude mass, while in two healthy people it was higher, 32.0 and 48.8 mg/g of crude mass (Owen et al., 1981). These values correspond approximately to the mean glycogen content (43.7 mg/g) in the livers of 58 healthy volunteers after 12–16 h of overnight fasting (Nilsson, 1973). The decreased glycogen content during LC was explained by an increase in the proportion of fibrous tissue, which was $41\pm3\%$ in the liver parenchyma of the cirrhotic patients (Owen et al., 1981). It is known that the parenchyma occupies about 90% of the volume of the normal human liver (Snyder et al., 1975). Based on these data, we can conclude that the concentration of glycogen in fibrosis-free parenchyma in cirrhotic patients

will actually be not 25.8 ± 3.5 mg/g, as noted in Owen et al., 1981, but 52.6 ± 7.1 mg/g. This calculated value does not differ from the value of the glycogen concentration in the normal human liver, 43.7 ± 1.8 mg/g, reported by Nilsson (1973).

In patients with alcoholic and biliary cirrhosis the glycogen content per millilitre of hepatocyte is about 50% lower than in the norm (Krähenbühl et al., 2003). At the same time, the levels of GS and GP in patients in the control group and the group with LC did not differ, and the authors attributed the drop in the glycogen content to a \sim 7-fold decrease in GK activity. However, no mechanism of GK involvement in the decrease of glycogen levels was suggested. Finally, in a study using ²H₂O method and ¹³C-NMR spectroscopy, it was found that glycogen concentration in the liver of cirrhotic patients was by 34% lower than in the control group. Unfortunately, the authors related the glycogen levels were reduced. Furthermore, the authors showed that the decrease in the glycogen content was accompanied by a 3.5-fold drop in glycogenolysis in the liver of cirrhotic patients (Petersen et al., 1999). This fact is surprising, since such a strong decrease in glycogenolysis should have resulted to an increase in the glycogen content in the liver.

In contrast to the data presented above, the results of glycogen concentration determination in the liver of control rats and rats with CCl_4 -cirrhosis in the postabsorptive period, which we obtained using the biochemical method, showed that it doubled in the cirrhotic liver as compared with the norm: 56.5 ± 7.9 vs 28.3 ± 6.5 mg/g of liver crude mass (p < 0.05), respectively (Bezborodkina et al., 2022).

One of the possible reasons behind the difference between our data and the results obtained by other authors may be different methods of determining the volume of liver parenchyma in the cirrhotic liver. The accuracy of this determination is very important for a correct estimation of glycogen concentration in the liver with the use of biochemical techniques. Therefore, we used the cytofluorimetric method to measure the glycogen content. In this case, there is no need to take into account the volume of liver parenchyma in the pathologically altered liver, because the glycogen content is measured directly in hepatocytes.

Microscopic examination of hepatocytes stained with the fluorescent PAS reaction showed that normal hepatocytes are characterised by a rather fine structure and distinct contours of the nucleus and the cytoplasm (Fig. 3.22, a, c). Chronic poisoning of rats with CCl₄ not only causes a fibrous degeneration of the liver parenchyma but also alters the

structure of the hepatocytes. They increase in size, become vacuolated and show signs of dystrophy. A distinctive feature of the cell population of the parenchyma during LC is the polymorphism of its hepatocytes both by size and by the structure of the cytoplasm. At the same time, some cells characteristic of normal liver can also be found (Fig. 3.22, b, d) (Bezborodkina et al., 2013b; Bezborodkina et al., 2022).



Figure 3.22 — Rat hepatocytes of the control (a, c) and the experimental group (b, d). Fluorescent PAS reaction.

Cytofluorometry of glycogen in rat hepatocytes showed that after overnight fasting its content in the cirrhotic liver was significantly higher than in the cells of the normal organ (Fig. 3.23, *a*). This confirms our results of the glycogen content measurements obtained using biochemical analysis (Bezborodkina et al., 2022).



Figure 3.23 — Glycogen content in hepatocytes (*a*) and activity of enzymes of its metabolism (*b*) in the normal and the cirrhotic rat liver. GP — total glycogen phosphorylase; GP*a* — glycogen phosphorylase *a*; G6Pase — glucose-6-phosphatase; * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.001. Enzyme activity was normalised for fibrotic tissue content.

The study of the activity of the key enzymes of glycogenesis and glycogenolysis in the rat liver showed that the levels of total GP and its active form during LC were about 20% lower than in the normal liver (Fig. 3.23, *b*) (Bezborodkina et al., 2022). GS activity in the cirrhotic liver did not differ from the control values (Fig. 3.23, *b*) (Bezborodkina et al., 2022). These data are in agreement with the results obtained earlier (Kudryavtseva et al., 1994) and suggest that glycogen accumulation in hepatocytes may be caused by a weakening of glycogenolysis due to a decrease in GP*a* activity.

Analysis of micrographs of human hepatocytes stained by fluorescent PAS reaction showed that the cells of CH patients increase in size and become more polymorphic; vacuoles, apparently of lipid origin, appear in their cytoplasm (Fig. 3.24, *b*, *c*). In cirrhotic patients, the proportion of cells with pathological features increases and the changes become more pronounced (Fig. 3.24, *d*) (Bezborodkina et al., 2022).



Figure 3.24 — Human hepatocytes. a - normal; b, c - chronic hepatitis; c - liver cirrhosis. Fluorescent PAS reaction.

Cytofluorometry of glycogen in the hepatocytes of the normal and the pathological human liver showed that, similarly to rats, its content during LC is much higher than in the norm (Fig. 3.25, a) (Bezborodkina et al., 2022). Our data also indicate that the chronic inflammatory process in the human liver is accompanied not only by the rearrangement of the

lobular structure of this organ and changes in the composition and morphology of the parenchyma cells but also by a gradual accumulation of glycogen in hepatocytes with the increasing severity of the liver damage. On average, the glycogen content in hepatocytes of CH patients exceeded the norm by 88%, and in cells of LC patients, by 160% (Fig. 3.25, a) (Bezborodkina et al., 2022). At the same time, glycogen accumulation in hepatocytes of LC patients was accompanied by a stronger decrease in the activities of both total glycogen phosphorylase and its active form, GPa, than during LC in rats: by 22% and 46%, respectively (Fig. 3.25, b) (Bezborodkina et al., 2022). This result confirms the earlier data (Kudryavtseva et al., 1992, 1994) and suggests that the weakening of glycogenolysis due to a low GPa activity is particularly important for the increase of glycogen content during LC in humans, similarly to what is observed in rats. To reveal the mechanisms of hepatocyte glycogenolysis in the cirrhotic liver, the main factors regulating GS and GPa activity and affecting glycogen levels in the liver should be identified.



Figure 3.25 — Glycogen content in hepatocytes (a) and activity of enzymes of its metabolism (b) in the normal and the cirrhotic human liver. GP — total glycogen phosphorylase; GP*a* — glycogen phosphorylase *a*; G6Pase — glucose-6-phosphatase; * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.001. Enzyme activity was normalised for fibrotic tissue content.

Alongside with the hormonal and the energy status of the organism, phosphorylationdephosphorylation processes, and changes in the localisation in the cell (Biorn et al., 2001; Ferrer et al., 2003; Jurczak et al., 2008; Roach et al., 2012), an important role in the regulation of these enzymes is played by the concentration of G6P in hepatocytes. G6P determines the extent of GS phosphorylation, promotes better interaction with phosphatase synthase (von Wilamowitz-Moellendorff et al., 2013) and affects the localisation of the enzyme in the cell (Fernandez-Novell et al., 1996). An increase in the intracellular concentration of G6P increases GS activity and stimulates glycogen synthesis (Ciudad et al., 1986; Villar-Palasi, Guinovart, 1997).

Under physiological conditions, GP*a* activity is inversely correlated with the concentration of G6P in cells. In contrast to GS, the increase of G6P in hepatocytes leads to a decrease in GP*a* activity and the inhibition of glycogenolysis, regardless of whether this metabolite is formed by phosphorylation of glucose by GK or in the process of gluconeogenesis (Aiston et al., 2003). Thus, G6P in hepatocytes is a major determinant of the rate of glycogen synthesis and the rate of glycogenolysis. The concentration of G6P in hepatocytes is strongly influenced by the opposite action of GK and G6Pase (Seoane et al., 1997). Therefore, a change in their activities can be expected to impact the activities of GS and GP and, consequently, the glycogen content in the cells.

According to our data, the activity of G6Pase in the liver of rats with CCl₄-cirrhosis in the postabsorptive period made up 29% of its activity in the normal liver (Fig. 3.23, *b*) (Bezborodkina et al., 2022). According to the data obtained earlier, the activity of this enzyme during LC in rats can vary from 23 to 36% of the normal level (Kudryavtseva et al., 1994, 1996). A significant decrease in the activity of G6Pase has also been found by many authors in the liver of cirrhotic patients (Taketa et al., 1976; Owen et al., 1981; Pieniazek et al., 1985; Sotaniemi et al., 1985; Shimamura et al., 1987; Kruszynska, McIntyre, 1991). In particular, it has been shown that in the cirrhotic human liver G6Pase activity after overnight fasting is less than 50% of the normal level (Kudryavtseva et al., 1992). Our study of biopsied clinical material showed that the drop in G6Pase activity depended on the severity of liver damage. In patients with CH, G6Pase activity in the postabsorptive period was 1.2 times lower than the norm, while in patients with LC it was 4.4 times lower than the norm (Fig. 3.25, *b*) (Bezborodkina et al., 2022).

The available data suggest that GK activity in the cirrhotic human liver in the postabsorptive period is also very low (Taketa et al., 1976; Sotaniemi et al., 1985; Lowes et al., 1998; Krähenbühl et al., 2003). This low GK activity cannot be explained solely by the loss of the parenchyma in cirrhotic patients, since its volume is reduced by about a half, while the enzyme activity is reduced by several times. According to some authors, a possible reason behind the decrease in GK activity during LC is an impaired synthesis of the GK protein (Taketa et al., 1976; Sotaniemi et al., 1985). However, this factor is unlikely to be the main

one, since the rate of protein synthesis in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic liver decreases much less considerably than the activity of this enzyme (Tessari, 2003; Katayama, 2020; Guldiken et al., 2021). Therefore, the mechanism of the significant decrease of GK activity remains unclear. Nevertheless, an extremely low GK activity during LC suggests that in the postabsorptive period the rate of glucose phosphorylation and the rate of glycogen synthesis in hepatocytes by the "direct" pathway (glucose \rightarrow G6P \rightarrow glycogen) are low.

It is known that hepatocytes can use G6P, which is formed during glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis, for glucose production. In the normal liver after overnight fasting, 70–80% of glucose is produced by glycogenolysis and only 20–30% by gluconeogenesis (Krusczynska, McIntyre, 1991; Krusczynska, 1999). During LC, the contribution of gluconeogenesis to glucose production increases to 67–87%, while the relative contribution of glycogenolysis sharply decreases (Owen et al., 1981; Bugianesi et al., 1998; Petersen et al., 1999; Perdigoto et al., 2003).

Some authors have suggested that the reduced contribution of glycogenolysis to glucose production during LC is due to a decrease in the glycogen content of hepatocytes (Owen et al., 1981; Schricker et al., 1996; Petersen et al., 1999). However, it has been fairly pointed out that no such conclusion can be made in the absence of data of direct assessment of glycogen content in biopsied cirrhotic liver (Bugianesi et al., 1998). Indeed, our cytofluorimetric analysis of hepatocytes isolated from the cirrhotic liver of rats and humans revealed a high glycogen content in them (Fig. 3.23, *a*, Fig. 3.25, *a*). It may be due, firstly, to an intensive gluconeogenesis, which increases the concentration of G6P in the liver and, as a consequence, weakens the activity of GP, the key enzyme of glycogen degradation, and, secondly, to a low activity of G6Pase. An important role of G6Pase in the regulation of glycogen levels in the liver is confirmed by the fact that in patients with hereditary glycogenosis type I, when this enzyme is inactive, hepatocytes accumulate huge amounts of glycogen (Beaty et al., 2002).

3.2.4. Comorbidity of liver cirrhosis and diabetes. Influence on glycogen content in hepatocytes

Comorbidity is a characteristic feature of many human diseases including LC. Up to 70% of LC patients have clinically significant DM type 2 and hepatogenic diabetes (Garcia-Compean et al., 2009; Kumar, 2018). Diabetes has been shown to reduce the life expectancy in

cirrhotic patients (Garcia-Compean et al., 2015; Kumar, 2018). The mechanism of diabetes development during LC is associated with a decrease in the liver parenchyma mass and structural remodelling of the liver and its vasculature. Under these conditions, the expression of insulin receptors is reduced, which leads to hyperinsulinaemia and insulin resistance (Nishida, 2017).

There is increasing evidence that LC and DM type 2 share a number of similarities. The only major differences between LC and DM type 2 are the metabolic section associated with glucose production by the liver and the histological structure of the organ (Fig. 3.26). Compared to diabetes, cirrhosis appears to be characterised by a much greater liver fibrosis (Anthony et al., 1978; Owen et al., 1981; Doycheva et al., 2013; Zhou et al., 2014; Torbenson, Washington, 2020). However, it should be noted that there are few histological studies of diabetic liver, that no comparative analysis of the liver morphology during LC and DM has been performed and that there are no data on the morphometric indices of the diabetic liver. As for the differences in glucose metabolism in the diabetic and the cirrhotic liver, they are mostly associated with glucose production and G6Pase activity. In contrast to LC, glucose production and G6Pase activity in DM are much higher than the norm (Garfield, Cardell, 1979; Kolterman et al., 1981; Magnusson et al., 1992; DeFronzo et al., 1992; Clore et al., 2000; Westergaard, Madsen, 2001). In other parameters, DM and LC are similar (Alberti, 1981; Petrides, DeFronzo, 1989; Levinthal, Tavill, 1999; Jiang et al., 2020; Loria et al., 2013; Schofield et al., 2017) (Fig. 4.26).



Figure 3.26 — Metabolic and morphological parameters of patients with DM type 2 and cirrhosis (as compared to the norm).

The issue of glycogen content in the liver of diabetic patients has long attracted the attention of researchers. The general conclusion of the studies conducted on the liver of patients with diabetes or depancreatised animals was that diabetes leads to a decrease in glycogen content (Vallance-Owen, 1952) and the rate of its synthesis (Hornbrook, 1970; Whitton, Hems, 1975; Golden et al., 1979) as compared to the norm. The decreased ability of the liver of DM patients to synthesise glycogen was explained by defective GS activation (Bishop, 1970; Tan, Nuttall, 1976; Bollen et al., 1983).

However, the question about the glycogen content in the liver of DM patients has remained open for two reasons. Firstly, it has been found in a number of studies that the livers of many patients who did not receive insulin therapy and those who died of diabetic coma contain normal or increased amounts of glycogen (Geelmuden, 1920; Warren, 1930; Popper, Wozasek, 1931). Secondly, information about the low liver glycogen content has been obtained mainly from animals in which DM was induced for a relatively short time (short-term diabetes). Meanwhile, it is known that DM in humans develops over many months and even years (long-term diabetes). When using models of DM, the condition of different substrate fluxes to a long-term pathological condition is usually not taken into account. It is therefore assumed that low liver glycogen levels in diabetes are the exception rather than the rule (Friedmann et al., 1963).

The role of liver glycogen in the pathogenesis of DM remains unclear. To detect early pre-diabetic changes in glycogen content and structure, we used transgenic homozygous OE-NPY^{D β H} mice with a phenotype of late-onset obesity, hepatosteatosis and pre-diabetes (Ruohonen et al., 2008; Vähätalo et al. 2015). C57BL/6N mice were used as wild-type phenotype (WT) animals. To reduce blood glucose levels, the mice were treated with the anti-hyperglycaemic agent metformin, which is widely used to treat diabetes.

The data presented in Table 3.7 indicate that during the postabsorptive period, the glycogen content in hepatocytes of OE-NPY^{D β H} mice and WT mice is similar (Ailanen et al., 2018). At the same time, the structure of glycogen in hepatocytes of OE-NPY^{D β H} mice is dramatically different from that in hepatocytes of wild-type mice. Treatment of homozygous OE-NPY^{D β H} mice with metformin leads to an almost twofold decrease in glycogen content in hepatocytes, but at the same time normalises the ratio of its fractions. In WT mice, metformin has no effect on either the glycogen content of hepatocytes or its fractional composition

(Ailanen et al., 2018). The reasons for the different effects of metformin on glycogen content in hepatocytes of WT- and OE-NPY^{D β H}-mice appear to be associated with the different characteristics of gluconeogenesis in the liver of these murine lines.

It is known that diabetes leads to an increased gluconeogenesis in the liver as compared to the norm (Consoli et al., 1989; Giaccari, Rosetti, 1992; Torres et al., 2011; Jiang et al., 2020). It has also been shown that metformin markedly decreases the rate of hepatic gluconeogenesis (Alengrin et al., 1987; Heishi et al., 2006; Otto et al., 2003). Based on these data, it can be assumed that glycogen synthesis and accumulation in hepatocytes of OE-NPY^{DβH} pre-diabetic mice occurs predominantly by the indirect pathway, via gluconeogenesis (C_3 -precursors \rightarrow G6P \rightarrow glycogen), whereas in the liver of C57BL/6N mice, the direct pathway (glucose \rightarrow G6P \rightarrow glycogen) is mainly used for glycogen synthesis (Ailanen et al., 2018). This assumption is also supported by the fact that the indirect pathway of glycogen synthesis is markedly increased in diabetes (Giaccari, Rosetti, 1992; Bischof et al., 2002).

Table 3.7 — Content of total glycogen (TG) and the ratio of its labile and stable fractio	ns
(LF/SF) in hepatocytes of C57BL/6N wild-type (WT) mice and OE-NPY ^{DβH} transgenic homozygo	us
mice before and after metformin action, arbitrary units, $(X \pm S_x, n = 3)$.	

Genotype	Treatment	TG, arbitrary units	LF/SF	
WT	Without metformin	28.67±0.71	1.46±0.07	
	Metformin	25.64±0.76	1.37±0.08	
OE-NPY Without metformin		30.74±0.71	$0.64{\pm}0.03^{1}$	
	Metformin	16.58 ± 0.49^{1}	1.61±0.09	

¹ Significantly different from the other TG or LF/SF values ($^{1} p < 0.05$).

Cytofluorometry of glycogen content in hepatocytes of DM type 2 patients after overnight fasting revealed that it was increased 2.7-fold compared to the cells of the control group (Table 3.8). The data presented in Table 4.8 indicate that the glycogen content in hepatocytes of LC patients does not differ from that in cells of patients with comorbid form of the disease, LC + DM 2.

Table 3.8 — Mean glycogen content in hepatocytes of healthy humans (control), patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM 2), patients with liver cirrhosis (LC) and patients with the combined form of these two diseases (LC+DM 2) (arbitrary units, $X\pm S_x$).

	Control (n = 9)	DM 2 (n = 12)	LC (n = 4)	LC + DM 2 (n = 5)
Glycogen content	1.88± 0.22	4.19 ± 0.38^{1}	6.90 ± 0.32^{1a}	6.12 ± 0.79^{1a}

¹Significantly different from the value in the control (${}^{1}p < 0.001$). ^a Significantly different from the value in DM 2 group (${}^{a}p < 0.05$).

Our data confirm the results obtained previously on patients with DM (Vallance-Owen, 1952; Manderson et al., 1968) and on rats with alloxan or streptozotocin diabetes (Winternitz, Lattanzi, 1956; Van de Werve, Jeanrenaud, 1987; Ferrannini et al., 1990; Giaccari, Rosetti, 1992; de Oliveira et al., 2007; Bhanudas, Gopal, 2016). The glycogen content in hepatocytes of DM type 2 patients was comparable to that of LC patients (Table 3.8). A slightly increased glycogen content in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic liver may be due to the small sample of patients (4 individuals). It should also be noted that the comorbidity of cirrhosis and diabetes does not result in either additive or potentiated synergistic effects, as the glycogen content in hepatocytes of patients in LC + DM 2 group is almost the same as in patients with DM type 2 alone or LC alone (Table 3.8). The reason may be that glycogen synthesis in these diseases occurs via the same metabolic pathway, gluconeogenesis, whose capacity is limited.

Thus, glycogen content in hepatocytes of patients with DM type 2 in the postabsorptive period is increased as compared to the norm, but comorbidity of DM with LC does not increase glycogenosis.

3.3. Spatial structure of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes in the normal and the cirrhotic liver of rats and humans

As shown above, glycogen content in cells may undergo rapid and large-scale changes in response to the demands of the organism. At the same time, changes in glycogen content in cells can be associated not only with the activity of the key enzymes of its metabolism and numerous factors regulating enzyme activity, but also with the number of glycogen molecules and its internal structure. It has been established that the structure of glycogen molecules in the cells of normal and pathologically altered organs and tissues can be considerably rearranged (Kudryavtseva et al., 1988, 1992; Kudryavtseva, 1987; Shearer et al., 2005; Kishnani, Chen, 2007; Wilson, 2010; Roach et al., 2012; Gilbert, Sullivan, 2014). At the same time, the mechanisms of formation and degradation of glycogen molecules (β -particles), the dynamics of their composition under normal and pathological conditions, the role of structural changes in the regulation of glycogenesis and glycogenolysis are still unclear in many respects. This lack of information is mainly associated with the limitations of modern methods when it comes to the study of the structure of glycogen molecules in cells.

3.3.1. Cytofluorimetric method for studying glycogen structure in individual hepatocytes

The spatial structure of such a large molecule as glycogen cannot be described with sufficient accuracy and completeness by any of the modern methods (Brust et al., 2020). Therefore, a method allowing the investigation of the spatial structure of glycogen molecules (β -particles) in individual hepatocytes is urgently needed. However, it should be noted that glycogen molecules consist of absolutely identical links, glucose residues, and therefore the study of its structure is not an easy task.

The disadvantages of the existing methods of studying the spatial structure of glycogen are as follows:

- they are applied to glycogen isolated from tissues, which entails a risk of disturbing its original structure;

- they have a low sensitivity. The minimum amount of tissue for the determination of glycogen content, let alone the determination of any parameters of its molecules, is 10–100 μ g (10⁻⁶ g). The minimum determinable amount of glycogen in this sample is 3–50 μ g (Delaval et al., 1983). According to our data, the wet mass of one hepatocyte in the normal rat liver is approximately 3.5 ng (10⁻⁹ g), and the minimum amount of glycogen in one hepatocyte is 10-20 pg (10⁻¹² g) (Bezborodkina et al., 2022). Consequently, a method for studying glycogen structure in a single hepatocyte should be able to determine with a high accuracy ~100000 times lower glycogen content than the existing methods in a tissue sample that is smaller by ~3000 times;

- they do not take into account the heterogeneity of the cell composition of the liver, which increases significantly in case of liver pathology.

The development of our method for studying glycogen structure in individual cells was based on:

- the hypothesis of the spatial structure of the glycogen molecule currently supported by the largest body of evidence. It is based on the existence of pro- and macroglycogen (PG, MG) and their characteristics. PG includes eight inner tiers of the molecule, contains ~5% of glucose residues and ~10% of glycogenin, is not extracted from tissues by 10% TCA; MG includes four outer tiers (9th to 12th) of the fully formed molecule^{*)}, contains ~95% of all glucose residues, is extracted from tissues by TCA treatment; PG serves as an intermediate in the pathway of MG formation (Lomako et al., 1993; Alonso et al., 1995; Melendez et al., 1997; Adamo, 1998).

- Periodic Acid-Schiff (PAS reaction), which is widely used for specific detection of glycogen in cells (Lillie, 1965). This reaction can be used to quantify the glycogen content of cells (Kudryavtseva et al., 1970; Gahrton et al., 1975). The PAS reaction consists of two main steps: mild oxidation of preparations in iodic acid solution and their subsequent staining in Schiff's reagent. During oxidation with iodic acid or its salts, aldehyde groups are formed from 1.2-glycol groups in the glucose residues of glycogen, which are then detected using Schiff's reagents. The classic version of Schiff's reagents is a solution of basic fuchsin in sulphurous acid, but other stains, including fluorescent stains, can also be used.

- FRET (Förster Resonance Energy Transfer) method. This state-of-the-art microscopic analysis of interactions between biological macromolecules is highly sensitive to the smallest changes in the distance between fluorophores. Förster resonance energy transfer typically occurs at distances between 1 and 10 nm, which is comparable to the size of most biological macromolecules. FRET is a radiation-free process in which the energy of a fluorescent donor molecule (Don), which is in the excited state, is transferred to the ground state of another fluorescent molecule, the acceptor (Ac), by dipole-dipole interaction (Piston, Kremers, 2007; Grecco, Verveer, 2011).

The development of the new method involved several steps: 1) testing different fluorescent stains as substitutes for basic fuchsin in Schiff's reagent; 2) selection of a pair of stains which can be used not only to selectively detect glycogen in cells during PAS reaction

^{*)} Some authors consider macroglycogen (MG) as a complete glycogen molecule, which comprises 12 tiers of glucose residues together with 8 tiers of proglycogen (PG), containing 4–5 % of glucose residues in the complete glycogen molecule. We distinguish two parts of the molecule: the 8 tiers of PG and MG, represented by glucose residues on the 9–12th outer tiers of the molecule.

but also as Don and Ac in FRET analysis; 3) calculation of Förster distance R_0 for the selected pair of stains; 4) investigation of the dependence of the glycogen staining intensity in hepatocytes with the use of two selected Schiff's reagents of different colours on the time of staining; 5) determination of optimal conditions for staining preparations to detect and estimate the content of TCA-soluble and TCA-insoluble fractions of glycogen in individual cells; 6) development of a technique for calculating the number of glucose residues on the outer tiers of glycogen molecules.

The choice of stains for cytofluorimetric studies when two or more stains should be used simultaneously is a difficult task. On the one hand, an important condition for using the method to determine the content of TCA-soluble and TCA-insoluble fractions of glycogen in hepatocytes is that the fluorescence spectra of the stains used in Schiff reactions should overlap as little as possible. On the other hand, the application of the FRET method to the analysis of the internal structure of glycogen molecules in cells requires at least partial overlapping of the fluorescence spectra of Don emission and Ac absorption. Therefore, when choosing a pair of stains, we took into account not only the specificity of stain binding to aldehyde groups of glycogen but also its spectral characteristics. The list of stains tested in this work is given in Table 3.9 (Bezborodkina et al., 2009b).

Stain (source of	Abbre- viated	Structural formula	Concen- tration,	λ of excitation,	λ_{max} of fluorescence,
information)	title		%	nm	nm
Auramine OO (Bosshard, 1964; Kudryavtsev, Rozanov, 1974)	Au		0.3	405, 436	526
Acriflavine (Böhm, Sprenger, 1968)	Afl	H ₂ N NH ₂	0.001	546	605
2,5-Bis-(4- aminophenyl)-1,3,4- oxdiazole (Yataghanas et al., 1969)	BAO	H ₂ N N-N N-N NH ₂ NH ₂	0.00001	365	440–450

Table 3.9 — Characteristics of fluorescent stains used for the preparation of Schiff's reagents.

Stain (source of information)	Abbre- viated title	Structural formula	Concen- tration, %	λ of excitation, nm	λ_{max} of fluorescence, nm
Ethidium bromide (Kudryavtsev et al., 1974)	EtBr		0.0004	546	595-610
Propidium iodide (Foglieni et al., 2001)	PI	$H_2N I \\ I \\$	0.0003	546	615–625
Rivanol (Khachaturov, Smirnova, 1966)	Riv	H ₂ N NH ₂ OC ₂ H ₅	0.01	380–480	520
Pararosaniline (Böhm, Sprenger, 1968; Fujita, 1973)	pRA		0.01–0.05	570	620

Continue of table 3.9.

Note: Schiff's reagents were aqueous solutions of stains of appropriate concentration to which thionyl chloride was added (0.2 ml per 100 ml of stain solution).

Examination of preparations stained with Schiff's reagents showed that all reagents detected glycogen in hepatocytes with a high selectivity (Fig. 3.27). The reaction for glycogen with all reagents was negative after pre-treatment of the preparations with α -amylase and when the preparations were not oxidised with iodic acid before being placed in the Schiff's reagent. It turned out, however, that rivanol and especially acriflavin have metachromatic properties, i.e. the fluorescence spectrum of these stains shifted when the concentration of the tested substance was changed. In addition, in cytofluorometry of cells stained with acridine stains, the effect of the internal filter is quite pronounced. In addition, as the concentration of acridine stains and BAO in Schiff's reagents increased, a weak non-specific staining of cells was observed. Another disadvantage of BAO is that the cells treated with this stain fluoresce in the blue-green part of the spectrum, where, as it is known, the intensity of the cells' own fluorescence is particularly high. A number of drawbacks were also noted for other stains. Auramine 00 was insufficiently resistant to excitation light. Schiff's reagents based on auramine 00 and

propidium iodide can be used only once because the precipitate is formed. Pararosaniline can be used only in very low concentrations because of the possible disruption of the proportionality between the stain content and the substance under investigation. In addition, its use requires strict control of the absorption intensity of the excitation light to avoid errors in photometry (Bezborodkina et al., 2009).



Figure 3.27 — Rat hepatocytes stained by PAS reaction using Schiff's reagents: auramine-SO₂ (*a*), basic fuchsin-SO₂ (*b*), BAO-SO₂ (*c*), rivanol-SO₂ (*d*), ethidium bromide-SO₂ (*e*) and acriflavine-SO₂ (*f*). Axioskop (Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany), objective 40x.

As a result, auramine 00 (Au) and ethidium bromide (EtBr) were chosen for further studies. Firstly, Schiff's reagents Au-SO₂ and EtBr-SO₂ used in PAS reaction allow a specific detection of glycogen in hepatocytes. Secondly, the fluorescence spectra of hepatocytes stained with Au-SO₂ ($\lambda_{max} \sim 526$ nm) and EtBr-SO₂ ($\lambda_{max} \sim 610$ nm) overlap weakly (Fig. 2.7) and do not shift with the change in the glycogen concentration in cells. It would be possible to use pararosaniline as a "red" stain, too, but EtBr was considered preferable, given an extensive and successful experience of its use as a fluorescent stain.

Since aldehydes readily enter into various addition, substitution and condensation reactions, it was necessary to ascertain whether aldehyde groups retain their reactivity during prolonged staining with Schiff's reagent Au-SO₂.

The data presented in Figure 3.28 indicate that there was no loss of aldehyde groups when the preparations were kept for 3 h in an aqueous solution of SO_2 with a concentration identical to that of SO_2 in Schiff's reagent. Taking into account these data, the dependence of the staining intensity of preparations on the time of their treatment with Schiff's reagents was studied (Bezborodkina et al., 2009b).



Figure 3.28 — Effect of different incubation time of preparations in SO_2 solution on the stability of aldehyde groups of glycogen in hepatocytes. Note: vertical sections — error of the mean.

To determine the nature of the dependence of the PAS reaction intensity on the duration of cell staining with Schiff's reagents Au-SO₂ and EtBr-SO₂, hepatocytes on coverslips were oxidised in 0.8% KIO₄ solution. Then they were treated for various times at room temperature with either Au-SO₂ (0.3% Au + 0.2 ml SOCl₂/100 ml) or EtBr-SO₂ (0.0004% EtBr solution + 0.2 ml SOCl₂/100 ml). After completion of the staining, all preparations were simultaneously removed from the reagents and processed according to the procedure described in Section 2.3.2.1.

The results presented in Figure 3.29 show that the dependence of hepatocyte fluorescence intensity on the time of staining during PAS reaction using both reagents has a similar two-stage character. In the interval of 0–40 min there is a rapid binding of both Au-SO₂ and EtBr-SO₂, while in the interval of 40–70 min the binding of both stains decreases sharply

(or stops altogether). After that, a new wave of intensive stain binding is observed. After 90 min the graph of the dependence of cell fluorescence intensity on staining time reaches a plateau, indicating the completion of stain binding to aldehyde groups of glycogen (Bezborodkina et al., 2011; Bezborodkina et al., 2021a).



Figure 3.29 — Fluorescent PAS reaction with Schiff's reagents. a — dependence of hepatocytes fluorescence intensity on the duration of their staining with EtBr-SO₂ (red line) and Au-SO₂ (green line); b — scheme showing sequential staining of cells with EtBr-SO₂ (red line) and then Au-SO₂ (green line). Note: cells derived from different rats were used in the study of the relationships shown in Figure a. LF — rapidly staining glycogen fraction. SF — slowly staining glycogen fraction. TG — total glycogen = LF + SF.

To elucidate the nature of the rapidly staining (LF) and slowly staining (SF) glycogen fraction, hepatocyte preparations on slides obtained from the same rat were treated with 10% TCA or 30% KOH before staining with Au-SO₂ or EtBr-SO₂ (Bloom, Knowlton, 1953).

The results of this experiment (Table 3.10) indicate that glycogen in hepatocytes is fully detectable after 90 min of oxidation of the preparations in KIO₄ and subsequent staining with Au-SO₂ or EtBr-SO₂. The fraction of glycogen detected quickly (within 40 min) after the beginning of staining in Schiff's reagent corresponds to the fraction easily extractable with TCA (labile fraction), while the fraction of glycogen detected slowly (in the interval from 40 to 90 min) corresponds to the fraction that is fully extracted only when the preparations are treated with hot KOH (stable fraction). Our data (Table 3.10) indicate that in the hepatocytes of experimental rats the proportion of the fraction sensitive to TCA treatment is ~28% (Bezborodkina et al., 2011; Bezborodkina et al., 2021a).

Type of treatment	Fluorescence intensity (arbitrary units)		
$KIO_4 \rightarrow Au-SO_2 (90 min)$	224±12		
$KIO_4 \rightarrow EtBr-SO_2 (90 min)$	198±15		
$KIO_4 \rightarrow Au-SO_2 (40 min)$	159±8		
$KIO_4 \rightarrow EtBr-SO_2 (40 min)$	147±11		
$10\% \text{ TCA} \rightarrow \text{KIO}_4 \rightarrow \text{Au-SO}_2 (90 \text{ min})$	66±5		
$10\% \text{ TCA} \rightarrow \text{KIO}_4 \rightarrow \text{EtBr-SO}_2 (90 \text{ min})$	54±4		
$30\% \text{ KOH} \rightarrow \text{KIO}_4 \rightarrow \text{Au-SO}_2 (90 \text{ min})$	5.9±0.4		
30% KOH \rightarrow KIO ₄ \rightarrow EtBr-SO ₂ (90 min)	5.3±0.3		
$H_2O \rightarrow Au-SO_2 (90 min)$	9.7±0.5		
$H_2O \rightarrow EtBr-SO_2 (90 min)$	8.4±0.5		
α -amylase \rightarrow KIO ₄ \rightarrow Au-SO ₂ (90 min)	6.4±0.4		
α -amylase \rightarrow KIO ₄ \rightarrow EtBr-SO ₂ (90 min)	4.8±0.2		
Cell autofluorescence in the "green" part of the spectrum ($\lambda_{max} = 530 \text{ nm}$)	7.0±0.4		
Cell autofluorescence in the "red" part of the spectrum ($\lambda_{max} = 610 \text{ nm}$)	5.1±0.3		

Table 3.10 — Effect of different treatments on fluorescence intensity of hepatocytes stained by PAS reaction using Schiff's reagents Au-SO₂ or EtBr-SO₂

Note: the duration of pre-oxidation of preparations with potassium periodate (KIO₄) was 90 min in all cases. Fluorescence intensity of cells stained by Au-SO₂ or EtBr-SO₂ PAS reaction was normalised by tetraploid rat hepatocytes, which were stained with the same reagents according to Feulgen to detect DNA (Rozanov, Kudryavtsev, 1967). Mononucleate tetraploid hepatocytes are a convenient object for normalisation because they contain a constant amount of DNA and constitute ~80% of the cell population of the liver parenchyma of adult rats (Kudryavtsev et al., 1979).

Thus, our study showed that: 1) treatment of preparations with Au-SO₂ or EtBr-SO₂ for 90 min reveals all glycogen in hepatocytes (224 ± 12 and 198 ± 15 arbitrary units, respectively); 2) staining of preparations with Au-SO₂ or EtBr-SO₂ for 40 min reveals the fraction of glycogen extractable by treatment of preparations with 10% TCA (159 ± 8 and 147 ± 11 arbitrary units, respectively), i.e. the glycogen fraction not associated with proteins, or macroglycogen (MG); 3) subsequent staining of preparations with Au-SO₂ or EtBr-SO₂ for 40–90 min reveals the glycogen fraction which can be completely extracted only by treatment with KOH (66 ± 5 and 54 ± 4 , respectively), i.e. glycogen fraction associated with proteins, or proglycogen (PG) (Bezborodkina et al., 2021a).

It has been shown in many studies, conducted mainly on rat and human skeletal muscles, that PG plays a major role in the recovery of glycogen stores after their depletion during muscle contractions (Battram et al., 2004; Wilson 2009; Granlund et al., 2011). The contribution of MG to glycogen accumulation becomes apparent late in the muscle recovery

phase or after intense and repetitive exercise (Graham et al., 2001; Shearer et al., 2005). In other words, the recovery of glycogen stores in skeletal muscles in these mammalian species mainly occurs not by filling the outer tiers of glycogen molecules with glucose residues, i.e., by increasing their size, but by an intensive *de novo* synthesis of PG. However, the rate of recovery of glycogen stores after their depletion and the nature of PG and MG interaction during glycogen resynthesis may apparently differ greatly in different mammalian species. For instance, it has been shown that it takes three days to fully restore the initial glycogen stores in horse skeletal muscles after a strenuous and prolonged exercise, whereas in humans it takes only 24 h (Hyyppä, 2007). Another important difference in glycogen metabolism in equine skeletal muscle is that post-load glycogen synthesis is mainly due to MG, especially during the initial resting period (1-24 h) (Bröjer et al., 2006). Differences in the rates of PG and MG synthesis in skeletal muscles are associated with the level of glycogen depletion. Extreme degrees of depletion probably require the formation of new glycogen molecules rather than the addition of glucose to the already existing granules. This hypothesis is supported by the evidence that there are no changes in glycogenin levels during glycogenolysis unless glycogen levels are significantly decreased (Shearer et al., 2005).

As shown above, MG can be detected by PAS staining of cells for 0–40 min, while PG can be detected by PAS staining for 40–90 min. In order to detect and separately determine the content of these glycogen fractions in the same cell, we used Schiff's reagents with stains fluorescing in different colours.

As an example, Figure 3.30 shows hepatocytes in which the glycogen fraction free of proteins (MG) is stained with EtBr-SO₂, while the fraction associated with proteins (PG) is stained with Au-SO₂. Cytofluorometry was used to measure the content of these glycogen fractions separately in individual cells. Hepatocytes stained with EtBr-SO₂ fluoresce in the "red" part of the spectrum when excited with green light ($\lambda_{max} = 546$ nm), and those stained with Au-SO₂ fluoresce in the "green" part of the spectrum when excited with blue light ($\lambda_{max} = 436$ nm). The total glycogen (TG) content in the cells was determined as the sum of MG + PG.



Figure 3.30 — Hepatocytes stained for 40 min with EtBr-SO₂ (*a*). The same cells subsequently stained with Au-SO₂ (*b*).

3.3.2. Structure of glycogen molecules in rat and human hepatocytes in the normal and the cirrhotic liver at different stages of the food cycle

The detection of PG and MG in the same cell using stains with different spectral characteristics made it possible to study changes in their content in rat hepatocytes during glycogenesis. The results presented in Figure 3.31, *a*, indicate that the MG content in the cells of control rats at all time points after glucose administration (except for 120 min) exceeded the MG content in the cells of rats with LC. To note, at different stages of refeeding the ratio of MG in some hepatocytes of the control and the cirrhotic rats could reach 90% (Chestnova et al., 2015).

PG content in hepatocytes of rats of the control group increased by 12.7% (p < 0.01) within 20 min after glucose administration to starved animals and did not change after that. In contrast, PG content during LC changed weakly during the first 60 min of glycogenesis but exceeded the initial level by 2.3 times at the end of the experiment (p < 0.001) (Fig. 3.31, *b*).



Figure 3.31 — Content of macroglycogen (MG) (*a*) and proglycogen (PG) (*b*) in hepatocytes of the control (Control) and the cirrhotic (Cirrhosis) rat liver at different time intervals after glucose administration to starved animals. Notes: 1) vertical sections — error of the mean; 2) mean values during LC are significantly different from the values in the norm (* p < 0.001; *** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.05).

The analysis showed that glycogen accumulation in the liver and fluctuations in its levels in the cells of the control and the experimental rats at different stages of glycogenesis were mainly due to the changes in MG content (Fig. 3.32).



Figure 3.32 — Dependence of total glycogen (TG) content on macroglycogen (MG) content in the hepatocytes in the normal (*a*) and the cirrhotic (*b*) rat liver at different stages of glycogenesis (10, 30, 60 and 120th min). Note: each point on the graphs corresponds to one cell.

After 48 h of starvation and during 120 min of glycogenesis, the proportion of PG in the hepatocytes of the normal rat liver was higher than in the hepatocytes of the cirrhotic rat liver.

143

The proportion of PG in the hepatocytes of the normal and the cirrhotic liver slightly decreased during glycogenesis, while the proportion of MG increased (Chestnova et al., 2015) (Fig. 3.33, a, b).



Figure 3.33 — Proportion (%) of macroglycogen (MG) and proglycogen (PG) in the hepatocytes in the normal (a) and the cirrhotic (b) rat liver at different time intervals after glucose administration to starved animals.

In the postabsorptive period (12–16 h after the last meal), the ratio of MG and PG in the hepatocytes of the normal and the cirrhotic rat liver differed from that at the early stages of glycogenesis. During this period of the food cycle, the proportion of MG significantly prevailed over PG in the normal liver hepatocytes, while the relative content of MG in the cirrhotic liver hepatocytes was only slightly higher than that of PG (Fig. 3.34). Comparison of the structure of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes in the normal liver of rats and humans in the postabsorptive period showed that it was very similar. The relative content of MG was 83–85%. As the pathological process in the liver develops, the proportion of MG decreases, and that of PG increases accordingly (Fig. 3.34) (Bezborodkina et al., 2021b).

These data confirm the results of earlier studies of the structure of glycogen in the hepatocytes in the normal and the pathological liver of rats and humans (Kudryavtseva, 1987; Kudryavtseva et al., 1988, 1992).


Figure 3.34 — Proportion of MG and PG (%) in glycogen molecules in rat (a) and human (b) hepatocytes in the postaborptive period.

Thus, MG makes the greatest contribution to the volume of glycogen in hepatocytes and plays a leading role in the changes in its content. In addition, our data indicate that, in contrast to skeletal muscles, glycogenesis in rat hepatocytes after glucose administration to starved animals occurs mainly by filling the outer tiers of glycogen particles already present in the cells rather than by formation of new ones.

The analysis of PG and MG content in one and the same cell made it possible to study their dynamics under different physiological and pathological conditions. Even more importantly, it allowed us to determine the number of tiers in the glycogen molecules of an individual hepatocyte and the number of glucose residues on each of the tiers.

Based on the hypothesis that a **complete** glycogen molecule consists of 8 inner (PG) and 4 outer (MG) tiers of glucose residues (Lomako et al., 1993; Alonso et al., 1995; Melendez et al., 1997), and the total number of glucose residues in PG is 3315 (Roach et al., 2012), information about the absolute and the relative number of glucose residues in the outer tiers of the glycogen molecule can be obtained.

The degree of filling of the outer tiers of the glycogen molecule (F_n) with glucose residues depending on the experimentally determined MG/PG ratio (k) was calculated according to the formula:

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{9}} = \mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{P}/\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{9}} , \text{ at } \mathbf{k} \le 1$$
(13)

$$F_{10} = (k \times P - t_9)/t_{10}$$
, at $1 < k \le 3$ (14)

$$\mathbf{F_{11}} = (\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{P} - \mathbf{t_9} - \mathbf{t_{10}}) / \mathbf{t_{11}}, \text{ at } 3 < \mathbf{k} \le 7$$
(15)

$$\mathbf{F_{12}} = (\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{P} - \mathbf{t_9} - \mathbf{t_{10}} - \mathbf{t_{11}}) / \mathbf{t_{12}} \text{ , at } 7 < \mathbf{k} \le 15$$
(16)

where: **P** is the total number of residues on the first 8 tiers (proglycogen), t_n is the maximum possible number of residues on tier **n**.

Calculations showed that glycogen in the hepatocytes of the normal liver of starved rats consists of granules containing PG, i.e., tiers 1–8 and tier 9 filled by 90% (Fig. 3.35, *a*), while in the cirrhotic liver it consists of particles containing tiers 1–9 and tier 10 filled by ~60% (Fig. 3.35, *b*). Analysis of the dynamics of the spatial structure of glycogen molecules during glucose refeeding in rats showed that in norm the maximum filling of the outer tiers of glycogen molecules at the refeeding stage is limited to the 10th tier, while during LC it is limited to the 11th tier (Fig. 3.35). No cells in which the entire glycogen consisted of 12-tiered particles were found.



Figure 3.35 - Proportion of glucose residues on the outer tiers of the glycogen molecule in the normal (a) and the cirrhotic (b) rat liver, %.

Throughout the absorptive period, the amount of glucose residues on the outer tiers of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes of rats with LC exceeded that in the normal liver (Fig. 3.36).



Figure 3.36 — Changes in the number of glucose residues on the outer tiers of glycogen molecules in the hepatocytes in the normal liver (Control) and the cirrhotic liver (Cirrhosis) of the rat. Notes: 1) vertical sections — error of the mean; 2) mean values during LC differ from the values in the norm at the significance level * — p < 0.001; ** — p < 0.01; ** — p < 0.05.

Despite the almost two-fold increase of glycogen content in hepatocytes of the control rats during 30 min of refeeding, the MG/PG ratio remained approximately at the same level (Fig. 3.37). This means that during the first stages of glycogenesis glycogen accumulation in cells occurs predominantly by increasing the number of molecules and only later (45, 60 and 90 min of refeeding), by filling their outer tiers. In contrast to the norm, during LC glycogen accumulation by filling the outer tiers is expressed at all stages of refeeding (Fig. 3.38).



Figure 3.37 — Dependence of total glycogen (TG) content on the degree of filling (arbitrary units) of the outer tiers of glycogen molecules (MG/PG) in hepatocytes of the normal rat liver at different stages of glycogenesis. Note: vertical sections - error of the mean.



Figure 3.38 — Dependence of total glycogen (TG) content on the degree of filling (arbitrary units) of the outer tiers of glycogen molecules (MG/PG) in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic rat liver at different stages of glycogenesis. Note: vertical sections - error of the mean.

In the postabsorptive period, glycogen molecules in the hepatocytes of the normal liver of rats and humans contain, on average, 18810 and 24034 glucose residues, respectively. In rats, glycogen molecules, in addition to PG, have the 9th and the 10th tiers completely filled with glucose residues and the 11th tier filled with glucose residues by approximately 40%. In the normal liver of human hepatocytes, glycogen molecules have complete 9th and 10th tiers and the 11th tier filled by ~80%, indicating that they are, on average, slightly larger than in rats (Fig. 3.39).



149

Figure 3.39 - Proportion of glucose residues on the outer tiers of glycogen molecules in the rat (a) and the human (b) liver in the postaborptive period, %.

In hepatocytes of the cirrhotic liver, molecules in both species are smaller than in the normal liver. The structure of glycogen in the hepatocytes of CH patients occupies an intermediate position (Fig. 3.39, b).

Despite a lower, as compared to the norm, degree of filling of the outer tiers of glycogen during LC in humans, the glycogen content in hepatocytes is 160% (p < 0.01) higher than the norm (Fig. 3.25, *a*). Based on this, we can conclude that the number of β -particles in hepatocytes increases as the pathological process develops. Calculations have shown that if we take the average number of particles in the hepatocytes in the normal liver to be 1.0, it will be approximately 3.0 in case of CH and ~6.0 in case of LC.

Information on changes in the tier structure of glycogen granules is based mainly on the data on the size of glycogen particles in human skeletal muscle obtained using electron microscopy (EM) techniques. EM analysis of β -glycogen particles has shown that their diameter ranges from 10 to 44 nm and, on average, is 25 nm, which roughly corresponds to the diameter of a 7–8-tier glycogen particle (Marchand et al., 2002; Shearer, Graham, 2004; Graham et al., 2010). Granules with diameters greater than 44 nm were not detected, which is consistent with the theoretical ideas about the structure of glycogen molecules (Goldsmith et al., 1982). EM studies of cultured myotubules showed that the size of β -particles increased slightly during glycogenesis, from 24.9 to 28.1 nm (tiers 7–9th) (Elsner et al., 2002). The authors concluded that glycogen deposition in cells is associated with the formation of new 7–8-tier β -particles rather than the formation of additional tiers on existing particles. During glycogenolysis, the average diameter of particles decreased to 24.4 nm, and their destruction was observed (Elsner et al., 2002).

During recovery of human skeletal muscles after prolonged moderate exercise, the average diameter of glycogen particles doubles, with only a few having a diameter corresponding to MG. At the beginning of the recovery period (0–4 h), muscle glycogen content increased predominantly by increasing the number of particles, and in the following 44 h, by increasing their volume (Marchand et al., 2007). Studies of the size of glycogen molecules in mouse liver using exclusion chromatography showed that during the food cycle, α -particles break down into stable glycogen molecules with a radius of ~12 nm (Sullivan et al., 2014).

To sum up, the available data on the spatial structure of glycogen molecules in cells are extremely scarce and are based either on the study of PG and MG dynamics using cytochemical techniques or on the measurement of molecule size using EM or exclusion chromatography. Since the glycogen content of cells under different physiological and pathological conditions is mainly due to changes in MG, more detailed information on its spatial characteristics would be very desirable. For this purpose, we developed a method of determining the number of tiers in glycogen molecules and the number of glucose residues on each tier in individual hepatocytes.

3.3.3. Analysis of the structure of glycogen molecules in rat and human hepatocytes using FRET method

Förster Resonance Energy Transfer (FRET) method is one of the possible approaches to obtaining information about the spatial structure of MG in cells. The method allows one to determine the distance between fluorophore molecules (donor and acceptor) involved in energy transfer.

Förster distance (\mathbf{R}_0) for the pair of stains used in this work, Au-SO₂ (donor, Don) and EtBr-SO₂ (acceptor, Ac), is 3.2 nm, according to our data (Bezborodkina et al., 2011). Calculations show that the average distance between the tiers of the glycogen molecule, whose total radius is ~21 nm, is ~1.9 nm (Fig. 3.40) (Goldsmith et al., 1982; Shearer, Graham, 2004; Roach et al., 2012).



Figure 3.40 — Schematic representation of the glycogen molecule. The colours indicate the tiers between which resonant energy transfer (FRET) is possible. The distance between the tiers in a spherical β -particle with a radius of 21 nm is ~1.9 nm.

It was found (see Section 3.3.1) that PAS staining of cells for 40 min with EtBr-SO₂ reveals MG, i.e. glucose residues on the outer (9th to 12th) tiers of glycogen molecules. Subsequent staining of Au-SO₂ cells reveals PG, i.e. glucose residues located on the inner (1st to 8th) tiers of glycogen molecules. Only Au molecules bound to glucose residues on the 7th and 8th tiers of PG can participate in Förster interaction. Au on glucose residues located on these tiers transfers energy to EtBr bound to glucose residues on the 9th and 10th tiers of MG, which receive the radiation energy (Bezborodkina et al., 2011; Bezborodkina et al., 2018).

Glucose residues stained with Au-SO₂ and located below the 7th tier, as well as those stained with EtBr-SO₂ and located above the 10th tier in the glycogen molecule, cannot participate in the Förster interaction due to the excess \mathbf{R}_0 between the donor and the acceptor. Thus, the efficiency of FRET (\mathbf{E}_{FRET}) strongly depends on the degree of occupancy of tiers 9 and 10 in the glycogen molecule. If they are not filled or barely filled, the radiation energy of Au cannot be transferred to EtBr. Therefore, the presence in cells of a large number of β -particles consisting only of PG (i.e., glucose residues in tiers 1 to 8) will reduce the level of \mathbf{E}_{FRET} . On the other hand, even complete filling of the 11th and 12th tiers would not lead to an increase in \mathbf{E}_{FRET} , as the distance between the 8th and 11th tiers (~ 5.7 nm) would be much greater than \mathbf{R}_0 and radiation energy would not be transferred from the donor to the acceptor (Bezborodkina et al., 2011; Bezborodkina et al., 2018).

Measurement of \mathbf{E}_{FRET} in individual rat hepatocytes in the normal and the cirrhotic liver at various time intervals after administration of glucose to starved rats showed that this index is, on average, ~3.3-fold higher in the norm than during LC (Fig. 3.41).



Figure 3.41 - FRET efficiency (\mathbf{E}_{FRET}) in hepatocytes of the normal (Control) and the cirrhotic (Cirrhosis) rat liver at different stages of glycogenesis. Notes: 1) vertical sections are error of the mean; 2) mean values during LC differ from the values in the norm at the significance level * — p < 0.001; ** — p < 0.01.

At the beginning of refeeding (0–30th min), \mathbf{E}_{FRET} in the hepatocytes of the normal liver more than doubled, and after that remained at about the same level. In contrast, in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic liver, \mathbf{E}_{FRET} was relatively stable until 75 min and then decreased approximately twofold. Since in the cells of the normal liver the 9th and especially the 10th tier of the glycogen molecules remained incompletely filled (Fig. 3.35, *a*), one would expect \mathbf{E}_{FRET} to increase as they were filled (Fig. 3.35, *a*). This assumption is supported by the results presented in Figure 3.42 and Figure 3.43, which show that in the cells of the normal liver, in contrast to the cells of the cirrhotic liver, \mathbf{E}_{FRET} at many stages of glycogenesis strongly depends on the increase in the number of glucose residues in glycogen molecules (Bezborodkina et al., 2011).



Figure 3.42 — Dependence of FRET efficiency (E_{FRET}) on the degree of filling of the outer tiers (9–12th) of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes of the normal rat liver at different stages of glycogenesis. Note: each point on the graphs corresponds to one cell.



Figure 3.43 — Dependence of FRET efficiency (E_{FRET}) on the degree of filling of the outer tiers (9–12th) of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic rat liver at different stages of glycogenesis. Note: each point on the graphs corresponds to one cell.

An important advantage of FRET method is its high sensitivity to small changes of the distance between Don and Ac molecules (**r**). When **r** increases above **R**₀ for a given pair of stains, **E**_{FRET} decreases sharply. The distance between Don and Ac in hepatocytes of the normal liver during rat refeeding averaged 4.401±0.004 nm, while hepatocytes of the cirrhotic cells it averaged 5.447±0.009 nm (Fig. 3.44). Therefore, **E**_{FRET} was higher in the norm than during LC (Fig. 3.41).



Figure 3.44 - Distance between Don and Ac (**r**) in glycogen molecules in hepatocytes of the normal (Control) and the cirrhotic (Cirrhosis) rat liver at different stages of glycogenesis. Notes: 1) vertical sections - error of the mean; 2) mean values during LC differ from the values in the norm at the significance level: * — p < 0.001;** — p < 0.01.

Determination of the distance between Don and Ac during glycogenesis showed that as the outer tiers of glycogen are filled with glucose residues, the value of **r** decreases. In the hepatocytes of the normal liver, **r** decreases by 1.08 ± 0.18 nm during refeeding of rats with glucose and by 0.64 ± 0.21 nm in the hepatocytes of rats with LC (p < 0.05). The sharpest decrease in **r** was found at 0, 75, 90 and 120 min after glucose administration to starved animals ($\Delta \mathbf{r} = 1.48$; 1.4; 1.7 and 1.59 nm, respectively) (Fig. 3.45), while during LC it was found at only one time point (90th min), at which $\Delta \mathbf{r}$ was 2.23 nm (Fig. 3.46).



Figure 3.45 — Dependence of the distance between Don and Ac (\mathbf{r}) on the degree of filling of the outer (9–11th) tiers of glycogen molecules in the hepatocytes of the normal rat liver at different stages of glycogenesis. Note: vertical sections - error of the mean.



Figure 3.46 — Dependence of the distance between Don and Ac (\mathbf{r}) on the degree of filling of the outer (9–12th) tiers of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic rat liver at different stages of glycogenesis. Note: vertical sections — error of the mean.

Thus, the increase in E_{FRET} in hepatocytes of the normal rat liver at the initial stages (0–30 min) of glycogenesis (Fig. 3.41) as compared with those of the cirrhotic liver is apparently due to the smaller distance between the glucose residues located at tiers 7, 8 and 9, and 10 (Fig. 3.44, 3.45) and the increased number of glucose residues at tier 10 (Fig. 3.35).

Earlier, in a study of the localisation of glycogen synthesis in hepatocytes isolated from the liver of starved rats, it was shown that stimulation of glycogen synthesis by glucose causes the relocation of GS to the periphery of cells and that the amount of the enzyme concentrated near the plasma membrane increased with time (Garcia-Rocha et al., 2001). In addition, it was found using incubation of isolated hepatocytes with ¹⁴C-glucose that glycogen synthesis always starts near the plasma membrane of the cells. After that, however, as glycogenesis increases, the synthesised glycogen gradually moves to the centre of cells giving way to new synthesised molecules (Fernandez-Novell et al., 2002).

157

Acceptor Bleaching (AB) procedure makes it possible to obtain information about the structure of glycogen particles and to express morphologically the energy transfer from donor to acceptor in the form of images of cell regions showing the distribution of FRET signal in the cytoplasm of hepatocytes. In a series of images of hepatocytes (Fig. 3.47), it can be seen that the level of E_{FRET} , marked with different colours reflecting the amplification of the signal, quite clearly reflects the localisation of glycogen particles with different degrees of filling of the outer tiers.



Figure 3.47 — Distribution of FRET signal in the cytoplasm of rat hepatocytes at different stages of glycogenesis. Note: as FRET efficiency (E_{FRET}) increases, the colour of loci in which energy transfer from donor to acceptor takes place changes as follows: blue \rightarrow green \rightarrow orange \rightarrow red.

In hepatocytes of starving rats energy transfer from the donor to the acceptor is weak. This is expressed in the fact that almost the entire cell is coloured blue. Green colour, indicating a higher level of FRET signal, is noticeable only at the periphery of hepatocytes. As early as 10 min after glucose administration, orange dots appear at the periphery of the cell, where the FRET signal is higher than in the green dots. As glycogenesis progresses, red dots, reflecting the highest FRET signal, appear at the cell periphery and are then distributed throughout the cytoplasm. Towards the end of the experiment (120 min), when glycogen breakdown begins to predominate over its synthesis, the number of red dots decreased and they disappeared completely in some cells.

Measurement of E_{FRET} in human hepatocytes in the postprandial period showed that in the normal liver cells it was 3%. As the severity of liver damage progressed, this index increased 1.3-fold in patients with CH (p < 0.001) and 3-fold in patients with LC (p < 0.001) as compared to the norm (Fig. 3.48).



Figure 3.48 — FRET efficiency (E_{FRET}) in hepatocytes of healthy humans (Control), patients with chronic hepatitis (Chronic hepatitis) and cirrhotic patients (Cirrhosis). Notes: 1) vertical sections - error of the mean; 2) mean values during chronic hepatitis and cirrhosis differ from the control at the significance level: * — p < 0.001.

Analysis of FRET signal distribution in the cytoplasm of human hepatocytes (Fig. 3.49) showed that the energy transfer from the donor to the acceptor is fairly efficient, since most of the zones in the cytoplasm of hepatocytes are "green". Only the areas closest to the nucleus are "blue". During CH, all areas in which energy transfer occurs, except "green" loci, contain numerous orange dots. In the cytoplasm of hepatocytes of the cirrhotic liver, a few "green" areas are observed, but much more space is occupied by "orange" and even "crimson" areas.



Figure 3.49 - Distribution of FRET signal in the cytoplasm of human hepatocytes in the postabsorptive period. Note: as the FRET efficiency (E_{FRET}) increases, the colour of the loci where energy transfer from donor to acceptor takes place changes as follows: blue \rightarrow green \rightarrow orange \rightarrow red.

Determining the distance between Don and Ac (**r**) in glycogen particles, we established that in hepatocytes of the normal human liver it is, on average, 6.14 ± 0.05 nm, in hepatocytes during CH, 5.69 ± 0.04 nm, and in hepatocytes during LC, 4.88 ± 0.02 nm (p < 0.001) (Fig. 3.50).



Figure 3.50 — Distance between Don and Ac (**r**) in glycogen molecules in human hepatocytes in the normal liver (Control), in the liver during chronic hepatitis (Chronic hepatitis) and in the cirrhotic liver (Cirrhosis). Notes: 1) vertical sections — error of the mean; 2) mean values during chronic hepatitis and cirrhosis differ from the control at the significance level: * — p < 0.001.

The analysis of cell distribution by \mathbf{r} in the hepatocyte population showed that the proportion of cells with glycogen molecules in which the distance between Don and Ac (\mathbf{r}) does not exceed the Förster interaction increases with increasing severity of the disease. During LC, the proportion of such cells increases approximately 50-fold as compared to the norm (Fig. 3.51).



Figure 3.51 — Histograms of cell distribution in the human hepatocyte population according to the distance between Don and Ac (**r**) in glycogen molecules in the normal liver (*a*), during chronic hepatitis (*b*) and in the cirrhotic liver (*c*). Note: black colour indicates the proportion of cells with glycogen particles in which the distance between Don and Ac (**r**) does not exceed the Förster interaction. v — correlation coefficient.

It has been previously established (Fig. 3.39) that glycogen molecules in the normal liver of human hepatocytes have complete 9th and 10th tiers and the 11th tier of glucose residues filled by ~ 80%. During LC, the outer tiers of glycogen molecules are practically represented only by the 9th tier. As shown in Figure 4.40, energy transfer in glycogen molecules stained with auramine-SO₂ and ethidium bromide-SO₂, can only occur from the 7th and 8th tiers (Don) to the 9th and 10th tiers (Ac). The 7th and the 8th tiers of glycogen molecules together contain 2496 glucose residues. The 9th and the 10th tiers of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes of the normal liver together contain 9984 glucose residues (Roach et al., 2012). Since both outer tiers (9th + 5% of the 10th) of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic liver contain only 3661 glucose residues, it can be assumed that energy transfer

from Don to Ac during LC would be less efficient. Therefore, it seems that the main reasons why FRET efficiency in hepatocytes during LC is much higher than the norm are a shorter distance between Don and Ac in glycogen molecules and a much greater relative number of hepatocytes containing glycogen molecules in which the distance between Don and Ac (\mathbf{r}) is within the Förster interaction interval.

The complete 12-tier glycogen molecule is known to consist of two parts (fractions): the internal (proglycogen) part consisting of the first eight tiers of glucose residues and the external (macroglycogen) part consisting of the four outer tiers of glucose residues (Fig. 1.18, Section 1.7). Only macroglycogen is involved in the synthesis and degradation of glycogen. The glucose residues located on the four outer tiers of the molecule are used as potential energy sources for various cellular processes. The remaining 4–5% of glucose residues in the proglycogen part of the glycogen molecule serve as a "platform" during further formation of the complete molecule. The glucose residues of proglycogen can be used for energy production only in exceptional cases (Melendez et al., 1998).

It is believed that once the outer, 12th tier is filled, the growth of glycogen molecules stops. The mechanism that stops the biosynthesis of glycogen molecules once they reach their full size is still unknown. The only hypothesis explaining this phenomenon is that of Madsen and Cori (1958), who suggested that the size of glycogen molecules is controlled by the structure of the molecules themselves.

Madsen and Cori (1958) suggested that since the degree and the principle of branching in glycogen molecules of their organisation remains constant at all levels and since the number of chains of glucose residues increases as the molecules grow, the density of residues on the tiers will increase as they approach the surface of the molecules. Accordingly, glucose residues will be more closely packed together on the outer tiers than on the inner tiers, which are more distant from the surface. An important role in the mechanism of controlling the size of glycogen molecules is played by the size of the enzymes of its synthesis. The authors believe that when the density of glucose residues on the surface of glycogen molecules becomes too high, there is not enough space for glycogen synthase to work and the growth of molecules stops.

The results of determining the distance between Don and Ac at different tiers of glycogen molecules in human hepatocytes indicate that it decreases with the increasing number of tiers in the molecules (Fig. 3.52). As the tiers of glycogen molecules in human hepatocytes

fill up, **r**, on average, decreases by 2.94 nm in the norm, by 2.03 nm during CH, and by 0.55 nm during LC (Fig. 3.52). During LC, the distance between Don and Ac is, on average, significantly smaller than in the normal liver cells.



Figure 3.52 — Dependence of the distance between Don and Ac (**r**) on the degree of filling of the outer tiers (9–11th) of glycogen molecules in human hepatocytes: in the normal liver (Control), during chronic hepatitis (Chronic hepatitis) and in the cirrhotic liver (Cirrhosis). Note: vertical sections are the error of the mean.

The data presented in Figure 3.52 indicate that in the normal hepatocytes the distance between Don and Ac (\mathbf{r}) decreases as glycogen molecules grow. These data suggest that as the size of the glycogen molecules increases, the glucose residues become more and more tightly packed. Unlike glycogen molecules in the hepatocytes in the normal liver, glycogen molecules during LC seem to have a denser structure at all stages of their formation. This means that our data confirm the hypothesis of Madsen and Cori (1958) that the size of glycogen molecules is regulated by its own structure.

However, another question arises: does the growth of glycogen molecules stop only after reaching the 12th tier? Or can it stop much earlier? To answer this question, we need to consider the data on the size of glycogen molecules obtained by electron microscopy (Wanson, Drochmans, 1968; Elsner et al., 2002; Marchand et al., 2002; 2007; Graham et al., 2010; Obel et al., 2012; Brewer et al., 2019).

EM studies of glycogen particle size, conducted mainly on skeletal muscles, have shown that the diameter of molecules can vary within a wide range. The limiting diameter of glycogen molecules is 42–44 nm (Marchand et al., 2002), which is consistent with the theory (Goldsmith et al., 1982; Melendez-Hevia et al., 1993; Melendez et al., 1997). However, it

should be emphasised that particles with a diameter of 42–44 nm, which corresponded to a 12tier glycogen particle (molecule), were extremely rare. According to many authors, the average diameter of glycogen molecules is ~25 nm, which corresponds to glycogen molecules with glucose residues on 7–8 tiers (Shearer, Graham, 2004). In addition, the results presented in Figure 3.46 and Figure 3.47 suggest that a decrease in the distance between glucose residues with their increasing number in glycogen molecules is observed even at the earliest stages of glycogenesis in hepatocytes. These data suggest that in addition to steric mechanisms related to the glucose concentration of glucose residues on the surface of molecules and the size of enzymes involved in glycogen synthesis-degradation, there are some other mechanisms limiting the growth of glycogen molecules and their number in cells.

To sum up, using a specially developed cytofluorimetric method for the study of the spatial structure of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes we established that in the absorptive period the number of glucose residues in β -particles in the cirrhotic liver is higher than in the normal liver. During LC, glucose residues in β -particles are packed in denser structures than in the normal liver. It was also shown that glycogen synthesis in hepatocytes after glucose administration to starved rats starts at the periphery of cells and gradually moves to their central part, confirming the data obtained earlier on isolated hepatocytes using ¹⁴C-glucose (Garcia-Rocha et al., 2001; Fernandez-Novell et al., 2002).

3.4. Morphofunctional state of the cirrhotic liver in rats and humans after different treatments

Liver cirrhosis (LC) is a diffuse process characterised by fibrosis and transformation of the normal liver structure with nodule formation. It is the final stage of most chronic diffuse liver diseases (Ivashkin et al., 2021).

Cirrhosis is a widespread liver disease with a high mortality rate and high economic losses for the state. Its causes may be different but its essence is the same: the development of fibrosis and a gradual progression of the disease, leading to the reorganisation of liver architectonics and metabolic shifts not only in the target organ but also in the whole organism.

The search for ways and means of alleviating the suffering of cirrhotic patients and, even more importantly, eliminating the structural and metabolic abnormalities of the liver resulting from long-term cirrhotic process required great efforts of scientists in different countries for many years. As a rule, the therapeutic measures developed during these studies targeted particular symptoms (reduction of hypertension, elimination of ascites, improvement of microcirculation, etc.) and did not results in a complete recovery (Naumov, 1997; Sorinson, 1998). This may be the reason why hepatologists generally believe that LC is an irreversible and eventually lethal pathology (Friedman, Bansal, 2006; Gieling et al., 2008, Bravo et al., 2012). There are currently no therapeutic methods for the radical cure of LC, the treatments being mainly aimed at relieving its symptoms (Cui et al., 2021; Kronborg et al., 2021).

It is generally accepted that liver transplantation is the only effective treatment of cirrhosis (van der Helm et al., 2019). However, this operation is practically inaccessible to most patients due to the lack of suitable donors, high costs and numerous other factors (Jadlowiec et al., 2016). At the same time, the number of successful liver transplantations is steadily increasing. For example, this number made up ~6000 in Europe in 2010 (Zarrinpar, Busuttil, 2013), 3.4 per 1 million population in Russia in 2018, and 30 in the Moscow region in the same year (Moisyuk et al., 2018; Gautier, Khomyakov, 2019). The life expectancy of the patients is also increasing. According to statistical data, more than 90% of patients survive for one year after this surgery; after 5 years, the survival rate is 70%, and after 20 years, 53%. Moreover, the quality of life of patients after liver transplantation increases, too (Onghena et al., 2016). However, despite all these achievements, the number of cirrhotic patients who need liver transplantation to survive is not decreasing, and the waiting time for the operation remains long. For example, it makes up 5.5 months in the Moscow region (Moisyuk et al., 2018).

An acute shortage of donor livers for transplantation to patients with terminal cirrhosis has stimulated the search for new approaches to the treatment of this disease. These approaches include gene and cell therapy. It has been shown, e.g., that the transfer of the IGF-I (insulin-like growth factor I) gene into the cirrhotic liver triggers a process that upregulates the expression of cytoprotective and antifibrogenic molecules, while downregulating the expression of profibrogenic factors (Sobrevals et al., 2010). It is also believed that in principle transplantation of cells capable of differentiating into hepatocytes and cholangiocytes can, under certain conditions, compensate for the loss of functional liver cells during the pathological process (Burra et al., 2004; Alison et al., 2007; Conigliaro et al., 2010). Among these cells there are embryonic stem cells, extrahepatic stem cells (mesenchymal cells from bone marrow or other locations, particularly adipose tissue), and intrahepatic progenitor cells

(Galvao et al., 2006; Aquino et al., 2010; Darwiche, Petersen, 2010; Katoonizadeh et al., 2014; Yovchev et al., 2014). Theoretically, LC therapy can indeed greatly benefit from cell transplantation and genetic engineering. However, the introduction of these techniques into clinical practice as routine operations requires considerable effort (Laurson et al., 2005; Muraca et al., 2006; Lysy et al., 2008; Piscaglia et al., 2010; Tirnitz-Parker et al., 2013).

Therefore, in parallel with the development of new cell therapies, research is being conducted aimed at enhancing the ability of the pathologically altered liver itself to recover its original normal level. This research is needed to avoid organ transplantation and prevent mortality due to immune incompatibility. Therefore, the identification of cell populations capable of participating in liver regeneration and the establishment of cellular mechanisms for restoring the mass and function of the damaged organ are important tasks on the way to increasing its endogenous regenerative potential.

Reparative regeneration of the pathologically altered liver parenchyma, which can occur either by increasing the volume of functioning parenchyma or by resorption of excess collagen, is aimed at normalisation of stromal-parenchyma relationships. Insufficient regeneration may contribute to the chronic nature of the pathological process in the liver and increase its severity (LaBrecque, 1994). It is known that normal and reparative growth of any organ can proceed by increasing the number of cells (proliferation), by increasing the number of genomes in cells (polyploidisation) and by increasing the mass of cell cytoplasm unrelated to their polyploidisation (hypertrophy proper) (Goss, 1966).

It is generally accepted that polyploidization of liver parenchyma occurs by alternating acytokinetic and polyploidising restitution mitosis according to the scheme: $2c \rightarrow 2c \times 2 \rightarrow 4c \rightarrow 4c \times 2 \rightarrow 8c$, etc. The details of this process may differ in different mammalian species (Nadal, Zaidela, 1966; Brodsky, Uryvaeva, 1985; Kudryavtsev et al., 1993; Duncan et al., 2010; Donne et al., 2020), but its starting point is a pool of mononucleate diploid hepatocytes. It is believed that it is the diploid (2c) hepatocytes that largely determine the regenerative potential of the liver (Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 1996, 2005; Patterson, Swift, 2019).

Tables 3.3 and 3.4 (Section 3.1.4) present our data on the relative number of hepatocytes of different ploidy classes in the normal and the cirrhotic liver of rats and humans. Based on these data, we can conclude that despite considerable differences in the levels of polyploidization in the normal liver parenchyma of rats and humans, the dynamics of the hepatocyte population in rats and humans during LC development are similar. The similarity is

expressed, first of all, in the increase of the average ploidy level of hepatocytes during LC as compared to the norm. In addition, the results presented in Tables 3.3 and 3.4 suggest that the diploid hepatocyte population, which increases during LC in rats and makes up a considerable part of the human liver parenchyma cell population, plays a significant role in the repairs of the damaged liver parenchyma. This idea is supported by the results of other authors. Firstly, it was shown that the proportion of 2c-hepatocytes during LC in rats gradually increases after cessation of CCl₄ poisoning (Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 1996). Secondly, it was found that diploid hepatocytes enter the mitotic cycle much more actively than polyploid ones (Uryvaeva, Marshak, 1969; Watanabe, 1970; Watanabe et al., 1984; Gerlyng et al., 1993; Gorla et al., 2001).

It is known that along with proliferation and polyploidization, cell hypertrophy plays an important role in normal and reparative growth of various organs (Goss, 1966; Brodsky, Uryvaeva, 1981). It is usually associated with an increase in the number of genomes in a cell (polyploidy), which inevitably leads to an increase in cell size. Hypertrophy that is not associated with an increase in cell ploidy or pre-mitotic syntheses is studied much less often. At the same time, it may be of great importance for understanding the mechanisms of normal and reparative growth of an organ. The degree of cell hypertrophy in this case is associated with the size of their cytoplasm, since the change in the size of nuclei practically does not affect the total size of cells. Accurate estimation of the cell hypertrophy unrelated to ploidy can be achieved by parallel determination of cell ploidy level and objective indicators of its size. Possible indicators are the dry mass (DM) of the cell, more than 80% of which is composed of proteins (Giese, 1959; Brodsky, 1966). Measurement of DM of hepatocytes showed that before the beginning of poisoning of rats with CCl₄, DM of cells was 812±17 pg. In 6 months after the beginning of the experiment, DM values of hepatocytes in rats of the control group (not exposed to CCl₄) were 943±21 pg, while those of rats with LC were 1184±56 pg. DM of hepatocytes in the normal liver of adult humans averaged 546.0±29.6 pg, and in cirrhotic patients, 675.4±41.3 pg. The increase in hepatocyte mass during cirrhosis development, which was 25.6% (p < 0.001) in rats and 23.7% (p < 0.05) in humans as compared to the norm, suggests that cell hypertrophy plays a prominent role in the reparative liver growth (Bezborodkina et al., 2021b).

Data on the changes in the liver parenchyma mass during LC development, DM of hepatocytes and their ploidy in the normal and the cirrhotic liver of rats and humans make it

possible to quantify the contribution of proliferation (Q_1) , polyploidization (Q_2) and hypertrophy (Q_3) of cells to normal and reparative liver growth.

The development of CCl₄-induced cirrhosis in rats is associated with a 19% (p < 0.05) increase in the liver mass (Bezborodkina et al., 2021b). In contrast to rats, human liver mass decreases during LC (Patel et al., 2019; Simon et al., 2020; Hagen et al., 2022), which is accompanied by a significant decrease in the proportion of the liver parenchyma. While in the normal human liver it makes up 90.6±0.9%, during LC it is only 54.0±2.5% (Table 3.2) (Bezborodkina et al., 2021), indicating that hepatocyte death prevails over their replenishment.

The data presented in Table 3.11 indicate that in rats cell hypertrophy (about 18 %) plays a significant role in the increase of liver mass during LC development. However, the main contribution to the reparative growth of the liver is made by cellular processes associated with DNA synthesis, accompanied by an increase in the number of cells. Proliferation associated with normal mitotic cell divisions accounts for 66% and polyploidization, for 16%. Similar data were obtained earlier in studies of cellular mechanisms of normal and reparative liver growth in rats (Sakuta, Kudryavtsev, 1996). A somewhat smaller contribution of proliferation (57%) and an increased contribution of polyploidization (30%) during LC formation found by the authors is apparently related to the age differences of the animals used in the experiment.

Table 3.11 — Relative contribution (%) of proliferation (Q_1), polyploidization (Q_2) and hypertrophy (Q_3) of hepatocytes to changes in rat and human liver mass during the development of liver cirrhosis (LC)

	Q1	Q2	Q3
Rats	66	16	18
Humans	111.2	-7.3	-3.9

Note: In calculating the contribution(s) of cell proliferation, polyploidy and hypertrophy, it was assumed that the ratio of the liver parenchyma mass of the cirrhotic liver to that of the normal liver (M) is 4.0 in rats and 0.37 in humans, taking into account cell renewal during LC development.

Determination of the contribution(s) of hepatocyte proliferation, polyploidy and hypertrophy to reparative liver growth in humans showed that reparative growth of the human liver during the development of cirrhosis was solely due to mitotic divisions of small diploid hepatocytes (Table 3.11).

Although many researchers believe that liver cirrhosis is irreversible, several authors hold an opposite viewpoint (Sarkisov, Rubetskoy, 1965; Powell et al., 1970; Solopaev, 1985; Dufour et al., 1997; Kaplan et al., 1997; Lau et al., 1999; Benyon, Iredale, 2000; Wanless, 2001; Kweon et al., 2001; Hammel et al., 2001). The key questions in the studies of LC reversal are the degree of reversal of the pathological changes in the liver to the normal state after application of appropriate therapeutic measures and the level of damaging effect of the therapy itself on the liver of cirrhotic patients.

Understanding the mechanisms involved in liver fibrosis is a fundamental challenge for researchers working on the development of LC therapy. Fibrosis and cirrhosis are dynamic processes, and can progress as well as regress over time depending on whether their cause is permanently present or not (Arthur, 2002). Therefore, the elimination of the underlying cause of LC has a paramount importance for the reversal of the structure and function of the cirrhotic liver to those of the liver in its initial normal state. Our results indicate that cessation of CCl_4 poisoning of rats results, already after 1 month, in a noticeable improvement of the liver structure, which is mainly expressed in the reduction of the proportion of the connective tissue. However, even 6 months^{*}) after the end of the damaging effect, there was no complete recovery of the organ's lobular structure (Fig. 3.53) (Kudryavtseva et al., 1998, 1999, 2001; Kudryavtseva et al., 2000).

In experiments on rats, we tested a number of treatments that, in principle, could increase the degree and speed of recovery of the structure and function of the liver disturbed during the development of LC. With some reservations, one might distinguish several possible ways of reversing cirrhotic changes in the liver **if the damaging agent is eliminated**: enhancing the proliferative potential of hepatocytes, reducing the mass of connective tissue, reducing the load on the liver and enhancing the functional state of some body systems that have a direct influence on the level of the regenerative process.

^{*)} In rats, the age of 11-13 months is thought to correspond roughly to the human age of 30 years, and the age 24–27 months, to the human age of 60–70 years (Weisfeld, 1998). This means that 6 month of life in rats roughly correspond to 12-15 years of human life.



Figure 3.53 — Rat liver sections: a, b — during liver cirrhosis; c, d — 6 months after cessation of CCl₄ exposure; a, c — van Gieson staining, b, d — hematoxylin-eosin staining.

Agents and procedures that may potentially enhance regeneration of the cirrhotic liver and normalise its structure and function include partial liver resection (Nakamura et al., 1984; Imai et al., 1990; Castells et al., 1994), high-carbohydrate diet (Stowell et al., 1951; Bernelli-Zazzera, Gaja, 1964; Jennische, 1983; Hinson, 1983; Frederiks, 1985; Kabadi et al., 1985), human chorionic gonadotropin (Solopaeva, 1969; Solopaeva, Solopaev, 1991), and lysineglutamine dipeptide (Kiseleva et al., 1999).

Although agents of different nature were used to increase the regenerative ability of the cirrhotic rat liver, they action had similar results. The summary of our experimental studies (Kudryavtseva et al., 1998, 1999, 2001a; Kudryavtseva et al., 2000) is as follows:

 The lobular structure of the organ is not restored even 6 months after the end of exposure of the animals to CCl₄, despite a certain normalisation of the histological structure of the liver expressed in the reduction of the proportion of the connective tissue, the disappearance of the inflammation foci and the decrease of the number of Kupffer cells (Fig. 3.54).



Figure 3.54 — Rat liver sections: a — normal liver; b — cirrhotic liver; c — liver 6 months after partial hepatectomy. Staining after van Gieson.

- 2) Functional indices of the liver after cessation of exposure of animals to CCl₄ recover faster and more completely than its histological structure. First of all, this is expressed in a significant decrease of glycogen content in hepatocytes, an increase of G6Pase activity and increase of GPa activity. At the same time, unlike GPa, glycogen content and G6Pase activity did not reach normal values even long after the cessation of toxic exposure.
- 3) An inverse relationship (r = -0.84, p < 0.001) was found between the decrease of glycogen content in hepatocytes and G6Pase activity in rat liver (Figure 3.55).



Figure 3.55 — Dependence of glycogen content in hepatocytes on glucose-6-phosphatase (G6Pase) activity in the rat liver.

Thus, our study with the use of different methods of LC therapy in rats showed that, despite a certain improvement of the liver architectonics, complete restoration of its original lobular structure does not occur even after long-term observation. The analysis of our data shows that the cessation of the pathogenic influence is the leading factor of the morphological improvement of the cirrhotic liver. The methods of LC treatment in rats used in this work had only a weak effect on the course of recovery of the affected organ (Kudryavtseva et al., 1998, 1999, 2001a; Kudryavtseva et al., 2000).

Large-scale studies using experimental models of LC (Iimuro et al., 2003; Parsons et al., 2004; Siller-Lopez et al., 2004; Roderfeld et al., 2006; Atta et al., 2014) and clinical data obtained on cirrhotic patients (Wanless et al., 2000; Poynard et al., 2002; Dienstag et al., 2003) have shown that exclusion of the aetiological source of chronic liver injury leads to decreased levels of anti-inflammatory and fibrogenic cytokines, decreased extracellular matrix production and apoptosis of stellate cell (Iredale et al., 1998; Iredale, 2007; Krizhanovsky et al., 2008; Wright et al., 2001). In addition, many studies have demonstrated a significant reduction in the fibrotic tissue volume after treatment of LC with various agents (Lewis et al., 1983; Weinbren et al., 1985; Dufour et al., 1997; Sobesky et al., 1999; Guerret, 1999; Poynard et al., 2002; Liu et al., 2013; Sun et al., 2020). However, despite all these positive results, most researchers currently believe that only fibrosis, but not mature cirrhosis, can be reversed (Desmet, Roskams, 2004; Malekzadeh et al., 2004; Bravo et al., 2012). Complete reversal of cirrhotic changes in the liver is thought to be possible only in rare instances, and reports of such reversal are often considered controversial (Benyon, Iredale, 2000; Di Vinicius et al., 2000; Di Vinicius et al., 2005; Ramachandran, Iredale, 2009; Metwally et al., 2017). Therefore, as yet, none of the various anti-cirrhotic treatments can be expected to reverse the structural changes in the liver to the level characteristic of the normal liver. This claim is confirmed by our data obtained in the study of CCl₄-cirrhosis in rats during a long recovery period after cessation of poisoning of animals with hepatotropic poison (Kudryavtseva et al., 1998, 1999, 2001a; Kudryavtseva et al., 2000).

Fibrosis and deep reorganisation of the vascular bed during LC result in hypoxia and deterioration of the supply of necessary substrates to the liver parenchyma cells. In addition, the development of LC is accompanied by ongoing processes of inflammation, death and proliferation of various cell types, as well as neutralisation of damaging agents, which require significant energy expenditure. Therefore, in principle, the cessation of the damaging effect on

the liver, which leads to a significant decrease in the intensity of all these processes, should release much energy, which can be redirected to restore the structure and multiple functions of the damaged liver. However, there are currently no data on the level of hypoxia in the liver and the energy status of the organ after cessation of damaging effects and LC therapy.

One of the pharmacological agents used during LC 2treatment is ethylthiobenzimidazole hydrobromide (BM). It has been shown to accelerate reparative regeneration of the liver, improve the function of the pathologically altered organ, and exhibit immunomodulatory and antioxidant effects (Plotnikov et al., 1989; Smirnov, 1993; Smirnov, 1994; Gaivoronskaya, 2000). It has also been established that BM possesses antimutagenic properties (Durnev, Seredenin, 1995; Zinovieva et al., 1995; Seredenin et al., 1986) and has a favourable effect on carbohydrate metabolism of the cirrhotic rat liver. It is believed that the main mechanism of BM effect on carbohydrate metabolism in the liver is mediated by the enhancement of transcription and translation processes (Okovity, 1995).

The most common experimental model of LC is chronic exposure of animals to hepatotropic poison. Carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄) is used particularly often. LC developing in animals is believed to be similar to that in humans (Zimmerman, 1978; Zakusov, 1985; Sarkisov, 1987; Kohno et al., 1991; Skobeleva, 1994). At the same time, evaluation of the proportion of the connective tissue, determination of enzyme activity and glycogen content showed that the pathological process in the human liver leads to much deeper structural and functional rearrangements than in animal liver (Owen et al., 1981, 1983; Kudryavtseva et al., 1992). It is obvious that the data on pathogenesis and reversibility of LC in animals require considerable adjustment when applied to humans. Therefore, we conducted a comparative study of the effects of BM on the rehabilitation of pathologically altered liver in rats and humans (Kudryavtseva et al., 2002a, 2002b; Kudryavtseva et al., 2003; Kudryavtseva et al., 2004; Okovity et al., 2006). The effects of BM on the liver of patients with chronic viral hepatitis were studied both before and during LC development (Kudryavtseva et al., 2002a).

The study of the effects of BM on glycogen metabolism in the cirrhotic rat liver showed that the use of this drug caused a significant decrease in glycogen content in hepatocytes and an increase in G6Pase activity in the liver of animals (Table 3.12). However, similarly to other agents used in our work, BM does not result in a complete normalisation of these parameters. Glycogen levels in hepatocytes after BM therapy remain 23% higher than in the control (p < 0.001), while G6Pase activity is 23% lower than in the control (p < 0.02) (Kudryavtseva et al.,

2002b; Kudryavtseva et al., 2003). The decrease of the glycogen level in rat liver after BM therapy undoubtedly indicates a favourable effect of this drug on the pathologically altered organ (Kudryavtseva et al., 2002b; Kudryavtseva et al., 2004). It is necessary, however, to once again emphasize that the results obtained from studying the reversibility of cirrhosis in animals can be used in humans only with great caution.

Table 3.12 — Content of total glycogen and its fractions in hepatocytes (arbitrary units), glucose-6-phosphatase (G6Pase) activity (nmol/min/mg protein) in the normal and the cirrhotic rat liver (LC) and during treatment of cirrhosis with 2-ethylthiobenzimidazole hydrobromide (LC+BM), arbitrary units (X \pm S_x, n = 5).

Experimental	Total alwagan	Labile fraction of Stable fraction of		G6Pase activity
variant	Total grycogen	glycogen	glycogen	
Control	2.39±0.06	1.93±0.05	0.38±0.03	0.77±0.03
LC	7.73 ± 0.07^{1}	4.53 ± 0.07^{1}	3.05 ± 0.02^{1}	$0.20{\pm}0.08^{1}$
LC + BM	2.94 ± 0.05^{1}	1.99±0.06	$0.62{\pm}0.02^{1}$	$0.59{\pm}0.05^2$

^{1,2} Significantly different from the value in the control ($^{1} p < 0.001$, $^{2} p < 0.02$).

Our data indicate that the basic therapy of patients with CVH and LC did not actually affect the glycogen content in cells. At the same time, its content in hepatocytes decreased after treatment with BM, the decrease being more noticeable in patients with hepatitis than in cirrhotic patients (Table 3.13) (Kudryavtseva et al., 2002a). It should also be noted that therapy of cirrhotic patients with BM caused only a 9% drop in glycogen levels in hepatocytes (p < 0.01), while in rats BM reduced glycogen content in hepatocytes by 77% (Table 3.12). The glycogen content in hepatocytes after the end of treatment of cirrhotic patients with the drug remained approximately 2.38 times higher than the norm (p < 0.001) (Table 3.13). In rats, the glycogen content in hepatocytes after a similar treatment scheme was only 1.23 times higher than the norm (p < 0.001) (Table 3.12) (Kudryavtseva et al., 2002b; Kudryavtseva et al., 2003). A weak effect of BM on the liver of human patients may be due to the persistence of the virus and/or deeper structural rearrangement of the liver parenchyma in humans compared to rats (Kudryavtseva et al., 2002a; Bezborodkina et al., 2021b).

	Patient groups							
Indicator	Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII	
	(n = 10)	(n = 12)	(n = 3)	(n = 9)	(n = 13)	(n = 4)	(n = 9)	
Total glycogen	3.4±0.1	6.5±0.1	6.0±0.3	5.6±0.1	8.9±0.2	9.4±0.4	8.1±0.2	
Labile fraction	2.9±0.1	5.2±0.1	4.4 ±0.1	4.3±0.1	6.0±0.1	6.7±0.1	6.5±0.1	
Stable fraction	0.4±0.1	1.4±0.1	1.6±0.3	1.0±0.1	2.9±0.2	3.1±0.5	1.5±0.2	

Table 3.13 — Content of total glycogen and its fractions in hepatocytes of patients of different groups, arbitrary units $(X\pm S_x)$.

Note: I — control group, II — CVH without therapy, III — CVH after basic therapy, IV — CVH after 2-ethylthiobenzimidazole hydrobromide therapy, V — LC without therapy, VI — LC after basic therapy, VII — LC after 2-ethylthiobenzimidazole hydrobromide therapy. All values in patient groups II–VII were significantly different from the corresponding values in group I at p < 0.001.

Though considerable efforts were made to smooth over the differences between the groups of patients and make them uniform by a number of parameters, this proved impossible, and thus the problems associated with heterogeneity of cell populations in human liver parenchyma could not be eliminated. Therefore, to reduce the influence of heterogeneous composition of patients in the groups on the glycogen content in hepatocytes, we used serial liver biopsy samples obtained from the same patient at different time intervals after bemithyl therapy (Tables 3.14, 3.15) (Kudryavtseva et al., 2002a).

Table 3.14 — Content of total glycogen (TG) and its fractions in hepatocytes obtained from serial liver biopsy samples of CVH patients before (biopsy I) and after (biopsy II) therapy with 2-ethylthiobenzimidazole hydrobromide, arbitrary units $(X\pm S_x)$.

Patient no.	Glycogen content							
	Biopsy I			Biopsy II				
	TG	labile fraction	stable fraction	TG	labile fraction	stable fraction		
1	9.3±0.8	6.1±0.3	3.2±0.9	6.1±0.2	5.0±0.2	1.1±0.3		
2	6.4±0.4	5.1±0.3	1.3±0.5	5.2±0.1	4.3±0.2	0.9±0.2		
3	4.5±0.3	3.5±0.2	1.0±0.4	4.0±0.3	3.1±0.1	0.9±0.3		
4	6.6±0.8	4.6±0.3	2.0±0.6	4.9±0.5	4.1±0.2	0.8±0.3		
5	9.0±0.9	6.8±0.2	2.2±0.9	8.1±0.6	6.6±0.3	1.6 ± 0.6		
6	6.7±0.3	4.8±0.5	1.9±0.6	5.1±0.4	4.1±0.3	1.0±0.5		
7	8.1±0.4	6.3±0.5	1.9±0.6	7.1±0.4	5.9±0.4	1.2±0.6		
8	9.0±0.8	6.8±0.3	2.3±0.9	7.0±0.4	5.9±0.3	1.1±0.5		
9	7.6±0.8	5.0±0.2	2.6±0.8	6.2±0.2	5.3±0.2	0.9±0.3		

	Glycogen content							
Patient no.	Biopsy I			Biopsy II				
	TG	labile fraction	stable fraction	TG	labile fraction	stable fraction		
1	8.5±0.4	5.8±0.4	2.7±0.6	7.8±0.3	6.5±0.2	1.3±0.4		
2	10.2±1.0	6.7±0.3	3.5±1.0	8.5±0.9	6.7±0.3	1.8±0.9		
3	8.3±1.0	5.3±0.3	3.0±1.0	8.0±0.7	6.4±0.5	1.6±0.9		
4	9.5±0.9	6.6±0.3	2.9±0.9	8.5±0.4	6.7±0.5	1.8±0.6		
5	7.7±0.6	5.8±0.2	1.9±0.6	7.2±0.6	6.2±0.4	1.0±0.7		
6	8.7±0.4	6.2±0.4	2.5±0.6	8.0±0.9	6.4±0.4	1.6±0.9		
7	9.0±0.8	5.3±0.3	3.7±0.8	8.2±0.7	6.6±0.2	1.6±0.7		
8	9.4±1.0	6.8±0.3	2.6±1.0	8.1±0.6	6.9±0.3	1.2±0.7		
9	9.8±1.0	5.5±0.2	4.4±1.0	8.5±0.6	6.2±0.3	2.3±0.7		

Table 4.15 — Content of total glycogen (TG), its labile fraction and stable fraction in hepatocytes obtained from serial liver biopsy samples of cirrhotic patients before (biopsy I) and after (biopsy II) therapy with 2-ethylthiobenzimidazole hydrobromide, arbitrary units ($X\pm S_x$).

It has been established based on the material of more than 160 liver biopsies of CH patients that the glycogen content in hepatocytes does not depend on the aetiology of the disease and increases with the intensification of liver damage. In patients with severe liver damage the glycogen content in the cells could exceed the norm more than 4-fold (Kudryavtseva, 1987). Our study showed (Tables 3.13, 3.14, 3.15) that BM therapy, unlike basic therapy, leads to a decrease in glycogen content in both CVH patients and cirrhotic patients (Kudryavtseva et al., 2002a). In cirrhotic patients, an inverse correlation (r = -0.87; p < 0.01) was observed between the decrease of the glycogen content in hepatocytes and its initial level in the cells (Figure 3.56). This result means that the effect of BM on the glycogen content in cells is greater when liver damage is less severe (Kudryavtseva et al., 2002a).



Figure 3.56 — Dependence of the decrease of glycogen content and its initial level in hepatocytes of cirrhotic patients after BM therapy. Based on the results of serial biopsies.

Analyses of the dependence of the relative decrease of glycogen levels in hepatocytes on the duration of the interval between biopsy I and biopsy II revealed this dependence only in CVH patients (Fig. 3.57). This finding suggests that in case of CVH, when pathological changes in the liver are less pronounced than during LC, BM therapy leads to progressive and long-term improvement of glycogen metabolism in the liver (Kudryavtseva et al., 2002a).



Figure 3.57 — Dependence of the decrease of glycogen content in hepatocytes of patients with CVH on the duration of the time interval between biopsy I and biopsy II after BM therapy.

The study of the dependence of glycogen content in hepatocytes of patients with CVH on the activity of G6Pase in the liver (Fig. 3.58) showed that, similarly to cirrhotic rats (Kudryavtseva et al., 2002b), the activity of this enzyme largely determines the level of glycogen in cells. The increase in G6Pase activity leads to a decrease in glycogen content in hepatocytes (Kudryavtseva et al., 2002a).

Based on the above, it can be concluded that glycogenosis in hepatocytes of rats and humans during LC is largely reversible after cessation of the damaging effect on the liver. Additional application of therapeutic methods after the removal of the pathogenic impact has only a small positive effect. It has also been established that the decrease of glycogen levels in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic liver after therapy is inversely proportional to the glycogen content in cells before the treatment and to the increase of G6Pase activity (Kudryavtseva et al., 1998, 1999, 2001a, 2003; Kudryavtseva et al., 2000; 2002a, 2002b, 2004).



Figure 3.58 — Dependence of the decrease in glycogen content in hepatocytes of patients with CVH on the increase in glucose-6-phosphatase (G6Pase) activity in the liver after BM therapy. Based on the results of serial biopsies.

In addition to physiological requirements of the organism and metabolic factors (blood glucose concentration, insulin and glucagon levels, enzyme activity, etc.), the glycogen content in hepatocytes may depend on the number of glycogen molecules and their spatial structure. Theoretically, the number of glucose residues in the 4 outer tiers of glycogen molecules (~50,000) may exceed the number of residues contained in the 8 inner tiers (3315) 15-fold to 16-fold (Roach et al., 2012). Even taking into account that only 34.6% of α -1,4-glycosidic bonds in glycogen are subjected to the direct action of GF*a* (without the participation of the debranching enzyme) (Shearer, Graham, 2004), glycogen content in cells may vary approximately 5-fold due to changes in the spatial structure of its molecules alone. It can be assumed that the variability of glycogen content in hepatocytes associated with the different number of its molecules in cells is also significant.

The data shown in Figure 3.59 demonstrate that the total number of glucose residues in one molecule (β -particle) of glycogen averages 18810±734 in the control rats and is much lower in the cirrhotic rats, 7107±390.

Our data on the number of glucose residues in glycogen molecules indicate that in the normal rats the spatial structure of glycogen molecules includes ten tiers completely filled with glucose residues and the 11th tier filled by 41%, while in cirrhotic rats it includes nine complete tiers and the 10th tier filled only by 3.3% (Fig. 3.59). Based on the data on the dependence of the diameter of glycogen molecules on the number of glucose residues in them (Shearer, Graham, 2004; Roach et al., 2012), the average diameter of glycogen molecules in

hepatocytes is 36 nm in the normal rat liver and ~31 nm in the cirrhotic rat liver. Various rehabilitation methods may promote a certain reversal of the structure of glycogen molecules disturbed by long-term pathological process but cannot completely restore it (Fig. 3.59).



Figure 3.59 — Number of glucose residues in glycogen molecules in hepatocytes in the normal and the cirrhotic rat liver at different time intervals after cessation of CCl_4 poisoning and application of different methods of therapy of liver cirrhosis (cirrhosis). WM — without manipulations; CD — high-carbohydrate diet; HCG — human chorionic gonadotropin; BM — 2-ethylthiobenzimidazole hydrobromide; PH — partial hepatectomy.

Removal of the damaging agent and application of additional therapy leads to the same kind of changes in the spatial structure of glycogen. They are expressed in an increase in the number of glucose residues in its molecules. The greatest increase, as expected, was observed in the group of rats on a high-carbohydrate diet (Fig. 3.59). Already 1 month after the start of

the diet the amount of glucose residues in hepatocytes of rats of this group exceeded the normal level by 47% (p < 0.001), almost doubling after 6 months. The effect of the other treatments on rats was less pronounced but increased with the increasing duration of the treatment (Fig. 3.59).

The results of determining the relative amount of glycogen molecules in the hepatocytes in the normal and the cirrhotic rat liver are presented in Figure 3.60.



Figure 3.60 — Relative number of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes of the normal and the cirrhotic rat liver at different time intervals after cessation of poisoning of animals with CCl₄ and application of different methods of therapy of liver cirrhosis (LC). WM — without manipulations; CD — high-carbohydrate diet; HCG — human chorionic gonadotropin; PH — partial hepatectomy; BM — 2-ethylthiobenzimidazole hydrobromide.

Based on the data obtained in our study, we can conclude that the development of LC in rats is accompanied by a 2–3-fold decrease in the number of glucose residues in glycogen
molecules and a much larger (7–9-fold) increase in the number of its molecules (Fig. 3.59 and Fig. 3.60). Various methods of LC therapy lead not only to an increase in the number of residues in glycogen molecules and, consequently, to an increase in the size of the molecules themselves, but also to a decrease in the number of glycogen molecules accompanied by a decrease in its levels in hepatocytes. The relative contribution of the number of glycogen content in cells differs during different treatments of LC (Fig. 3.59 and Fig. 3.60). Nevertheless, we can conclude that the decrease in the number of glycogen molecules to the decrease of glycogen content in hepatocytes during LC rehabilitation makes the most significant contribution.

In the normal human liver, glycogen molecules are somewhat larger than in the normal rat liver, and contain, on average, 24034±707 glucose residues. The development of LC in humans is associated with a ~2.6-fold (p < 0.01) decrease in the number of glucose residues in glycogen molecules and an 8–10-fold increase in the number of glycogen molecules (Fig. 3.61). It is noteworthy that the spatial structure of glycogen β -particles in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic human liver is almost identical to that in rats: the molecules also consist of 9 complete tiers and the 10th tier partially filled with glucose residues (Fig. 3.59, Fig. 3.61).



Figure 3.61 — Total number of glucose residues and their distribution on the outer tiers of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes of patients of groups I–VII. Note: Group I — control, II — CVH without therapy, III — CVH after basic therapy, IV — CVH after 2-ethylthiobenzimidazole hydrobromide therapy, V — LC without therapy, VI — LC after basic therapy, VII — LC after 2-ethylthiobenzimidazole hydrobromide therapy.

Therapy of cirrhotic patients with bemithyl (Fig. 3.61, group VII) resulted in a two-fold increase in the average number of glucose residues in glycogen molecules and approximately the same decrease in the number of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes. Similar data were obtained when determining the number of glucose residues in glycogen molecules in hepatocytes of patients with CVH during their treatment with BM (Fig. 3.61, group IV).

The reasons for the decrease in the size of glycogen molecules and increase in their number in hepatocytes during LC are unclear. It is known, however, that the glycogen degradation primarily affects relatively smaller β -particles and to a lesser extent, large α -particles (Sullivan et al., 2014). This conclusion is also supported by the fact that GP is more active in glycogen with a lower molecular mass (Stetten, Stetten, 1958). Data on the incorporation of labelled glucose into glycogen also indicate that the rate of metabolism of its larger molecules is lower than that of small molecules (Geddes et al., 1977). These results suggest that the surface area of glycogen molecules, which increases with decreasing size, may play an important role in controlling its degradation. Based on the above, it can be assumed that the decrease in the size of glycogen molecules during LC is an adaptive response that makes it possible to increase the rate of glycogen metabolism.

LC usually ends in liver failure and/or hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) or malignant tumours in other organs (Kalaitzakis et al., 2011; Ganne-Carrié, Nahon, 2019). The risk of developing HCC is 26–60 times higher in cirrhotic patients than in the general population (Sorensen et al., 1998; Kalaitzakis et al., 2011). Therefore, many researchers, mainly based on the morphological analysis, consider LC as a precancerous condition (Anthony, 1978; Roncalli et al., 2011; Hytiroglu et al., 2012; Niu et al., 2017). HCC is one of the most lethal human cancers. Chronic infection with hepatitis B or C viruses, foods containing aflatoxins produced by micromycetes, metabolic disorders, diabetes, and excessive alcohol consumption are the main stimuli for chronic liver inflammation that leads to fibrosis (and) or cirrhosis, and ultimately to the development of HCC in humans (Figure 3.62).



Figure 3.62 — Risk factors for the development of HCC in humans. NAFLD — non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; NASH — nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (Jilkova et al., 2019).

HCC is a tumour with a very high metabolic rate, consuming much more oxygen than the surrounding normal tissue (Guo et al., 2020). Therefore, despite strong vascularisation, the rate of O_2 diffusion in the tumour is often insufficient, resulting in a hypoxic cell microenvironment. The average oxygenation level in HCC has been shown to be ~0.8% (McKeown, 2014; Chen, Lou, 2017), whereas in surrounding normal tissue it ranges from 4.0– 7.3% (Leary et al., 2002; Brooks et al., 2004). Hypoxia plays a key role in tumour neoangiogenesis, progression, invasion and metastasis (Hockel, Vaupel, 2001; Liu et al., 2017; Lin et al., 2018; Al Tameemi et al., 2019; Guo et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2020; Emami Nejad et al., 2021; Cramer, Vaupel, 2022).

It is natural to assume that hepatocarcinogenesis developing under hypoxic conditions will lead to a profound rearrangement of carbohydrate metabolism in HCC and liver cells surrounding the tumour, which will be accompanied by marked changes in glycogen content and activity of enzymes of its metabolism. However, the data on glycogen content in tumour cells are contradictory. On the one hand, it has been shown that the glycogen content in malignant liver cells, for which glycogen accumulation is normally one of the main differentiated functions, is low or even absent (Su, Bannasch, 2003; Takegoshi et al., 2016; Berndt et al., 2021). It is believed that the decrease in glycogen stores in this case is associated with the transformation of preneoplastic hepatocytes into tumour cells. Malignant

183

transformation of hepatocytes during long-term hepatocarcinogenesis leads to a fundamental change in carbohydrate metabolism, the consequence of which is a gradual decrease of the initially high glycogen content in cells (Bannasch et al., 1984; Bannasch, 2010; Harjes, 2022). It has been shown that in mice with HCC induced by nitrosamine there is an inverse correlation between tumour size and glycogen content, i.e. smaller tumours have significantly greater glycogen stores, while larger tumours contain less glycogen. Similarly, in human liver sections, glycogen staining was often observed in small nodules but rarely detected in larger tumours. Despite the high variability between individuals, in most cases glycogen content was increased at stage I (early stage) but dramatically decreased at the later stages of human HCC development (stage II, stage III and stage IV) compared to neighbouring normal tissues. In addition, the location of glycogen-containing cell foci was found to correlate with groups of alpha-fetoprotein-positive cells in these liver sections (Liu et al., 2021). These data suggest that glycogen, as an energy reserve of glucose, is consumed for proliferation and growth of malignant cells during HCC progression.

High glycogen levels are thought to be a key event for the initiation of oncogenetic processes during malignant transformation of cells in the liver (Cui et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2021; Davidson et al., 2022). Glycogen accumulation in cancer cells favours their survival in a hypoxic environment with scarce nutrient supply and enables them to maintain high proliferative activity and enhance invasion and migration (Favaro et al., 2012; Zois, Harris, 2016; Althemus et al., 2019; Curtis et al., 2019). Inhibition of glycogen metabolism has been shown to cause cancer cell death, while increased glycogen accumulation accelerates oncogenesis (Dukhande et al., 2018; Barot et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2021).

Thus, the glycogen content in liver cells can serve as a marker of early diagnosis and prognosis of HCC. Therefore, the development of therapeutic measures for reducing glycogen levels in tumour cells may represent a basic strategic for HCC therapy. At the same time, the use of data on glycogen content in tumour liver to predict the course and outcome of HCC requires a more detailed development of the method of glycogen quantification in tumour cells and a thorough study of its metabolism.

At present, almost all studies of glycogen content in HCC are based on visual assessment of the intensity of staining of tissue or cell sections using PAS reaction. At the same time, in many works where PAS reaction was used, the time of oxidation of preparations in iodic acid was very short (5–10 min), and the duration of staining in Schiff's reagent was

only 10–15 min (Jiang et al., 2010; Favaro et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2019; Curtis et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2020; Tang et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2021). At the same time, it has long been known that for complete detection of glycogen in cells, oxidation of preparations in iodic acid should be longer, and the duration of their staining in Schiff's reagent should be ~90 min (Kudryavtseva et al., 1972; Gahrton et al., 1975). This is due to the fact that rapid PAS staining of preparations, used by many authors, determines only a small part of glycogen in cells (see Section 4.3) and does not allow one to study its structure in the tissue.

One of the key factors contributing to increased glycolysis in tumour and non-tumour liver cells is a low activity of G6Pase. Decreased activity of this enzyme attenuates endogenous glucose production and leads to accumulation of G6P in cells (Sun et al., 2009). Excessive G6P enhances glycolysis, increases the synthesis of fatty acids, uric acid and lactate, and, due to the accumulation of glycogen and lipids, causes hepatomegaly and eventually leads to tumour development (Gjorgjieva et al., 2016; Cho et al., 2018). This is particularly clear in glycogenosis type I (von Gierke disease). In this inherited disease associated with G6Pase deficiency, hepatocytes accumulate extremely large amounts of glycogen (Beaty et al., 2002).

G6Pase activity in human HCC has been shown to be ~47% of the control level (Taketa et al., 1976). However, an even lower G6Pase activity as compared to the norm was found in HCC of woodchucks. Using a natural model of HCC that develops during ontogenesis in the North American woodchucks *Marmota monax*, it was found that G6Pase activity in the tumour itself makes up 17 % and in the normal liver tissue surrounding HCC, 59.4% of the level of this enzyme's activity in the liver of healthy animals (Kuang et al., 2006).

Carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄), which was used in our work to induce LC in rats, is not believed to be a genotoxic agent (Lee et al., 2013). Therefore, to induce HCC in animals CCl₄ is usually used in combination with some genotoxic agent, most commonly, with diethylnitrosamine (DEN) (Santos et al., 2017; Jilkova et al., 2019). However, although CCl₄ is not genotoxic, free radicals CCl_3^* and Cl^* formed by its microsomal oxidation (Britton and Bacon, 1994) lead to the destruction of cellular structures, which is accompanied by inflammation, fibrosis and increased cell proliferation in the liver. With prolonged exposure of the liver to CCl₄ all these processes significantly increase the risk of genetic errors and may lead to the formation of HCC. It was shown that intragastric administration of CCl₄ to rats for 30 weeks caused HCC formation in 30–40% of animals (Frezza et al., 1994). Fujii and coauthors observed numerous well-formed HCCs on the liver surface after 15–17 weeks of exposure of mice to CCl_4 (Fujii et al., 2008). Repeated injections of CCl_4 to mice for two years resulted in HCC formation in 50% of mice (Zhao et al., 2015), whereas 100% tumour development was observed in mice after simultaneous administration of DEN and CCl_4 (Uehara et al., 2014).

The data obtained in our work suggest that, though CCl₄ is not genotoxic, a prolonged chronic exposure to this agent causes changes in liver structure and metabolism very similar to those observed during the development of HCC:

1) Nodular proliferation and atypic hepatocytes.

2) Increased LP and ROS production.

3) Depletion of antioxidant systems.

4) Much lower concentration of inner membranes of mitochondria than normal.

5) Intense glycolysis.

6) Extremely low glucokinase activity.

7) Low glucose-6-phosphatase activity.

8) Low glycogen phosphorylase activity.

9) High levels of glycogen in hepatocytes.

Thus, the results of the present work confirm the conclusion of many authors that LC is a pre-carcinogenic state and that cirrhosis is the main prerequisite for the formation of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). The identified changes in the structure and metabolism of hepatocytes during LC are a necessary condition for the start of HCC development and progression. Only changes in the genetic apparatus of cells are then needed to trigger these processes.

CONCLUSION

Annual deaths from liver diseases account for about 4% of all deaths worldwide (Devarbhavi et al., 2023). Liver cirrhosis (LC), along with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), are the final irreversible stage of chronic progressive liver diseases. Alcohol and hepatotropic viruses are not only the main but also the oldest aetiological factors of LC. Winemaking and immoderate alcohol consumption appeared as far back as the Neolithic era, 8–10 thousand years ago (Leibowitz, 1967; Nikolova et al., 2018; Hirst, 2019). Hepatotropic B virus was found in bone fragments and human mummies of an equally old age (Simmonds, 2001; Souza et al., 2014; Locarnini et al., 2021; Trovao, 2022). Recently, drug-induced liver damage (Leise et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2021) and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, which affects a quarter of the world's adult population (Farrell et al., 2006; Zhai et al., 2021b; Noureddin, Harison, 2023), have started to play an increasingly more significant role in the formation of LC. Although the liver is not a major target organ for COVID-19 virus, population analysis has shown that LC mortality increased during the pandemic. It has been suggested, however, that this increase is due to an increased alcohol consumption (Ye et al., 2022; Huang et al., 2023).

LC does not only cause great suffering to patients themselves but also entails enormous economic expenses for their treatment and care. The prognosis of cirrhotic patients depends on a number of factors including aetiology, severity, type, complications and comorbidities. The average life expectancy of patients with compensated LC is 9–12 years, whereas during decompensated LC it does not exceed 3 years (Zipprich et al., 2012). Most cirrhotic patients have an age between 40 and 60 years (Sajja et al., 2014), but this disease has been "getting younger" in the last decades, affecting the most active, useful and productive part of the population in various countries.

Cirrhosis is very difficult to treat. There are currently only two treatments, and each has its own advantages and disadvantages. One of them is the replacement of the cirrhotic liver with a donor liver. Transplantation of liver or a part of it is the second most common organ replacement surgery. The average survival of patients 1 year and 5 years after surgery is 82–85% and 68–70%, respectively; in some patients it reaches 20 years or more (Roberts et al., 2004; Onghena et al., 2016; Shavelle et al., 2021). Despite tremendous advances in transplantation, its current tempo meets less than 10% of the world's demands. This situation is mainly due to the shortage of suitable donors and financial constraints. Another problem is the

long waiting time, which often leads to disease progression, malignancy and other lifethreatening processes. The second treatment of LC is via identification of the damaged links of the structure and metabolism of the cirrhotic liver, elucidation of mechanisms of these damages and development of methods of eliminating the defects that have arisen during the pathological process. This way is not as radical and fast as liver transplantation but appears to be a more fundamental and large-scale one.

The mammalian liver fulfils a huge amount of vital functions. The maintenance of a stable high level of functional activity of the pathologically altered liver requires a large amount of energy, which poses a serious problem under conditions of hypoxia and deep structural rearrangements. Energy metabolism in hepatocytes during LC is characterised by insulin resistance and preferential oxidation of lipids instead of glucose and proteins, characteristic of prolonged starvation. As a result, the rearrangement of oxidative metabolism and hypoxia in hepatocytes leads to an almost twofold decrease in the functional activity of mitochondria, where most ATP is formed. This fact is consistent with the inverse correlation between the severity of liver damage and the level of energy expenditure in cirrhotic patients (Schneeweiss et al., 1990). On the other hand, glycogen stores, an important source of energy for hepatocytes, increase with increasing severity of the disease, and may become several times higher than in the norm.

Glycogen synthesis in hepatocytes of the cirrhotic liver is carried out mainly via the indirect pathway, by gluconeogenesis. Its initiation and further accumulation in cells occur against the background of a stably low activity of glycogen phosphorylase *a* (GP*a*). Glycogen begins to be synthesised at the periphery of hepatocytes, and in the process of glycogenesis its newly synthesised molecules move to the centre of cells, being replaced by new ones. Both in the norm and during LC, the glycogen content in hepatocytes correlates with the level of cell ploidy throughout glycogenesis. At the same time, if in the normal liver the glycogen content in hepatocytes is related to the cell size (mass), no such dependence is observed during LC. The development of LC is accompanied by a 7–9-fold increase of the number of glycogen molecules in hepatocytes increases as the severity of the disease increases, and the packing of glucose residues becomes more dense.

Almost all numerous functions of the liver are performed by hepatocytes, so their number and metabolic activity are extremely important for the normal functioning of the organ. In the course of LC development, the damaging agent causes continuous hepatocyte death and their *de novo* formation. Although the rates of glycolysis and pentose phosphate pathway, the intermediate products of which are necessary for a high proliferative activity of hepatocytes, are significantly increased during LC, this is not sufficient to reduce cell death. The total number of new cells formed during LC development exceeds their initial number in rats \sim 4–5 times, and in humans, \sim 1.5 times. Nevertheless, despite the high turnover, hepatocyte death during LC development by far exceeds their replenishment. In the cirrhotic human liver, the replacement of lost cells occurs by proliferation of small diploid hepatocytes, whereas in rats, in addition to hepatocyte proliferation, polyploidization and hypertrophy make a noticeable contribution to the reparative growth of the liver. In contrast to the human liver, where hepatocyte loss during LC development means a significant loss of parenchyma, the mass of liver parenchyma in rats practically does not change due to an increased ploidy and hypertrophy of the cirrhotic liver cells.

The data obtained in our study allow us to conclude that the weakening of the glucostatic function of the liver is one of the key events in the formation of cirrhosis. Increased gluconeogenesis and glycolysis in the cirrhotic liver are accompanied by a decrease in glucose production, significant glycogenosis of hepatocytes and considerable changes in the structure of glycogen molecules.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

- 1. During glycogenesis, hepatocyte dry mass and glycogen content in them change in proportion to gene dosage both in the normal and in the cirrhotic liver.
- 2. In the normal liver of humans and rats, glycogen content in hepatocytes is commensurate with cell mass, whereas in the cirrhotic liver there is no such relationship.
- An original microfluorometric method for estimating the structure of glycogen β-particles (molecules) in individual hepatocytes was developed.
- 4. In hepatocytes of the normal rat liver, glycogen accumulation at early stages of glycogenesis is associated with the synthesis of new β-particles, while at later stages it is associated with the addition of glucose residues to the existing particles. In the cirrhotic liver, the change in glycogen content in hepatocytes during glycogenesis is due to the filling of the outer tiers of β-particles.
- 5. The increase in glycogen content in human hepatocytes during the development of liver cirrhosis is mainly due to *de novo* formation of β-particles.
- In rat hepatocytes, as cirrhosis progresses, the distance between the chains of glucose residues in β-particles increases, while in human hepatocytes, the distance between chains of glucose residues in β-particles decreases.
- The distance between the outer tiers of β-particles decreases as they are filled with glucose residues, which supports the hypothesis that particle size is self-regulated.
- 8. In the postabsorptive period of the food cycle, glycogen content in hepatocytes of patients with diabetes mellitus type 2 is increased as compared to the norm. Comorbidity of diabetes mellitus with liver cirrhosis does not increase glycogenosis.
- 9. In contrast to rats, in which the polyploidization and hypertrophy of hepatocytes play a significant role in the formation of cirrhosis, reparative regeneration of the human liver during the development of cirrhosis occurs exclusively at the expense of mitotic divisions of small diploid hepatocytes.
- 10. The leading factor of rehabilitation of glucostatic function of the cirrhotic liver is the removal of the pathogenic influence. Treatment of cirrhosis does not restore the original architectonics and lobular structure of the liver.

ABBREVIATIONS

AB — acceptor bleaching

Ac — acceptor

ADP — adenosine diphosphate

AlAT — alanine aminotransferase

AMP — adenosine monophosphate

- AP alkaline phosphatase
- AsAT aspartate aminotransferase
- ATP adenosine triphosphate
- BE branching enzyme
- BM bemithyl (2-ethylthiobenzimidazole hydrobromide)
- cAMP cyclic adenosine monophosphate
- CD high-carbohydrate diet

CH — chronic hepatitis

- CVH chronic viral hepatitis
- CZ central zone of the liver lobule
- DBE debranching enzyme
- DC diene conjugates
- DEN diethylnitrosamine
- DM diabetes mellitus
- DM dry mass
- DNA deoxyribonucleic acid
- Don donor
- EM electron microscopy
- F1,6BPase fructose-1,6-biphosphatase
- FRET Förster resonance energy transfer
- G1P glucose-1-phosphate
- G6P glucose-6-phosphate
- G6Pase glucose-6-phosphatase
- GDP guanine diphosphate
- GK glucokinase

- GKRP glucokinase regulatory protein
- Gn glycogenin
- GP glycogen phosphorylase
- GPa glycogen phosphorylase, active form
- GS glycogen synthase
- GSD glycogen storage diseases
- GTP guanine triphosphate
- HCC hepatocellular carcinoma
- HCG human chorionic gonadotropin
- LC liver cirrhosis
- LF labile glycogen fraction
- LP lipid peroxidation
- MDA malonic dialdehyde
- MG macroglycogen
- MIMC mitochondrial inner membranes concentration
- mRNA matrix ribonucleic acid
- MVD mitochondrial volume density

N — norm

- NAFLD non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
- NMR nuclear magnetic resonance
- PAS Periodic Acid-Schiff
- PFK phosphofructokinase
- PG proglycogen
- PH partial hepatectomy
- Pi inorganic phosphorus
- RER rough endoplasmic reticulum
- ROS reactive oxygen species
- SF stable glycogen fraction
- SOD superoxide dismutase
- TB total bilirubin
- TCA trichloroacetic acid
- TG total glycogen

UDP — uridine diphosphate

UDP-glucose — uridine diphosphate glucose

- UTP uridine triphosphate
- VLDL very low density lipoproteins

WT — wild type

REFERENCES

1. Adamo, K.B. Comparison of traditional measurement with macroglycogen and proglycogen analysis of muscle glycogen / K.B. Adamo, T.E. Graham // J. Appl. Physiol. — 1998. — Vol. 84. — P. 908–913.

2. Adamo, K.B. Dietary carbohydrate and postexercise synthesis of proglycogen and macroglycogen in human skeletal muscle / K.B. Adamo, M.A. Tarnopolsky, T.E. Graham // Am. J. Physiol. — 1998. — Vol. 275(2). — P. E229–E234.

3. Agius, L. Hexokinase and glucokinase binding in permeabilized guinea-pig hepatocytes / L. Agius // Biochem. J. — 1994. — Vol. 303. — P. 841–846.

4. Ailanen, L. The metabolic syndrome in mice overexpressing neuropeptide Y in noradrenergic neurons / L. Ailanen, S.T. Ruohonen, L.H. Vahatalo, K. Tuomainen, K. Eerola, H. Salomäki-Myftari, [et al.] // J. Endocrinol. — 2017. — Vol. 234(1). — P. 57–72.

5. Ailanen, L. Metformin normalizes the structural changes in glycogen preceding prediabetes in mice overexpressing neuropeptide Y in noradrenergic neurons / L. Ailanen, N.N. Bezborodkina, L. Virtanen, S.T. Ruohonen, A.V. Malova, S.V. Okovity, [et al.] // Pharmacol. Res. Perspect. — 2018. — Vol. 6(2). — Article: e00389.

6. Aiston, S. Hepatic glycogen synthesis is highly sensitive to phosphorylase activity: evidence from metabolic control analysis / S. Aiston, L. Hampson, A.M. Gomez-Foix, J.J. Guinovart, L. Agius // J. Biol. Chem. — 2001. — Vol. 276. — P. 23856–23866.

 Aiston, S. Glucose 6-Phosphate regulates hepatic glycogenolysis through inactivation of phosphorylase / S. Aiston, B. Andersen, L. Agius // Diabetes. — 2003. — Vol. 52. — P. 1333–1339.

8. Akatsuka, A. Comparison of the liver glycogen synthase from normal and streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats / A. Akatsuka, T.J. Singh, K.P. Huang // Arch. Biochem. Biophys. — 1983. — Vol. 220. — P. 426–434.

9. Al Tameemi, W. Hypoxia-modified cancer cell metabolism / W. Al Tameemi, T.P. Dale, R.M.K. Al-Jumaily, N.R. Forsyth // Front Cell Dev. Biol. — 2019. — Vol. 7. — 4.

Alberti, K.G. Disturbances of metabolic homeostasis in liver disease / K.G.
 Alberti, D.G. Johnston, M. Piniewska-Hulas, J. Whittaker // Acta. Med. Port. — 1981. — Vol.
 2. — P. 35–47.

 Alengrin, F. Inhibitory effects of metformin on insulin and glucagon action in rat hepatocytes involve post-receptor alterations / F. Alengrin, G. Grossi, B. Canivet, J. Dolais-Kitabgi // Diabete Metab. — 1987. — Vol. 13(6). — P. 591–597.

Alison, M.R. Application of liver stem cells for cell therapy / M.R. Alison, C.
 Choong, S. Lim // Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. — 2007. — Vol. 18(6). — P. 819–826.

Alonso, M.D. A new look at the biogenesis of glycogen / M.D. Alonso, J. Lomako, W.M. Lomako, W.J. Whelan // FASEB J. — 1995. — Vol. 9. — P. 1126–1137.

14. Alvares, F.L. Quantitative correlation of glucose uptake and phosphorylation with the activities of glucose-phosphorylating enzymes in perfused livers of fasted and fed rats / F.L. Alvares, R.C. Nordlie // J. Biol. Chem. — 1977. — Vol. 252(23). — P. 8404–8414.

15. Anatskaya, O.V. Interspecific variability of the ploidy level of hepatocytes and cardiomyocytes of mammals and birds and its causes: abstract of dissertation ... candidate of biological sciences: 03.00.25 / Olga Vladimirovna Anatskaya. — St. Petersburg, 1999. — 28 p. (In Russian).

16. Anthony, P.P. The morphology of cirrhosis. Recommendations on definition, nomenclature, and classification by a working group sponsored by the World Health Organization / P.P. Anthony, K.S. Ishak, N.C. Nayak, H.E. Poulsen, P.J. Scheuer, L.H. Sobin // J. Clin. Pathol. — 1978. — Vol. 31. — P. 395–414.

17. Apisarnthanarak, P. Correlation between the severity of hepatitis B cirrhosis and CT volumetry-based hepatic segmental anatomic changes / P. Apisarnthanarak, D. Wongsawaeng, K. Muangsomboon // J. Med. Assoc. Thai. — 2014. — Vol. 97(8). — P. 856–862.

 Aquino, J.B. Mesenchymal stem cells as therapeutic tools and gene carriers in liver fibrosis and hepatocellular carcinoma / J.B. Aquino, M.F. Bolontrade, M.G. García, O.L. Podhajcer, G. Mazzolini // Gene. Ther. — 2010. — Vol. 17(6). — P. 692–708.

Arden, G.B. Spare the rod and spoil the eye / G.B. Arden, R.L. Sidman, W. Arap,
 R.O. Schlingemann // Review Br. J. Ophthalmol. — 2005. — Vol. 89(6). — P. 764–769.

20. Arefieva, A.M. Ploidy and hypertrophy of muscle cells in human heart attack and heart defects / A.M. Arefieva, V.Ya. Brodsky, D.S. Sarkisov, N.V. Panova, I.G. Gvazova // Tsitologiya. — 1993. — Vol. 35. — P. 55. (In Russian).

21. Arias, I.M. The liver: biology and pathobiology / I.M. Arias, H.J. Alte, J.L. Boyer,
D.E. Cohen, D.A. Shafritz, S.S. Thorgeirsson, A.W. Wolkoff. — 6th ed. — New York, NY:
John Wiley & Sons, 2020. — 1144 p.

22. Arkinstall, M.J. Regulation of fuel metabolism by preexercise muscle glycogen content and exercise intensity / M.J. Arkinstall, C.R. Bruce, S.A. Clark, C.A. Rickards, L.M. Burke, J.A. Hawley // J. Appl. Physiol. — 2004. — Vol. 97. — P. 2275–2283.

23. Arosio, B. Changes in expression of the albumin, fibronectin and type * procollagen genes in CCl4-induced liver fibrosis: effect of pyridoxol L,2-pyrrolidon-5 carboxylate / B. Arosio, D. Santambrogio, N. Gagliano, G. Annoni // Pharmacol. Toxicol. — 1993. — Vol. 73. — P. 301–304.

24. Arshavsky, I.A. Physiological mechanisms and patterns of individual development / I.A. Arshavsky. — M.: Nauka, 1982. — 270 p. (In Russian).

25. Arthur, M.J.P. Reversibility of liver fibrosis and cirrhosis following treatment for hepatitis C / M.J.P. Arthur // Gastroenterology. — 2002. — Vol. 122(5). — P. 1525–1528.

26. Aschenbach, J.R. Gluconeogenesis in dairy cows: the secret of making sweet milk from sour dough / J.R. Aschenbach, N.B. Kristensen, S.S. Donkin, H.M. Hammon, G.B. Penner // IUBMB Life. — 2010. — Vol. 62. — P. 869–877.

27. Asrani, S.K. Role of magnetic resonance elastography in compensated and decompensated liver disease / S.K. Asrani, J.A. Talwalkar, P.S. Kamath, V.H. Shah, G. Saracino, L. Jennings, [et al.] // J. Hepatol. — 2014. — Vol. 60(5). — P. 934–939.

28. Atta, H. Mutant MMP-9 and HGF gene transfer enhance resolution of CCl₄-induced liver fibrosis in rats: role of ASH1 and EZH2 methyltransferases repression / H. Atta, M. El-Rehany, O. Hammam, H. Abdel-Ghany, M. Ramzy, M. Roderfeld, [et al.] // PLoS One. — 2014. — Vol. 9(11). — e112384.

29. Baidyuk, E.V. Morphology and function of cultured hepatocytes isolated from rats with experimental toxic hepatitis / E.V. Baidyuk, A.P. Shiryaeva, N.N. Bezborodkina, G.A. Sakuta // Cell and Tissue Biology. — 2009. — Vol. 3(6). — P. 565–572.

30. Baidyuk, E.V. Characteristics of cell populations of the heart and liver in chronic heart failure: dissertation ... candidate of biological sciences: 03.03.04 / Ekaterina Viktorovna Baidyuk. — St. Petersburg, 2013. — 145 p. (In Russian).

31. Ball, S. The evolution of glycogen and starch metabolism in eukaryotes gives molecular clues to understand the establishment of plastid endosymbiosis / S. Ball, C.

Colleoni, U. Cenci, J.N. Raj, C. Tirtiaux // J. Exp. Botany. — 2011. — Vol. 62. — P. 1775– 1801.

32. Bannasch, P. Hepatocellular glycogenosis and related pattern of enzymatic changes during hepatocarcinogenesis / P. Bannasch, H.J. Hacker, F. Klimek, D. Mayer // Adv. Enzyme Regul. — 1984. — Vol. 22. — P. 97–121.

Bannasch, P. Hepatocellular glycogenosis and hepatic neoplasms / P. Bannasch //
Toxicol. Pathol. — 2010. — Vol. 38(6). — P. 1000–1002.

34. Barot, S. Inhibition of glycogen catabolism induces intrinsic apoptosis and augments multikinase inhibitors in hepatocellular carcinoma cells / S. Barot, E.M. Abo-Ali, D.L. Zhou, C. Palaguachi, V.V. Dukhande // Exp. Cell Res. — 2019. — Vol. 381(2). — P. 288–300.

35. Battram, D.S. Caffeine ingestion does not impede the resynthesis of proglycogen and macroglycogen after prolonged exercise and carbohydrate supplementation in humans / D.S. Battram, J. Shearer, D. Robinson, T.E. Graham // J. Appl. Physiol. — 2004. — Vol. 96. — P. 943–950.

Beaty, R.M. Delivery of glucose-6-phosphatase in a canine model for glycogen storage disease, type Ia, with adeno-associated virus (AAV) vectors / R.M. Beaty, M. Jackson, D. Peterson, A. Bird, T. Brown, D.K. Benjamin Jr., [et al.] // Gene Ther. — 2002. — Vol. 15. — P. 1015–1022.

37. Beinert, H. New insights, ideas and unanswered questions concerning iron-sulfur clusters in mitochondria / H. Beinert, S.P. Albracht // Biochim. Biophys. Acta. — 1982. — Vol. 683(3–4). — P. 245–277.

38. Belloni, A.S. A morphometric study of the effects of short-term starvation on rat hepatocytes / A.S. Belloni, P. Rebuffat, G. Gottardo, V. Meneghelli, A. Coi, G. Mazzocchi, G.G. Nussdorfer // J. Submicrosc. Cytol. Pathol. — 1988. — Vol. 20. — P. 751–757.

Beloborodova, E.I. Absorption function of the intestine in liver cirrhosis / E.I.
 Beloborodova // Klinicheskaia meditsina. — 1978. — Issue 56. — P. 61–65. (In Russian).

40. Bender, D.A. Gluconeogenesis & the Control of Blood Glucose / D.A. Bender, P.A. Mayes // In: V.W. Rodwell, D.A. Bender, K.M. Botham, P.J. Kennelly, P.A. Weil. Harper's Illustrated Biochemistry, 30th Edition. — N.Y.: McGraw-Hill, 2015. — Ch.19. — P. 185–195. 41. Benedetti, A. Identification of 4-hydroxynonenal as a cytotoxic product originating from the peroxidation of liver microsomal lipids / A. Benedetti, M. Comporti, H. Esterbauer // Biochim. Biophys. Acta. — 1980. — Vol. 620. — P. 281–296.

42. Beneke, G. Application of interference microscopy for the study of biological objects. Introduction to quantitative cytochemistry / G. Beneke. — M.: Mir, 1969. — P. 70–92. (In Russian).

43. Bennett, M.D. Hepatic intranuclear glycogen inclusions in western barred bandicoots (Perameles bougainville) / M.D. Bennett, L. Woolford, P.K. Nicholls, K.S. Warren, A.J. O'Hara // J. Vet. Diagn. Invest. — 2008. — Vol. 20. — P. 376–379.

44. Benyon, R.C. Is liver fibrosis reversible? / R.C. Benyon, J.P. Iredale // Gut. — 2000. — Vol. 46. — P. 443–446.

45. Bernard, C. Nouvelles recherches expérimentales sur les phénomènes glycogéniques du foie / C. Bernard // Mém. Soc. Biol., 2e série. — 1857. — T. 4. — P. 1–7.

46. Berndt, N. Metabolic heterogeneity of human hepatocellular carcinoma: implications for personalized pharmacological treatment / N. Berndt, J. Eckstein, N. Heucke, T. Wuensch, R. Gajowski, M. Stockmann, [et al.] // FEBS J. — 2021. — Vol. 288(7). — P. 2332–2346.

47. Bernelli-Zazzera, A. Some aspects of glycogen metabolism following reversible or irreversible liver ischemia / A. Bernelli-Zazzera, G. Gaja // Exp. Mol. Pathol. — 1964. — Vol. 3. — P. 351–368.

48. Berteloot, A. Rapid kinetics of liver microsomal glucose-6-phosphatase / A. Berteloot, H. Vidal, G. Van de Werve // J. Biol. Chem. — 1991. — Vol. 266. — P. 5497–5507.

49. Bezborodkina, N.N. Morphometry of hepatocyte mitochondrial apparatus in normal and cirrhotic rat liver / N.N. Bezborodkina, S.V. Okovity, M.V. Kudryavtseva, O.V. Kirik, I.V. Zarubina, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 2008. — Vol. 50(3). — P. 228–236. (In Russian).

50. Bezborodkina, N.N. Interrelation between the glycogen content in hepatocytes and their size in normal and cirrhotic rat liver / N.N. Bezborodkina, A.A. Vakhtina, E.V. Baidyuk, G.S. Yakupova, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 2009a. — Vol. 51(5). — P. 417–427. (In Russian).

51. Bezborodkina, N.N. Application of Schiff's reagents with various spectral characteristics to determine the content of labile and stable glycogen fractions in isolated hepatocytes / N.N. Bezborodkina, E.I. Kirshina, E.V. Mushinskaya, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 2009b. — Vol. 51(12). — P. 1025–1035. (In Russian).

52. Bezborodkina, N.N. Analysis of structure of glycogen in rat hepatocytes using cytochemical and FRET methods / N.N. Bezborodkina, G.I. Shtein, E.V. Sivova, A.Yu. Chestnova, B.N. Kudriavtsev // Cell and Tissue Biology. — 2011. — Vol. 5(5). — P. 417–427.

53. Bezborodkina N.N. Glycogen metabolism during chronic liver diseases / N.N. Bezborodkina, A.Yu. Chestnova, B.N. Kudryavtsev // In: P.L. Weiss, B.D. Faulkner (Eds). Glycogen: Structure, Functions in the Body and Role in Disease. — New York: NOVA Publishers, 2013a. — P. 47–79.

54. Bezborodkina, N.N. Hepatocytes of cirrhotic rat liver accumulate glycogen more slowly than normal ones / N.N. Bezborodkina, S.V. Okovity, A.Yu. Chestnova, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Hepatol. Int. — 2013b. — Vol. 7. — P. 1084–1090.

55. Bezborodkina, N.N. Activity of glycogen synthase and glycogen phosphorylase in normal and cirrhotic rat liver during glycogen synthesis from glucose or fructose / N.N. Bezborodkina, A.Yu. Chestnova, S.V. Okovity, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Exp. Toxicol. Pathol. — 2014. — Vol. 66. — P. 147–154.

56. Bezborodkina, N.N. Glycogen content in hepatocytes is related with their size in normal rat liver but not in cirrhotic one / N.N. Bezborodkina, A.Yu. Chestnova, M.L. Vorobev, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Cytometry Part A. — 2016. — Vol. 89(4). — P. 357–364.

57. Bezborodkina, N.N. Spatial structure of glycogen molecules in cells / N.N.
Bezborodkina, A.Y. Chestnova, M.L. Vorobev, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Biochemistry (Moscow).
2018. — Vol. 83(5). — P. 467–482.

58. Bezborodkina, N.N. Cytochemical analysis of spatial structure of glycogen molecules in rat hepatocytes / N.N. Bezborodkina, A.V. Stepanov, M.L. Vorobev, A.Yu. Chestnova, G.I. Stein, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Journal of Molecular Structure. — 2021a. — Vol. 1228. — Article 129770.

59. Bezborodkina N.N. Postprandial glycogen content is increased in the hepatocytes of human and rat cirrhotic liver / N.N. Bezborodkina, S.V. Okovity, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Cells. — 2021b. — Vol. 10(5). — Article 976.

60. Bezborodkina, N.N. Dynamics of the glycogen β -particle number in rat hepatocytes during glucose refeeding / N.N. Bezborodkina, A.V. Stepanov, M.L. Vorobev, G.I. Stein, S.V. Okovityi, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Int. J. Mol. Sci. — 2022. — Vol. 23. — 9263.

61. Bhanudas K.S. Estimation of liver glycogen in normal control, diabetic control and Tinospora cordifolia extract treated albino rats / K.S. Bhanudas, P.K. Gopal // Global Journal of Science Frontier Research. — 2016. — Vol. XVI(II). — P. 17–20.

62. Biorn, A.C. The amino-terminal tail of glycogen phosphorylase is a switch for controlling phosphorylase conformation, activation, and response to ligands / A.C. Biorn, D.J. Graves // Biochemistry. — 2001. — Vol. 40. — P. 5181–5189.

63. Bioulac-Sage, P. Liver and biliary-tract histology / P. Bioulac-Sage, B. Le Bail, C. Balabaud // In: J. Bircher, J.-P. Benhamou, N. McIntyre, M. Rizzetto, J. Rodes (Eds.). Oxford textbook of clinical hepatology (2 volumes). Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press, 1999. — Vol.1. — P. 13–23.

64. Bischof, M.G. Hepatic glycogen metabolism in type 1 diabetes after long-term near normoglycemia / M.G. Bischof, E. Bernroider, M. Krssak, M. Krebs, H. Stingl, P. Nowotny, [et al.] // Diabetes. — 2002. — Vol. 51. — P. 49–54.

65. Bishop, J.S. Inability of insulin to activate liver glycogen transferase D phosphatase in the diabetic pancreatectomized dog / J.S. Bishop // Biochim. Biophys. Acta. — 1970. — Vol. 208. — P. 208–218.

Bloom, W.L. Glycogen fractions of liver and muscle / W.L. Bloom, G.T. Lewis,
M.Z. Schumpert, T.M. Shen, // J. Biol. Chem. — 1951. — Vol. 188. — P. 631–636.

67. Bloom, W.L. Muscle glycogen fractions during stimulation / W.L. Bloom, G.C. Knowlton // Am. J. Physiol. — 1953. — Vol. 73(3). — P. 545–546.

68. Bobyleva, N.A. Study of the features of recovery processes in the liver after multiple resections of the organ / N.A. Bobyleva, E.A. Ladygina // Collection of scientific works by B.P. Solopaev (Ed.) "The problem of regeneration of pathologically altered organs and the reversibility of pathological changes". — Gorky, 1975. — Issue 66. — P. 141–146. (In Russian).

69. Bogdanova, M.S. Assessment of the relative contribution of the processes of proliferation, polyploidization and cell hypertrophy in the increase in liver weight at different stages of postnatal development in rats / M.S. Bogdanova, M.V. Kudryavtseva, I.M.

Kuznetsova, T.M. Shalakhmetova, Ye.E. Zavadskaya, G.A. Sakuta, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 1990. — Vol. 32(7). — P. 695–703. (In Russian).

70. Böhm, N. Fluorescence cytophotometry: a valuable method for the quantitative determination of nuclear Feulgen-DNA / N. Böhm, E. Sprenger // Histochemie. — 1968. — Vol. 16(2). — P. 100–118.

71. Bois-Joyeux, B. Age-dependent glycolysis and gluconeogenesis enzyme activities in starved-refeed rats / B. Bois-Joyeux, M. Chanez, J. Peret // Diabete Metab. — 1990. — Vol. 16. — P. 504–512.

72. Bollen, M. Effects of glucose on phosphorylase and glycogen synthase in hepatocytes from diabetic rats / M. Bollen, L. Hue, W. Stalmans // Biochem. J. — 1983. — Vol. 210. — P. 783–787.

73. Bosshard, U. Fluorescence microscopic measurement of the dna content of the cell nucleus / U. Bosshard // Z. Wiss. Mikrosk. — 1964. — Vol. 65. — P. 391–408.

74. Bradford, M.M. A rapid and simple method for quantitation of microgram quantities of proteins utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding / M.M. Bradford // Anal. Biochem. — 1976. — Vol. 72. — P. 248–254.

75. Bravo, E. Evaluation of the spontaneous reversibility of carbon tetrachlorideinduced liver cirrhosis in rabbits / E. Bravo, E. D'Amore, F. Ciaffoni, C.L. Mammola // Laboratory Animals. — 2012. — Vol. 46. — P. 122–128.

76. Bresler, V.M. Normal and pathological cytology of liver parenchyma / V.M. Bresler, N.A. Chernogryadskaya, E.M. Pilshchik. — L.: Nauka, 1969. — 272 p. (In Russian).

77. Brewer, K.M. Brain glycogen structure and its associated proteins: past, present and future / K.M. Brewer, M.S. Gentry // In: M. DiNuzzo, A. Schousboe (Eds). Brain Glycogen Metabolism. Advances in Neurobiology, volume 23. — Cham, Switzerland: Springer, 2019. — P. 17–81.

78. Britton, R.S. Role of free radicals in liver diseases and hepatic fibrosis / R.S. Britton, B.R. Bacon // Hepatogastroenterology. — 1994. — Vol. 41(4). — P. 343–348.

79. Brocklehurst, K.J. Stimulation of hepatocyte glucose metabolism by novel small molecule glucokinase activators / K.J. Brocklehurst, V.A. Payne, R.A. Davies, D. Carroll, H.L. Vertigan, H.J. Wightman, [et al.] // Diabetes. — 2004. — Vol. 53. — P. 535–541.

80. Brodsky, V.Ya. Trophism of cell / V.Ya. Brodsky. — M.: Nauka, 1966. — 355 p. (In Russian).

Brodsky, V.Y. Cell polyploidy: its relation to tissue growth and function / V.Y.
 Brodsky, I.V. Uryvaeva // Intern. Rev. Cytol. —1977. — Vol. 50. — P. 275–332.

82. Brodsky, V.Ya. Cellular polyploidy. Proliferation and differentiation / V.Ya. Brodsky, I.V. Uryvaeva. — M.: Nauka, 1981. — 259 p. (In Russian).

Brodsky, V.Y. Genome multiplication in growth and development / V.Y. Brodsky,
 I.V. Uryvaeva. — Cambridge Univ. Press, 1985. — 312 p.

84. Brodsky, V.Y. Ultradian rhythms in life processes: an inquiry into fundamental principles of chronobiology and psychobiology / V.Y. Brodsky. — London-New York: Springer-Verlag, 1992. — 419 p.

85. Brodsky, V.Y. Circahoralian (ultradian) metabolic rhythms / V.Y. Brodsky // Biochemistry (Moscow). — 2014. — Vol. 79. — P. 483–495.

86. Bröjer, J. Synthesis of proglycogen and macroglycogen in skeletal muscle of standardbred trotters after intermittent exercise / J. Bröjer, S. Holm, R. Jonasson, U. Hedenström, B. Essén-Gustavsson // Equine. Vet. J. Suppl. — 2006. — Vol. 36. — P. 335–339.

87. Brooks, A.J. Liver tissue partial pressure of oxygen and carbon dioxide during partial hepatectomy / A.J. Brooks, J. Eastwood, I.J. Beckingham, K.J. Girling // Br. J. Anaesth. — 2004. — Vol. 92(5). — P. 735–737.

Brust, H. Starch and glycogen analyses: methods and techniques / H. Brust, S.
 Orzechowski, J. Fettke // Biomolecules. — 2020. — Vol. 10(7). — Article 1020.

89. Bugianesi, E. Quantification of gluconeogenesis in cirrhosis: response to glucagon
/ E. Bugianesi, S. Kalhan, E. Burkett, G. Marchesini, A. McCullough // Gastroenterology. —
1998. — Vol. 115. — P. 1530–1540.

90. Burchell, A. The glucose-6-phosphatase system in human development / A. Burchell, R. Hume // Histol. Histopathol. — 1995. — Vol. 10. — P. 979–993.

91. Burchell, B. Reconstitution of purified Wistar rat liver bilirubin UDPglucuronyltransferase into Gunn-rat liver microsomes / B. Burchell // Biochem. J. — 1982. — Vol. 201. — P. 653–656.

92. Burra, P. Strategies for liver support: from stem cells to xenotransplantation / P.
Burra, D. Samuel, J. Wendon, A. Pietrangelo, S. Gupta // J. Hepatol. — 2004. — Vol. 41(6).
— P. 1050–1059.

93. Buzhor, E. Cell-based therapy approaches: the hope for incurable diseases / E.
Buzhor, L. Leshansky, J. Blumenthal, H. Barash, D. Warshawsky, Y. Mazor, R. Shtrichman // Regen. Med. — 2014. — Vol. 9(5). — P. 649–672.

94. Calder, P.C. Heterogeneity of glycogen synthesis upon refeeding following starvation / P.C. Calder, R. Geddes // Int. J. Biochem. — 1992. — Vol. 24. — P. 71–77.

95. Callea, F. Cirrhosis of the liver. A regenerative process / F. Callea, M. Brisigotti,
G. Fabbretti, R. Sciot, P. Van Eyken, M. Favret // Digestive Diseases and Sciences. — 1991.
— Vol. 36. — P. 1287–1293.

96. Camp, J.G. Multilineage communication regulates human liver bud development from pluripotency / J.G. Camp, K. Sekine, T. Gerber, H. Loeffler-Wirth, H. Binder, M. Gac, // Nature. — 2017. — Vol. 546(7659). — P. 533–538.

97. Canturk, N.Z. The protective effect of vitamin E on gastric mucosal injury in rats with cirrhosis of the liver / N.Z. Canturk, Z. Canturk, N.Z. Utkan, C. Yenisey, G. Ozbilim, T. Gelen, Y. Yalman // Chin. Med. J. (Engl). — 1999. — Vol. 112. — P. 56–60.

98. Caro, J.F. Liver glucokinase: decreased activity in patients with type II diabetes /
J.F. Caro, S. Triester, V.K. Patel, E.B. Tapscott, N.L. Frazier, G.L. Dohm // Horm. Metab.
Res. — 1995. — Vol. 27. — P. 19–22.

99. Castells, A. Impact of shunt surgery for variceal bleeding in the natural history of ascites in cirrhosis: a retrospective study / A. Castells, J. Salo, J.C. Quer, A. Ginès, J. Boix, P. Ginès, [et al.] // Hepatology. — 1994. — Vol. 20. — P. 584–591.

100. Caudwell, F.B. Purification and subunit structure of glycogen-branching enzyme from rabbit skeletal muscle / F.B. Caudwell, P. Cohen // Eur. J. Biochem. — 1980. — Vol. 109. — P. 391–394.

101. Chaikuad, A. Conformational plasticity of glycogenin and its maltosaccharide substrate during glycogen biogenesis / A. Chaikuad, D. Sean Froese, G. Berridge, F. von Delft, U. Oppermann, W.W. Yue // PNAS. — 2011. — Vol. 108(52). — P. 21028–21033.

102. Chandramouli, C. Myocardial glycogen dynamics: new perspectives on disease mechanisms / C. Chandramouli, U. Varma, E.M. Stevens, R.-P. Xiao, D.I. Stapleton, K.M. Mellor, L.M.D. Delbridge // Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol. — 2015. — Vol. 42. — P. 415–425.

103. Changani, K.K. Evidence for altered hepatic gluconeogenesis in patients with cirrhosis using in vivo 31-phosphorus magnetic resonance spectroscopy / K.K. Changani, R.

Jalan, I.J. Cox, M. Ala-Korpela, K. Bhakoo, S.D. Taylor-Robinson, J.D. Bell // Gut. — 2001. — Vol. 49. — P. 557–564.

104. Chapa-Dubocq, X. Simple kinetic model of mitochondrial swelling in cardiac cells / X. Chapa-Dubocq, V. Makarov, S. Javadov // J. Cell Physiol. — 2018. — Vol. 233(7). — P. 5310–5321.

105. Charni-Natan, M. Liver and steroid hormones — can a touch of p53 make a difference? / M. Charni-Natan, R. Aloni-Grinstein, E. Osher, V. Rotter // Front. Endocrinol. — 2019. — Vol. 10. — Article 374.

106. Chen, C. Hypoxia inducible factors in hepatocellular carcinoma / C. Chen, T. Lou // Oncotarget. — 2017. — Vol. 8(28). — P. 46691–46703.

107. Chen, M.F. The regeneration of cirrhotic liver after partial hepatectomy: a study using the rat carbon tetrachloride-induced cirrhotic model / M.F. Chen, T.L. Hwang // Proc. Natl. Sci. Counc. Repub. China B. — 1994. — Vol. 18(2). — P. 71–75.

108. Chen, Sh.-L. A GYS2/p53 negative feedback loop restricts tumor growth in HBVrelated hepatocellular carcinoma / Sh.-L. Chen, Ch.-Zh. Zhang, L.L. Liu, S.-X. Lu, Y.-H. Pan, C.-H. Wang, // Cancer Res. —2019. — Vol. 79(3). — P. 534–545.

109. Chen, Sh.-L. GYS1 induces glycogen accumulation and promotes tumor progression via the NF-κB pathway in Clear Cell Renal Carcinoma / Sh.-L. Chen, Q.-Sh. Huang, Yu.-H. Huang, X. Yang, M.-M. Yang, Y.-F. He, [et al.] // Theranostics. — 2020. — Vol. 10(20). — P. 9186–9199.

110. Chestnova, A.Yu. Dynamics of proglycogen and macroglycogen in hepatocytes of normal and cirrhotic rat liver at various stages of glycogenesis / A.Yu. Chestnova, N.N. Bezborodkina, N.M. Matyukhina, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Cell and Tissue Biology. — 2015. — Vol. 9(2). — P. 133–140.

111. Chiang, J. Liver physiology: metabolism and detoxification / J. Chiang // In: L.M.
McManus, R.N. Mitchell (Eds). Pathobiology of human disease. — San Diego: Elsevier, 2014.
— P. 1770–1782.

112. Chistiakov, D.A. Liver regenerative medicine: Advances and challenges / D.A. Chistiakov // Cell Tiss. Organs. — 2012. — Vol. 196(4). — P. 291–312.

113. Cho, H.G. Frequent basal cell cancer development is a clinical marker for inherited cancer susceptibility / H.G. Cho, K.Y. Kuo, S. Li, I. Bailey, S. Aasi, A.L.S. Chang, [et al.] // JCI Insight. — 2018. — Vol. 3(15). — e122744.

114. Ciudad, C. J. Glucose 6-phosphate plays a central role in the activation of glycogen synthase by glucose in hepatocytes / C.J. Ciudad, A. Carabaza, J.J. Guinovart // Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. — 1986. — Vol. 141. — P. 1195–1200.

115. Cleary, P.A. The effect of intensive glycemic treatment on coronary artery calcification in type 1 diabetic participants of the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications (DCCT/EDIC) Study / P.A. Cleary, T.J. Orchard, S. Genuth, N.D. Wong, R. Detrano, J.-Y.C. Backlund, [et al.] // Diabetes. — 2006. — Vol. 55. — P. 3556–3565.

116. Clore, J.N. Glucose-6-phosphatase flux in vitro is increased in type 2 diabetes /
J.N. Clore, J. Stillman, H. Sugerman // Diabetes. — 2000. — Vol. 49. — P. 969–974.

117. Coerver, K.A. Developmental expression of hexokinase 1 and 3 in rats / K.A. Coerver, S.M. Gray, J.E. Barnes, D.L. Armstrong, E.R. McCabe // Histochem. Cell. Biol. — 1998. — Vol. 109. — P. 75–86.

118. Conigliaro, A. Hepatic progenitors for liver disease: current position / A. Conigliaro, D.A. Brenner, T. Kisseleva // Stem Cells Cloning. — 2010. — Vol. 3. — P. 39–47.

119. Consoli, A. Predominant role of gluconeogenesis in increased hepatic glucose production in NIDDM / A. Consoli, N. Nurjhan, F. Capani, J. Gerich // Diabetes, — 1989. — Vol. 38. — P. 550–557.

120. Cornish-Bowden, A. Hexokinase and 'glucokinase' in liver metabolism / A. Cornish-Bowden, M.L. Cardenas // Trends Biochem. Sci. — 1991. — Vol. 16(8). — P. 281—282.

121. Cramer, T. Severe hypoxia is a typical characteristic of human hepatocellular carcinoma: Scientific fact or fallacy? / T. Cramer, P. Vaupel // J. Hepatol. — 2022. — Vol. 76(4). — P. 975–980.

122. Croset, M. Rat small intestine is an insulin-sensitive gluconeogenic organ / M.
Croset, F. Rajas, C. Zitoun, J.M. Hurot, S. Montano, G. Mithieux // Diabetes. — 2001. — Vol.
50. — P. 740–746.

123. Cui, M. The effect of comfort nursing on liver function and nursing satisfaction of patients with liver cirrhosis / M. Cui, M. Sun, L. Bu // Am. J. Transl. Res. — 2021. — Vol. 13(6). — P. 6973—6979.

124. Curtino, J.A. From the seminal discovery of proteoglycogen and glycogenin to emerging knowledge and research on glycogen biology / J.A. Curtino, M.A. Aon // Biochemical Journal. — 2019. — Vol. 476. — P. 3109–3124.

125. Curtis, M. Fibroblasts mobilize tumor cell glycogen to promote proliferation and metastasis / M. Curtis, H.A. Kenny, B. Ashcroft, A. Mukherjee, A. Johnson, Y. Zhang, [et al.] // Cell Metab. — 2019. — Vol. 29(1). — P. 141–155.e9.

126. Darwiche, H. Biology of the adult hepatic progenitor cell: "ghosts in the machine" / H. Darwiche, B.E. Petersen // Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci. — 2010. — Vol. 97. — P. 229–249.

127. Das, A. Flippase-mediated phospholipid asymmetry promotes fast Cdc42 recycling in dynamic maintenance of cell polarity / A. Das, B.D. Slaughter, J.R. Unruh, W.D. Bradford, R. Alexander, B. Rubinstein, R. Li // Nat. Cell Biol. — 2012. — Vol. 14. — P. 304–310.

128. Datsko, V.A. Experimental cirrhosis: liver morphology and function / V.A. Datsko, L.Ya. Fedoniuk, Ya.I. Ivankiv, K.I. Kurylo, A.S. Volska, S.L. Malanchuk, O.M. Oleshchuk // Wiad. Lek. — 2020. — Vol. 73(5). — P. 947–952.

129. David, H. Quantitative ultrastructural data of animal and human cells / H. David.
— Leipzig, GDR: VEB Georg Thieme, 1977. — 495 p.

130. Davidson, C.D. Inhibition of glycogen metabolism induces reactive oxygen species-dependent cytotoxicity in anaplastic thyroid cancer in female mice / C.D. Davidson, J.A. Tomczak, E. Amiel, F.E. Carr // Endocrinology. — 2022. — Vol. 163(12). — bqac169.

131. Davydovsky, I.V. General human pathology / I.V. Davydovsky. — M.: Medgiz, 1969. — 611 p. (In Russian).

132. De Duve, C. Specificite de la glucose-6-phosphatase / C. De Duve, H. Beaufays // Bull. Soc. Chem. Biol. — 1951. — Vol. 33. — P. 421.

133. de Groot, H. Loss of latent activity of liver microsomal membrane enzymes evoked by lipid peroxidation. Studies of nucleoside diphosphatase, glucose-6-phosphatase, and UDP glucuronyltransferase / H. de Groot, T. Noll, T. Toll / Biochim. Biophys. Acta. — 1985. — Vol. 815. — P. 91–96.

134. de Oliveira, D.S. Glycogen Levels and Energy Status of the Liver of Fasting Rats with Diabetes Types 1 and 2 / D.S. de Oliveira, C.A. Bersani-Amado, M.C. Martini, F. Suzuki-

Kemmelmeier, A. Bracht // Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology. — 2007. — Vol. 50(5). — P. 785–791.

135. DeFronzo, R.A. Pathogenesis of NIDDM. A balanced overview / R.A. DeFronzo,
R.C. Bonadonna, E. Ferrannini // Diabetes Care. — 1992. — Vol. 15(3). — P. 318–368.

136. Degenhardt, T.P. Chemical modification of proteins by methylglyoxal / T.P.
Degenhardt, S.R. Thorpe, J.W. Baynes // Cell. Mol. Biol. (Noisy-le-grand). — 1998. — Vol.
44. — P. 1139–1145.

137. Degli Esposti, D. Mitochondrial roles and cytoprotection in chronic liver injury /
D. Degli Esposti, J. Hamelin, N. Bosselut, R. Saffroy, M. Sebagh, A. Pommier, // Biochem.
Res. Int. — 2012. — Vol. 2012. — Article ID 387626.

138. Delaval, E. Renal glycogen content and hormonal control of enzymes involved in renal glycogen metabolism / E. Delaval, E. Moreau, S. Andriamanantsara, J.P. Geloso // Pediatr. Res. — 1983. — Vol. 17(9). — P. 766–769.

139. Delone, G.V. Analysis of postnatal growth of mouse liver based on the number of hepatocytes, their mass and ploidy / G.V. Delone, I.V. Uryvaeva, V.F. Koretsky, V.Ya. Brodsky // Ontogenesis. — 1987. — Vol. 18. — P. 304–307. (In Russian).

140. Deng, B. Molecular Structure of Human-Liver Glycogen / B. Deng, M.A. Sullivan, C. Chen, J. Li, P.O. Powell, Z. Hu, R.G. Gilbert // PLoS ONE. — 2016. — Vol. 11(3). — P. e0150540.

141. Desmet, V.J. Cirrhosis reversal: a duel between dogma and myth / V.J. Desmet, T. Roskams // Journal of Hepatology. — 2004. — Vol. 40. — P. 860–867.

142. Devarbhavi, H. Global burden of liver disease: 2023 update / H. Devarbhavi, S.K. Asrani, J.P. Arab, Y.A. Nartey, E. Pose, P.S. Kamath // J. Hepatol. — 2023. — Vol. 79. — P. 516–537.

143. Devos, P. A molecular order in the synthesis and degradation of glycogen in the liver / P. Devos, H.G. Hers // Eur. J. Biochem. — 1979. — Vol. 99. — P. 161–167.

144. Devos, P. Glycogen in rat adipose tissue: sequential synthesis and random degradation / P. Devos, H.G. Hers // Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. — 1980. — Vol. 95. — P. 1031–1036.

145. Devos, P. The alpha particulate liver glycogen. A morphometric approach to the kinetics of its synthesis and degradation / P. Devos, P. Baudhuin, F. Van Hoof, H.G. Hers // Biochem. J. — 1983. — Vol. 209. — P. 159–165.

146. Di Vinicius, I. Morphological signs of cirrhosis regression Experimental observations on carbon tetrachloride-induced liver cirrhosis of rats / I. Di Vinicius, A.P. Baptista, A.A. Barbosa Jr., Z.A. Andrade // Pathology – Research and Practice. — 2005. — Vol. 201. — P. 449–456.

147. Dienstag, J.L. Histological outcome during long-term lamivudine therapy / J.L. Dienstag, R.D. Goldin, E.J. Heathcote, H.W.L Hann, M. Woessner, S.L. Stephenson, [et al.] // Gastroenterology. — 2003. — Vol. 124(1). — P. 105–117.

148. Dimitriadis, G.D. Regulation of postabsorptive and postprandial glucose metabolism by insulin-dependent and insulin-independent mechanisms: an integrative approach / G.D. Dimitriadis, E. Maratou, A. Kountouri, M. Board, V. Lambadiari // Nutrients. — 2021. — Vol. 13. — P. 159–192.

149. DiNuzzo, M. Kinetic analysis of glycogen turnover: relevance to human brain 13C-NMR spectroscopy / M. DiNuzzo // J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. — 2013. — Vol. 33. — P. 1540—1548.

150. Doljanski, F. The growth of the liver with special reference to mammals / F. Doljanski // Intern. Rev. Cytol. — 1960. — Vol. 10. — P. 217–241.

151. Donne, R. Polyploidy in liver development, homeostasis and disease / R. Donne,
M. Saroul-Ainama, P. Cordier, S. Celton-Morizur, C. Desdouets // HAL. — 2020. — Vol.
17(7). — P. 391–405.

152. Dowling, D. The molecular mechanisms of offspring effects from obese pregnancy / D. Dowling, F.M. McAuliffe // Obes. Facts. — 2013. — Vol. 6. — P. 134–145.

153. Doycheva, I. Prognostic implication of liver histology in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in diabetes / I. Doycheva, N. Patel, M. Peterson, R. Loomba // J. Diabetes Complications. — 2013. — Vol. 27(3). — P. 293–300.

154. Duan B.W. Liver transplantation in acute-on-chronic liver failure patients with high model for end stage liver disease (MELD) scores: A single center experience of 100 consecutive cases / B.W. Duan, S.C. Lu, M.L. Wang, J.-N. Liu, P. Chi, W. Lai, [et al.] // J. Surgical Res. — 2013. — Vol. 183(2). — P. 936–943.

155. Dubinina, E.E. Activity and isoenzyme spectrum of superoxide dismutase in human erythrocytes and blood plasma / E.E. Dubinina, L.A. Salnikova, L.F. Efimova // Lab. Delo. — 1983. — Vol. 10. — P. 30–33. (In Russian).

156. DuBois, R. Early changes in gene expression during liver regeneration: What do they mean? / R. DuBois // Hepatology. — 1990. — Vol. 11. — P. 1079–1082.

157. Dufour, J.F. Reversibility of hepatic fibrosis in autoimmune hepatitis / J.F. Dufour,
R. DeLellis, M.M. Kaplan. // Ann. Intern. Med. — 1997. — Vol. 127. — P. 981–985.

158. Dukhande, V.V. Inhibition of Glycogen metabolism as a potential strategy for anticancer therapy / V.V. Dukhande, S. Barot, S. Husein, Ch. Palaguachi // FASEB J. — 2018. — Vol. 31(1). — Suppl. 942.10.

159. Duncan, A.W. The ploidy conveyor of mature hepatocytes as a source of genetic variation / A.W. Duncan, M.H. Taylor, R.D. Hickey, A.E. Hanlon Newell, M.L. Lenzi, S.B. Olson, [et al.] // Nature. — 2010. — Vol. 467. — P. 707–710.

160. Durnev, A.D. The problem of hepatic safety of pharmacological agents / A.D. Durnev, S.B. Seredenin // In: Fundamental research as the basis for the creation of medicines: Abstracts of reports of 1st Congress of the Russian Scientific Society of Pharmacologists. — M, 1995. — P. 152. (In Russian).

161. Ehsani-Zonouz, A. Interaction of hexokinase with the outer mitochondrial membrane and a hydrophobic matrix / A. Ehsani-Zonouz, A. Golestani, M. Nemat-Gorgani // Mol. Cell. Biochem. — 2001. — Vol. 223. — P. 81–87.

162. Elsner, P. Partly ordered synthesis and degradation of glycogen in cultured rat myotubes / P. Elsner, B. Quistorff, G.H. Hansen, N. Grunnet // J. Biol. Chem. — 2002. — Vol. 277. — P. 4831–4838.

163. Emami Nejad, A. The role of hypoxia in the tumor microenvironment and development of cancer stem cell: a novel approach to developing treatment / A. Emami Nejad, S. Najafgholian, A. Rostami, A. Sistani, S. Shojaeifar, M. Esparvarinha, [et al.] // Cancer Cell Int. — 2021. — Vol. 21(1). — Article number: 62.

164. Ercan, N. Liver glycogen synthase, phosphorylase, and the glycogen concentration in rats given a glucose load orally: a 24-hour study / N. Ercan, M.C. Gannon, F.Q. Nuttall // Arch. Biochem. Biophys. — 1994. — Vol. 315. — P. 35–40.

165. Espelt, M.V. Volumetric response of vertebrate hepatocytes challenged by osmotic gradients: A theoretical approach / M.V. Espelt, K. Alleva, G. Amodeo, G. Krumschnabel, R.C. Rossi, P.J. Schwarzbaum // Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B. Biochem. Mol. Biol. — 2008. — Vol. 150. P. 103–111.

166. Factor, V.M. Polyploidization of mouse hepatocytes under repeated exposure to CCl₄ / V.M. Factor, I.V. Uryvaeva // Bull. exp. biol. — 1980. — Vol. 11. — P. 614–616. (In Russian).

167. Fang, Y. Hepatocyte proliferation as an indicator of outcome in acute alcoholic hepatitis / Y. Fang, C. Bird, K. Nakamura, G.L. Davis, J.Y. Lau // Lancet. — 1994. — Vol. 343. — P. 820–823.

168. Farrell, G.C. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: from steatosis to cirrhosis / G.C. Farrell, C.Z. Larter // Hepatology. — 2006. — Vol. 43(51). — P. S99–S112.

169. Favaro, E. Glucose utilization via glycogen phosphorylase sustains proliferation and prevents premature senescence in cancer cells / E. Favaro, K. Bensaad, M.G. Chong, D.A. Tennant, D.J.P. Ferguson, C. Snell, [et al.] // Cell Metab. — 2012. — Vol. 16(6). — P. 751–764.

170. Fernandez-Checa, J.C. Mitochondrial glutathione depletion in alcoholic liver disease / J.C. Fernandez-Checa, T. Hirano, H. Tsukamoto, N. Kaplovitz // Alcohol. — 1993.
— Vol. 10. — P. 469–475.

171. Fernandez-Novell, J.M. Translocation and aggregation of hepatic glycogen synthase during the fasted-to-refed transition in rats / J.M. Fernandez-Novell, A. Roca, D. Bellido, S. Vilaro, J.J. Guinovart // Eur. J. Biochem. — 1996. — Vol. 238(2). — P. 570–575.

172. Fernandez-Novell, J.M. Zonal distribution of glycogen synthesis in isolated rat hepatocytes / J.M. Fernandez-Novell, C. Lopez-Iglesias, J.C. Ferrer, J.J. Guinovart // FEBS Lett. — 2002. — Vol. 531. — P. 222–228.

173. Ferrannini, E. Influence of long-term diabetes on liver glycogen metabolism in the rat / E. Ferrannini, A. Lanfranchi, F. Rohner-Jeanrenaud, G. Manfredini, G. Van de Werve // Metabolism. — 1990. — Vol. 39(10). — P. 1082–1088.

174. Ferrer, J.C. Control of glycogen deposition / J.C. Ferrer, C. Favre, R.R. Gomis, J.M. Fernández-Novell, M. García-Rocha, N. de la Iglesia, [et al.] // FEBS Lett. — 2003. — Vol. 546. — P. 127–132.

175. Fessenden, J.D. Forster resonance energy transfer measurements of ryanodine receptor type 1 structure using a novel site-specific labeling method / J.D. Fessenden // PloS One. — 2009. — Vol. 4. — Article: e7338.

176. Foglieni, C. Fluorescent dyes for cell viability: an application on prefixed conditions / C. Foglieni, C. Meoni, A.M. Davalli // Histochem. Cell Biol. — 2001. — Vol. 115(3). — P. 223–229.

177. Forbes, S.J. Liver regeneration — mechanisms and models to clinical application /
S.J. Forbes, P.N. Newsome // Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. — 2016. — Vol. 13(8). — P.
473–485.

178. Fox, I.J. Treatment of the Crigler-Najjar syndrome type I with hepatocyte transplantation / I.J. Fox, J.R. Chowdhury, S.S. Kaufman, T.C. Goertzen, N.R. Chowdhury, P.I. Warkentin, [et al.] // N. Engl. J. Med. — 1998. — Vol. 338(20). — P. 1422–1426.

179. Francavilla, A. Cyclic AMP metabolism and adenylate cyclase concentration in patients with advanced hepatic cirrhosis / A. Francavilla, A.F. Jones, T.E. Starzl // Gastroenterology. — 1978. — Vol. 75. — P. 1026–1032.

180. Frederiks, W.M. Influence of nutritional state on ischemic damage in rat liver / W.M. Frederiks, G.M. Fronik, F. Mar, J. James // Liver. — 1985. — Vol. 5. — P. 342–347.

181. Friedman, S.L. Reversal of hepatic fibrosis – fact or fantasy? / S.L. Friedman,
M.B. Bansal // Hepatology. — 2006. — Vol. 43. — S82–88.

182. Friedmann, B. Liver glycogen synthesis in intact alloxan diabetic rats / B. Friedmann, E.H. Goodman, Jr., S. Weinhouse // J. Biol. Chem. — 1963. — Vol. 238(9). — P. 2899–2905.

183. Friedmann, B. Effects of glucose feeding, cortisol, and insulin on liver glycogen synthesis in the rat / B. Friedmann, E.H.Jr Goodman, S. Weinhouse // Endocrinology. — 1970.
— Vol. 81. — P. 486–496.

184. Frontera, W.R. Skeletal muscle: a brief review of structure and function / W.R. Frontera, J. Ochala // Calcif. Tissue Int. — 2015. — Vol. 96(3). — P. 183–195.

185. Fujita, S. DNA cytofluorometry on large and small cell nuclei stained with pararosaniline Feulgen / S. Fujita // Histochemie. — 1973. — Vol. 36(3). — P. 193–199.

186. Fukuda, T. Autophagy and lysosomes in Pompe disease / T. Fukuda, A. Roberts,
M. Ahearn, K. Zaal, E. Ralston, P.H. Plotz, N. Raben // Autophagy. — 2006. — Vol. 2. — P.
318–320.

187. Fukumura, A. Correlation between adenosine triphosphate content and apoptosis in liver of rats treated with alcohol / A. Fukumura, M. Tsutsumi, M. Tsusciscima, S. Takase // Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res. — 2003. — Vol. 27. — P. 12S–15S.

188. Gadella, T.W. GFP-based FRET microscopy in living plant cells / T.W. Gadella,
G.N.M. Van der Krogt // Trends Plant. Sci. — 1999. — Vol. 7. — P. 287–291.

189. Gahrton, G. Determination of the glycogen content in single neutrophil leukocytes using a micromodel of leukocyte glycogen / G. Gahrton, I. Olsson, A. Dahlqvist // J. Histochem. Cytochem. — 1975. — Vol. 23(1). — P. 59–64.

190. Gaivoronskaya, V.V. The influence of bemithyl, etomersol and yactone on the processes of liver regeneration after partial hepatectomy / V.V. Gaivoronskaya, S.V. Okovity, E.B. Shustov, A.V. Smirnov // Experiment. Clinical. Pharmacol. — 2000. — Vol. 63(5). — P. 34–36. (In Russian).

191. Galvao, F. Hepatocyte transplantation: State of the art / F. Galvao, D. de Andrade
Jr, D. de Andrade, B.C. Martins, A.G. Marson, C.V. Bernard, [et al.] // Hepatol. Res. — 2006.
— Vol. 36(4). — P. 237–247.

192. Ganesh, S. Regional and developmental expression of Epm2a gene and its evolutionary conservation / S. Ganesh, K.L. Agarwala, K. Amano, T. Suzuki, A.V. Delgado-Escueta, K. Yamakawa // Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. — 2001. — Vol. 283. — P. 1046–1053.

193. Gangitano, E. Protein catabolism and the dysregulation of energy intake-related hormones may play a major role in the worsening of malnutrition in hospitalized cirrhotic patients / E. Gangitano, L. Gnessi, M. Merli // Livers. — 2022. — Vol. 2. — P. 158–170.

194. Ganne-Carrié, N. Hepatocellular carcinoma in the setting of alcohol-related liver disease / N. Ganne-Carrié, P. Nahon // J. Hepatol. — 2019. — Vol. 70. — P. 284–293.

195. Gannon, M.C. Quantitation of the glucose area response to a meal / M.C. Gannon, F.Q. Nuttall // Diabetes Care — 1990. — Vol. 13. — P. 1095–1096.

196. Garcia-Compean, D. Liver cirrhosis and diabetes: risk factors, pathophysiology, clinical implications and management / D. Garcia-Compean, J.O. Jaquez-Quintana, J.A. Gonzalez-Gonzalez, H. Maldonado-Garza // World J. Gastroenterol. — 2009. — Vol. 15. — P. 280–288.

197. Garcia-Compean, D. The treatment of diabetes mellitus of patients with chronic liver disease / D. García-Compeán, J.A. González-González, F.J. Lavalle-González, E.I. González-Moreno, H.J. Maldonado-Garza, J.Z. Villarreal-Pérez // Ann. Hepatol. — 2015. — Vol. 14(6). — P. 780–788.

198. Garcia-Rocha, M. Intracellular distribution of glycogen synthase and glycogen in primary cultured rat hepatocytes / M. Garcia-Rocha, A. Roca, N. de la Iglesia, O. Baba, J.M. Fernández-Novell, J.C. Ferrer, J.J. Guinovart // Biochem J. — 2001. — Vol. 357. — P. 17–24.

199. Garfield, S.A. Hepatic glucose-6-phosphatase activities and correlated ultrastructural alterations in hepatocytes of diabetic rats / S.A. Garfield, R.R. Cardell, Jr // Diabetes. — 1979. — Vol. 28. — P. 664–679.

200. Garyaly, P. Protein degradation and quality control in cells from laforin and malin knouckout mice / P. Garyaly, D.M. Segvich, A.A. DePaoli-Roach, P.J. Roach // J. Biol. Chem. — 2014. — Vol. 289. — P. 20606–20614.

201. Gaub, J. Cytophotometry of liver cells from ethanol-fed rats: ethanol causes increased polyploidization and protein accumulation / J. Gaub, L. Fanerholdt, S. Keiding, J. Kondrup, P. Petersen, G.L. Wantzin // Eur. J. Clin. Invest. — 1981. — Vol. 11. — P. 235–237.

202. Gautier, S.V. Organ donation and transplantation in the russian federation in 2018. XI report of the registry of the Russian Transplant Society / S.V. Gautier, S.M. Khomyakov // Russian journal of transplantology and artificial organs. — 2019. — Vol. 21(3). — P. 7–32. (In Russian).

203. Geddes, R. Glycogen: a structural viewpoint / R. Geddes // The polysaccharides. N.Y. — 1985. — Vol. 3. — P. 283–336.

204. Geddes, R. Glycogen: a metabolic viewpoint / R. Geddes // Biosci. Rep. — 1986. — Vol. 6. — P. 415–428.

205. Geddes, R. The influence of lysosomes on glycogen metabolism / R. Geddes, G.C. Stratton // Biochem. J. — 1977. — Vol. 163. — P. 193–200.

206. Geddes, R. The molecular size and shape of liver glycogen / R. Geddes, J.D. Harvey, P.R. Wills // Biochem. J. — 1977. — Vol. 163. — P. 201–209.

207. Gerlyng, P. Binucleation and polyploidization patterns in developmental and regenerative rat liver growth / P. Gerlyng, A. Abyholm, T. Grotmol, B. Erikstein, H.S. Huitfeldt, T. Stokke, P.O. Seglen // Cell Prolif. — 1993. — Vol. 26. — P. 557–565.

208. Gessler, K. V-amylose at atomic resolution: X-ray structure of a cycloamylose with 26 glucose residues (cyclomaltohexaicosaose) / K. Gessler, I. Uson, T. Takaha, N. Krauss, S.M. Smith, S. Okada, [et al.] // Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. — 1999. — Vol. 96. — P. 4246–4251.

209. Giaccari, A. Predominant role of gluconeogenesis in the hepatic glycogen repletion of diabetic rats / A. Giaccari, L. Rosetti // J. Clin. Invest. — 1992. — Vol. 89. — P. 36–45.

210. Giardina, M.G. Kinetic analysis of glycogen synthase and PDC in cirrhotic rat liver and skeletal muscle / M.G.Giardina, M. Matarazzo, L. Sacca // Am. J. Physiol. — 1994.
— Vol. 267. — P. E900–E906.

211. Gieling, R.G. Fibrosis and cirrhosis reversibility – molecular mechanisms / R.G. Gieling, A.D. Burt, D.A. Mann // Clin. Liver. Dis. — 2008. — Vol. 12. — P. 915–937.

212. Giese, A. Cell physiology / A. Giese. - M.: Publishing house of foreign lit., 1959.— 455 p. (In Russian).

213. Gilbert, R.G. The molecular size distribution of glycogen and its relevance to diabetes / R.G. Gilbert, M.A. Sullivan // Aust. J. Chem. — 2014. — Vol. 67. — P. 538–543.

214. Gilgenkrantz, H. Understanding Liver Regeneration: From Mechanisms to Regenerative Medicine / H. Gilgenkrantz, A. Collin de l'Hortet // Am. J. Pathol. — 2018. — Vol. 188(6). — P. 1316–1327.

215. Gjorgjieva, M. Progressive development of renal cysts in glycogen storage disease type I / M. Gjorgjieva, M. Raffin, A. Duchampt, A.Perry, A. Stefanutti, M. Brevet, [et al.] // Hum. Mol. Genet. — 2016. — Vol. 25(17). — P. 3784–3797.

216. Glouert, A. Araldite as embedding for electron microscopy / A. Glouert, R. Glouert // J. Biophys. Biochem. Cytol. — 1958. — Vol. 4. — P. 191–194.

217. Golden, S. Glycogen synthesis by hepatocytes from diabetic rats / S. Golden, P.A. Wals, F. Okajima, J. Katz // Biochem. J. — 1979. — Vol. 182. — P. 727–734.

218. Goldsmith, E. Structure of maltoheptaose by difference Fourier methods and a model for glycogen / E. Goldsmith, S. Sprang, R. Fletterick // J. Mol. Biol. — 1982. — Vol. 156. — P. 411–427.

219. Gomis, R.R. Liver glycogen synthase but not the muscle isoform differentiates between glucose 6-phosphate produced by glucokinase or hexokinase / R.R. Gomis, E. Cid, M. García-Rocha, J.C. Ferrer, J.J. Guinovart // J. Biol. Chem. — 2002. — Vol. 277(26). — P. 23246–23252.

220. Gorla, G.R. Polyploidy associated with oxidative injury attenuates proliferative potential of cells / G.R. Gorla, H. Malhi, S. Gupta // Journal of Cell Science. — 2001. — Vol. 114(16). — P. 2943–2951.

221. Goss, R. Hypertrophy versus hyperplasia / R. Goss // Science. — 1966. — Vol. 153. — P. 1615–1620.

222. Graham, T.E. Pro- and macroglycogenolysis: relationship with exercise intensity and duration / T.E. Graham, K.B. Adamo, J. Shearer, I. Marchand, B. Saltin // J. Appl. Physiol. — 2001. — Vol. 90. — P. 873–879.

223. Graham, T.E. The regulation of muscle glycogen: the granule and its proteins / T.E. Graham, Z. Yuan, A.K. Hill, R.J. Wilson // Acta Physiol. — 2010. — Vol. 199. — P. 489–498.

224. Granlund, A. The influence of the PRKAG3 mutation on glycogen, enzyme activities and fibre types in different skeletal muscles of exercise trained pigs / A. Granlund, M. Jensen-Waern, B. Essen-Gustavsson / Acta Vet. Scand. — 2011. — Vol. 53. — P. 20.

225. Grecco, H.E. FRET in cell biology: still shining in the age of super-resolution? / H.E. Grecco, P.J. Verveer // Chemphyschem. — 2011. — Vol. 12. — P. 484–490.

226. Green, A.R. The glycogenic action of protein targeting to glucogen in hepatocytes involves multiple mechanisms including phosphorylase inactiovation and glycogen synthase translocation / A.R. Green, S. Aiston, C.C. Greenberg, S. Freeman, S.M. Poucher, M.J. Brady, L. Agius // J. Biol. Chem. — 2004. — Vol. 279. — P. 46474–46482.

227. Grimsby, J. Characterization of glucokinase regulatory protein-deficient mice / J. Grimsby, J.W. Coffey, M.T. Dvorozniak, J. Magram, G. Li, F.M. Matschinsky, [et al.] // J. Biol. Chem. — 2000. — Vol. 275. — P. 7825–7831.

228. Gruppuso, P.A. Induction of hepatic glycogenesis in the fetal rat / P.A. Gruppuso, D.L. Brautigan // Am. J. Physiol. — 1989. — Vol. 256. — P. E49–E54.

229. Guerret, S. Long-term administration of interferon-alpha in non-responder patients with chronic hepatitis C: follow-up of liver fibrosis over 5 years / S. Guerret, A. Desmoulière, P. Chossegros // J. Viral. Hepat. — 1999. — Vol. 6(2). — P. 125–133.

230. Guldiken, N. Serum transferrin as a biomarker of hepatocyte nuclear factor 4 alpha activity and hepatocyte function in liver diseases / N. Guldiken, J. Argemi, B. Gurbuz, S.R. Atkinson, M. Oliverius, P. Fila, [et al.] // BMC Medicine. — 2021. — Vol. 19. — Article number: 39.

231. Gunja-Smith, Z. A revision of the Meyer—Bernfeld model of glycogen and amylopectin / Z. Gunja-Smith, J.J. Marshall, C. Mercier, E.E. Smith, W.J. Whelan // FEBS Lett. — 1970. — Vol. 12. — P. 101–104.

232. Guo, L. The prognostic value of inflammation factors in hepatocellular carcinoma patients with hepatic artery interventional treatments: a retrospective study / L. Guo, H. Ren, L. Pu, X. Zhu, Y. Liu, X. Ma // Cancer Manag. Res. — 2020. — Vol. 12. — P. 7173–7188.

233. Hagen, F. Correlation between liver volume and liver weight in a cohort with chronic liver disease: a semiautomated CT-volumetry study / F. Hagen, A. Mair, H. Bösmüller, M. Horger // Quant. Imaging Med. Surg. — 2022. — Vol. 12(1). — P. 376–383.

234. Hallgren, N.K. Cell volume affects glycogen phosphorylase activity in fish hepatocytes / N.K. Hallgren, E.R. Busby, T.P. Mommsen // J. Comp. Physiol. B. — 2003. — Vol. 173. — P. 591–599.

235. Hammel, P. Regression of liver fibrosis after biliary drainage in patients with chronic pancreatitis and stenosis of the common bile duct / P. Hammel, A. Couvelard, D. O'Toole, A. Ratouis, A. Sauvanet, J.F. Flejou, [et al.] // N. Engl. J. Med. — 2001. — Vol. 344. — P. 418–423.

236. Hannoun, Z. The potential of induced pluripotent stem cell derived hepatocytes / Z. Hannoun, C. Steichen, N. Dianat, A. Weber, A. Dubart-Kupperschmitt // J. Hepatol. — 2016. — Vol. 65(1). — P. 182–189.

237. Harjes, U. Glycogen condensates drive tumorigenesis by trapping Hippo kinases /
U. Harjes // Nat. Rev. Cancer. — 2022. — Vol. 22(1). — 1.

238. Harvey, P.J. 31P and 1H NMR spectroscopic studies of liver extracts of carbon tetrachloride-treated rats / P.J. Harvey, G.E. Gready, K.M. Hickey, D.G. Le Couteur, A.J. McLean // NMR Biomed. — 1999. — Vol. 12. — P. 395–401.

239. Hata, K. The structure of shellfish glycogen. III. A proposed model of glycogen particle / K. Hata, M. Hata, M. Hata, K. Matsuda // J. Jpn. Soc. Starch. Sci. — 1984. — Vol. 31(3). — P. 146–155.

240. Heishi, M. Global gene expression analysis in liver of obese diabetic db/db mice treated with metformin / M. Heishi, J. Ichihara, R. Teramoto, Y. Itakura, K. Hayashi, H. Ishikawa, [et al.] // Diabetologia. — 2006. — Vol. 49. — P. 1647–1655.

241. Henrissat, B. Glycoside hydrolases and glycosyltransferases: families, modules, and implications for genomics / B. Henrissat, G. J. Davies // Plant. Physiol. — 2000. — Vol. 124. — P. 1515–1519.
242. Hers, H.-G. The metabolism of glycogen in the liver of foetal and newborn rats. In Metabolic adaptation to extrauterine life / H.-G. Hers. — Brussels-Luxembourg: ECSC, EEC, EAEC, 1981. — P. 3–7.

243. Hers, H.-G. Mechanisms of blood glucose homeostasis / H.-G. Hers // J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. — 1990. — Vol. 13. — P. 395–410.

244. Heydari, Z. Tissue engineering in liver regenerative medicine: insights into novel translational technologies / Z. Heydari, M. Najimi, H. Mirzaei, A. Shpichka, M. Ruoss, Z. Farzaneh, [et al.] // Cells. — 2020. — Vol. 9(2). — 304.

245. Hickman, I.J. Impact of diabetes on the severity of liver disease / I.J. Hickman, G.A. Macdonald // Am. J. Med. — 2007. — Vol. 120(10). — P. 829–834.

246. Higgins, G.M. Experimental pathology of the liver. I. Restoration of the liver of the white rat following partial surgicall removal / G.M. Higgins, R.M. Anderson // Arch.Pathol. — 1931. — Vol. 12. — P. 186–202.

247. Hinson, J.F. Acetaminopheninduced hepatic glycogen depletion and hyperglycemia in mice / J.F. Hinson, J.B. Mays, A.M. Cameron // Biochemical Pharmacology. — 1983. — Vol. 32. — P. 1979–1988.

248. Hirschhorn, R. Glycogen storage disease type II: acid α-glucosidase (acid maltase) deficiency. / R. Hirschhorn, A.J. Reuser // In: C.R. Scriver, W.S. Sly, B. Childs, A.L. Beaudet, D. Valle, K.W. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein (Eds.). The metabolic and molecular basis of inherited disease. — N.Y.: McGraw-Hill, 2000. — P. 3389–3420.

249. Hirst, K.K. The Origins and History of Winemaking / K.K. Hirst // ThoughtCo. — 2023. Available at: https://www.thoughtco.com/wine-origins-archaeology-and-history-173240 (accessed 28.07.2023).

250. Hockel, M. Tumor hypoxia: definitions and current clinical, biologic, and molecular aspects / M. Hockel, P. Vaupel // J. Natl. Cancer Inst. — 2001. — Vol. 93(4). — P. 266–276.

251. Holstein, A. Clinical implication of hepatogenous diabetes in liver cirrhosis / A. Holstein, S. Hinze, E. Thiessen, A. Plaschke, E.-H. Egberts // J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. — 2002. — Vol. 17. — P. 677–681.

252. Hornbrook, K.R. Synthesis of liver glycogen in starved alloxan diabetic rats / K.R. Hornbrook // Diabetes. — 1970. — Vol. 19. — P. 916–923.

253. Huang, D.Q. Global epidemiology of cirrhosis — aetiology, trends and predictions
/ D.Q. Huang, N.A. Terrault, F. Tacke, L.L. Gluud, M. Arrese, E. Bugianesi, R. Loomba //
Nature Reviews Gastroenterol. Hepatol. — 2023. — Vol. 20. — P. 388–398.

254. Huang, Y.T. Oxidative-stress-related changes in the livers of bile-duct-ligated rats
/ Y.T. Huang, I.S. Hsu, C.J. Chen, C.-T. Liu, Y.-H. Wei // J. Biomed. Sci. — 2003. — Vol. 10.
— P. 170–178.

255. Huebschmann, A.G. Diabetes and advanced glycoxidation end products / A.G.
Huebschmann, J.G. Regensteiner, H. Vlassara, J.E. Reusch // Diabetes Care. — 2006. — Vol.
29. — P. 1420–1432.

256. Hundal, R.S. Mechanism by which metformin reduces glucose production in type 2 diabetes / R.S. Hundal, M. Krssak, S. Dufour, D. Laurent, V. Lebon, V. Chandramouli, [et al.] // Diabetes. — 2000. — Vol. 49. — P. 2063–2069.

257. Hytiroglu, P. Beyond "Cirrhosis": A proposal from international liver pathology subgroup / P. Hytiroglu, D.C. Snover, V. Alves, C. Balabaud, P.S. Bhathal, P. Bioulac-Sage, [et al.] // Am. J. Clin. Pathol. — 2012. — Vol. 137. — P. 5–9.

258. Hyyppä, S. Post-exercise muscle glycogen repletion in horses: Doctoral dissertation / S. Hyyppä — Helsinki: MTT Agrifood Research Finland, 2007. — 82 p.

259. IDF Diabetes Atlas 2021, 10th edition. — Available at: https://diabetesatlas.org/atlas/tenth-

edition/?dlmodal=active&dlsrc=https%3A%2F%2Fdiabetesatlas.org%2Fidfawp%2Fresource-files%2F2021%2F07%2FIDF_Atlas_10th_Edition_2021.pdf (accessed 28.07.2023).

260. Iimuro, Y. Delivery of matrix metalloproteinase-1 attenuates established liver fibrosis in the rat / Y. Iimuro, T. Nishio, T. Morimoto, T. Nitta, B. Stefanovic, S.K. Choi, [et al.] // Gastroenterology. — 2003. — Vol. 124(2). — P. 445–458.

261. Imai, T. Clinicopathological studies and operative results of hepatocellular carcinoma with liver cirrhosis comparing HB associated cirrhosis to alcoholic and post-transfusion cirrhosis / T. Imai, M. Carrillo, H. Vokoi, T. Noguchi, Y. Kawarada, R. Mizumoto // Gastroenterol. Jap. — 1990. — Vol. 25. — P.50–54.

262. Iredale, J.P. Mechanisms of spontaneous resolution of rat liver fibrosis. Hepatic stellate cell apoptosis and reduced hepatic expression of metalloproteinase inhibitors / J.P. Iredale, R.C. Benyon, J. Pickering, M. McCullen, M. Northrop, S. Pawley, [et al.] // J. Clin. Invest. — 1998. — Vol. 102(3). — P. 538—549.

263. Iredale, J.P. Models of liver fibrosis: exploring the dynamic nature of inflammation and repair in a solid organ / J.P. Iredale // J. Clin. Invest. — 2007. — Vol. 117(3). — P. 539–548.

264. Ishchenko, I.Yu. Morphofunctional changes in the tissue microregion of the liver and regional lymph nodes in Wistar rats with a model of chronic toxic hepatitis created by the combined action of carbon tetrachloride and ethanol / I.Yu. Ishchenko, S.V. Michurina // Bull. SO RAMS. — 2005. — Vol. 155(1). — P. 62–65. (In Russian).

265. Ivanter, E.V. Adaptive features of small mammals / E.V. Ivanter, T.V. Ivanter, I.L. Tumanov. — L.: Nauka. — 1985. — 318 p. (In Russian).

266. Ivashkin, V.T. Clinical recommendations of the Russian Society for the Study of the Liver and the Russian Gastroenterological Association for the diagnosis and treatment of fibrosis and cirrhosis of the liver and their complications / V.T. Ivashkin, M.V. Mayevskaya, M.S. Zharkova, S.B. Zhigalova, Ye.A. Kitsenko, G.V. Manuk'yan, [et al.] // Russian Journal gastroenterology, hepatology, coloproctology. — 2021. — Vol. 31(6). — P. 56–102. (In Russian).

267. Iynedjian, P.B. Mammalian glucokinase and its gene / P.B. Iynedjian // Biochem. J. — 1993. — Vol. 293. — P. 1–13.

268. Iype, P.T. Some aspects of chemical and cellular composition of adult rat liver / P.T. Iype, P.M. Bhargova, A.D. Tasker // Exp. Cell Res. — 1965. — Vol. 40. — P. 233–251.

269. Jadlowiec, C.C. Liver transplantation: Current status and challenges / C.C. Jadlowiec, T. Taner // World J. Gastroenterol. — 2016. — Vol. 22(18). — P. 4438–4445.

270. James, A.P. Proglycogen and macroglycogen: artifacts of glycogen extraction? / A.P. James, P.D. Barnes, T.N. Palmer, P.A. Fournier // Metabolism. — 2008. — Vol. 57. — P. 535–543.

271. James, J. Growth patterns of rat hepatocytes during postnatal development / J. James, J. Tas, K.S. Bosch // Europ. J. Cell Biol. — 1979. — Vol. 19. — P. 222–226.

272. James, J. Naphthol-yellow-S-protein content of individual rat hepatocytes as related to food intake and short-term starvation / J. James, K.S. Bosch, G.M. Fronik, J.M. Houtkooper // Cell Tissue Res. — 1986. — Vol. 243. — P. 165–169.

273. Javadov, S. Different approaches to modeling analysis of mitochondrial swelling /
S. Javadov, X. Chapa-Dubocq, V. Makarov // Mitochondrion. — 2018. — Vol. 38. — P. 58–
70.

274. Jefferies, M. Update on global epidemiology of viral hepatitis and preventive strategies / M. Jefferies, B. Rauff, H. Rashid, T. Lam, S. Rafiq // World J. Clin. Cases. — 2018. — Vol. 6(13). — P. 589–599.

275. Jennische, E. Effects of ischemia on the hepatic cell membrane potential in the rat. Differences between fed and fasted animals / E. Jennische // Acta. Physiol. Scand. — 1983. — Vol. 118(1). — P. 69–73.

276. Jensen, J. The role of skeletal muscle glycogen breakdown for regulation of insulin sensitivity by exercise / J. Jensen, P.I. Rustad, A.J. Kolnes, Y.-C. Lai // Front Physiol. — 2011. — Vol. 2. — Aticle 112.

277. Jensen, T.E. Regulation of glucose and glycogen metabolism during and after exercise / T.E. Jensen, E.A. Richter // J. Physiol. — 2012. — Vol. 590(5). — P. 1069–1076.

278. Jepsen, P. Comorbidity and survival of Danish cirrhosis patients: a nationwide population-based cohort study / P. Jepsen, H. Vilstrup, P.K. Andersen, T.L. Lash, H.T. Sorensen // Hepatology. — 2008. — Vol. 48(1). — P. 214–220.

279. Jiang, S. Starch binding domain-containing protein 1/genethonin 1 is a novel participant in glycogen metabolism / S. Jiang, B. Heller, V.S. Tagliabracci, L. Zhai, J.M. Irimia, A.A. DePaoli-Roach, [et al.] // J. Biol. Chem. — 2010. — Vol. 285. — P. 34960–34971.

280. Jiang, S. Starch-binding domain-containing protein 1 (Stbd1) and glycogen metabolism: identification of the Atg8 family interacting motif (AIM) in Stbd1 required for interaction with GABARA-PL1 / S. Jiang, C.D. Wells, P.J. Roach // Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. — 2011. — Vol. 413. — P. 420–425.

281. Jiang, S. Diabetic-induced alterations in hepatic glucose and lipid metabolism: The role of type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus / S. Jiang, J.L. Young, K. Wang, Y. Qian, L. Cai // Mol. Med. Rep. — 2020. — Vol. 22(2). — P. 603–611.

282. Jilkova, Z.M. Animal models of hepatocellular carcinoma: the role of immune system and tumor microenvironment / Z.M. Jilkova, K. Kurma, T. Decaens // Cancers (Basel).
— 2019. — Vol. 11(10). — 1487.

283. Johansson, U. Splanchnic and peripheral glucose metabolism in cirrhosis / U. Johansson, J. Wahren, L.S. Eriksson // J. Hepatol. — 1994. — Vol. 20. — P. 760–767.

284. Johnson, L.V. Localization of mitochondria in living cells with rhodamine 123 / L.V. Jonson, M.L. Walsh, C.L. Bo // Cell Biol. — 1980. — Vol. 77. — P. 990–994.

285. Jorgensen, P. How cells coordinate growth and division / P. Jorgensen, M. Tyers // Curr. Biol. — 2004. — Vol. 14. — P. R1014–R1027.

286. Ju, C. Hypoxia-inducible factors as molecular targets for liver diseases / C. Ju, S.P. Colgan, H.K. Eltzschig // J. Mol. Med. — 2016. — Vol. 94. — P. 613–627.

287. Jungermann, K. Metabolic zonation of liver parenchyma: significance for the regulation of glycogen metabolism, gluconeogenesis and glycolysis / K. Jungermann // Diabetes Metab. Rev. — 1987. — Vol. 3. — P. 269–293.

288. Jungermann, K. Functional specialization of hepatocytes / K. Jungermann, J. Katz // Physiol. Rev. — 1989. — Vol. 69. — P. 718–745.

289. Jungermann, K. Role of intralobular compartmentation in hepatic metabolism / K. Jungermann // Diabete Metab. — 1992. — Vol. 18. — P. 81–86.

290. Jungermann, K. Role of oxygen in the zonation of carbohydrate metabolism and gene expression in liver / K. Jungermann, T. Kietzmann // Kidney Int. — 1997. — Vol. 51. — P. 402–412.

291. Jurczak, M.J. The role protein translocation in the regulation metabolism / M.J. Jurczak, A.M. Danos, V.R. Rehrmann, M.J. Brady // J. Cell Biochem. — 2008. — Vol. 104. — P. 435–443.

292. Kaasik, A. Regulation of mitochondrial matrix volume / A. Kaasik, D. Safiulina, A. Zharkovsky, V. Veksler // Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. — 2007. — Vol. 292(1). — P. C157–163.

293. Kabadi, U.M. Elevated plasma ammonia level in hepatic cirrhosis: role of glucagon / U.M. Kabadi, A.B. Eisenstein, J. Konda // Gastroenterology. — 1985. — Vol. 88(3). — P. 750–756.

294. Kalafateli, M. Impact of muscle wasting on survival in patients with liver cirrhosis / M. Kalafateli, C. Konstantakis, K. Thomopoulos, C. Triantos // World J. Gastroenterol. — 2015. — Vol. 21(24). — P. 7357–7361.

295. Kalaitzakis, E. Increased risk for malignant neoplasms among patients with cirrhosis / E. Kalaitzakis, S.A. Gunnarsdottir, A. Josefsson, E. Björnsson // Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. — 2011. — Vol. 9. — P. 168–174.

296. Kalhan, S.C. Gluconeogenesis in the fetus and neonate / S.C. Kalhan, P. Parimi // Semin. Perinatol. — 2000. — Vol. 24. — P. 94–106. 297. Kalhan, S.C. Metabolism of glucose and methods of investigation in the fetus and newborn / S.C. Kalhan // In: R.A. Polin, S.H. Abman, D.H. Rowitch, W.E. Benitz, W.W. Fox (Eds.). Fetal and Neonatal Physiology, Fifth edition. — Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier, 2017. — Vol. 1. — P. 390–403.

298. Kaplan, M.M. Sustained biochemical and histologic remission of primary biliary cirrhosis in response to medical treatment / M.M. Kaplan, R.A. DeLellis, H.J. Wolfe // Ann Intern. Med. — 1997. — Vol. 126. — P. 682–688.

299. Kartashova, O.Ya. Experimental pathology of the liver / O.Ya. Kartashova. — Riga: Zinatne, 1985. — 148 p. (In Russian).

300. Katayama, K. Zinc and protein metabolism in chronic liver diseases / K. Katayama // Nutr. Res. — 2020. — Vol. 74. — P. 1–9.

301. Katoonizadeh, A. Hepatic progenitor cells in liver regeneration: current advances and clinical perspectives / A. Katoonizadeh, H. Poustchi, R. Malekzadeh // Liver Int. — 2014.
— Vol. 34(10). — P. 1464–1472.

302. Katz, J. The glucose paradox: is glucose a substrate for liver metabolism? / J. Katz, J. McGarry // Clin. Invest. — 1984. — Vol. 74. — P. 1901–1909.

303. Kele P.G. Early hepatic regeneration index and completeness of regeneration at 6 months after partial hepatectomy / P.G. Kele, M. de Boer, E.J. van der Jagt, T. Lisman, R.J. Porte // Br. J. Surg. — 2012. — Vol. 99(8). — P. 1113–1119.

304. Keller, U. Evidence for an augmented glucagon dependence of hepatic glucose production in cirrhosis of the liver / U. Keller, G.E. Sonnenberg, D. Burckhardt, A. Perruchoud // J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. — 1982. — Vol. 54. — P. 961–968.

305. Khachaturov, E.N. Application of rivanol-SO₂ for DNA cytofluorimetry / E.N. Khachaturov, E.A. Smirnova // Izvestia Acad. Sciences of the USSR. — 1966. — Vol. 6. — P. 900–905. (In Russian).

306. Kholodenko, I. Mesenchymal-epithelial transition in culture of stromal progenitor cells isolated from the liver of a patient with alcoholic cirrhosis / I. Kholodenko, R. Kholodenko, G. Manukyan, V. Burunova, K. Yarygin // Bulletin of Experimental Biology and Medicine. — 2016. — Vol. 162. — P. 115–119.

307. Kietzmann, T. Metabolic zonation of the liver: The oxygen gradient revisited / T. Kietzmann // Redox. Biol. — 2017. — Vol. 11. — P. 622–630.

308. Kietzmann, T. Liver zonation in health and disease: hypoxia and hypoxiainducible transcription factors as concert masters / T. Kietzmann // Int. J. Mol. Sci. -2019. -Vol. 20. -2347.

309. Kishnani, P.S. Important role of abnormal glycogen structure in the development of liver cirrhosis and progression to hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with glycogen storage disease type III / P.S. Kishnani, Y.T. Chen // J. Hepatol. — 2007. — Vol. 47. — P. 300–301.

310. Kits Van Heijningen, A.J. Free and fixed glycogen in rat muscle / A.J. Kits Van Heijningen, A. Kemp // Biochem. J. — 1955. — Vol. 59. — P. 487–491.

311. Knox, W.E. Enzyme pattern in fetal, adult and neoplastic rat tissues. 2nd ed. / W.E. Knox. — Basel: S. Karger, 1976. — 324 P.

312. Kohno, H. Changes in transglutaminase activity in carbon tetrachloride-damaged rat liver / H. Kohno, K. Kashimura, S. Katon, I. Ohkubo // Experientia. — 1991. — Vol. 72. — P. 70–75.

313. Koike, Y. Studies on DNA content of hepatocytes in cirrhosis and hepatoma by means of microspectrophotometry and radioautography / Y. Koike, Y. Suzuki, A. Nagata, S. Furuta, T. Nagata // Histochemistry. — 1982. — Vol. 73. — P. 549–562.

314. Kolpashchikova, I.F. Features of morphological changes in the liver of rats and rabbits during the onset and reverse development of experimental cirrhosis / I.F. Kolpashchikova, V.A. Alymov // Collection of scientific works by B.P. Solopaev (Ed.) "The problem of regeneration of pathologically altered organs and the reversibility of pathological changes". — Gorky, 1970. — Issue 32. — P. 108–110. (In Russian).

315. Kolterman, O.G. Receptor and postreceptor defects contribute to the insulin resistance in noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus / O.G. Kolterman, R.S. Gray, J. Griffin, P. Burstein, J. Insel, J.A. Scarlett, J.M. Olefsky // J. Clin. Invest. — 1981. — Vol. 68(4). — P. 957–969.

316. Komarov, S.A. Kinetics of the index of ³H-thymidine-labeled nuclei in developing muscle fibers of silkworm larvae / S.A. Komarov // Tsitologiya. — 1987. — Vol. 29. — P. 845–848. (In Russian).

317. Krähenbühl, L. Progressive decrease in tissue glycogen content in rats with long-term cholestasis / L. Krähenbühl, C. Talos, J. Reichen, S. Krähenbühl // Hepatology. — 1996.
— Vol. 24. — P. 902–907.

318. Krähenbühl, L. Relationship between hepatic mitochondrial function in vivo and in vitro in rats with carbon tetrachloride-induced liver cirrhosis / L. Krähenbühl, M. Ledermann, C. Lang, S. Krähenbühl // J. Hepatol. — 2000. — Vol. 33. — P. 216–223.

319. Krähenbühl, L. Reduced hepatic glycogen stores in patients with liver cirrhosis / L. Krähenbühl, C. Lang, S. Ludes, C. Seiler, M. Schäfer, A. Zimmermann, S. Krähenbühl // Liver Int. — 2003. — Vol. 23. — P. 101–109.

320. Krähenbühl, S. Decreased hepatic glycogen content and accelerated response to starvation in rats with carbon tetrachloride-induced cirrhosis / S. Krähenbühl, F.L. Weber, E.P. Brass // Hepatology. — 1991. — Vol. 14. — P. 1189–1195.

321. Krähenbühl, S. Adaptation of mitochondrial metabolism in liver cirrhosis: Different strategies to maintain a vital function / S. Krähenbühl, J. Reichen // Scand. J. Gasroenterol. — 1992. — Vol. 27(Suppl. 193). — P. 90–96.

322. Krähenbühl, S. Decreased hepatic glucose production in rats with carbon tetrachloride-induced cirrhosis / S. Krähenbühl, J. Reichen // J. Hepatol. — 1993. — Vol. 19. — P. 64–70.

323. Kraniou, Y. Effects of exercise on GLUT-4 and glycogenin gene expression in human skeletal muscle / Y. Kraniou, D. Cameron-Smith, M. Misso, G. Collier, M. Hargreaves // J. Appl. Physiol. — 2000. — Vol. 88. — P. 794–796.

324. Krizhanovsky, V. Senescence of activated stellate cells limits liver fibrosis / V. Krizhanovsky, M. Yon, R.A. Dickins // Cell. — 2008. — Vol. 134(4). — P. 657–667.

325. Kronborg, T.M. Novel anti-inflammatory treatments in cirrhosis. A literaturebased study / T.M. Kronborg, H. Ytting, L. Hobolth, S. Moller, N. Kimer // Front. Med. (Lausanne). — 2021. — Vol. 8. — 718896.

326. Krssak, M. Alterations in postprandial hepatic glycogen metabolism in type 2 diabetes / M. Krssak, A. Brehm, E. Bernroider, C. Anderwald, P. Nowotny, C. Dalla Man, [et al.] // Diabetes. — 2004. — Vol. 53. — P. 3048–3056.

327. Krumschnabel, G. Metabolic and ionic responses of trout hepatocytes to anisosmotic exposure / G. Krumschnabel, R. Gstir, C. Manzl, C. Prem, D. Pafundo, P.J. Schwarzbaum // J Exp Biol. — 2003. — Vol. 206. — P. 1799–1808.

328. Kruszynska, Y.T. Carbohydrate metabolism. / Y.T. Kruszynska, N. McIntyre // In: N. McIntyre, J-P. Benhamou, J. Bircher, J. Rodes (Eds.). Oxford textbook of clinical

hepatology (2 volumes). Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press, 1991. — Vol. 1. — P. 129– 143.

329. Kruszynska, Y.T. Carbohydrate metabolism / Y.T. Kruszynska // In: J. Bircher, J.-P. Benhamou, N. McIntyre, M. Rizzetto, J. Rodes (Eds.). Oxford textbook of clinical hepatology (2 volumes). Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press, 1999. — Vol.1. — P. 257–286.

330. Kuang, Y. Hexokinase and glucose-6-phosphatase activity in woodchuck model of hepatitis virus-induced hepatocellular carcinoma / Y. Kuang, S.J. Schomisch, V. Chandramouli, Z. Lee // Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C. Toxicol. Pharmacol. — 2006. — Vol. 143(2). — P. 225–231.

331. Kudryavtsev, B.N. Cytofluorimetry. General principles / B.N. Kudryavtsev, Yu.M. Rozanov // In: T.A. Detlaff (Ed.). Developmental biology methods. — M.: Nauka, 1974. — P. 497–500. (In Russian).

332. Kudryavtsev, B.N. DNA cytofluorimetry with ethidium bromide-SO₂ / B.N. Kudryavtsev, M.V. Kudryavtseva, M.D. Fadeeva // Tsitologiya. — 1974. — Vol. 16(1). — P. 107–112. (In Russian).

333. Kudryavtsev, B.N. Cytophotometric study of glycogen content in hepatocytes of different ploidy in adult rats / B.N. Kudryavtsev, M.V. Kudryavtseva, T.M. Shalakhmetova, Ye.E. Zavadskaya, V.A. Ioffe, I.Ya. Barskiy, G.V. Papayan // Tsitologiya. — 1979. — Vol. 21. — P. 218–221. (In Russian).

334. Kudryavtsev, B.N. Method for determining the content of glycogen, DNA, ³H-thymidine tag and dry weight in the same cell / B.N. Kudryavtsev, M.V. Kudryavtseva, E.E. Zavadskaya, T.M. Shalakhmetova, S.A. Komarov, N.I. Komarova // Tsitologiya. — 1980. — Vol. 21. — P. 79–84. (In Russian).

335. Kudryavtsev, B.N. Polyploidy in the human liver in normal conditions and in cases of hepatitis / B.N. Kudryavtsev, M.V. Kudryavtseva, E.E. Zavadskaya, S.A. Smirnova, A.D. Skorina // Tsitologiya. — 1982. — Vol. 24. — P. 436–444. (In Russian).

336. Kudryavtsev, B.N. Kinetics of the cell population of the human liver parenchyma during postnatal development, during the period of growth stabilization and aging / B.N. Kudryavtsev, M.V. Kudryavtseva, G.A. Sakuta, G.I. Stein // Tsitologiya. — 1991. — Vol. 33. — P. 95–107. (In Russian).

337. Kudryavtsev, B.N. Human hepatocyte polyploidization kinetics in the course of life cycle / B.N. Kudryavtsev, M.V. Kudryavtseva, G.A. Sakuta, G.I. Stein // Virchows Archiv Abteilung B Cell Pathology. — 1993. — Vol. 64. — P. 387.

338. Kudryavtsev, B.N. Study of polyploidization of hepatocytes in some chronic liver diseases in humans / B.N. Kudryavtsev, M.V. Kudryavtseva, G.A. Sakuta, A.D. Skorina, G.I. Stein // Tsitologiya. — 1993. — Vol. 35. — P. 70–83. (In Russian).

339. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Determination of the glycogen content in rat liver cells using the fluorescent dye auramine 00 / M.V. Kudryavtseva, B.N. Kudryavtsev, Yu.M. Rozanov // Tsitologiya. —1970. — Vol. 12. — P. 1060–1067. (In Russian).

340. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Effect of duration of periodate oxidation on the intensity and specificity of the PAS-reaction with the regular Schiff reagent and a Schiff-auramine- SO₂ type reagent / M.V. Kudryavtseva, B.N. Kudryavtsev, Yu.M. Rozanov // Tsitologiya. — 1972. — Vol. 14. — P. 1357–1362. (In Russian).

341. Kudryavtseva, M.V. About two fractions of glycogen in rat liver cells (cytofluorimetric study) / M.V. Kudryavtseva, B.N. Kudryavtsev, Yu.M. Rozanov // Tsitologiya. — 1974. — T. 16. — P. 851–858. (In Russian).

342. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Cytofluorimetric study of the content of glycogen and its fractions in rat liver cells during the 1st week of postnatal ontogenesis / M.V. Kudryavtseva, T.M. Shalakhmetova // Tsitologiya. — 1979. — Vol. 21. — P. 566–571. (In Russian).

343. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Method of obtaining isolated cells of the human liver from the material of an intravital puncture biopsies / M.V. Kudryavtseva, E.E. Zavadskaya, A.D. Skorina, S.A. Smirnova, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Lab. Delo. — 1983. — Vol. 9. — P. 21–22. (In Russian).

344. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Glycogenosis of liver cells in chronic hepatitis in humans and its diagnostic significance / M.V. Kudryavtseva // Advances in hepatology. — 1987. — Vol. 13. — P. 201–211. (In Russian).

345. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Cytofluorimetric study of glycogen fractions in liver cells of patients with chronic viral and chronic alcoholic hepatitis / M.V. Kudryavtseva, A.D. Skorina, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 1988. — Vol. 30. — P. 705–709. (In Russian).

346. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Cytofluorimetric study of the content of glycogen and its fractions in hepatocytes of patients with liver cirrhosis of various ethologies / M.V.

Kudryavtseva, A.V. Emelyanov, G.A. Sakuta, A.D. Skorina, L.A. Sleptsova, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 1992. — Vol. 34. — P. 100–107. (In Russian).

347. Kudryavtseva, M.V. The metabolic zonation of glycogen in the rat liver cells in the course of its resynthesis / M.V. Kudryavtseva, G.A. Sakuta, G.I. Stein, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tissue and Cell. — 1992. — Vol. 24. — P. 31–25.

348. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Cytofluorimetric study of glycogen content and the activity of some enzymes of its metabolism in human and animal hepatocytes with liver cirrhosis and in rehabilitation conditions / M.V. Kudryavtseva, G.A. Sakuta, A.V. Emelyanov, A.D. Skorina, L.A. Sleptsova, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 1994. — Vol. 36. — P. 200–210. (In Russian).

349. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Glycogen-forming function of hepatocytes in conditions of regeneration of cirrhotic rat liver after partial hepatectomy / M.V. Kudryavtseva, A.V. Emelyanov, G.A. Sakuta, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 1996. — Vol. 38. — P. 934–948. (In Russian).

350. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Quantitative analysis of glycogen content in hepatocytes of portal and central lobule zones of normal human liver and in patients with chronic hepatitis of different etiology / M.V. Kudryavtseva, G.A. Sakuta, A.D. Skorina, G.I. Stein, A.V. Emelyanov, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tissue and Cell. — 1996. — Vol. 28. — P. 279–285.

351. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Glycogen-forming function of hepatocytes in the rat regenerating cirrhotic liver after a partial hepatectomy / M.V. Kudryavtseva, A.V. Emelyanov, G.A. Sakuta, N.N. Bezborodkina, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tissue and Cell. — 1998. — Vol. 30(2). — P. 1–7.

352. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Restoration of the glycogen-forming function of hepatocytes in rats with liver cirrhosis is facilitated by a high-carbohydrate diet / M.V. Kudryavtseva, N.N. Bezborodkina, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Br. J. Nutr. — 1999. — Vol. 81. — P. 473–480.

353. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Effect of the preparation "Vilon" on the cirrhotically altered rat liver. Liver regeneration and glycogen-forming function of hepatocytes / M.V. Kudryavtseva, N.N. Bezborodkina, E.N. Sek, I.Ya. Shapiro, A.Yu. Baranovskaya, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 2000. — Vol. 42(8). — P. 757–763. (In Russian).

354. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Glycogen-forming function of hepatocytes in cirrhotically altered rat liver after treatment the chorionic gonadotropin / M.V. Kudryavtseva,

N.N. Bezborodkina, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Exp. Toxic. Pathol. — 2001a. — Vol. 53, Issue 1. — P. 57–63.

355. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Metabolic heterogeneity of glycogen in hepatocytes of patients with liver cirrhosis: the glycogen of the liver lobule zones in cirrhosis / M.V. Kudryavtseva, N.N. Bezborodkina, S.V. Okovity, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Europ. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. — 2001b. — Vol. 13. — P. 693–697.

356. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Peculiarities of bemithyl effect on hepatocytes glycogen metabolism in pathologically altered human liver / M.V. Kudryavtseva, N.N. Bezborodkina, S.V. Okovity, O.V. Ivanova, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 2002a. — Vol. 44(7) — P. 668–675. (In Russian).

357. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Cytofluorimetric study of effects of bemithyl on carbohydrate metabolism of cirrhotically altered liver / M.V. Kudryavtseva, N.N. Bezborodkina, S.V. Okovity, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 2002b. — Vol. 44. — P. 166–174. (In Russian).

358. Kudryavtseva, M.V. Effects of the 2-ethylthiobenzimidazole hydrobromide (bemithyl) on carbohydrate metabolism in cirrhotic rat liver / M.V. Kudryavtseva, N.N. Bezborodkina, S.V. Okovity, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Exp. Toxic. Pathol. — 2003. — Vol. 54. — P. 339–347.

359. Kudryavtseva, M.V. The influence of hepatoprotector 2-ethylthiobenzimidazole hydrobromide (bemithyl) on the content of glycogen in cirrhotic rat liver hepatocytes located in various microenvironments / M.V. Kudryavtseva, N.N. Bezborodkina, S.V. Okovity, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 2004. — Vol. 46(8). — P. 735–739. (In Russian).

360. Kugler, J.H. The basis for the histochemical detection of glycogen / J.H. Kugler, W.J. Wilkinson // J. Histochem. Cytochem. — 1961. — Vol. 9. — P. 498–503.

361. Kumar. R. Hepatogenous diabetes: an underestimated problem of liver cirrhosis / R. Kumar // Indian J. Endocr. Metab. — 2018. — Vol. 22. — P. 552–559.

362. Kuntz, E. Hepatology. Textbook and Atlas / E. Kuntz, H.-D. Kuntz. — 3rd Edition. — Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag, 2008. — 937 p.

363. Kus, I. Protective effects of caffeic acid phenethyl ester (CAPE) on carbon tetrachloride-induced hepatotoxicity in rats / I. Kus, N. Colakoglu, H. Pekmez, D. Seckin, M. Ogeturk, M. Sarsilmaz // Acta Histochem. — 2004. — Vol. 106. — P. 289–297.

364. Kuwajima, M. Active hepatic glycogen synthesis from gkuconeogenic precursors despite high tissue levels of fructose 2,6-biphosphate / M. Kuwajima, M.S. Golden, J. Katz,

R.H. Unger, D.W. Foster, J.D. McGarry // J. Biol. Chem. — 1986. — Vol. 261. — P. 2632–2637.

365. Kweon, Y.O. Decreasing fibrogenesis: an immunohistochemical study of paired liver biopsies following lamivudine therapy for chronic hepatitis / Y.O. Kweon, Z.D. Goodman, J.L. Dienstag, E.R. Schiff, N.A. Brown, E. Burchardt, [et al.] // Br. J. Hepatol. — 2001. — Vol. 35. — P. 749–755.

366. LaBrecque, D. Liver regeneration: a picture emerges from the puzzle / D. LaBrecque // Am. J. Gastroenterol. — 1994. — Vol. 89(8 Suppl). — P. S86–90.

367. Lau, D.T. Resolution of chronic delta hepatitis after 12 years of interferon alfa therapy / D.T. Lau, D.E. Kleiner, Y. Park, A.M. Di Bisceglie, J.H. Hoofnagle // Gastroenterology. — 1999. — Vol. 117. — P. 1229–1233.

368. Laurson, J. Hepatocyte progenitors in man and in rodents--multiple pathways, multiple candidates / J. Laurson, C. Selden, H.J.F. Hodgson // Int. J. Exp. Pathol. — 2005. — Vol. 86(1). — P. 1–18.

369. Leary, T.S. Measurement of liver tissue oxygenation after orthotopic liver transplantation using a multiparameter sensor. A pilot study / T.S. Leary, J.R. Klinck, G. Hayman, P. Friend, N.V. Jamieson, A.K. Gupta // Anaesthesia. — 2002. — Vol. 57(11). — P. 1128–1133.

370. Lee, C.Y. Binding features of ethidium bromide and their effects on nuclease susceptibility of calf thymus DNA in presence of spermine / C.Y. Lee, H.W. Ryu, T.-S. Ko // Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. — 2001. — Vol. 22. — P. 87–89.

371. Lee, N.C.W. High expression of glycolytic genes in cirrhosis correlates with the risk of developing liver cancer / N.C.W. Lee, M.A. Carella, S. Papa, C. Bubici // Front. Cell Dev. Biol. — 2018. — Vol. 6. — Article 138.

372. Lee, S.J. Distinguishing between genotoxic and non-genotoxic hepatocarcinogens by gene expression profiling and bioinformatic pathway analysis / S.J. Lee, Y.N. Yum, S.C. Kim, Y. Kim, J. Lim, W.J. Lee, [et al.] // Sci. Rep. — 2013. — Vol. 3. — 2783.

373. Lee-Montiel, F.T. Control of oxygen tension recapitulates zone-specific functions in human liver microphysiology systems / F.T. Lee-Montiel, S.M. George, A.H. Gough, A.D. Sharma, J. Wu, R. DeBiasio, [et al.] // Exp. Biol. Med. — 2017. — Vol. 242(16). — P. 1617–1632.

374. Leevy, C.M. Observations on hepatic regeneration in man / C.M. Leevy // Adv. Int. Med. — 1967. — Vol. 13. — P. 97–126.

375. Leibowitz, J.O. Studies in the history of alcoholism. II. Acute alcoholism in ancient Greek and Roman medicine / J.O. Leibowitz // Br. J. Addict. Alcohol Other Drugs. — 1967. — Vol. 62(1). — P. 83–86.

376. Leise, M.D. Drug-induced liver injury / M.D. Leise, J.J. Poterucha, J.A. Talwalkar // Mayo Clin. Proc. — 2014. — Vol. 89(1). — P. 95–106.

377. Levene, A.P. Physiological hepatic nuclear vacuolation — how long does it persist? / A.P. Levene, R.D. Goldin // Histopathology. — 2010. — Vol. 56. — P. 426–429.

378. Levinthal, G.N. Liver disease and diabetes mellitus / G.N. Levinthal, A.S. Tavill // Clinical Diabetes. — 1999. — Vol. 17. — P. 1–20.

379. Lewis, S.F. Cardiovascular responses to exercise as functions of absolute and relative work load / S.F. Lewis, W.F. Taylor, R.M. Graham, W.A. Pettinger, J.E. Schutte, C.G. Blomqvist // J. Appl. Physiol. Respir. Environ. Exerc. Physiol. — 1983. — Vol. 54(5). — P. 1314–1324.

380. Li, C. Is liver glycogen fragility a possible drug target for diabetes? / C. Li, Z. Hu// FASEB J. — 2020. — Vol. 34(1). — P. 3–15.

381. Lillie, R.D. Histopathologic technic and practical histochemistry / R.D. Lillie. — N.Y.: McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1965. — 648 P.

382. Lin, C.-A. Hypoxic microenvironment and hepatocellular carcinoma treatment / C.-A. Lin, L.-L. Chang, H. Zhu, Q.-J. He, B. Yang // Hepatoma Res. — 2018. — Vol. 4. — P. 26–33.

383. Liozner, L.D. Regeneration of organs in mammals / L.D. Liozner. — M.: Medgiz, 1960. — 392 p. (In Russian).

384. Liu, Q. Glycogen accumulation and phase separation drives liver tumor initiation /
Q. Liu, J. Li, W. Zhang, C. Xiao, S. Zhang, C. Nian, [et al.] // Cell. — 2021. — Vol. 184(22).
— P. 5559–5576.e19.

385. Liu, X. Reversibility of liver fibrosis and inactivation of fibrogenic myofibroblasts / X. Liu, J. Xu, D.A. Brenner, T. Kisseleva // Curr. Pathobiol. Rep. — 2013. — Vol. 1(3). — P. 209–214.

386. Liu, Z. Evaluation of the redox tolerance index on hepatic energy reserve of hepatitis B patients / Z. Liu, L. Zhao, Z. Xu // Chin. Med. J. — 1996. — Vol. 109. — P. 147–150.

387. Liu, Zh. Hypoxia accelerates aggressiveness of hepatocellular carcinoma cells involving oxidative stress, epithelial-mesenchymal transition and non-canonical hedgehog signaling / Zh. Liu, K. Tu, Y. Wang, B. Yao, Q. Li, L. Wang, [et al.] // Cell Physiol. Biochem. — 2017. — Vol. 44. — P. 1856–1868.

388. Lo, S. Determination of glycogen in small tissue samples / S. Lo, J.C. Russel, A.W. Taylor // J. Appl. Physiol. — 1970. — Vol. 28. — P. 234–236.

389. Locarnini, S.A. Origins and evolution of the primate hepatitis B virus / S.A. Locarnini, M. Littlejohn, L.K.W. Yuen // In: C. Osiowy, L. Yuen (Eds.). Origin and evolution of hepatitis viruses. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA, 2021. — P. 86–102.

390. Lomako, J. Proglycogen: a low-molecular-weight from of muscle glycogen / J. Lomako, W.M. Lomako, W.J. Whelan // FEBS Lett. — 1991. — Vol. 279. — P. 223–228.

391. Lomako, J. Glycogen synthesis in the astrocyte: from glycogenin to proglycogen to glycogen / J. Lomako, W.M. Lomako, W.J. Whelan, R.S. Dombro, J.T. Neary, M.D. Norenberg // FASEB J. — 1993. — Vol. 7. — P. 1386–1393.

392. Lomako, J. Glycogenin: the primer for mammalian and yeast glycogen synthesis / J. Lomako, W.M. Lomako, W.J. Whelan // Biochim. Biophys. Acta. — 2004. — Vol. 1673. — P. 45–55.

393. Loria, P. Liver and diabetes. A vicious circle / P. Loria, A. Lonardo, F. Anania // Hepatol. Res. — 2013. — Vol. 43(1). — P. 51–64.

394. Lowes, W. Hexokinase isoenzymes in normal and cirrhotic human liver: suppression of glucokinase in cirrhosis / W. Lowes, M. Walker, K.G. Alberti, L. Agius // Biochim. Biophys. Acta. — 1998. — Vol. 1379(1). — P. 134–142.

395. Lowry, O.H. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent / O.H. Lowry, N.J. Rosenbrough, A.L. Farr, R.J. Randall // J. Biol.Chem. — 1951. — Vol. 193. — P. 265–275.

396. Lysy, P.A. Stem cells for liver tissue repair: current knowledge and perspectives /
P.A. Lysy, D. Campard, F. Smets, M. Najimi, E.M. Sokal // World J. Gastroenterol. — 2008.
— Vol. 14(6). — P. 864–875.

397. Macdonald, J.R. The improvement of CCl4-induced hepatic necrosis under posttoxical cystamine treatment / J.R. Macdonald, A.J. Gandolfi, I.G. Sipes // Toxicology. — 1986. — Vol. 39. — P.135–148.

398. Madsen, N.B. The binding of glycogen and phosphorylase / N.B. Madsen, C.F. Cori // J. Biol. Chem. — 1958. — Vol. 233. — P. 1251–1256.

399. Magnusson, I. Pathways of hepatic glycogen formation in humans following ingestion of a glucose load in the fed state / I. Magnusson, V. Chandramouli, W.C. Schumann, K. Kumaran, J. Wahren, B.R. Landau // Metabolism. — 1989. — Vol. 38(6). — P. 583–585.

400. Magnusson, I. Increased rate of gluconeogenesis in type II diabetes mellitus. A 13C nuclear magnetic resonance study / I. Magnusson, D.L. Rothman, L.D. Katz, R.G. Shulman, G.I. Shulman // J. Clin. Invest. — 1992. — Vol. 90. — P. 1323v1327.

401. Magnusson, I. Liver glycogen turnover in fed and fasted humans / I. Magnusson,
D.L. Rothman, B. Jucker, G.W. Cline, R.G. Shulman, G.I. Shulman // Am. J. Physiol. — 1994.
— Vol. 266. — P. E796–E803.

402. Malecki, M.T. Type 2 diabetes mellitus: from genes to disease / M.T. Malecki, T. Klupa // Pharmacol. Rep. — 2005. — Vol. 57. — Suppl. 20–32.

403. Malekzadeh, R. Reversibility of cirrhosis in chronic hepatitis B / R. Malekzadeh, M. Mohamadnejad, N. Rakhshani // Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. — 2004. —Vol. 2(4). — P. 344–347.

404. Malhi, H. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of liver injury / H. Malhi, G.J. Gores // Gastroenterology. — 2008. — Vol. 134(6). — P. 1641–1654.

405. Manderson, W.G. Liver glycogen accumulation in unstable diabetes / W.G. Manderson, M.T. McKiddie, D.J. Manners, J.R. Stark // Diabetes. — 1968. — Vol. 17. — P. 13–16.

406. Mangnall, D. The molecular physiology of liver regeneration following partial hepatectomy / D. Mangnall, N.C. Bird, A.W. Majeed // Liver Int. — 2003. — Vol. 23(2). — P. 124–138.

407. Marchand, I. Quantification of subcellular glycogen in resting human muscle: granule size, number, and location / I. Marchand, K. Chorneyko, M. Tarnopolsky, S. Hamilton, J. Shearer, J. Potvin, T.E. Graham // J. Appl. Physiol. (1985). — 2002. — Vol. 93(5) — P. 1598–1607.

408. Marchand, I. Quantitative assessment of human muscle glycogen granules size and number in subcellular locations during recovery from prolonged exercise / I. Marchand, M. Tarnopolsky, K.B. Adamo, J.M. Bourgeois, K. Chorneyko, T.E. Graham // J. Physiol. — 2007. — Vol. 580(Pt 2). — P. 617–628.

409. Marchesini, G. Muscle protein breakdown in liver cirrhosis and the role of altered carbohydrate metabolism / G. Marchesini, M. Zoli, A. Angiolini, C. Dondi, F.B. Bianchi, E. Pisi // Hepatology. — 1981. — Vol. 1(4). — P. 294–299.

410. Marcos, R. Design-based stereological estimation of hepatocyte number, by combining the smooth optical fractionator and immunocytochemistry with anticarcinoembryonic antigen polyclonal antibodies / R. Marcos, R.A.F. Monteiro, E. Rocha // Liver Int. — 2006. — Vol. 26(1). — P. 116–124.

411. Marshall, J.J. Application of enzymic methods to the structural analysis of polysaccharides / J.J. Marshall // Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem. — 1974. — Vol. 30. — P. 257–370.

412. Massillon, D. Quantitation of hepatic glucose fluxes and pathways of hepatic glycogen synthesis in conscious mice / D. Massillon, W. Chen, M. Hawkins, R. Liu, N. Barzilai, L. Rossetti // Am. J. Physiol. — 1995. — Vol. 269(6 Pt 1). — P. E1037–E1043.

413. Maurer, W. Quantitatives modell der regeneration der CCl4 leber der maus / W. Maurer, H. Gerhard, B. Schultze // Virchow's Arch. Abt. B. — 1973. — Vol. 14. — P. 361–371.

414. Mauss, S. Hepatology. A Clinical Textbook / S. Mauss, T. Berg, J. Rockstroh, C. Sarrazin, H. Wedemeyer. — 6th edition. — Germany: Flying publisher, 2015. — 654 P.

415. Mayatepek, E. Inborn errors of carbohydrate metabolism / E. Mayatepek, B. Hoffmann, T. Meissner // Best Pract. Res. Clin. Gastroenterol. — 2010. — Vol. 24. — P. 607–618.

416. Maytesyan, E.S. Comparative analysis of the functional activity of hepatocytes of different ploidy classes: abstract of dissertation ... candidate of biological sciences: 03.00.17 / Ervand Sanasarovich Maytesyan. — Leningrad, 1983. — 22 p. (In Russian).

417. McKeown, S.R. Defining normoxia, physoxia and hypoxia in tumoursimplications for treatment response / S.R. McKeown // Br. J. Radiol. — 2014. — Vol. 87. — 20130676. 418. Meijer, A.J. Glucose 6-phosphate compartmentation and the control of glycogen synthesis / A.J. Meijer // J. Hepatol. — 2002. — Vol. 37(3). — P. 417–418.

419. Melchiorri, C. Ploidy and nuclearity of rat hepatocytes after compensatory regeneration or mitogen-induced liver growth / C. Melchiorri, P.Chieco, A.I. Zedda, , P. Coni, G.M. Ledda-Columbano, A. Columbano // Carcinogenesis. — 1993. — Vol. 14. — P. 1825–1830.

420. Melchiorri, C. Diagnostic and prognostic value of DNA ploidy and cell nuclearity in ultrasound guided liver biopsies / C. Melchiorri, L. Bolondi, P. Chieco, M. Pagnoni, L. Gramantieri, L. Barbara // Cancer. — 1994. — Vol. 74. — P. 1713–1719.

421. Melendez, R. How did glycogen structure evolve to satisfy the requirement for rapid mobilization of glucose? A problem of physical constraints in structure building / R. Melendez, E. Melendez-Hevia, M. Cascante // J. Mol. Evol. — 1997. — Vol. 45. — P. 446–455.

422. Melendez, R. Physical constraints in the synthesis of glycogen that influence its structural homogeneity: a two-dimensional approach / R. Melendez, E. Melendez-Hevia, F. Mas, J. Mach, M. Cascante // Biophys. J. — 1998. — Vol. 75. — P. 106–114.

423. Melendez, R. The fractal structure of glycogen: a clever solution to optimize cell metabolism / R. Melendez, E. Melendez-Hevia, E.I. Canela // Biophys. J. — 1999. — Vol. 77. P. 1327–1332.

424. Melendez-Hevia, E. Optimization of molecular design in the evolution of metabolism: the glycogen molecule / E. Melendez-Hevia, T.G. Waddell, E.D. Shelton // Biochem. J. — 1993. — Vol. 295. — P. 477–483.

425. Melendez-Hevia, E. Optimization of metabolism: the evolution of metabolic pathways toward simplicity through the game of the pentose phosphate cycle / E. Melendez-Hevia, T.G. Waddell, F. Montero // J. Theor. Biol. — 1994. — Vol. 166. — P. 201–220.

426. Mera, E. Cimetidine prevents and partially reverses CCl4-induced liver cirrhosis / E. Mera, P. Muriell, C. Castillo, M. Mourrelle // J. Appl. Toxicol. — 1994. — Vol. 14. — P. 87–90.

427. Mercier, C. The fine structure of glycogen from type IV glycogen storage disease / C. Mercier, W.J. Whelan // Eur. J. Biochem. — 1970. — Vol. 16. — P. 579–583.

428. Merli, M. Splanchnic and leg exchange of free fatty acids in patients with liver cirrhosis / M. Merli, L.S. Eriksson, L. Hagenfeldt, J. Wahren // J. Hepatol. — 1986. — Vol. 3. — P. 348–355.

429. Metwally, K. Weight loss and improvement of hepatic fibrosis in Egyptian patients with chronic hepatitis C / K. Metwally, E. Abdelsameea, T. Refaat, K. Gameel, E. Roweisha // Liver Pancreat. Sci. — 2017. — Vol. 2(1). — P. 1–4.

430. Meyer, R.H. Recherches sur l'amidon V. L'amilopectine / R.H. Meyer, P. Bernfeld // Helv. Chim. Acta. — 1940. — Vol. 23. — P. 875–885.

431. Michalopoulos, G.K. Liver regeneration: molecular mechanisms of growth control / G.K. Michalopoulos // FASEB J. — 1990. — Vol. 4(2). — P. 176–187.

432. Middleton, P. Mitochondrial dysfunction and liver disease: role, relevance, and potential for therapeutic modulation / P. Middleton, N. Vergis // Therap. Adv. Gastroenterol. — 2021. —Vol. 14. — Article 17562848211031394.

433. Minassian, C. Regulatory role of glucose-6-phosphatase in the repletion of the liver glycogen during refeeding in fasted rats / Minassian C., Montano S., Mithieux G. // Biochim. Biophys. Acta. — 1999. — Vol. 1452(2). — P. 172–178.

434. Mion, F. Carbon tetrachloride-induced cirrhosis in rats: influence of the acute effects of the toxin on glucose metabolism / F. Mion, A. Galoun, E. Agosto, Y. Minaire // Hepatology. — 1996. — Vol. 23(3). — P. 582–588.

435. Mirdamadi, E.S. Liver tissue engineering as an emerging alternative for liver disease treatment / E.S. Mirdamadi, D. Kalhori, N. Zakeri, N. Azarpira, M. Solati-Hashjin // Tissue Eng. Part B Rev. — 2020. — Vol. 26(2). — P. 145v163.

436. Mithieux, G. A novel role for glucose 6-phosphatase in the small intestine in the control of glucose homeostasis / G. Mithieux, F. Rajas, A. Gautier-Stein // J. Biol. Chem. — 2004. — Vol. 279. — P. 44231–44234.

437. Mithieux, G. Intestinal glucose metabolism revisited / G. Mithieux, A. Gautier-Stein // Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract. — 2014. — Vol. 105. — P. 295–301.

438. Mlekusch, W. Plasma concentration of glucose, corticosterone, glucago and insulin and liver content of metabolic substrates and enzymes during starvation and additional hypoxia in tha rat / W. Mlekusch, B. Paletta, W. Truppe, E. Paschke, R. Grimus // Horm. Metab. Res. — 1981. — Vol. 13. — P. 612–614.

439. Mokdad, A.A. Liver cirrhosis mortality in 187 countries between 1980 and 2010: a systematic analysis / A.A. Mokdad, A.D. Lopez, S. Shahraz, R. Lozano, A.H. Mokdad, J. Stanaway, [et al.] // BMC Med. — 2014. — Vol. 12. — P. 145.

440. Monoszon, I.A. Study of reparative regeneration and reversibility of the pathological state of the cirrhotic liver of rats with different degrees of development of cirrhosis after different volumes of liver resection: abstract of dissertation ... candidate of biological sciences / I.A. Monoszon. — Gorky, 1968. — 24 p. (In Russian).

441. Moore, M.C. Regulation of hepatic glucose uptake and storage in vivo / M.C.
Moore, K.C. Coate, J.J. Winnick, Z. An, A.D. Cherrington // Adv. Nutr. — 2012. — Vol. 3(3).
— P. 286–294.

442. Moses, S.W. Glycogen metabolism in the normal red blood cell / S.W. Moses, N. Bashan, A. Gutman // Blood. — 1972. — Vol. 40. — P. 836–843.

443. Mota-Rojas, D. Foetal and neonatal energy metabolism in pigs and human: a review / D. Mota-Rojas, H. Orozco-Gregorio, D. Villanueva-Garcia, H. Bonilla-Jaime, X. Suarez-Bonilla, R. Hernandez-Gonzalez, [et al.] // Vet. Med. — 2011. — Vol. 56. — P. 215–225.

444. Moysyuk, Ya.G. Liver transplantation in the Moscow region: regional project and implementation / Ya.G. Moysyuk, Yu.O. Malinovskaya, L.V. Belskikh, P.O. Bogomolov, A.I. Lobakov, A.A. Ammosov, [et al.] // Almanac of Clinical Medicine. — 2018. — Vol. 46(6). — P. 572–583. (In Russian).

445. Muller, M.J. Mechanism of insulin resistance associated with liver cirrhosis / M.J.
Müller, O. Willmann, A. Rieger, A. Fenk, O. Selberg, H.U. Lautz, [et al.] // Gastroenterology.
— 1992. — Vol. 102. — P. 2033–2041.

446. Muraca, M. The future of stem cells in liver diseases / M. Muraca, G. Galbiati, M.T. Vilei, A.S. Fabricio, M. Caruso // Ann. Hepatol. — 2006. — Vol. 5(2). — P. 68–76.

447. Nadal, C. Poliploidie somatique dans le foie du rat / C. Nadal, F. Zaidela // Exper. Cell Res. — 1966. — Vol. 42. — P. 99–116.

448. Nadalin, S. Volumetric and functional recovery of the liver after right hepatectomy for living donation / S. Nadalin, G. Testa, M. Malagó, M. Beste, A. Frilling, T. Schroeder, [et al.] // Liver Transpl. — 2004. — Vol. 10(8). — P. 1024–1029.

449. Nakamura, L.K. Bacillus pulvifaciens sp. nov., nom. rev. / L.K. Nakamura // Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. —1984. — Vol. 34(4). — P. 410–413.

450. Nakamura, M. Handbook of starch science / M. Nakamura. — Tokyo: Asakurashoten, 1977. — 18 p.

451. Napoli, R. Indirect pathway of liver glycogen synthesis in humans is predominant and independent of beta-adrenergic mechanisms / R. Napoli, B. Capaldo, A. Picardi, F. Piscione, M.C. Bigazzi, C. D'Ascia, L. Saccà // Clin. Physiol. — 1992. — Vol. 12(6). — P. 641–652.

452. Naumov, N.V. Hepatitis C virus infection in the development of hepatocellular carcinoma in cirrhosis / N.V. Naumov // J.Hepatol. — 1997. — Vol. 27(2). — P. 130–135.

453. Nelson, D. Lehninger's Fundamentals of Biochemistry. Bioenergetics and metabolism / D. Nelson, M. Cox. — M.: Binom, 2012. — Vol. 2. — 640 p. (In Russian).

454. Newgard, C.B. Studies on the mechanism by which exogenous glucose is converted into liver glycogen in the rat. A direct or indirect pathway? / C.B. Newgard, S.U. Moore, D.W. Foster, J.D. McGarry // J. Biol. Chem. — 1983. — Vol. 258. — P. 8046–8050.

455. Newgard, C.B. Evidence for suppression of hepatic glucose-6-phosphatase with carbohydrate feeding / C.B. Newgard, D.W. Foster, J.D. McGarry // Diabetes. — 1984. — Vol. 33. — P. 192–195.

456. Newsholme, E.A. Regulation in metabolism / E.A. Newsholme, C. Start. — London, New York, Sydney, Toronto: John Wiley&Sons, 1975. — 349 p.

457. Newsholme, E.A. Role of the liver in integration of fat and carbohydrate metabolism and clinical implications in patients with liver disease / E.A. Newsholme // Prog. Liver. Dis. — 1976. — Vol. 5. — P. 125–135.

458. Nielsen, J. Subcellular localization-dependent decrements in skeletal muscle glycogen and mitochondria content following short-term disuse in young and old men / J. Nielsen, C. Suetta, L.C. Hvid, H.D. Schroder, P. Aagaard, N. Ortenblad // Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. — 2010. — Vol. 299. — P. E1053–E1060.

459. Niemeyer, H. Adaptive character of liver glucokinase / H. Niemeyer, T. Ureta, L. Clark-Turri // Mol. Cell Biochem. — 1975. — Vol. 6(2). — P. 109–126.

460. Niewoehner, C.B. Metabolic effects of oral glucose in the liver of fasted rats / C.B. Niewoehner, D.P. Gilboe, F.Q. Nuttall // Amer. J. Physiol. — 1984. — Vol. 246. — P. E89–E94.

461. Niewoehner C.B. Mechanism of stimulation of liver glycogen synthesis by fructose in alloxan diabetic rats / C.B. Niewoehner, F.Q. Nuttall // Diabetes. — 1986. — Vol. 35. — P. 705–711.

462. Niewoehner, C.B. Relationship of hepatic glucose uptake to intrahepatic glucose concentration in fasted rats after glucose load / C.B. Niewoehner, F.Q. Nuttall // Diabetes. — 1988. — Vol. 37. — P. 1559–1566.

463. Nikolova, P. Wine as a medicine in ancient times / P. Nikolova, Z. Stoyanov, D. Doncheva, S. Trendafilova // Scripta Scientifica Pharmaceutica. — 2018. — Vol. 5(2). — P. 14–21.

464. Nilsson, L.H. Liver glycogen content in man in the postabsorptive state / L.H. Nilsson // Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. — 1973. — Vol. 32(4). — P. 317–323.

465. Nishida, T. Diagnosis and clinical implications of diabetes in liver cirrhosis: a focus on the oral glucose tolerance test / T. Nishida // J. Endocr. Soc. — 2017. — Vol. 1(7). — P. 886–896.

466. Nishikawa, T. A switch in the source of ATP production and a loss in capacity to perform glycolysis are hallmarks of hepatocyte failure in advance liver disease / T. Nishikawa, N. Bellance, A. Damm, H. Bing, Z. Zhu, K. Handa, [et al.] // J. Hepatol. — 2014. — Vol. 60(6). — P. 1203–1211.

467. Nordlie, R.C. Evidence for the common identity of glucose 6-phosphatase, inorganic pyrophosphatase, and pyrophosphate-glucose phosphotransferase / R.C. Nordlie, W.J. Arion // J. Biol. Chem. — 1964. — Vol. 239. — P. 1680–1685.

468. Nordlie, R.C. Stimulation by polyamines of carbamylphosphate: glucose phosphohydrolase activities of multifunctional glucose-6-phosphatase / R.C. Nordlie, T.W. Johnson, W.E. Cornatzer, G.W. Twedell // Biochem. Biophys. Acta. — 1979. — Vol. 585. — P. 2–23.

469. Noureddin, M. NASH cirrhosis trials and major adverse liver outcomes: Big data needed / M. Noureddin, S.A. Harrison / J. Hepatol. — 2023. — Vol. 78. — P. 5–7.

470. Novikova, T.E. Changes in albumin content in hepatocytes in vitro / T.E. Novikova, A.Yu. Borovkov // Tsitologiya. — 1987. — Vol. 29. — P. 236–239. (In Russian).

471. Nuttall, F.Q. Regulation of hepatic glucose production and the role of gluconeogenesis in humans: is the rate of gluconeogenesis constant? / F.Q. Nuttall, A. Ngo, M.C. Gannon // Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev. — 2008. — Vol. 24(6). — P. 438–458.

472. O'Doherty, R.M. Differential metabolic effects of adenovirus-mediated glucokinase and hexokinase I overexpression in rat primary hepatocytes / R.M. O'Doherty, D.L. Lehman, J. Seoane, A.M. Gómez-Foix, J.J. Guinovart, C.B. Newgard // J. Biol. Chem. — 1996. — Vol. 271(34). — P. 20524–20530.

473. Obel, L.F. Brain glycogen-new perspective on its metabolic function and regulation at the subcellular level / L.F. Obel, M.S. Muller, A.B. Walls, H.M. Sickmann, L.K. Bak, H.S. Waagepetersen, A. Schousboe // Front Neuroenergetics. — 2012. — Vol. 4. — Article number: 3.

474. Ogurtsova, K. IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global estimates for the prevalence of diabetes for 2015 and 2040 / K. Ogurtsova, J.D. da Rocha Fernandes, Y. Huang, U. Linnenkamp, L. Guariguata, N.H. Cho, [et al.] // Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract. — 2017. — Vol. 128. — P. 40–50.

475. Ohyashiki, T. Contribution of peroxidation products to oxidative inactivation of rat liver microsomal glucose-6-phosphatase / T. Ohyashiki, K. Kamata, M. Takeuchi, K. Matsui // J. Biochem. — 1995. — Vol. 118. — P. 508–514.

476. Okazaki, I. Formation of liver fibrosis to cirrhosis from the aspect of collagen degradation / I. Okazaki, K. Maruyama // Exp. Pathol. — 1985. — Vol. 28. — P. 137–138.

477. Okovity, S.V. Protein synthetic and immune mechanisms of protective and reparative effects of hepatotropic drugs: dissertation ... candidate of medical sciences: 14.00.25 / Sergey Vladimirovich Okovity. — St. Petersburg, 1995. — 195 pages. (In Russian).

478. Okovity, S.V. Studying the hepatoprotector effect of bemithyl on a model of chronic toxic liver damage / S.V. Okovity, N.N. Bezborodkina, I.V. Zarubina, O.P. Mironova, B.N. Kudryavtsev, S.N. Shulenin // Experimental and clinical pharmacology. — 2006. — Vol. 69(2). — P. 52–54. (In Russian).

479. Okovity, S.V. New protective effect of simvastatin in rats with experimental steatohepatitis / S.V. Okovity, A.V. Arkadyeva, N.N. Bezborodkina, G.A. Sakuta, M.YU. Yaroslavtsev, S.N. Shulenin, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Experimental and clinical pharmacology. — 2007. — Vol. 70(3). — P. 43–45. (In Russian).

480. Okovity, S.V. Hepatoprotectors / S.V. Okovity, N.N. Bezborodkina, S.G. Uleychik, S.N. Shulenin. — M.: GEOTAR-Media, 2010. — 112 p. (In Russian).

481. Okovity, S.V. Hepatoprotectors: a guide for doctors. 2nd ed., revised and additional / S.V. Okovity, V.A. Prikhodko, N.N. Bezborodkina, B.N. Kudryavtsev. — M.: GEOTAR-Media, 2022. — 240 p. (In Russian).

482. Olevskaya, E.R. Comorbidity of patients with liver cirrhosis: influence on the course and outcomes / E.R. Olevskaya, A.I. Dolgushina, A.N. Tarasov, A.O. Khikhlova // Experimental and clinical gastroenterology. — 2018. — Vol. 157(9). — P. 57–63. (In Russian).

483. Onghena, L. Quality of life after liver transplantation: State of the art / L. Onghena, W. Develtere, C. Poppe, A. Geerts, R. Troisi, A. Vanlander, [et al.] // World J. Hepatol. — 2016. — Vol. 8(18). — P. 749–756.

484. Onori, P. Hepatic microvascular features in experimental cirrhosis: a structural and morphometrical study in CCl₄-treated rats / P. Onori, S. Morini, A. Franchitto, R. Sferra, D. Alvaro, E. Gaudio // J. Hepatol. — 2000. — Vol. 33. — P. 555–563.

485. Orrell, S.A. A comparison of products obtained by various procedures used for the extraction of glycogen / S.A. Orrell, E. Bueding // J. Biol. Chem. — 1964. — Vol. 239. — P. 4021–4026.

486. Ottensen, B.V. Age dependence of the median duration of the mitotic cycle and the time for duplication of the hepatocyte number in ontogeny and in liver regeneration / B.V. Ottensen, V.A. Konyshev, N.N. Pyatnitsky // Ontogenesis. — 1980. — Vol. 11. — P. 257–271. (In Russian).

487. Otto, M. Metformin inhibits glycogen synthesis and gluconeogenesis in cultured rat hepatocytes / M. Otto, J. Breinholt, N. Westergaard // Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism.
— 2003. — Vol. 5. — P. 189–194.

488. Owen, O.E. Hepatic, gut and renal substrate flux in patients with hepatic cirrhosis / O.E. Owen, F.A. Reichle, M.A. Mazzoli, I. Kreulen // J. Clin. Invest. — 1981. — Vol. 68. — P. 240–252.

489. Owen O.E. Nature and quantity of fuels consumed in patients with alcoholic cirrhosis / O.E. Owen, V.E. Trapp, G.A. Reichard, M.A. Mozzoli, J. Moctezuma, P. Paul, [et al.] // J. Clin. Invest. — 1983. — Vol. 72. — P. 1821–1832.

490. Ozen, H. Glycogen storage diseases: new perspectives / H. Ozen // World. J. Gastroenterol. — 2007. — Vol. 13. — P. 2541–2553.

491. Panserat, S. Nutritional regulation of glucokinase: a cross-species story / S. Panserat, N. Rideau, S. Polakof // Nutr. Res. Rev. — 2014. — Vol. 27. — P. 21–47.

492. Parsons, A.B. Integration of chemical-genetic and genetic interaction data links bioactive compounds to cellular target pathways / A.B. Parsons, R.L. Brost, H. Ding, Z. Li, C. Zhang, B. Sheikh, [et al.] // Nature Biotechnology. — 2004. — Vol. 22(1). — P. 62–69.

493. Patel, M. Does providing routine liver volume assessment add value when performing CT surveillance in cirrhotic patients? / M. Patel, P. Puangsricharoen, H.M.S. Arshad, S. Garrison, W. Techasatian, M. Ghabril, [et al.] // Abdom. Radiol. (NY). — 2019. — Vol. 44(10). — P. 3263–3272.

494. Patterson, M. Residual diploidy in polyploid tissues: a cellular state with enhanced proliferative capacity for tissue regeneration? / M. Patterson, S.K. Swift // Stem Cells Dev. — 2019. — Vol. 28(23). — P. 1527–1539.

495. Pautsch, A. Molecular recognition of the protein phosphatase 1 glycogen targeting subunit by glycogen phosphorylase / A. Pautsch, N. Stadler, O. Wissdorf, E. Langkopf, W. Moreth, R. Streicher // J. Biol. Chem. — 2008. — Vol. 283. — P. 8913–8918.

496. Pellegrino, C. A quantitative cytochemical and physiological study of the rat adrenal cortex in hypertrophy after unilateral adrenalectomy / C. Pellegrino, P.D. Ricci, R. Tongiani // Exp. Cell Res. — 1963. — Vol. 31. — P. 167–182.

497. Perdigoto, R. Sources of glucose production in cirrhosis by 2H2O ingestion and 2H NMR analysis of plasma glucose / R. Perdigoto, A.L. Furtado, A. Porto // Biochim. Biophys. Acta. — 2003. Vol. 1637(2). — P. 156–163.

498. Perez, N. Regulation of rat liver enzymes by natural components of the diet / N. Perez, L. Clark-Turri, E. Rabajille, H. Niemeyer // J. Biol. Chem. — 1964. — Vol. 239(8). — P. 2420–2426.

499. Peters, R. Die Mitoseaktivitat in der regenerierenden leber von ratten in abhangigkeit von der aussentemperatur / R. Peters // Z. Naturforsch. — 1962. — Vol. 176. — P. 169–183.

500. Petersen K.F. Contributions of net hepatic glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis to glucose production in cirrhosis / K.F. Petersen, M. Krssak, V. Navarro, V. Chandramouli, R. Hundal, W.C. Schumann, [et al.] // Am. J. Physiol. — 1999. — Vol. 276. — P. E529–E535.

501. Petersen, M.C. Regulation of hepatic glucose metabolism in health and disease / M.C. Petersen, D.F. Vatner, G.I. Shulman // Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. — 2017. — Vol. 13(10). — P. 572–587.

502. Petrides, A.S. Glucose and insulin metabolism in cirrhosis / A.S. Petrides, R.A. DeFronzo // J. Hepatol. — 1989. — Vol. 8(1). — P. 107–114.

503. Petrides, A.S. Pathogenesis of glucose intolerance and diabetes mellitus in cirrhosis / A.S. Petrides, C. Vong, D. Schulze-Berge, D. Matthews, G. Strohmeyer // Hepatology. — 1994. — Vol. 19. — P. 616–627.

504. Pieniazek, D. Glikogenoza typu VI i VIa / D. Pieniazek, E. Pronicka, B. Cabalska, J. Pawlovska // Pediat. Pol. — 1985. — Vol. 60. — P. 489–496.

505. Piscaglia, A.C. Stem cell-based therapies for liver diseases: state of the art and new perspectives / A.C. Piscaglia, M. Campanale, A. Gasbarrini, G. Gasbarrini // Stem Cells Int. — 2010. — Vol. 2010. — Article 259461.

506. Piston, D.W. Fluorescent protein FRET: the good, the bad and the ugly / D.W. Piston, G.J. Kremers // Trends Biochem. Sci. — 2007. — Vol. 32. — P. 407–414.

507. Planaguma, A. The selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor SC-236 reduces liver fibrosis by mechanisms involving nonparenchymal cell apoptosis and PPARgamma activation / A. Planaguma, J. Claria, R. Miquel, M. López-Parra, E. Titos, J.L. Masferrer, [et al.] // FASEB J. — 2005. — Vol. 19. — P. 1120–1122.

508. Plotnikov, M.B. Antihypoxic and antioxidant properties of bemithyl / M.B. Plotnikov, A.S. Saratikov, T.N. Plotnikova, V.A. Khazanov, O.P. Panina, E.A. Kobzeva, [et al.] // Bull. Exp. Biol. Med. — 1989. — Vol. 107(5). — P. 583–585. (In Russian).

509. Podymova, S.D. Liver diseases. Guide for doctors / S.D. Podymova. — M.: Medicine, 1999. — 704 p. (In Russian).

510. Polakof, S. Glucosensing and glucose homeostasis: from fish to mammals / S. Polakof, T.P. Mommsen, J.L. Soengas // Comp. Biochem. Physiol. — 2011. — Vol. 160B. — P. 123–149.

511. Popper, H. Zur kenntnis des glykogengehaltes der leichenleber / H. Popper, O. Wozasek // Virchows Arch. A. Pathol. Anat. Histopathol. — 1931. — Vol. 279. — P. 819–868.

512. Powell, L.W. Reversal of "cirrhosis" in idiopathic haemochromatosis following long-term intensive venesection therapy / L.W. Powell, J.F. Kerr // Australas Ann. Med. — 1970. — Vol. 19. — P. 54–57.

513. Poynard, T. Impact of pegylated interferon alfa-2b and ribavirin on liver fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C / T. Poynard, J. McHutchison, M. Manns, C. Trepo, K. Lindsay, Z. Goodman, [et al.] // Gastroenterology. — 2002. — Vol. 122(5). — P. 1303–1313.

514. Poyton, R.O. Mitochondrial generation of free radicals and hypoxic signaling / R.O. Poyton, K.A. Ball, P.R. Castello // Trends Endocrinol. Metab. — 2009. — Vol. 20(7). — P. 332–340.

515. Prats, C. Dual regulation of muscle glycogen synthase during exercise by activation and compartmentalization / C. Prats, J.W. Helge, P. Nordby, K. Qvortrup, T. Ploug, F. Dela, J.F.P. Wojtaszewski // J. Biol. Chem. — 2009. — Vol. 284. — P. 15692–15700.

516. Prieto, I. ROS homeostasis, a key determinant in liver ischemic-preconditioning / I. Prieto, M. Monsalve // Redox. Biol. — 2017. — Vol. 12. — P. 1020–1025.

517. Prikhodko, V.A. Pharmacotherapy for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: emerging targets and drug candidates / V.A. Prikhodko, N.N. Bezborodkina, S.V. Okovity // Biomedicines. — 2022. — Vol. 10. — Article 274.

518. Prins, D.A. Chemistry of the carbohydrates / D.A. Prins, R.W. Jeanlos // Annu. Rev. Biochem. — 1948. — Vol. 17. — P. 67–96.

519. Prothero, J. Organ scaling in mammals: the liver / J. Prothero // Comp. Biochem. Physiol. — 1982. — Vol. 71A. — P. 567–577.

520. Przybylski, W. Glycogen metabolism in muscle and its effects on meal quality in pigs — a mini review / W. Przybylski, G. Monin, M. Kocwin-Podsiadla, E. Krzecio // Pol. J. Food Nutr. Sci. — 2006. — Vol. 56(3). — P. 257–262.

521. Qian, Y. The glycogen synthase 2 gene (Gys2) displays parallel evolution between Old World and New World fruit bats / Y. Qian, T. Fang, B. Shen, S. Zhang // J. Mol. Evol. — 2014. — Vol. 78. — P. 66–74.

522. Rajas, F. The glucose-6 phosphatase gene is expressed in human and rat small intestine: regulation of expression in fasted and diabetic rats / F. Rajas, N. Bruni, S. Montano, C. Zitoun, G. Mithieux // Gastroenterology. — 1999. —Vol. 117. — P. 132v139.

523. Ramachandran, P. Reversibility of liver fibrosis / P. Ramachandran, J.P. Iredale // Ann. Hepatol. — 2009. Vol. 8(4). — P. 283–291.

524. Rappaport A.M. The acinus-microvascular unit of the liver / A.M. Rappaport // In: W. Wayne Lautt (Ed.). Hepatic circulation in health and disease. N.Y.: Raven Press, 1981. — P. 175–192.

525. Rasineni, K. Contrasting effects of fasting on liver-adipose axis in alcoholassociated and non-alcoholic fatty liver / K. Rasineni, C.W. Jordan, P.G. Thomes, J.L. Kubik, E.M. Staab, S.A. Sweeney, [et al.] // Front Physiol. — 2021. — Vol. 12. — 625352.

526. Rath, V.L. Activation of human liver glycogen phosphorylase by alteration of the secondary structure and packing of the catalytic core / V.L. Rath, M. Ammirati, P.K. LeMotte, K.F. Fennell, M.N. Mansour, D.E. Danley, [et al.] // Mol. Cell. — 2000. — Vol. 6. — P. 139–148.

527. Reczek, P.R. A purification of microsomal glucose-6-phosphatase from human tissue / P.R. Reczek, C.A. Villee Jr. // Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. — 1982. — Vol. 107 — P. 1158–1165.

528. Reichen, J. Aminopyrine N-Demethilation by rats with liver cirrhosis / J. Reichen, F. Arts, U. Schafroth, A. Zimmermann, B. Zeltner, T. Zysset // Gastroenterology. — 1987. — Vol. 93. — P. 719–726.

529. Reichle, F.A. Hepatic metabolism in patients with alcoholic cirrhosis / F.A. Reichle, O.E. Owen, M. Golsorkhi, T. Kreulen // Surgery. — 1978. — Vol. 84. — P. 33–36.

530. Reinke, H. Circadian clock control of liver metabolic functions / H. Reinke, G. Asher // Gastroenterology. — 2016. — Vol. 150(3). — P. 574–580.

531. Reith, A. The inner membrane of mitochondria under influence of triiodothyronine and riboflavin deficiency in rat heart muscle and liver: a quantitative electronmicroscopical and biochemical study / A. Reith, D. Brdiczka, J. Nolte, H.W. Staudte // Exp. Cell. Res. — 1973. — Vol. 77. — P. 1–14.

532. Reyes, A. All hexokinase isoenzymes coexist in rat hepatocytes / A. Reyes, M.L. Cardenas // Biochem. J. — 1984. — Vol. 221(2). — P. 303–309.

533. Riggio, O. Impaired nonoxidative glucose metabolism in patients with liver cirrhosis: effects of two insulin doses / O. Riggio, M. Merli, F. Leonetti, P. Giovannetti, M. Foniciello, S. Folino, [et al.] // Metabolism. — 1997. — Vol. 46. — P. 840–843.

534. Roach, P.J. The endocrine pancreas and regulation of metabolism / P.J. Roach, A.V. Skurat, R.A. Harris // In: L.S. Jefferson, A.D. Cherrington (Eds.). Handbook of physiology. Section 7. The endocrine system. — Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2001. — Vol. 2. — P. 609–647.

535. Roach, P.J. Glycogen and its metabolism / P.J. Roach // Curr. Mol. Med. — 2002. — Vol. 2. — P. 101–120. 536. Roach, P.J. Glycogen and its metabolism: some new development and old themes / P.J. Roach, A.A. Depaoli-Roach, T.D. Hurley, V.S. Tagliabracci // Biochem. J. — 2012. — Vol. 441. — P. 763–787.

537. Roberts, M.S. Survival after liver transplantation in the United States: a diseasespecific analysis of the UNOS database / M.S. Roberts, D.C. Angus, C.L. Bryce, Z. Valenta, L. Weissfeld // Liver Transpl. — 2004. — Vol. 10(7). — P. 886–897.

538. Roderfeld, M. Inhibition of hepatic fibrogenesis by matrix metalloproteinase-9 mutants in mice / M. Roderfeld, R. Weiskirchen, S. Wagner, M.-L. Berres, C. Henkel, J. Grötzinger, [et al.] // The FASEB Journal. — 2006. — Vol. 20(3). — P. 444–454.

539. Rodwell, V.W. Harper's Illustrated Biochemistry, 30th Edition / V.W. Rodwell, D.A. Bender, K.M. Botham, P.J. Kennelly, P.A. Weil. — N.Y.: McGraw-Hill, 2015. — 817 p.

540. Roesler, W.J. Hepatic glycogen metabolism in the db/db mouse / W.J. Roesler, S. Pugazhenthi, R.L. Khandelwal // Mol. Cell Biochem. — 1990. — Vol. 92. — P. 99–106.

541. Rogers, A.B. Hepatobiliary system / A.B. Rogers, R.Z. Dintzis // In: P.M. Treuting, S.M. Dintzis, K.S. Montine (Eds). Comparative anatomy and histology: a mouse, rat, and humanatlas, 2nd edition. — London, U.K.: Academic press an imprint of Elsevier, 2018. — P. 229–240.

542. Rognstad, R. Glucose-6-phosphatase flux and the hepatic glucose balance model / R. Rognstad // Am. J. Physiol. — 1996. — Vol. 271(6 Pt 1). — P. E1125–E1127.

543. Rojas, J.M. Control of hepatic glucose metabolism by islet and brain / J.M. Rojas, M.W. Schwartz // Diabetes Obes. Metab. — 2014. — Vol. 1. — P. 33–40.

544. Romanova, L.A. Determination of lipid hydroperoxides using ammonium thiocyanate / L.A. Romanova, I.D. Stalnaya // In: V.N. Orekhovich (Ed.). Modern methods in biochemistry. — M.: Medicine, 1977. — P. 64–66. (In Russian).

545. Romert, P. Histological evaluation of the zonation of colloidal gold uptake by the rat liver / P. Romert, B. Quistorff, O. Bhenke // Tissue Cell. — 1993. — Vol. 25. — P. 19–32.

546. Roncero, I. Glucokinase and glucokinase regulatory proteins are functionally coexpressed before birth in the rat brain / I. Roncero, C. Sanz, E. Alvarez, P. Vázquez, P.A. Barrio, E. Blázquez // J. Neuroendocrinol. — 2009. — Vol. 21. — P. 973–981.

547. Rosenfeld, E.L. Congenital disorders of glycogen metabolism / E.L. Rosenfeld, I.A. Popova. — M.: Medicine, 1989. — 240 p. (In Russian).

548. Rossetti, F. Extracorporeal photochemotherapy for the treatment of graft-versushost disease / F. Rossetti, R. Dall'Amico, G. Crovetti, C. Messina, G. Montini, G. Dini, [et al.] // Bone Marrow Transplant. — 1996. — Vol. 18(2). — P. 175–181.

549. Rossetti, L. Mechanism by which hyperglycemia inhibits hepatic glucose production in conscious rats. Implications for the pathophysiology of fasting hyperglycemia in diabetes / L. Rossetti, A. Giaccari, N. Barzilai, K. Howard, G. Sebel, M. Hu // J. Clin. Invest. — 1993. — Vol. 92(3). — P. 1126–1134.

550. Rothman, D.L. Quantitation of hepatic glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis in fasting humans with 13C NMR / D.L. Rothman, I. Magnusson, L.D. Katz, R.G. Shulman, G.I. Shulman // Science. — 1991. — Vol. 254. — P. 573–576.

551. Rousset, Y. Stochastic modelling of a three-dimensional glycogen granule synthesis and impact of the branching enzyme / Y. Rousset, O. Ebenhöh, A. Raguin // bioRxiv — 2022.10.31.514469. — 2022. — Available at: https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/2022.10.31.514469v1.full (accessed 28.07.2023).

552. Rozanov, Yu.M. Method of fluorescent cytophotometry for quantitative determination of DNA / Yu.M. Rozanov, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 1967. — Vol. 9(3). — P. 361–368. (In Russian).

553. Ruderman, N.B. Gluconeogenesis and its disorders in man / N.B. Ruderman, T.T. Aoki, G.F. Cahill // In: R.W. Hanson, M.A. Mehlman (Eds.). Gluconeogenesis: its regulation in mammalian species. — N.Y.: John Wiley and Sons, 1976. — P. 515–532.

554. Rui, L. Energy metabolism in the liver / L. Rui // Compr. Physiol. — 2014. — Vol. 4(1). — P. 177–197.

555. Ruohonen, S.T. Transgenic mice overexpressing neuropeptide Y in noradrenergic neurons: a novel model of increased adiposity and impaired glucose tolerance / S.T. Ruohonen, U. Pesonen, N. Moritz, K. Kaipio, M. Röyttä, M. Koulu, E. Savontaus // Diabetes. — 2008. — Vol. 57(6). — P. 1517–1525.

556. Ryabinina, Z.A. Polyploidy and cell hypertrophy in the processes of growth and recovery / Z.A. Ryabinina, V.A. Benyush. — M.: Medicine, 1973. — 207 p. (In Russian).

557. Rybicka, K.K. Glycosomes — the organelles of glycogen metabolism / K.K. Rybicka // Tissue Cell. — 1996. — Vol. 28. — P. 253–265.

558. Sajja, K.C. Age and ethnicity in cirrhosis / K.C. Sajja, D.P. Mohan, D.C. Rockey // J. Investig. Med. — 2014. — Vol. 62(7). — P. 920–926. 559. Sakuta, G.A. Cellular mechanisms of regeneration of cirrhotic rat liver. I. The relationship between the processes of proliferation, polyploidization and cell hypertrophy after the cessation of chronic exposure to CCl_4 / G.A. Sakuta, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 1996. — Vol. 38. — P. 1158–1171. (In Russian).

560. Sakuta, G.A. Cellular mechanisms of regeneration of cirrhotic rat liver. II. The influence of partial hepatectomy on proliferation, polyploidization and hypertrophy of hepatocytes / G.A. Sakuta, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 2005. — Vol. 47. — P. 379–387. (In Russian).

561. Santos, N.P. Animal models as a tool in hepatocellular carcinoma research: A Review / N.P. Santos, A.A. Colaço, P.A. Oliveira // Tumour Biol. — 2017. — Vol. 39(3). — 1010428317695923.

562. Sarkisov, D.S. Ways to restore a cirrhotic liver / D.S. Sarkisov, L.G. Rubetskoy.
M.: Medicine, 1965. — 138 p. (In Russian).

563. Sarkisov, D.S. Regeneration and its clinical significance / D.S. Sarkisov. — M.: Medicine, 1970. — 284 p. (In Russian).

564. Sarkisov, D.S. A few comments about the article by L.D. Liozner "On the regeneration of pathologically altered organs" / D.S. Sarkisov // Arch. pathol. — 1974. — Vol. 36. — P.70–72. (In Russian).

565. Sarkisov, D.S. On the influence of the rhythm of action of a damaging agent on the nature of reparative regeneration of the liver / D.S. Sarkisov, A.A. Paltsyn, I.V. Popova, A.K. Badikova, B.V. Vtyurina // Arch. pathol. — 1975. — Vol. 37. — P. 80–87. (In Russian).

566. Sarkisov, D.S. Structural foundations of adaptation and compensation for impaired functions / D.S. Sarkisov. — M.: Medicine, 1987. — 446 p. (In Russian).

567. Sarkisov, D.S. General human pathology / D.S. Sarkisov, M.A. Paltsev, N.N. Khitrov. — M.: Medicine, 1995. — 270 p. (In Russian).

568. Sasse, D. Liver architecture / D. Sasse, U.M. Spornitz, I.P. Maly // Enzyme. — 1992. — Vol. 46. — P. 8–32.

569. Scaglione, S. The epidemiology of cirrhosis in the United States: A populationbased study / S. Scaglione, S. Kliethermes, G. Cao, D. Shoham, R. Durazo, A. Luke, M.L. Volk // J. Clin. Gastroenterol. — 2015. — Vol. 49(8), — P. 690–696.

570. Schliess, F. Cell volume and insulin signaling / F. Schliess, D. Häussinger // Int. Rev. Cytol. — 2003. — Vol. 225. — P. 187–228. 571. Schmidt, U. Liver cell heterogeneity. The distribution of fructose-bisphosphatase in fed and fasted rats and in man / U. Schmidt, H. Schmid, W. Guder // Hoppe-Seylers Z. Phisiol. Chem. — 1978. — Vol. 359. — P. 193–198.

572. Schmidt-Nielsen, K. Why is animal size so important? / K. Schmidt-Nielsen. — M.: Mir, 1987. — 259 p. (In Russian).

573. Schneeweiss, B. Energy metabolism in patients with acute and chronic liver disease / B. Schneeweiss, W. Graninger, P. Ferenci, S. Eichinger, G. Grimm, B. Schneider, [et al.] // Hepatology. — 1990. — Vol. 11(3). — P. 387–393.

574. Schneiter, P. Hepatic nonoxidative disposal of an oral glucose meal in patients with liver cirrhosis / P. Schneiter, M. Gillet, R. Chiolero, E. Jéquier, L. Tappy // Metabolism. — 1999. — Vol. 48. — P. 1260–1266.

575. Schofield, Z. Changes in human hepatic metabolism in steatosis and cirrhosis / Z. Schofield, M.A. Reed, P.N. Newsome, D.H. Adams, U.L. Günther, P.F. Lalor // World J. Gastroenterol. — 2017. — Vol. 23(15). — P. 2685–2695.

576. Schuppan, D. Liver cirrhosis / D. Schuppan, N.H. Afdhal // Lancet. — 2008. — Vol. 371(9615). — P. 838–851.

578. Segura, J. Contribution of the kidney to glucose homeostasis / J. Segura, L.M. Ruilope // Med. Clin. (Barc.). — 2013. — Vol. 2. — P. 26–30.

579. Seldak, J. Estimation of total proteinbound and nonprotein sulfhydryl group in tissues with Ellmans reagent / J. Seldak, R.M. Lindsay // Anal. Biochem. — 1968. — Vol. 25. — P. 192–195.

580. Sell, S. Heterogeneity and plasticity of hepatocyte lineage cells / S. Sell // Hepatology. — 2001. — Vol. 33. — P. 738–750.

581. Seoane, J. Glucose 6-phosphate produced by glucokinase, but not hexokinase I, promotes the activation of hepatic glycogen synthase / J. Seoane, A.M. Gómez-Foix, R.M. O'Doherty, C. Gómez-Ara, C.B. Newgard, J.J. Guinovart // J. Biol. Chem. — 1996. — Vol. 271(39). — P. 23756–23760.

582. Seoane, J. Metabolic impact of adenovirus-mediated overexpression of the glucose-6-phosphatase catalytic subunit in hepatocytes / J. Seoane, K. Trinh, R.M. O'Doherty,

A.M. Gómez-Foix, A.J. Lange, C.B. Newgard, J.J. Guinovart // J. Biol. Chem. — 1997. — Vol. 272(43). — P. 26972–26977.

583. Sepanlou, S.G. The global, regional, and national burden of cirrhosis by cause in 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2017 / S.G. Sepanlou, S. Safiri, C. Bisignano, K.S. Ikuta, S. Merat, M. Saberifiroozi, [et al.] // Lancet Gastroenterol. Hepatol. — 2020. — Vol. 5. — P. 245–266.

584. Seredenin, S.B. Study of mutagenic and antimutagenic properties of bemithyl / S.B. Seredenin, Yu.G. Bobkov, A.D. Durnev, O.Yu. Dubovskaya // Bulletin of Experimental Biology and Medicine. — 1986. — Vol. 102(7). — P. 76–79. (In Russian).

585. Shalakhmetova T.M. Protein content in hepatocytes of different degrees of ploidy in rats during the postnatal period of development / T.M. Shalakhmetova, M.V. Kudryavtseva, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 1981. — Vol. 23. — P. 674–680. (In Russian).

586. Shami, G.J. Three-dimensional ultrastructure of giant mitochondria in human nonalcoholic fatty liver disease / G.J. Shami, D. Cheng, P. Verhaegh, G. Koek, E. Wisse, F. Braet // Sci. Rep. — 2021. — Vol. 11(1). — Article 3319.

587. Shavelle, R.M. Life expectancy after liver transplantation for alcoholic cirrhosis / R.M. Shavelle, R.C. Saur, J.H. Kwak, J.C. Brooks, B. Hameed // Prog. Transplant. — 2021. — Vol. 31(4). — P. 345–356.

588. Shearer, J. New perspectives on the storage and organization of muscle glycogen / J. Shearer, T.E. Graham // Can. J. Appl. Physiol. — 2002. — Vol. 27. — P. 179–203.

589. Shearer, J. Novel aspects of skeletal muscle glycogen and its regulation during rest and exercise / J. Shearer, T.E. Graham // Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev. — 2004. — Vol. 32. — P. 120–126.

590. Shearer, J. Glycogenin activity and mRNA expression in response to volitional exhaustion in human skeletal muscle / J. Shearer, T.E. Graham, D.S. Battram, D.L. Robinson, E.A. Richter, R.J. Wilson, M. Bakovic // J. Appl. Physiol. — 2005. — Vol. 99. — P. 957–962.

591. Sherlock, Sh. Diseases of the liver and biliary tract / Sh. Sherlock, J. Dooley. — M.: GEOTAR-Media, 2002. — 859 p. (In Russian).

592. Shimamura, J. Hepatic key carbohydrate metabolizing enzymes in bening liver disease and hepatocellular carcinoma / J. Shimamura // J. Med. Assos. Okayama. — 1987. — Vol. 99. — P. 261–272.

593. Shin, D. Cellular and molecular basis of liver development / D. Shin, S.P. Monga // Compr. Physiol. — 2013. — Vol. 3(2). — P. 799–815.

594. Shmueli, E. Normal splanchnic but impaired peripheral insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in cirrhosis / E. Shmueli, M. Walker, G. Alberti, C.O. Record // Hepatology. — 1993. — Vol. 18. — P. 86–95.

595. Siegel, E.G. Insulin secretion defects in liver cirrhosis can be reversed by glucagons-like peptide-1 / E.G. Siegel, A. Seidenstucker, B. Galwitz, F. Schmitz, A. Reinecke-Lüthge, G. Klöppel, [et al.] // J. Endocrinol. — 2000. — Vol. 164. — P. 13–19.

596. Siller-Lopez, F. Treatment with human metalloproteinase-8 gene delivery ameliorates experimental rat liver cirrhosis / F. Siller-López, A. Sandoval, S. Salgado, A. Salazar, M. Bueno, J. Garcia, [et al.] // Gastroenterology. — 2004. — Vol. 126(4). — P. 1122–1133.

597. Simmonds, P. Reconstructing the origins of human hepatitis viruses / P. Simmonds // Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. — 2001. — Vol. 356. — P. 1013–1026.

598. Simon, G. The effect of hepatic steatosis and fibrosis on liver weight and dimensions / G. Simon, V. Heckmann, D. Toth, D. Pauka, K. Petrus, T.F. Molnar // Leg. Med. (Tokyo). — 2020. — Vol. 47. — Article 101781.

599. Skobeleva, T.V. Metabolism of the main substance of connective tissue at various stages of development of experimental cirrhosis of the liver / T.V. Skobeleva // Vopr. Med. Khim. — 1994. — Vol. 40. — P. 17–20. (In Russian).

600. Skulachev, V.P. Oxygen in a living cell: good and evil / V.P. Skulachev // Russian Journal of Gastroenterology, Hepatology, Coloproctology. — 1999. — Vol. 1. — P. 12–18. (In Russian).

601. Smejkalova, J. The time course of biochemical and histological changes following carbon tetrachloride-induced liver damage in rats of both sexes / J. Smejkalova, J. Simek, J. Rouchal, I. Dvorackova // Physiologia Bohemoslovaca. — 1985. — Vol. 34. — P. 494–501.

602. Smirnov, A.V. Bemithyl: mechanism of action and associated effects / A.V. Smirnov // Physiologically active substances. Interdepartmental collection of scientific works. — 1993. — Vol. 25. — P. 5–9. (In Russian).

603. Smirnov, A.V. Features of actoprotectors as an independent pharmacological class / A.V. Smirnov // Antihypoxants and actoprotectors: results and prospects. Conference materials. — 1994. — Vol. 3. — P. 164–166. (In Russian).

604. Snyder, W. Report on the task group on reference man / W. Snyder, M.J. Cook, E.S. Nasset, L.R. Karhausen, G. Parry Howells, I.H. Tipton. — Oxford, New York, Seoul, Tokyo: Pergamon Press, 1975. — 480 P.

605. Soares, A.F. Quantifying hepatic glycogen synthesis by direct and indirect pathways in rats under normal ad libitum feeding conditions / A.F. Soares, F.J. Viega, R.A. Carvalho, J.G. Jones // Magn. Reson. Med. — 2009. — Vol. 61(1). — P. 1–5.

606. Soberon, G. Changes in Effective Enzyme Concentration in the Growing Rat Liver. I. Effects of fasting followed by repletion / G. Soberon, Q.E. Sanchez // J. Biol. Chem. — 1961. — Vol. 236(5). — P. 1602–1606.

607. Sobesky, R. Modeling the impact of interferon alfa treatment on liver fibrosis progression in chronic hepatitis C: a dynamic view. The Multivirc Group / R. Sobesky, P. Mathurin, F. Charlotte, J. Moussalli, M. Olivi, M. Vidaud, [et al.] // Gastroenterology. — 1999. — Vol. 116(2). — P. 378–386.

608. Sobrevals, L. Insulin-like growth factor I gene transfer to cirrhotic liver induces fibrolysis and reduces fibrogenesis leading to cirrhosis reversion in rats / L. Sobrevals, C. Rodriguez, J.L. Romero-Trevejo // Hepatology. — 2010. — Vol. 51(3). — P. 912–921.

609. Sohlenius-Sternbeck, A.-K. Determination of the hepatocellularity number for human, dog, rabbit, rat and mouse livers from protein concentration measurements / A.-K. Sohlenius-Sternbeck // Toxicol. In Vitro. — 2006. — Vol. 20(8). — P. 1582–1586.

610. Solopaev, B.P. Study of the reversibility of acute and chronic changes in organs / B.P. Solopaev. — M.: Medicine, 1963. — 238 p. (In Russian).

611. Solopaev, B.P. Regeneration of normal and pathologically altered liver / B.P. Solopaev. — Gorky: Volgo-Vyatskoe book publishing house, 1980. — 240 p. (In Russian).

612. Solopaev, B.P. Comparative study of the regeneration of normal and pathologically altered organs / B.P. Solopaev // Comparative aspects of the study of regeneration and cell proliferation, Part 2. — Gorky, 1985. — P. 279–281. (In Russian).

613. Solopaeva, I.M. Morphofunctional study of stimulation of regeneration of cirrhotic liver / I.M. Solopaeva, R.S. Riman, A.K. Chistyakova, L.S. Paligina, V.A. Lyalyayev, A.A. Kosykh, G.V. Anufriyeva // Collection of scientific works by B.P. Solopaev (Ed.) "The problem of regeneration of pathologically altered organs and the reversibility of pathological changes". — Gorky: 1967. — P.331–345. (In Russian).

614. Solopaeva, I.M. Stimulation of regeneration of normal and pathologically altered liver: dissertation ... doctor of medical sciences / Inessa Mikhailovna Solopaeva. — Gorky, 1969. — 229 p. (In Russian).

615. Solopaeva, I.M. Stimulation of regeneration of pathologically altered liver and human chorionic gonadotropin: Monograph / I.M. Solopaeva, B.P. Solopaev. — N. Novgorod: Nizhny Novgorod State University, 1991. — 123 p. (In Russian).

616. Sorinson, S.N. Viral hepatitis / S.N. Sorinson. — St. Petersburg: Teza, 1998. — 325 p. (In Russian).

617. Sotaniemi, E.A. Carbohydrate intolerance associated with reduced hepatic glucose phosphorylating and releasing enzyme activities and peripheral insulin resistence in alcoholics with liver cirrhosis / E.A. Sotaniemi, H.U. Saami, A.J. Arranto, A. Rautio // J. Hepatol. — 1985. — Vol. 1. — P. 277–287.

618. Souza, B.F. Theories about evolutionary origins of human hepatitis B virus in primates and humans / B.F. Souza, J.F. Drexler, R.S. de Lima, O. Rosário, E.M. Netto // Braz. J. Infect. Dis. — 2014. — Vol. 8(5). — P. 535–543.

619. Stapleton, D. Analysis of hepatic glycogen-associated proteins / D. Stapleton, C. Nelson, K. Parsawar, D. McClain, R. Gilbert-Wilson, E. Barker, [et al.] // Proteomics. — 2010. — Vol. 10. — P. 2320–2329.

620. Stearns, S.B. Structural and chemical alterations associated with hepatic glycogen metabolism in genetically diabetic (db) and in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice / S.B. Stearns, C.A. Benzo // Lab. Invest. — 1977. — Vol. 37. — P. 180–187.

621. Stetten, M.R. A study of the nature of glycogen regeneration in the intact animal / M.R. Stetten, D. Jr. Stetten // J. Biol. Chem. — 1954. — Vol. 207. — P. 331–340.

622. Stetten, M.R. Influence of molecular size of glycogen on the phosphorylase reaction / M.R. Stetten, D. Jr. Stetten // J. Biol. Chem. — 1958. — Vol. 232. — P. 489–504.

623. Stevens, K.R. In situ expansion of engineered human liver tissue in a mouse model of chronic liver disease / K.R. Stevens, M.A. Scull, V. Ramanan, C.L. Fortin, R.R. Chaturvedi, K.A. Knouse, [et al.] // Sci. Transl. Med. — 2017. — Vol. 9(399). — eaah5505.

624. Stöcker, E. Wachstum und regeneration in parenchymatösen organen der ratte / E. Stöcker, B. Schultze, W. Heine, H. Liebscher // Ztschr. Zellforsch. — 1972. — Vol. 125. — P. 306–331.
625. Stowell, R.E. Histochemical and microchemical changes in experimental cirrhosis and hepatoma formation in mice by carbon tetrachloride / R.E. Stowell, C.S. Lee, K.K. Tsuboi, A. Villasana // Cancer Res. — 1951. — Vol. 11(5). — P. 345–354.

626. Stratton, R.J. Desease-Related Malnutrition: an Evidence-Based approach to treatment / R.J. Stratton, C.J. Green, M. Elia. — CABI Publishing, 2003. — 824 p.

627. Su, Q. Relevance of hepatic preneoplasia for human hepatocarcinogenesis / Q. Su, P. Bannasch // Toxicol. Pathol. — 2003. — Vol. 31(1). — P. 126–133.

628. Sullivan, M.A. Nature of α and β particles in glycogen using molecular size distributions / M.A. Sullivan, F. Vilaplana, R.A. Cave, D. Stapleton, A.A. Gray-Weale, R.G. Gilbert // Biomacromolecules. — 2010. — Vol. 11. — P. 1094–1100.

629. Sullivan, M.A. Molecular structural differences between type-2-diabetic and healthy glycogen / M.A. Sullivan, J. Li, C. Li, F. Vilaplana, D. Stapleton, A.A. Gray-Weale, [et al.] // Biomacromolecules. — 2011. — Vol. 12(6). — P. 1983–1986.

630. Sullivan, M.A. Changes in glycogen structure over feeding cycle sheds new light on blood-glucose control / M.A. Sullivan, S.T. Aroney, S. Li, F.J. Warren, J.S. Joo, K.S. Mak, [et al.] // Biomacromolecules. — 2014. — Vol. 15. — P. 660–665.

631. Sun, B. Activation of glycolysis and apoptosis in glycogen storage disease type Ia / B. Sun, S. Li, L. Yang, T. Damodaran, D. Desai, A.M. Diehl, [et al.] // Mol. Genet. Metab. — 2009. — Vol. 97(4). — P. 267–271.

632. Sun, T. Starch binding domain-containing protein 1 plays a dominant role in glycogen transport to lysosomes in liver / T. Sun, H. Yi, C. Yang, P.S. Kishnani, B. Sun // J. Biol. Chem. — 2016. — Vol. 291. — P. 16479–16484.

633. Sun, Y. Mortality trends of liver diseases in mainland China over three decades: an age-period-cohort analysis / Y. Sun, J. Chang, X. Liu, C. Liu // BMJ Open. — 2019. — Vol. 9(11). — e029793.

634. Sun, Y.-M. Regression of liver fibrosis: evidence and challenges / Y.-M. Sun, S.-Y. Chen, H. You // Chin. Med. J (Engl). — 2020. — Vol. 133(14). — P. 1696–1702.

635. Szende, B. Olive oil decreases liver damage in rats caused by carbon tetrachloride / B. Szende, F. Timar, B. Hargitai // Exp. Toxicol. Pathol. — 1994. — Vol. 46. — P. 355–359.

636. Tagliabracci, V.S. Laforin is a glycogen phosphatase, deficiency of which leads to elevated phosphorylation of glycogen in vivo / V.S. Tagliabracci, J. Turnbull, W. Wang, J.-M.

Girard, X. Zhao, A.V. Skurat, [et al.] // Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. — 2007. — Vol. 104. — P. 19262–19266.

637. Tagliabracci, V.S. Phosphate incorporation during glycogen synthesis and Lafora disease / V.S. Tagliabracci, C. Heiss, C. Karthik, C.J. Contreras, J. Glushka, M. Ishihara, [et al.] // Cell Metab. — 2011. — Vol. 13. — P. 274–282.

638. Takegoshi, K. Hepatocellular carcinoma and type 2 diabetes mellitus: cytokeratin
8/18 expression in hepatocellular carcinoma and glycogen-storing hepatocytes / K. Takegoshi,
E. Okada, Q. Su // Hepatoma Res. — 2016. — Vol. 2. — P. 229–230.

639. Takehara, K. Nucleic acid metabolism in the liver in cells in liver diseases 2. Observation on fatty liver in choline-deficient rat, with special reference to modification of the disease process with xylitol / K. Takehara // Nihon Shokakibyo Gakkai Zasshi. — 1975. — Vol. 72(5). — P. 537–544.

640. Taketa, K. Undifferentiated patterns of key carbohydrate-metabolizing enzymes in injured livers. Acute carbon-tetrachloride intoxication of rat / K. Taketa, A. Tanaka, A. Watanabe, A. Takesue, H. Aoe, K. Kosaka // Enzyme. — 1976. — Vol. 21. — P. 158–173.

641. Taketa, K. Profiles of carbohydrate-metabolizing enzymes in human hepatocellular carcinomas and preneoplastic livers / K. Taketa, J. Shimamura, M. Ueda, Y. Shimada, K. Kosaka // Cancer Res. — 1988. — Vol. 48. — P. 467–474.

642. Takeuchi, T. Ultrafine structure of glycogen macromolecules in mammaliantissues / T. Takeuchi, T. Iwamasa, H. Miyayama // Journal of Electron Microscopy. — 1978. — Vol. 27 (1). — P. 31–38.

643. Taki-Eldin, A. Triiodothyronine attenuates hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury in a partial hepatectomy model through inhibition of proinflammatory cytokines, transcription factors, and adhesion molecules / A. Taki-Eldin, L. Zhou, H.-Y. Xie, K.-J. Chen, D. Yu, Y. He, S.-S. Zheng // J. Surg. Res. — 2012. — Vol. 178(2). — P. 646–656

644. Takusagawa, F. Chapter-15. Glycogen metabolism / F. Takusagawa // Takusagawa's Note. — 2010. — Available at: https://studylib.net/doc/8670852/chapter-17-- glycogen-metabolism (accessed at 26.07.2023).

645. Tan, A.W.H. Regulation of synthase phosphatase and phosphorylase phosphatase in rat liver / A.W.H. Tan, F.Q. Nuttall // Biochim. Biophys. Acta. — 1976. — Vol. 445. — P. 118–130.

646. Tan, X. Proteomic Investigation of the Binding Agent between Liver Glycogen β Particle / X. Tan, M.A. Sullivan, S.S. Nada, B. Deng, B.L. Schulz, R.G. Gilbert // ACS Omega. — 2018. — Vol. 3(4). — P. 3640–3645.

647. Tang, K. Hypoxia promotes breast cancer cell growth by activating a glycogen metabolic program / K. Tang, L. Zhu, J. Chen, D. Wang, L. Zeng, C. Chen, [et al.] // Cancer Res. — 2021. — Vol. 81. — P. 4949–4963.

648. Tarao, K. DNA synthesis activities of hepatocytes from noncancerous cirrhotic tissue and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) cells from cancerous tissue can predict the survival of hepatectomized patients with HCC / K. Tarao, Sh. Ohkawa, A. Shimizu, M. Harada, Y. Nakamura, N. Okamoto, [et al.] // Cancer. — 1993. — Vol. 71. — P. 3859–3863.

649. Tarao, K. Significance of hepatocellular proliferation in the development of hepatocellular carcinoma from anti-hepatitis C virus-positive cirrhotic patients / K. Tarao, S. Ohkawa, A. Shimizu, M. Harada, Y. Nakamura, Y. Ito, [et al.] // Cancer. — 1994. — Vol.74(4). — P. 1149–1154.

650. Tejwani, G.A. The purification of properties of rat liver frucnose-1,6biphosphatase / G.A. Tejwani, F.O. Pedrosa, S. Pontremoli, B.L. Horecker // Arch. Biochem. Biophys. — 1976. — Vol. 177. — P. 253–264.

651. Tepperman, J. Physiology of metabolism and the endocrine system / J. Tepperman, H. Tepperman. — M.: Mir, 1989. — 656 p. (In Russian).

652. Tessari, P. Protein metabolism in liver cirrhosis: from albumin to muscle myofibrils / P. Tessari // Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care. — 2003. — Vol. 6(1). — P. 79–85.

653. Teutsch, H.F. Three-demensional reconstruction of parenchymal units in the liver of the rat / H.F. Teutsch, D. Schuerfeld, E. Groezinger // Hepatology. — 1999. — Vol. 29. — P. 494–505.

654. Teutsch H.F. The modular microachitecture of human liver / H.F. Teutsch // Hepatology. — 2005. — Vol. 42. — P. 317–325.

655. Tirnitz-Parker, J. Liver progenitor cells, cancer stem cells and hepatocellular carcinoma / J. Tirnitz-Parker, G. Yeoh, J. Olynyk // In: P.M. Baptista (Ed.). Liver regeneration. Chapter 2. — London, UK: InTech, 2013. — P. 17–42.

656. Tolman, K.G. Spectrum of liver disease in type 2 diabetes and management of patients with diabetes and liver disease / K.G. Tolman, V. Fonseca, A. Dalpiaz, M.H. Tan // Diabetes Care. — 2007. — Vol. 30(3). — P. 734–743.

657. Tongiani, R. Hepatocyte population dynamics during hydrocortisene and thioacetamide treatment / R. Tongiani, N. Lopek, E. Puccianelli // Histochemistry. — 1976. — Vol. 47. — P. 1–21.

658. Torbenson, M. Pathology of liver disease: advances in the last 50 years / M. Torbenson, K. Washington // Hum. Pathol. — 2020. — Vol. 95. — P. 78–98.

659. Torres, T.P. Defective glycogenesis contributes toward the inability to suppress hepatic glucose production in response to hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia in Zucker diabetic fatty rats / T.P. Torres, Y. Fujimoto, E.P. Donahue, R.L. Printz, K.L. Houseknecht, J.L. Treadway, M. Shiota // Diabetes. — 2011. — Vol. 60(9). — P. 2225–2233.

660. Toyoda, Y. Tissue and subcellular distribution of glucokinase in rat liver and their changes during fasting-refeeding / Y. Toyoda, I. Miwa, M. Kamiya, S. Ogiso, T. Nonogaki, S. Aoki, J. Okuda // Histochem. Cell Biol. — 1995. — Vol. 103. — P. 31–38.

661. Trovao, N.S. Reconstruction of the origin and dispersal of the worldwide dominant Hepatitis B Virus subgenotype D1 / N.S. Trovao, M. Thijssen, B. Vrancken, A.-C. Pineda-Peña, T. Mina, S. Amini-Bavil-Olyaee, [et al.] // Virus Evolution. — 2022. — Vol. 8(1). — P. 1–7.

662. Uchigama, M. Determination of malonaldehyde precursor in tissues by thyobarbituric acid test / M. Uchigama, M. Michera // Anal. Biochem. — 1978. — Vol. 866. — P. 271–278.

663. Ueda, M. Hepatic hexokinase isozyme in liver diseases / M. Ueda, K. Taketa, J. Shimamura, K. Kosaka // Clin. Chim. Acta. — 1974. — Vol. 53. — P. 381–383.

664. Ureta, T. Comparative studies on glucose phosphorylating isoenzymes of vertebrates. I. The influence of fasting and the nature of the diet on liver glucokinase and hexokinases of rodents / T. Ureta, C. Gonzalez, S. Lillo, H. Niemeyer // Comp. Biochem. Physiol. — 1971. — Vol. 40B. — P. 71–80.

665. Ureta, T. The comparative isozymology of vertebrate hexokinases / T. Ureta // Comp. Biochem. Physiol. — 1982. — Vol. 71B. — P. 549–555.

666. Uryvaeva, I.V. Analysis of the proliferation of diploid and polyploid cells in the regenerating mouse liver / I.V. Uryvaeva, T.L. Marshak // Tsitologiya. — 1969. — Vol. 11. — P. 1252–1258. (In Russian).

667. Uyeda, K. Phosphofructokinase / K. Uyeda // Adv. Enzymol. — 1979. — Vol. 48. P. 193–244.

668. Vähätalo, L.H. Neuropeptide Y in the noradrenergic neurones induces obesity and inhibits sympathetic tone in mice / L.H. Vähätalo, S.T. Ruohonen, S. Makela, M. Kovalainen, A. Huotari, K.A. Mäkelä, [et al.] // Acta Physiol. (Oxf). — 2015. — Vol. 213(4). — P. 902–919.

669. Vallance-Owen, J. Liver glycogen in diabetes mellitus / J. Vallance-Owen // J. Clin. Path. — 1952. — Vol. 5. — P. 42–53.

670. Van de Werve, G. Liver glycogen metabolism: an overview / G. Van de Werve, B. Jeanrenaud // Diabetes Metab. Rev. — 1987. — Vol. 3. — P. 47–78.

671. van der Helm, D. Local but not systemic administration of mesenchymal stromal cells ameliorates fibrogenesis in regenerating livers / D. van der Helm, M.C. Barnhoorn, E.S.M. de Jonge-Muller, I. Molendijk, L.J.A.C. Hawinkels, M.J. Coenraad, [et al.] // J. Cell Mol. Med. — 2019. — Vol. 23. — P. 6238–6250.

672. van Dijk, T.H. Acute inhibition of hepatic glucose-6-phosphatase does not affect gluconeogenesis but directs gluconeogenic flux toward glycogen in fasted rats. A pharmacological study with the chlorogenic acid derivative S4048 / T.H. Van Dijk, F.H. van der Sluijs, C.H. Wiegman, J.F. Baller, L.A. Gustafson, H.J. Burger, [et al.] // J. Biol. Chem. — 2001. — Vol. 276. — P. 25727–25735.

673. Vandercammen, A. Species and tissue distribution of the regulatory protein of glucokinase / A. Vandercammen, E. Van Schaftingen // Biochem. J. — 1993. — Vol. 294. — P. 551–556.

674. Vardanis, A. Particulate glycogen of mammalian liver: specificity in binding phosphorylase and glycogen synthase / A. Vardanis // Biochem. Cell. Biol. — 1992. — Vol. 70. — P. 523–527.

675. Verbrugghe, A. Nutritional modulation of insulin resistance in the true carnivorous cat: a review / A. Verbrugghe, M. Hesta, S. Daminet, G.P. Janssens // Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr. — 2012. — Vol. 52(2). — P. 172–182.

676. Verin, V.K. Divergent differentiation of hepatocytes and cholangiocytes in embryonic and reparative histogenesis of the liver: dissertation ... doctor of medical sciences: 03.00.11 / V.C. Verin. — Leningrad, 1984. — 280 p. (In Russian).

677. Vieira Ferreira, L.F. Luminescence quantum yield determination for molecules adsorbed onto solid powdered particles / L.F. Vieira Ferreira, T.J.F. Branco, A.M. Botelho do Rego // Chem. Phys. Chem. — 2004. — Vol. 5. — P. 1848–1854.

678. Villar-Palasi, C. The role of glucose 6-phosphate in the control of glycogen synthase / C. Villar-Palasi, J.J. Guinovart // FASEB J. — 1997. — Vol. 11. — P. 544–558.

679. Vinuela, E. Glucokinase and hexokinase in liver in relation to glycogen synthesis /
E. Vinuela, M. Salas, A. Sols // J. Biol. Chem. — 1963. — Vol. 238(3). — P. 1175–1177.

680. von Wilamowitz-Moellendorff, A. Glucose-6-phosphate-mediated activation of liver glycogen synthase plays a key role in hepatic glycogen synthesis / A. von Wilamowitz-Moellendorff, R.W. Hunter, M. García-Rocha, L. Kang, I. López-Soldado, L. Lantier, [et al.] // Diabetes. — 2013. — Vol. 62(12). — P. 4070–4082.

681. Vysotskaya, R.A. The importance of the adenylate cyclase system of the liver in the development of its chronic lesions / R.A. Vysotskaya, A.S. Loginov, G.G. Varvanina, A.Yu. Pilenitsyn // Bull. Exp. Biol. Med. — 1998. — Vol. 125. — P. 450–453. (In Russian).

682. Waddell, I.D. Transverse topology of glucose-6-phosphatase in rat hepatic endoplasmic reticulum / I.D. Waddell, A. Burchell // Biochem. J. — 1991. — Vol. 275. — P. 133–137.

683. Waldegger, S. Cell volume and gene expression / S. Waldegger, F. Lang // J. Membr. Biol. — 1998. — Vol. 162. — P. 95–100.

684. Walker, G.J. The mechanism of carbohydrase action. 8. Structures of the musclephosphorylase limit dextrins of glycogen and amylopectin / G.J. Walker, W.J. Whelan // Biochem. J. — 1960. — Vol. 76. — P. 264–270.

685. Wang, Q. Chronic drug-induced liver injury: updates and future challenges / Q. Wang, A. Huang, J.-B. Wang, Z. Zou // Frontiers Pharmacol. — 2021. — Vol. 12. — Article: 627133.

686. Wang, W.-J. Growing burden of alcoholic liver disease in China: A review / W.-J. Wang, P. Xiao, H.-Q. Xu, J.-Q. Niu, Y.-H. Gao // World J. Gastroenterol. — 2019. — Vol. 25(12). — P. 1445–1456.

687. Wang, Z. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease progression in rats is accelerated by splenic regulation of liver PTEN/AKT / Z. Wang, N. Li, B. Wang, J. Lin // Saudi J. Gastroenterol. — 2015. — Vol. 21. — P. 232–238.

688. Wang, Z. The Extraction of liver glycogen molecules for glycogen structure determination / Z. Wang, Q. Liu, L. Wang, R.G. Gilbert, M.A. Sullivan // J. Vis. Exp. — 2022. — Vol. 180. — e63088.

689. Wanless, I.R. Regression of human cirrhosis. Morphologic features and the genesis of incomplete septal cirrhosis / I.R. Wanless, E. Nakashima, M. Sherman // Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med. — 2000. — Vol. 124. — P. 1599–1607.

690. Wanless, I.R. Use of corticosteroid therapy in autoimmune hepatitis resulting in the resolution of cirrhosis / I.R. Wanless // J. Clin. Gastroenterol. — 2001. — Vol. 32. — P. 371–372.

691. Wanson, J.C. Rabbit skeletal muscle glycogen. A morphological and biochemical study of glycogen β-particles isolated by the precipitation-centrifugation method / J.C. Wanson, P. Drochmans // J. Cell Biol. — 1968. — Vol. 38. — P. 130–150.

692. Warren, S. The effect of insulin on pathologic glycogen deposits in diabetes mellitus / S. Warren // Am. J. Med. Sci. — 1930. — Vol. 179. — P. 482–488.

693. Wasserman, D.H. Four grams of glucose / D.H. Wasserman // Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. — 2009. — Vol. 296(1). — P. E11–E21.

694. Watanabe, M. DNA synthesis in polyploid and binucleate hepatic cells in the regenerating rat liver of different ages / M. Watanabe // Nagoya J. Med. Sci. — 1970. — Vol. 33. — P. 1–11.

695. Watanabe, T. A cytophotometrical study on the centenarian hepatocyte / T. Watanabe, Y. Tanaka, Y. Kimula // Virchows Arch. B. Cell. Pathol. Incl. Mol. Pathol. — 1984. — Vol. 46. — P. 265–268.

696. Watford, M. Is the small intestine a gluconeogenic organ / M. Watford // Nutr. Rev. — 2005. — Vol. 63. — P. 356–360.

697. Weber, F.L. Increased muscle protein catabolism caused by carbon tetrachloride hepatic injury in rats / F.L. Weber Jr., P.T. Macechko, S.R. Kelson, E. Karajiannis, M.O. Hassan // Gastroenterology. — 1992. — 102(5). — P. 1700–1706.

698. Weinbren, K. Structural aspects of the liver in patients with biliary disease and portal hypertension / K. Weinbren, N.S. Hadjis, L.H. Blumgart // J. Clin. Pathol. — 1985. — Vol. 38(9). — P. 1013–1020.

699. Weisberg, J. Distribution of glycogen in the rat heart / J. Weisberg, S. Rodbard // Amer. J. Phisiol. — 1958. — Vol. 193. — P. 466–468.

700. Weisfeld, M. Aging, Changes in the cardiovascular system, and responses to stress / M. Weisfeld // Am. J. Hypertens. — 1998. — Vol. 11. — P. 41–45.

701. Welt, K. Ultrastrucure, immunohistochemical and biochemical investigations of the rat liver exposed to experimental diabetes and acute hypoxia / K. Welt, J. Weiss, R. Martin, D. Dettmer, T. Hermsdorf, K. Asayama, [et al.] // Exp. Toxicol. Pathol. — 2004. — Vol. 55. — P. 331–345.

702. Westergaard, N. Glucose-6-phosphatase inhibitors for the treatment of Type 2 diabetes / N. Westergaard, P. Madsen // Expert Opin. Ther. Pat. — 2001. — Vol. 11(9). — P. 1429–1441.

703. Whelan, W.J. Enzymic explorations of the structures of starch and glycogen / W.J. Whelan // Biochem. J. — 1971. — Vol. 122. — P. 609–622.

704. Whitton, P.D. Glycogen synthesis in the perfused liver of streptozotocin-diabetic rats / P.D. Whitton, D.A. Hems // Biochem. J. — 1975. — Vol. 150. — P. 153–165.

705. Willstatter, R. Protein binding of physiologically important substances. The conditions of glycogen in liver, muscle and leucocytes / R. Willstatter, M. Rhodewald // Z. Physiol. Chem. — 1934. — Vol. 225. — P. 103–124.

706. Wilson, G.K. Hypoxia inducible factors in liver disease and hepatocellular carcinoma: current understanding and future directions / G.K. Wilson, D.A. Tennant, J.A. McKeating // J. Hepatol. — 2014. — Vol. 61(6). — P. 1397–1406.

707. Wilson, R.J. Relating glycogenin protein levels and glycogen content postcontraction in human and rodent skeletal muscle / R.J. Wilson // Thesis Univ. Guelph. — 2009.

708. Wilson, W.A. Regulation of glycogen metabolism in yeast and bacteria / W.A. Wilson, P.J. Roach, M. Montero, E. Baroja-Fernández, F.J. Muñoz, G. Eydallin, [et al.] // FEMS Microbiol. Rev. — 2010. — Vol. 34(6). — P. 952–985.

709. Wimmer, M. The development of the acinar heterotopic pattern of phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase activity in the newborn rat / M. Wimmer, C. Luttringer, M. Colombi // Histochemistry. — 1990. — Vol. 94. — P. 55–59.

710. Winternitz, W.W. Liver glycogen reserves in experimental diabetic ketosis / W.W. Winternitz, W.E. Lattanzi // Endocrinology. — 1956. — Vol. 58(2). — P. 232–242.

711. World Health Organization. Global progress report on HIV, viral hepatitis and sexually transmitted infections, 2021. Accountability for the global health sector strategies 2016–2021: actions for impact. — Geneva: World Health Organization, 2021. — 108 p.

712. Wright, E.M. Renal Na(+)-glucose cotransporters / E.M. Wright // Am. J. Physiol. Renal. Physiol. — 2001. — Vol. 280. — P. F10–F18.

713. Wu, C. Reproduction of hepatic glucose production as a therapeutic target in the treatment of diabetes / C. Wu, D.A. Okar, J. Kang, A.J. Lange // Current Drug Target — Immune, Endocrine & Metabolic Disorders. — 2005. — Vol. 5. — P. 51–59.

714. Xu, G. Prevalence of diagnosed type 1 and type 2 diabetes among US adults in 2016 and 2017: population based study / G. Xu, B. Liu, Y. Sun, Y. Du, L.G. Snetselaar, F.B. Hu, W. Bao // BMJ. — 2018. — Vol. 362. — k1497.

715. Xu, Y. Clinical application of stem cells in liver diseases: from bench to bedside / Y. Xu, Q. Zhang // In: Y.-W. Zheng (Ed.). Stem cells and cancer in hepatology. From the essentials to application. — N.Y., London, Oxford: Academic Press, 2018. — Ch.15. — P. 317–346.

716. Xu, Z.-J. Characterization of high-fat, diet-induced, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis with fibrosis in rats / Z.-J. Xu, J.-G. Fan, X.-D. Ding, L. Qiao, G.-L. Wang // Dig. Dis. Sci. — 2010. — Vol. 55(4). — P. 931–940.

717. Yang, S. Mitochondrial respiratory function and antioxidant capacity in normal and cirrhotic livers following partial hepatectomy / S. Yang, T.M. Tan, A. Wee, C.K. Leow // Cell. Mol. Life. Sci. — 2004. — Vol. 61. — P. 220–229.

718. Yataghanas, X. Microspectrofluorometry of a periodic acid-schiff reaction in blood cells / X. Yataghanas, G. Gahrton, B. Thorell // Exp. Cell Res. — 1969. — Vol. 56(1).
— P. 59–68.

719. Ye, F. The burden of liver cirrhosis in mortality: results from the global burden of disease study / F. Ye, M. Zhai, J. Long, Y. Gong, C. Ren, D. Zhang, [et al.] // Front. Public Health. — 2022. — Vol. 10. — Article: 909455.

720. Young, T.A. Chronic ethanol consumption decreases mitochondrial and glycolytic production of ATP in liver / T.A. Young, S.M. Bailey, C.G. Van Horn, C.C. Cunningham // Alcohol Alcohol. — 2006. — Vol. 41(3). — P. 254–260.

721. Yovchev, M.I. Repopulation of the fibrotic/cirrhotic rat liver by transplanted hepatic stem/progenitor cells and mature hepatocytes / M.I. Yovchev, Y. Xue, D.A. Shafritz, J. Locker, M. Oertel // Hepatology. — 2014. — Vol. 59(1). — P. 284–295.

722. Zakusov, V.V. The problem of modeling in pharmacology / V.V. Zakusov // Bull. Eksp. Biol. Med. — 1985. — Vol. 6. — P. 757–760. (In Russian).

723. Zal, T. Using live FRET imaging to reveal early protein-protein interactions during T cell activation / T. Zal, N.R. Gascoigne // Curr. Opin. Immunol. — 2004. — Vol. 16.
— P. 674–683.

724. Zarrinpar, A. Liver transplantation: past, present and future /A. Zarrinpar, R.W. Busuttil // Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. — 2013. — Vol. 10(7). — P. 434–440.

725. Zavadskaya, E.E. Dry weight of isolated normal human hepatocytes and in chronic hepatitis / E.E. Zavadskaya, M.V. Kudryavtseva, B.N. Kudryavtsev, S.A. Smirnova, A.D. Skorina // Tsitologiya. — 1983. — Vol. 25. — P. 447–451. (In Russian).

726. Zavadskaya, E.E. Cytological mechanisms of reparative growth of the liver in conditions of its chronic damage and partial hepatectomy: abstract of dissertation ... candidate of biological sciences: 03.00.17 / Elena Eduardovna Zavadskaya. — Leningrad, 1989. — 22 p. (In Russian).

727. Zavadskaya, E.E. Changes in the dry weight of hepatocytes during chronic intoxication of rats with CCl₄ / E.E. Zavadskaya, M.V. Kudryavtseva, B.N. Kudryavtsev // Tsitologiya. — 1989. — Vol. 31. — P. 419–425. (In Russian).

728. Zavarzin, A.A. DNA synthesis and kinetics of cell populations in mammalian ontogenesis / A.A. Zavarzin. — L.: Nauka. — 1967. — 195 p. (In Russian).

729. Zhai, L. Do rodents have a gene encoding glycogenin-2, the liver isoform of the self-glucosylating initiator of glycogen synthesis? / L. Zhai, J. Schroeder, A.V. Skurat, P.J. Roach // IUBMB Life. — 2001. — Vol. 51. — P. 87–91.

730. Zhai, L. Crystal structure of glycogen debranching enzyme and insights into its catalysis and disease-causing mutations / L. Zhai, L. Feng, L. Xia, H. Yin, S. Xiang // Nature Communications. — 2016. — Vol. 7. — 11229.

731. Zhai, M. The burden of liver cirrhosis and underlying etiologies: results from the global burden of disease study 2017 / M. Zhai, J. Long, S. Liu, C. Liu, L. Li, L. Yang, [et al.] // Aging (Albany NY). — 2021a. — Vol. 13(1). — P. 279–300.

732. Zhai, M. The incidence trends of liver cirrhosis caused by nonalcoholic steatohepatitis via the GBD study 2017 / M. Zhai, Zh. Liu, J. Long, Q. Zhou, L. Yang, Q. Zhou, [et al.] // Sci. Reports. — 2021b. — Vol. 11. — Article: 5195.

733. Zhang, Q. Evaluation of intra-tumoral vascularization in hepatocellular carcinomas / Q. Zhang, J. Wu, X. Bai, T. Liang // Frontiers in Medicine. — 2020. — Vol. 7. — 584250.

734. Zhang, X. The global burden of type 2 diabetes attributable to high body mass index in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: An analysis of the Global Burden of Disease Study / X. Zhang, X. Wang, M. Wang, B. Hu, W. Tang, Y. Wu, [et al.] // Front. Public Health. — 2022. — Vol. 10. — 966093.

735. Zhao, R. Embryonic development of the liver / R. Zhao, S.A. Duncan // Hepatology. — 2005. — Vol. 41. — P. 956–967.

736. Zhao, X. Gankyrin drives malignant transformation of chronic liver damagemediated fibrosis via Rac1/JNK pathway / X. Zhao, J. Fu, A. Xu, L. Yu, J. Zhu, R. Dai, [et al.] // Cell Death Disease. — 2015. — Vol. 6. — e1751.

737. Zhou, W.-C. Pathogenesis of liver cirrhosis / W.-C. Zhou, Q.-B. Zhang, L. Qiao // World. J. Gastroenterol. — 2014. — Vol. 20(23). — P. 7312–7324.

738. Zimmerman, H.J. Hepatotoxicity / H.J. Zimmerman. — N.Y.: Appleton-Centary Crofits, 1978. — 530 p.

739. Zinovieva, V.N. The use of bacterial test systems for assessing the mutagenic and antimugenic properties of benzimidazole derivatives / V.N. Zinovieva, S.A. Nikitin, O.V. Ostrovsky // In: Fundamental research as the basis for the creation of medicines: Abstracts of reports of 1st Congress of the Russian Scientific Society of Pharmacologists. — M., 1995. — P. 170. (In Russian).

740. Zipprich, A. Prognostic indicators of survival in patients with compensated and decompensated cirrhosis / A. Zipprich, G. Garcia-Tsao, S. Rogowski, W.E. Fleig, T. Seufferlein, M.M. Dollinger // Liver Int. — 2012. — Vol. 32. — P. 1407–1414.

741. Zois, C.E. Glycogen metabolism has a key role in the cancer microenvironment and provides new targets for cancer therapy / C.E. Zois, A.L. Harris // J. Mol. Med. — 2016.
— Vol. 94. — P. 137–154.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author expresses her profound gratitude to Boris N. Kudryavtsev for agreeing to be the advisor of the thesis, constructive discussion, useful criticism, consideration and understanding throughout the many years of the acquaintance.

The author is sincerely grateful to her graduate student Anna Chestnova for her interest in the research topic and fruitful scientific cooperation, to Galina Sakuta, Ekaterina Baidyuk, Andrey Stepanov and all the staff of the Laboratory of Cellular Pathology of the Institute of Cytology of the Russian Academy of Sciences for collaboration and great team spirit, to Grigory I. Stein and Mikhail Vorobev for valuable consultations on microscopy methods and image analysis software, statistical analysis of the data and their graphic processing, and Yulia G. Nad' for assistance in the organisation and collection of clinical "diabetic" material.

This research would not have been possible without the participation of students who worked on their diploma, bachelor's and master's theses: Elena Kirshina, Alexandra Vakhtina, Ekaterina Mushinskaya, Ekaterina Sivova, Natalya Matyukhina and Anastasia Malova.

For long-term scientific co-operation, assistance in the implementation of the plans and trustworthiness under any circumstances, the author expressed her heartfelt gratitude to Sergey V. Okovitiy — colleague, co-author and true friend.

The author's special thanks are due to Nikita Chernetsov for providing the opportunity to continue and complete the work on the thesis at the Zoological Institute of the Russian Academy of Sciences and to the researchers from this institute — Natalia B. Ananyeva, Olga G. Ovchinnikova, Kirill V. Galaktionov, Valentina G. Kuznetsova, Alexei A. Sukhotin, and Valentina G. Sideleva — for their wise advice and benevolent attitude.

The author would like to thank to Nina V. Ermolaeva, Igor Doronin and Zaure Vasilieva for their unflagging and comprehensive assistance.

The author is very grateful to her friends Leonid Adonin and Nikolai Barlev for their inspiration, encouragement and support.

The author is infinitely grateful to her family for the possibility to do science and pursue the chosen occupation, for their understanding, patience, empathy and love.

With sincere gratitude and warmth the author remembers Margarita V. Kudryavtseva, an amazing person and a wonderful scientist, to whose cherished memory this thesis is dedicated and whose discoveries laid the foundation for this study.